This electronic thesis or dissertation has been downloaded from the King's Research Portal at https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/



Complement activation and effector pathways in ischaemia reperfusion injury and at the interface with adaptive immunity

Asgari, Elham

Awarding institution: King's College London

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement.

END USER LICENCE AGREEMENT



Unless another licence is stated on the immediately following page this work is licensed

under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International

licence. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

You are free to copy, distribute and transmit the work

Under the following conditions:

- Attribution: You must attribute the work in the manner specified by the author (but not in any way that suggests that they endorse you or your use of the work).
- Non Commercial: You may not use this work for commercial purposes.
- No Derivative Works You may not alter, transform, or build upon this work.

Any of these conditions can be waived if you receive permission from the author. Your fair dealings and other rights are in no way affected by the above.

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact <u>librarypure@kcl.ac.uk</u> providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

This electronic theses or dissertation has been downloaded from the King's Research Portal at https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/



Title:Complement activation and effector pathways in ischaemia reperfusion injury and at the interface with adaptive immunity

Author: Elham Asgari

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement.

END USER LICENSE AGREEMENT

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Unported License. http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/

You are free to:

• Share: to copy, distribute and transmit the work

Under the following conditions:

- Attribution: You must attribute the work in the manner specified by the author (but not in any way that suggests that they endorse you or your use of the work).
- Non Commercial: You may not use this work for commercial purposes.
- No Derivative Works You may not alter, transform, or build upon this work.

Any of these conditions can be waived if you receive permission from the author. Your fair dealings and other rights are in no way affected by the above.

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact <u>librarypure@kcl.ac.uk</u> providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Complement activation and effector pathways in ischaemia reperfusion injury and at the interface with adaptive immunity

By

Elham Asgari

A thesis submitted to the School of Medicine at King's College London for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

MRC Centre for Transplantation 5th floor, Tower Wing Guy's Hospital Great Maze Pond London SE1 9RT

May 2013

Declaration

The work presented in this thesis is my own and except where acknowledged in the text, all experiments were performed by myself.

Abstract

Ischaemia reperfusion injury (IRI) is an important source of morbidity and mortality and contributes to renal transplant failure. Renal IRI is known to be mediated by complement, which causes direct injury to the transplant and stimulates the adaptive immune response against transplant antigens. However uncertainty exists as to the exact trigger mechanisms of complement activation in this situation, and to the relative importance of certain effector molecules generated by complement activation.

Based on the results of previous studies, I hypothesized that there would be greater involvement of the lectin pathway than previously recognized, as a trigger mechanism that could both initiate complement activation and lead to amplification via the alternative pathway in renal IRI. I also predicted that, whereas C5a has been shown to play a part in the genesis of IRI, C3a could be shown to have an important effect on innate cells that form a bridge with adaptive immunity. The aim of the work described in this thesis was therefore to investigate: (a) the role of the lectin pathway in IRI through the enzyme MASP-2; and (b) the role of C3a linking up the innate and adaptive immune responses following transplantation.

I first investigated renal IRI in mice with deficiencies of the classical (C4), alternative (FB) and lectin (MASP-2) pathways of complement activation in order to explore the notion that the injury was mediated by the lectin pathway. Absence of C4 and FB did not protect the mice in a transplant model of IRI; but absence of MASP-2 was markedly protective suggesting that the lectin pathway - or rather a variant of it that did not involve C4 - has a significant role in the mouse kidney

transplant IRI. As a result, I also investigated the therapeutic effect of anti-MASP-2 antibody in the mouse kidney isograft model.

Absence of C3a-receptor in a native kidney model of IRI did not convey a substantial protective effect, suggesting no major effect of C3a in this injury. However, exploring a possible effect of C3a on the adaptive immune response, I found that stimulation of monocytes with C3a in conjunction with LPS resulted in significant IL-1 β production which in turn induced Th-17 cells. I identified that the increase in monocyte IL-1 β production is ATP and caspase-1 dependent and that the change in ATP is modulated by Pannexin-1 channel.

My findings identify MASP-2 as an early step in the pathogenesis of complementmediated mouse kidney IRI and support its identity as a therapeutic target. Furthermore, as both monocytes and Th-17 cells have been previously identified as major contributors to acute kidney rejection after transplantation, my results could explain, at least in part, how complement activation induced by tissue stress during the transplant procedure has an impact on the alloimmune response.

Acknowledgement

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors Professor Steven Sacks, Dr Claudia Kemper and Professor Wilhelm Schwaeble for their invaluable academic guidance and support throughout this project. I would also like to thank Dr Wuding Zhou for her supervision and advice in the first year of my project and for helping me set up the native mouse ischaemia reperfusion model and learn various laboratory skills with assistance of some of her group members in particular Dr Qi Peng and Dr Ke Li. My special thanks goes to Dr Conrad Farrar who patiently taught me the technique of inducing native kidney ischaemia reperfusion injury as well as many other laboratory skills, performed most of the mouse kidney transplant experiments in this project and helped with scoring of histology samples.

Several other members of the lab have contributed to the work presented here that I would like to acknowledge and express my great appreciation to: Dr Qijun Li for performing the kidney transplants for assessing the therapeutic effect of anti-MASP-2, Dr Gaelle Le Friec for her constant presence and great patience in teaching me laboratory skills and helping me with experiments, Dr Richard Smith for sharing some of his profound knowledge of biochemistry and complement and providing guidance and help in some of the experiments, Dr Hidekazu Yamamoto for his help in staining human kidney transplants and confocal microscopy, Dr John Harris from the NIKON Imaging Centre at KCL for his help in the generation of the confocal microscopy images and Dr Esperanza Perucha for providing the Th17 skewing protocol. I am also grateful to Dr Sarah de Freitas for her support throughout the project.

A number of people outside of the lab have also made contribution to this project to whom I would like to express my gratitude: Professor Terrence Cook for providing the rejecting human kidney transplant tissue, Professor Jörg Köhl for his advice on the monocye and anaphylatoxin experiments, Omeros Corporation (Seatle) for providing anti-MASP-2 antibody and partial funding for the experiments related to the use of anti-MASP-2 in mouse kidney transplantation and from Professor Schwaeble's lab in Leicester, Dr Youssif M Ali for providing the mouse anti-MASP-2 antibody and Elvina Chrysanthou and Dr Hany Kenawy for helping with MASP-2 staining in the mouse kidney and liver tissue.

Most importantly I would like to acknowledge and thank Kidney Research UK and MRC Centre for Transplantation at King's College London for providing the funding to carry out the work for this thesis.

Finally I would like to thank my husband for his patience and continuous support during my work on this project and writing up this thesis, my parents for believing in me and my friends and colleagues for their understanding and encouragement.



Figure 1. Outline of the research project. This figure shows the outline of the research project. I investigated the role of C3a (native) and classical, lectin and alternative pathways of complement (transplant) in kidney IRI. I then assessed the influence of C3a on the adaptive immune response in kidney transplant rejection and the mechanism of its action.

Table of contents

Declaration	2
Abstract	3
Acknowledgement	5
Table of contents	8
Index of Figures	12
Index of Tables	14
List of abbreviations	15
1 Introduction	18
1.1 Ischaemia Reperfusion injury	
1.2 Pathophysiology of IRI	19
1.3 The complement system	
1.3.1 The Classical pathway	
1.3.2 The Alternative Pathway	24
1.3.3 The Lectin Pathway	25
1.3.3.1 Collectins and ficolins	25
1.3.3.2 Molecular characteristics of MBL, ficolins and MASPs	
1.3.3.3 MBL	
1.3.3.4 Ficolins	
1.3.3.5 Collectin 11	
1.3.3.6 MASPs	
1.3.4 The Terminal Pathway	
1.4 Anaphylatoxins	
1.4.1 Anaphylatoxin receptors	40
1.4.2 Complement regulatory proteins	41
1.4.2.1 Fluid phase regulatory proteins	
1.4.2.2 Properdin	44
1.4.2.3 Membrane bound regulatory proteins	45
1.5 Biological functions of the complement system	45
1.5.1 Production of complement proteins	

1.6 Role of complement in adaptive immu	ınity49
1.6.1 Complement factors and humora	l immunity49
1.6.1.1 Complement factors and T-cel	l mediated immunity51
1.7 The role of complement in IRI	
2 Motorials and motheds	
2 Materials and methods	
2.1 Materials	
2.1.1 Surgical Equipment	
2.1.2 Antibodies	
2.1.3 Buffers and solutions	
2.1.4 Mice	
2.2 Methods	
2.2.1 Genotyping	
2.2.1.1 Preparing the genomic DNA	
2.2.1.2 Polymerase chain reaction	
2.2.1.3 Gel Electrophoresis	
2.3 Induction of native kidney IRI	
2.4 Harvesting blood and tissue samples	
2.4.1 Collection of blood and extraction	on of serum
2.4.2 Collection of tissue	
2.5 Assessment of renal function	
2.5.1 Measurement of Blood Urea Nit	rogen
2.6 Paraffin fixing and periodic acid schif	f (PAS) staining70
2.7 Immunohistochemistry	
2.7.1 Immunohistochemical staining fo	or C3d71
2.8 Mouse kidney transplant	
2.9 Therapeutic use of anti-MASP-2 antib	oody in mouse kidney transplantation 73
2.10 Statistical analysis	74
3 Examination of the role of C3a in renal	IRI 74
3.1 Hypothesis and aims of the study	74
3.2 Experimental design	
1 0	
4 Results	
	9

4.1 Ch	aracterization of C3aR-/- mice by genotyping	76
4.2 IRI	in WT and C3aR-/- mice	78
4.3 Dis	scussion	
5 Invosti	gating the importance of complement extinction pathways in a	
mouso kidu	gating the importance of complement activation pathways in a	85
5 1 Evi	ner insogrant model of TK1	
5.1 Ex	sulta	
5.2 Ke	Effect of MASP 2 and C4 on IRI in mouse kidney isografts	
5.2.1	Expression of MASP-2 enzyme	
523	Tissue damage in the transplanted kidneys	
5.2.5	Immunohistochemical staining for complement deposition	
5.2.4	le of the alternative pathway in transplant kidney IBI	
5.3 KU	Kidney tissue demage in the sheapee of EP	
5.4 Die	Ridney ussue damage in the absence of PB	100
J.4 DIS	Cussion	103
6 Investi	gating the therapeutic benefit of Anti-MASP-2 antibody in kid	ney
transplant	IRI	
6.1 Ex	perimental design	107
6.1.1	Results	
6.1.	1.1 BUN measurement	
6.1.	1.2 Histology	
6.2 Dis	cussion	111
6.3 Co	nclusion	
7 Effect	of anaphylatoxins on cytokine production of monocytes and	
macrophag	ges and their influence on adaptive immune response	
7.1 Inti	oduction	113
7.1.1	Rationale and Aim	113
7.1.2	Monocytes	114
7.1.3	Macrophages	117
7.1.4	IL-1	119
7.1.5	Toll-Like Receptors	
7.1.6	Anaphylatoxins and TLRs	122
		10

	7.1.7	NOD-like receptors	124
	7.1.8	Inflammasome	126
	7.1.9	Caspases	129
	7.1.10	ATP and ion channels	131
	7.1.11	Pannexin Channels	133
	7.1.12	Effector T cells	134
	7.1.1	2.1 Th1/Th2 cells	134
	7.1.1	2.2 Th17 cells	136
	7.1.1	2.3 Regulatory T cells	140
	7.1.1	2.4 Other T helper cells	140
	7.1.13	Kidney transplant rejection	142
	7.1.1	3.1 Monocytes and macrophages in transplanted kidney	145
	7.1.1	3.2 T cells in kidney transplant rejection	146
	7.1.1	3.3 Th-17 cells in kidney transplantation	147
8	Materia	ls and Methods	1/19
0	8.1 Mate	arials	149
	811	Plastic ware	149
	8.1.2	Chemicals and reagents	
	8.1.3	Media and buffers	150
	8.1.4	Antibodies and cytokines	151
	8.1.5	Recombinant proteins, protein inhibitors and receptor agonists and	
	antagon	ists	151
	8.2 Metl	nods	152
	8.2.1	Purification of T cells and monocytes by magnetic bead separation	152
	8.2.2	Macrophage generation	153
	8.2.3	Monocyte and macrophage activation	154
	8.2.4	T cell activation	154
	8.2.5	Assessment of cell surface receptor expression by fluorescence-	
	activate	d cell sorting (FACS) analysis	155
	8.2.6	Measurement of caspase-1 activation	156
	8.2.7	ATP measurement	156
	8.2.8	Measurement of cytokine production	157

8.2.8	8.1 A. Enyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)	
8.2.8	3.2 B. Intracellular cytokine staining	
8.2.9	Histology	
8.2.10	Statistical analyses	
8.3 Res	ults	
8.3.1	Expression of C3a and C5a receptors by monocytes and mac	crophages . 160
8.3.2	Impact of C3a and C5a on monocyte and macrophage IL-1 β	production162
8.3.2	2.1 Monocytes	
8.3.2	2.2 Macrophages	
8.3.3	C3aR agonist and pooled human C3a have comparable effect	ts on IL-1β
produc	tion by human monocytes	
8.3.4	C3a-exposed monocytes induce strong Th17 responses	
8.3.5	Rejecting human kidney tissue contains areas of high C3a ar	nd Th17
present	ce174	
8.3.6	ATP regulates the C3a-mediated increase in monocyte IL-1f	}
produc	tion	
8.3.7	Pannexin-1 mediates the release of ATP from monocytes	
8.3.8	Release of ATP is increased in cells stimulated with C3a and	l LPS 181
8.3.9	C3a-mediated increase in monocytic IL-1 β production is cas	pase-1
depend	lent	
8.4 Dise	cussion	
8.5 Cor	nclusion	
0 F 4		100
9 Future	WORK	
10 Referen	1Ces	

Index of Figures

Figure 1. Outline of the research project	.7
Figure 2. Schematic of the complement activation pathways2	22
Figure 3. Domain and oligomeric structure of mannose-binding lectin and ficolins2	28
Figure 4. Summary of the IR protocol used for induction of native kidney IRI	57
Figure 5. Correlation between creatinine and BUN measurement in mouse serum7	70
Figure 6. Detection of C3aR in WT and C3aR-/- mice using PCR	17

Figure 7. Effect of renal IRI on renal function in WT and C3aR-/- mice78
Figure 8. Effect of renal IRI on renal function in WT and C3aR-/- mice (2)79
Figure 9. Effect of renal IRI on renal function in WT and C3aR-/- mice (3)80
Figure 10. Histology of non-ischaemic kidney tissue81
Figure 11. Effect induced by ischaemia-reperfusion on renal morphology83
Figure 12. The experimental groups designed for assessment of the role of the LP,
the CP and the AP in a transplant model of renal IRI
Figure 13. Summary of the mouse kidney transplantation protocol used in the
experiments
Figure 14. Absence of MASP-2 is protective in a transplant model of kidney IRI91
Figure 15. Immunohistochemical staining of MASP-2 enzyme in the liver, non-
ischaemic and transplanted kidney of WT B6 mouse93
Figure 16. Effect of IRI on the renal tissue morphology in four transplant groups95
Figure 17. Immunohistochemical staining of the complement split product C3d in the
four transplant groups
Figure 18. Influence of complement factor B on IRI in mouse kidney isografts100
Figure 19. Kidney tubular necrosis in WT and FB-/- transplants101
Figure 20. Immunohistochemical staining of the complement split product C3d in
WT and FB-/- kidney tissues
Figure 21. Treatment with anti-MASP-2 antibody does not protect from transplant
IRI
Figure 22. Histology of transplanted kidneys in recipients treated with anti-MASP-2
antibody and isotype control antibody110
Figure 23. Infammasome subtypes
Figure 24. Activation of inflammasome leading to production of IL-1 β 129
Figure 25. Representative purities of CD14+ and CD4+ cells using magnetic bead
separation
Figure 26. Monocytes and macrophages express C3a and C5a receptors162
Figure 27. C3a increases LPS-mediated IL-1 β production by human monocytes165
Figure 28. IL-1 β production by macrophages requires both LPS and C3a167
Figure 29. Serum-purified C3a and C3aR agonist have comparable effects on IL-1 β
production by human monocytes
Figure 30. C3a-exposed monocytes induce strong Th17 responses
13

Index of Tables

Table 1. Complement regulatory proteins
Table 2. Summary of studies looking at the role of various complement components
in native or transplant mouse model of kidney IRI
Table 3. Components of the reaction mix and their volume for PCR experiments 64
Table 4. PCR primer sequences and conditions for genotyping C3aR-/-, MASP-2-/-,
C4-/- and FB-/
Table 5. Scoring system used for assessing kidney tubular damage
Table 6. Tubular injury in WT and C3aR-/- mice
Table 7. Tubular damage score based on the histology of all transplants performed in
the four experimental groups
Table 8. Score of tubular injury in anti-MASP-2 and isotype control treated mice. 110
Table 9. Banff diagnostic categories for kidney transplant rejection

List of abbreviations

AP	Alternative pathway
APC	Antigen presenting cell
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BBS	Barbital buffered saline
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
BUN	Blood Urea Nitrogen
C3aR	C3a receptor
C5aR	C5a receptor
C4BP	C4b-binding protein
CRD	Carbohydrate recognition domain
CRP	C- reactive protein
CD	Cluster of differentiation
СР	Classical pathway
CVF	Cobra Venom Factor
DAMPs	Damage associated molecular patterns
DC	Dendritic cell
DGF	Delayed Graft Function
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
dNTP	deoxyribonucleoside triphosphate mixture
EDTA	Ethylene-diamine-tetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FCS	Fetal calf serum
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
H & E	Haematoxylin and Eosin stain
HBSS	Hank's balanced salt solution
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase

HMGB1	High-mobility group box 1
HSP	Henoch Schönlein purpura
HSPs	Heat shock proteins
ICAM-1	Intercellular cell adhesion molecule-1
IP	Intraperitoneal
IV	Intravenous
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
IRI	Ischaemia reperfusion injury
LP	Lectin pathway
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MAC	Membrane attack complex
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MAp19	MBL-associated protein of 19 kD
MASP	Mannan associated serine protease
MBL	Mannan binding lectin
NK	Natural killer
NOD	Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain
OD	Optical density
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PAS	Periodic acid-Schiff's base stain
PMNs	Polymorphonuclear leukocytes
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PE	Phycoerythrin
PMA	Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium
RT-qPCR	Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction
SDS-PAGE	SDS poly-acrylamide gel electrophoresis
SEM	Standard error of the mean
TBE	Tris-Borate-EDTA
TBS	Tris buffered saline
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor β

Th	T helper
TLRs	Toll like receptors
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
WT	Wild type

1 Introduction

1.1 Ischaemia Reperfusion injury

Ischaemia is defined as restriction of blood supply to an organ which results in deprivation of oxygen and nutrients leading to tissue damage. It causes significant morbidity and mortality in several conditions such as myocardial infarction, stroke, intestinal and limb ischaemia and cardiopulmonary bypass (Zhou et al., 2000). Restoration of blood flow to the ischemic tissue is known as reperfusion which despite restoring tissue oxygenation leads to adverse reactions and inflammation (Yellon and Hausenloy, 2007). Ischaemia reperfusion injury (IRI) refers to the tissue damage that occurs following re-establishment of blood flow after an ischaemic episode (de Vries et al., 2009).

IRI is an important cause of kidney damage in hypovolaemic acute renal failure (Mejia-Vilet et al., 2007) as well as playing a significant role in delayed graft function (DGF) following kidney transplantation (Gueler et al., 2004). It has also been shown to increase the acute rejection episodes and reduce long term graft survival. In an analysis of 27,096 first cadaveric donor renal transplants, Shoskes and colleagues (Shoskes and Cecka, 1998) reported an increase in the incidence of acute rejection in patients with DGF before discharge (25% in comparison to 8% in patients without DGF) and a reduction in 1-year graft survival from 91 to 75% independent of early rejection episodes. Despite many studies investigating the mechanism of IRI, there is no specific therapy for this condition that is in clinical use.

Preventing the occurrence of IRI in kidney transplantation can reduce the injury to the donor kidney, reduce rejection episodes and prolong kidney graft survival (Bryan et al., 2001, Ojo et al., 1997).

1.2 Pathophysiology of IRI

Pathophysiology of IRI is complex and involves a cascade of events including interaction between endothelial cells, interstitium, immune cells and several biochemical molecules (Linfert et al., 2009) leading to what is now established as an inflammatory response.

Activation of the endothelium also follows the acute ischaemic event leading to an increase in endothelial permeability and the expression of various adhesion molecules (Halloran et al., 1997). These adhesion molecules such as intercellular cell adhesion molecule–1 (ICAM-1), vascular cell adhesion molecule–1 (VCAM-1) and P-selectin initiate the recruitment and infiltration of inflammatory cells to the injured tissue (Turer and Hill, 2010). Injury to endothelial cells increases their thrombogenic capacity which results in adhesion of platelet and inflammatory cells upon reperfusion. The inflammatory cells release cytokines as well as reactive oxygen species (ROS) which potentiates the inflammatory reaction (Gueler et al., 2004).

Cellular apoptosis and necrosis occurs due to ischaemia, leading to the exposure or release of Damage Associated Molecular Patterns (DAMPs) including chromatinassociated protein high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), heat shock proteins (HSPs), and purine metabolites such as ATP (Iyer et al., 2009). DAMPs can activate pattern recognition receptors such as the Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and the nucleotidebinding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors which can lead to induction and activation of transcription factors like nuclear factor- κB (NF- κB) and mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) and consequently up-regulate genes that are involved in inflammatory responses (Chen and Nunez, 2010). Hypoxic and anoxic cell injury due to ischaemia also causes dramatic changes in epithelial and endothelial cell morphology and protein/receptor surface expression profile. Following reperfusion, elements of the innate immune system within the blood recognize the ischaemia-induced changes on exposed cells resulting in increased tissue injury (Jang and Rabb, 2009).

The most studied effector cells in IRI are neutrophils followed by macrophages which in combination with other elements of innate immunity such as the complement system have the most significant impact in inducing tissue damage. It has been shown more recently that the adaptive immune system including T and B cells also play an important role in IRI (Linfert et al., 2009, Satpute et al., 2009, Renner et al., 2010).

1.3 The complement system

The complement system, which is an important mediator of the innate immune defense, has diverse roles including elimination of pathogenic bacteria, interaction between innate and adaptive immunity and clearance of immune complexes and cellular debris following an inflammatory injury (Diepenhorst et al., 2009).

Complement was initially described in the 1890s as a heat-labile compound in serum that 'complemented' the heat-stable antibodies in the killing of bacteria (Walport, 2001). Since then, 35 to 40 cell bound or soluble proteins and glycoproteins with activating or regulatory functions have been described in the complement system (Carroll and Sim, 2011). The soluble complement components are usually in the form of pro-enzymes which become activated following a proteolytic cleavage. This

process initiates a cascade of enzymatic activation leading to production of anaphylatoxins and other biologically active material which can damage cells. Several regulatory proteins are responsible for protection of host cells from this damage.

The complement system is activated via three distinguishable pathways known as the classical pathway (CP), the lectin pathway (LP) and the alternative pathway (AP). The CP is antibody-dependent and is activated following binding of C1q within the C1 complex to antigen-antibody complexes. The AP is activated when activated C3 (C3b) binds to pathogens or other potential activating surfaces in the presence of factor B and factor D. Activated C3 is formed spontaneously in plasma through cleavage of C3 in a process which is called C3 tick over (Lachmann and Halbwachs, 1975). In the LP which has been characterized more recently, pattern recognition molecules such as mannan binding lectin (MBL), ficolins and CL-11 (collectin-11) bind to specific carbohydrate residues containing mannose on bacteria, viruses and eukaryotic pathogens or altered self cells, such as apoptotic, necrotic or malignant cells after which the enzymatic activity of MBL-associated serine proteases (MASPs) triggers the activation of the pathway (Ali et al., 2012, Fujita, 2002, Collard et al., 2000b). Various coagulation factors and serine proteases belonging to the coagulation system such as FXa, FXIa, plasmin and thrombin have also been shown to be able to cleave C3 and/or C5 molecule and initiate the complement pathway activation (Amara et al., 2008). All complement pathways merge at the level of the complement component C3. With formation of C3 convertase and C5 convertase, the terminal pathway components are produced leading to the formation of C5b-9 which is known as the membrane attack complex (MAC) that is responsible for the final cell or pathogen damage by creating a transmembrane pore (Peitsch and Tschopp, 1991). In the process of complement cascade activation, several byproducts are made from the complement molecules such as the anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a (Hugli, 1984). These have been shown to have both inflammatory and immunomodulatory roles. Figure 2 summarizes the key element of the complement activation pathways.



Figure 2. Schematic of the complement activation pathways. This schematic shows the molecules involved and the sequence of events in classical, lectin and alternative pathway of complement activation. The red colour indicates complement regulatory molecules. C4BP, C4b binding protein; CR1, complement receptor type 1; DAF, decay accelerating factor, C1INH, C1-inhibitor; FH, factor H; FI, factor I

1.3.1 The Classical pathway

The classical pathway of complement becomes activated when an antibody (IgM and complement fixing isotypes of IgG) is produced against antigens such as bacteria or

viruses and forms an antigen-antibody complex. Several other factors have been shown to initiate the CP activation such as certain bacteria, viruses, endotoxins, bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS), C-reactive protein and apoptotic cells (Navratil et al., 2001, Alberti et al., 1996, Mihlan et al., 2011).

The initiating factor in the classical pathway activation is the 790 kDa C1 complex that is made up of one C1q molecule and two Ca²⁺ dependent protease molecules C1r and C1s which are formed as a tetramer C1s-C1r-C1r-C1s (Arlaud et al., 2001). C1q comprises 460 kDa of the C1 molecule and is its recognition component. It has 18 polypeptide chains coded by three different genes and is organized into a structure containing globular domains. Simultaneous binding of these globular heads to triggering ligands results in conformational changes in the C1q molecule leading to auto-activation of C1r. This activates the C1s protease which then cleaves the next two complement components, C4 and C2. Cleavage of C4 produces a small C4a fragment which is released in the fluid phase and a larger C4b fragment that is able to covalently bind to a substrate such as the surface of pathogens. After binding to a target, C4b can function as an opsonin or form a complex with C2. After C2 binds to C4b, it gets cleaved by C1s producing a small fragment C2b and a large fragment C2a that remains attached to C4b and forms the C3-convertase C4b2a.

The C3-convertase then cleaves the C3 molecules to form a small C3a molecule and C3b. C3a is an anaphylatoxin which induces a local inflammatory response and attracts various immune cells to the site of inflammation. Removal of C3a results in a conformational change in the C3b portion, allowing it to covalently bind to the surface of pathogens or damaged cells and facilitate their phagocytosis and disposal by host cells that have C3b receptors. C3b also binds to the formed C3-convertase to make the complex C4b2a3b which acts as C5 convertase. This convertase then

cleaves the C5 molecule to C5a, a potent anaphylatoxin, and C5b which can initiate the assembly of the membrane attack complex (MAC).

1.3.2 The Alternative Pathway

The alternative pathway of complement, in contrast to the classic and lectin pathways, does not require a specific recognition complex for its activation. The automatic and continuous low level hydrolysis of the thioester bond in C3 (known as 'tickover') that forms C3(H2O) is the initiating step in its activation (Thurman and Holers, 2006, Lachmann and Halbwachs, 1975). Molecular conformation of C3(H2O) is similar to C3b which can bind to factor B, making it susceptible to cleavage by serum protease factor D, producing Ba and Bb. Bb remains attached to C3(H2O), forming the fluid phase C3 convertase which can cleave C3 molecules to C3a and C3b. The C3b associates with factor B and produces the alternative pathway C3 convertase, C3bBb, creating a positive feedback loop. The convertase is stabilized by another complement component, properdin, which is a positive complement regulatory factor (Hourcade, 2006). This positive feedback loop can also act on the C3b produced in the CP or LP and amplify their activation.

Most of C3b is inactivated through hydrolysis; however, in the presence of an activating target such as a pathogen, C3b covalently binds to its surface and acts as an opsonin. C3b can also bind to the C3 convertase and form a complex known as C3b2Bb which acts as the alternative pathway C5 convertase, cleaving C5 molecules, leading to initiation of the terminal pathway. C3b also binds to host cells, in which case several soluble and membrane bound complement regulatory proteins come into action to prevent complement activation.

1.3.3 The Lectin Pathway

The lectin pathway (also known as mannan binding lectin pathway) is the most recent complement pathway to be described (Ikeda et al., 1987), although it is thought to have existed prior to both classic and alternative pathways and represents an ancient mechanism of host defense.

The LP becomes activated when the pattern recognition molecules such as mannan binding lectin (MBL) or ficolins recognize certain carbohydrates or N-acetyl groups on the surface of pathogens. Binding of MBL or ficolins to the microbial surface causes activation of MBL-associated proteases known as MASP-1, MASP-2 and MASP-3. MASP-2 acts similar to C1s of the CP and is able to cleave C4 and C2 molecules and form the C3-convertase C4b2a which then cleaves the C3 molecule, whereas MASP-1 can cleave C3 directly, leading to activation of the AP (Fujita et al., 2004b).

The CP and LP have several characteristics in common in that they both have a pattern recognition molecule (MBL and ficolins in the LP and C1q in the CP) which upon binding to a target activates a protease leading to the formation of the C3 convertase C4b2a (Gal et al., 2007). The serum proteases of the 2 pathways (C1r and C1s of the CP and MASP enzymes in the LP) are also structurally related and both bind the recognition molecules in a Ca²⁺ dependent interaction (Phillips et al., 2009).

1.3.3.1 Collectins and ficolins

The evolutionarily conserved immune system has maintained an effective first line defense against invading pathogens. Pattern recognition proteins act in this first line by recognizing and binding the pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) on the surface of microorganisms and initiating the innate immune response. Collectins and ficolins are two important groups of pattern recognition molecules present in plasma and mucosal surfaces that are able to recognize PAMPs (Holmskov et al., 2003). They both have a collagen-like sequence at their N-terminal which allows the assembly of several polypeptides and formation of oligomeric structures. The C-terminal of collectins and ficolins which is the carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD) consists of C-lectin in collectin molecules and fibrinogen in ficolins (Lu et al., 2002). Binding of the CRD segment of collectins and ficolins to carbohydrates on pathogens and their collagen-like region to ligands on immune cells, stimulates innate immune responses such as phagocytosis and/or complement activation and leads to clearance of the microorganism (Holmskov et al., 1994).

The name collectin was proposed for a family of pattern recognition receptors that have structural and functional similarities to C1q of the classical pathway (Malhotra et al., 1992). MBL and surfactant proteins A and D (SP-A and SP-D respectively) are members of the collectin family whose functions have been well studied. MBL which is produced in the liver is a serum protein that together with MBL-associated serine proteases is able to activate the lectin pathway of complement (Kawasaki et al., 1983, Sato et al., 1994). SP-A and SP-D proteins are mainly synthesized by type II alveolar cells and were initially isolated from the lung surfactant (White et al., 1985, Persson et al., 1988). They play an important role in host defense by modulating leukocyte function as well as enhancing the killing and removal of pathogens via opsonisation (Crouch et al., 2000). Several other human collectins have been identified including collectin liver 1 (CL-L1) (Ohtani et al., 1999), membrane bound collectin placenta 1 (CL-P1) (Ohtani et al., 2001) and more recently collectin 11 (Keshi et al., 2006).

I have concentrated on MBL and ficolins which are most relevant to my project with a brief touch on collectin 11 which has exciting potential for future studies related to kidney disease.

1.3.3.2 Molecular characteristics of MBL, ficolins and MASPs

MBL and ficolins are pattern/danger recognition molecules that can bind to specific highly evolutionarily conserved patterns on the surface of certain pathogens and also altered host cells (Fujita et al., 2004b). They belong to the large family of lectins which are characterized by the presence of a collagen-like domain and a carbohydrate-binding domain (Figure 2) (Fujita, 2002). They are both oligomers of structural subunits that contain three identical polypeptides (32 kDa in MBL and 35 kDa in ficolins). The polypeptide chain consists of a cysteine-rich N-terminal, a neck region and a collagen-like domain. The ligand binding sites in these molecules are different and consist of a C-type carbohydrate recognition domain in MBL and a fibrinogen like domain in ficolin (Matsushita et al., 2000).



Figure 3. Domain and oligomeric structure of mannose-binding lectin and ficolins. The trimetric form of MBL and tetrameric form of L-ficolin that was indicated by electron microscopy are shown (Fujita, 2002)

1.3.3.3 MBL

Mannan-binding lectin (MBL, also known as mannose-binding protein) is a member of the collectin family and a plasma glycoprotein (Malhotra et al., 1992). The 32 kD polypeptide chain of MBL consists of 228 amino acids plus a 20 residue cysteine rich region after which there is the collagenous part followed by a neck region and finally a C-terminal calcium-dependent lectin domain that binds carbohydrates (Presanis et al., 2003). Plasma complexes are found in various oligomeric forms. Between two to six structural subunits bind through the cystine-rich N-terminal to form structures ranging from dimers to hexamers (Teillet et al., 2005). Oligomerization of MBL molecules creates a compound which is able to have a strong binding to carbohydrate ligands due to the presence of multiple carbohydrate recognition domains, however, molecules with less polymerization have less avid carbohydrate binding capacity which results in reduced ability to activate complement (Wallis and Drickamer, 1999, Chen and Wallis, 2001).

The carbohydrate recognition domain of MBL binds to the 3-hydroxyl and 4hydroxyl groups of sugars such as *N*-acetyl-D-glucosamine, mannose, *N*-acetylmannosamine, fucose and glucose in a calcium dependent manner (Shiratsuchi et al., 2008). MBL has been shown to bind IgM and activate the LP both *in vitro* and *in vivo* in myocardial and intestinal models of ischaemia reperfusion injury (McMullen et al., 2006, Busche et al., 2009). Binding of MBL to polymeric IgA followed by complement activation has also been demonstrated suggesting a role for MBL in mucosal immunity as well as in IgA nephropathy (Roos et al., 2001).

Only one form of MBL has been identified in human (Sastry et al., 1989), while in rodents MBL has two distinct forms, MBL-A and MBL-C (Sastry et al., 1995). Human MBL has structural and functional similarities to both forms of rodent MBL. Both forms of mouse MBL have been shown to activate the lectin complement pathway (Hansen et al., 2000).

The location of the human MBL gene has been identified on the long arm of chromosome 10 and analysis of the gene has demonstrated that the coding region contains four exons (separated by three introns) each of which is responsible for encoding a distinct part of the protein (Sastry et al., 1989, Taylor et al., 1989). Two human MBL genes have been identified of which only MBL-2 is able to encode the MBL protein (MBL-1 is a pseudo-gene and doesn't produce a functional product)(Guo et al., 1998). Single point mutations in the MBL gene result in production of variant MBL alleles which do not have the functional capabilities of the normal variant (Sumiya et al., 1991). Three MBL gene polymorphisms have been described on codons 54, 57 and 52 of the first exon (which encodes the collagenous part of the MBL molecule) resulting in genotypes B, C and D respectively (Garred et al., 2003).

Several studies have investigated the presence of these variants in different populations and have shown their presence in up to 50% of healthy populations of various origins such as African, Caucasians, Asians and Eskimos (Madsen et al., 1998, Lipscombe et al., 1992, Garred et al., 1992).

Serum level of MBL in healthy humans is very variable and has been reported to be between 0 to more than 5 μ g/ml (Presanis et al., 2003). MBL deficiency is shown to be associated with a lack of opsonisation capacity and recurrent infections in both children and adults (Super et al., 1989, Summerfield et al., 1995, Garred et al., 1995) although high serum MBL levels can increase the survival of certain intracellular pathogens such as mycobacterium tuberculosis or Trypanosoma cruzi by facilitating their entrance into the phagocytic cells (Kahn et al., 1996, Garred et al., 1997). These studies demonstrate that the role of MBL in protecting against infection varies depending on the pathogen and that high levels of MBL could increase the susceptibility of the host to certain infections.

1.3.3.3.1 MBL in kidney disease

In addition to its role in kidney IRI (Moller-Kristensen et al., 2005, de Vries et al., 2004), MBL has been identified to participate in the pathophysiology of various other kidney diseases.

One of the common kidney diseases associated with MBL is IgA nephropathy in which deposition of IgA and complement components in the kidney mesangium leads to glomerular damage. Matsuda et al have demonstrated the deposition of MBL and IgA in the glomeruli of a subgroup of patients with IgA nephropathy which has been associated with increased proteinuria and lower creatinine clearance (Matsuda et al., 1998). The association between MBL staining in the kidney tissue of patients with IgA nephropathy and disease severity was not present in two other studies (Endo et al., 1998, Lhotta et al., 1999) although in a later study consisting of 60 patients with IgA nephropathy, Roos et al showed mesangial deposition of MBL in a quarter of patients in addition to L-ficolin, MASP enzymes and C4d (Roos et al., 2006). They also showed that patients with MBL and L-ficolin deposition in their kidneys have evidence of worse histological kidney damage as well as significantly higher levels of proteinuria suggesting a role for the LP of complement in the pathogenesis of the more severe form of the disease.

Deposition of MBL has also been shown in cases of nephritis associated with Henoch Schönlein purpura (HSP), although the significance of this finding and its effect on complement activation and development of nephritis is controversial with one study finding no association between disease activity, the deposition of MBL and other complement factors in the kidney (Endo et al., 2000) and another showing a positive association between the two factors (Hisano et al., 2005). The number of patients in both of these studies were relatively small (10 and 31 respectively) and perhaps larger studies would be able to clarify the real influence of MBL in the development of HSP.

Another kidney disease shown to be influenced by MBL levels is diabetic nephropathy. Several studies have shown a higher level of MBL in the serum of patients with Type 1 diabetes who develop albuminuria (Saraheimo et al., 2005, Hovind et al., 2005). Although the variation between the MBL levels in these patients has been related to MBL genotype in one study (Hansen et al., 2004), investigation of a large cohort (over a thousand patients) of type 1 diabetics by Kaunisto et al did not find a connection between various MBL genotypes and development of diabetic nephropathy (Kaunisto et al., 2009). Despite showing an association between serum MBL levels and proteinuria in diabetic patients, none of these studies have looked into the presence of MBL in the kidney of these patients which is of course difficult to do as there is often no indication for kidney biopsy in these patients. It does however remain unclear if the elevated level of MBL in patients with diabetic nephropathy is the cause of the kidney disease or the result of the metabolic disturbance in these patients.

The effect of MBL in kidney transplantation has also been the subject of several studies. Measurement of MBL levels in 266 renal allograft recipients revealed that patients with MBL levels above 400 ng/ml had worse graft survival in 10 years than the recipients with MBL levels of less than 400 ng/ml due to the higher incidence of transplant rejection which was resistant to treatment in the former group (Berger et al., 2005). The same group has investigated the relationship between MBL levels and kidney-pancreas graft survival in diabetic patients with simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplant (SPK). In a cohort of 99 patients with SPK after 12 years of follow up, they found that patients with high MBL levels (>400 ng/ml) had not only worse 32

kidney and pancreas graft survival but also higher rates of mortality related to cardiovascular death (Berger et al., 2007). The authors have suggested that higher MBL levels could lead to its increased binding to the damaged tissue and cause worsening of injury and enhance antigen presentation.

1.3.3.4 Ficolins

Ficolins were originally identified as transforming growth factor (TGF)- β 1-binding proteins on porcine uterus membranes (Ichijo et al., 1993). In both human and mouse serum ficolin have been shown to have a binding specificity for N-acetylglucosamine (Fujita et al., 2004a). In humans, three types of ficolin have been identified: L-ficolin and H-ficolin that are present in the serum and M-ficolin which has been identified in leucocytes and lung but not in serum. Hepatocytes are the main source of L-ficolin and H-ficolin although the latter is also produced by bile duct epithelial cells as well as ciliated bronchial and type II alveolar epithelial cells in the lung (Runza et al., 2008). All three ficolins have been shown to activate the LP in association with MASPs (Liu et al., 2005). The ficolin ligands are mostly *N*-acetlyglucosamine (GlcNAc), *N*-acetylgalactosamine (GalNAc) and complex-type oligosaccharide chains with GlcNAc residues present on pathogens (Runza et al., 2008). Unlike MBL, ficolins don't bind to mannose and lactose carbohydrates.

Two types of ficolins have been identified in mice named ficolin-A and ficolin-B. Expression of ficolin-A has been seen in liver and spleen (Fujimori et al., 1998). Ficolin-A is structurally similar to human L-ficolin and is present in plasma. Ficolin-B has 60% identity to ficolin-A and is expressed in bone marrow and spleen (Ohashi and Erickson, 1998). Although both ficolin A and B are able to bind to GlcNAc and GalNAc, only ficolin A is able to bind to the MASP-2 enzyme and activate the LP (Endo et al., 2005).

1.3.3.5 Collectin 11

Collectin 11 (CL-11), also known as collectin kidney (CL-K1) is a member of the collectin family which has been recently cloned and characterized (Keshi et al., 2006). Keshi and colleagues have shown that CL-11 binds to sugars such as fucose and to a lesser extent mannose in a calcium dependent manner. Later, Hansen and colleagues demonstrated that in addition to being present in plasma at a concentration of about 2.1 μ g/ml, organs such as kidneys, adrenal glands and liver are the main tissue sites of expression of CL-11 and more importantly, the molecule interacts with MASP-1 and/or MASP-3 in plasma (Hansen et al., 2010). They also showed that CL-11 can bind to the intact surface of various pathogens including bacteria, viruses and fungi suggesting an important role for this molecule in host defense. Recently CL-11 from both mouse and human has been shown to bind to the surface of Streptococcus pneumoniae and activate the lectin pathway of complement in association with MASP-2 independently of C4, emphasizing the importance of non-MBL members of the collectin family in the fight against pathogens (Ali et al., 2012).

1.3.3.6 MASPs

The Mannan-Binding Lectin-Associated Serine Proteases are proteolytic enzymes of the serine protease super family that are responsible for activation of the lectin pathway. They are homologous to the C1r and C1s of the classical pathway with similar domain organization (Schwaeble et al., 2002). Three MASPs have been identified so far, named MASP-1, MASP-2 and more recently MASP-3 (Dahl et al., 34
2001). MASP-1, -2 and -3 are produced respectively as pro-enzymes of 91, 78 and 101.5 kDa. MASP-3 is an alternative-splicing product from the MASP-1 gene (on chromosome 3 in human) meaning that it carries the same heavy chain but has a different serine protease domain (Dahl et al., 2001). MAp19, an alternatively spliced product of the MASP-2 gene, is a small (19 kDa) non-enzymatic protein which is also associated with lectin–MASP complexes (Wallis, 2007, Stover et al., 1999b). The structural MASP-2 gene is located on chromosome 1 in humans and on chromosome 4 in the mouse (Stover et al., 1999b). The 3 MASPs and MAp19 have been found to be associated with MBLs and ficolins (Matsushita et al., 2000, Iwamoto et al., 2010).

Following the binding of MBL and ficolins to sugars or N-acetyl groups on pathogens or altered cells, the pro-enzyme form of MASP cleaves and the enzyme acquires proteolytic activities against complement components (McQuillin et al., 2009, Bornstein, 2008). MASP-1 has been shown to cleave C3 and C2 but not C4 (Matsushita et al., 2000, Hanley et al., 2012) and since its effect on C3 is very weak there is doubt if it has any biological significance (Gulbransen et al., 2012). Due to its ability to cleave C2, MASP-1 can potentially enhance the activation of complement that has been started by MASP-2/MBL complex although it is unable to initiate the activation (as it can't cleave C4) (Qu et al., 2011). More recently MASP-1 has been shown to be important in AP activation by cleaving factor D (Woehrle et al., 2010, Brough et al., 2009).

MASP-2 has been recognized as the key enzyme for LP activation, being able to cleave C2 and C4 leading to the assembly of C4b2a, the C3 convertase of the LP (Orellana et al., 2011). Although liver was described to be the only source of MASP-2 production (Stover et al., 1999a), a recent report has demonstrated its expression in 35

esophageal squamous cell carcinoma cells (Verma et al., 2006) raising the possibility that MASP-2 can be synthesized in other tissues in pathological conditions.

The functions of MASP-3 and MAp19 are not completely clear. In a recent study, Iwaki and colleagues have shown that in association with MBL, MASP-3 proenzyme becomes activated in the presence of bacteria and is able to initiate the activation of the AP and opsonisation of the bacteria by C3 (Iwaki et al., 2011). More studies are required to clarify the exact role of MASP-3.

1.3.4 The Terminal Pathway

One of the first well-defined functions of complement is the assembly of the complement components C5, C6, C7, C8 and C9 to form a membrane attack complex (MAC) which can create a pore in the lipid bi-layer of cell membrane and cause cell lysis.

Cleavage of C5 by C5 convertase produces C5b which binds to C6 molecule creating the C5b-6 complex that binds to C7. This reaction leads to a conformational change in C7 that result in a hydrophobic site of the molecule to be exposed and allow it to insert in the lipid bi-layer. C8 consists of three proteins, α , β and γ . The β unit of C8 binds the C5b-6-7 complex following which the C8 α - γ binds to C9 and initiates the polymerization of several C9 molecules (10-16) into a pore-like structure with an internal diameter of 10 Å which is the MAC (DiScipio and Hugli, 1985, Hadders et al., 2012). The pore allows small molecules to equilibrate across the membrane which creates an osmotic imbalance due to retention of large molecules in the cell. This leads to an influx of water in the cell that causes cell swelling and ultimately lysis (Tschopp, 1984). Although the lytic activity of the MAC is one of its well known functions, the complex has been shown to induce non lethal cell signals such as endothelial cell activation in xenotransplantation models (Dalmasso et al., 2000), the ability to induce the release of fibroblast growth factor and platelet-derived growth factor from endothelial cells, potentially leading to abnormal cell growth (Benzaquen et al., 1994) and interestingly to play a role in the pathophysiology of Alzheimer's disease (Webster et al., 1997).

1.4 Anaphylatoxins

The anaphylatoxins C3a, C4a and C5a are small (~10 KDa) peptides, containing 74-77 amino acids and are released after splitting of C3, C4 and C5 molecules respectively during complement activation. These peptides are not only potent inflammatory mediators but also play a significant role in regulating many aspects of the immune response (Klos et al., 2009). Control of anaphylatoxin activity is very important and is mediated by serum carboxypeptidase-N, which is able to remove the arginine (Arg) present at the C-terminal of these molecules leading to their inactivation (Bokisch and Muller-Eberhard, 1970).

C4a has been shown to be the weakest of the anaphylatoxins (Gorski et al., 1979) and most studies on anaphylatoxins have been concentrated on C3a and C5a. Of the well known functions of C3a and C5a are induction of smooth muscle contraction, release of histamine from basophils and mast cells, increase in small blood vessel permeability and chemo attraction of inflammatory cells (Klos et al., 2009).

More recently, the role of anaphylatoxins on regulation of adaptive immunity has been the subject of several studies. Use of C3a and C5a receptor deficient mice (C3aR-/- and C5aR-/- respectively) as well as C3a and C5a receptor antagonists has facilitated our understanding of anaphylatoxins in adaptive immunity. Dendritic cells have been shown to produce C3a and C5a locally which following interaction with their G protein coupled receptors are able to enhance the expression of MHC class II and co-stimulatory molecules such as B7 and CD40 resulting in enhanced T cell response (Peng et al., 2009). DCs from C3aR-/- and C5aR-/- mice as well as wild type (WT) DCs treated with C3a or C5a receptor antagonist have not only less MHC class II and co-stimulatory molecule expression but also produce less IL-12 (which is required to stimulate IFN- γ production that leads to proliferation of Th1 cells) and more IL-10 (an anti-inflammatory cytokine that reduces Th1 response) resulting in an overall less efficient Th1 response (Peng et al., 2008, Li et al., 2008, Strainic et al., 2008). Importance of anaphylatoxins in T cell mediated response has been demonstrated in in vivo experiments as well. Mice deficient in C3a and C5a receptor (C3aR-/-/C5aR-/-) developed less infiltration of T cells in their cornea compared to WT following induction of herpes simplex keratitis and when infected with Toxoplasma gondii, died after a few days compared with the WT mice that survived due to their intact T cell function (Strainic et al., 2008). Testing this hypothesis in transplantation, Peng and colleagues showed that skin grafts from C3aR-/- mouse to allogeneic WT mouse had longer survival compared with WT to WT skin grafts as the C3aR-/- DCs in the donor skin were unable to stimulate the T cell response as effectively as the WT DCs (Peng et al., 2008). Influence of anaphylatoxin C5a on CD8⁺ T cells has been investigated in another study where use of C5aR antagonist prevented mice infected with influenza type A virus to mount a flu-specific CD8⁺ T cell response suggesting that engagement of C5a with its receptor has an effect on CD8⁺ T cell activation (Kim et al., 2004). More recently Jörg Köhl's group have shown that activation of C5aR on DCs is an important step in formation of signals 38

that drive the differentiation of $CD4^+$ T cells to the regulatory, Th1 or Th17 subtype by change in cytokine production as well as co-stimulatory molecule expression (Weaver et al., 2010).

The influence of anaphylatoxins on the $\gamma\delta$ T cells has also been the subject of a number of studies. Han G and colleagues have demonstrated the presence of C5aR on $\gamma\delta$ T cells and have shown that in a mouse sepsis model (following cecal ligation and puncture), the expression of C5aR on these cells increases and engagement of C5a with its receptor on $\gamma\delta$ T cells results in an increase in IL-17 production (Han et al., 2011). In an *Escherichia coli (E. coli)* induced mouse model of sepsis, activation of C5aR on NK and NKT cells was shown to result in an increase in production of IFN- γ and TNF- α and reduce the mice survival (Fusakio et al., 2011).

In the past decade, presence of anaphylatoxin receptors and their effect has been investigated on a variety of stem cells. Mesenchymal stem cells which have a significant potential for tissue regeneration and repair, have receptors for both anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a and are subject to chemoattraction by them to injured tissue (Schraufstatter et al., 2009). Presence of C3aR on the haematopoietic and progenitor cells has on the other hand been shown to be important in homing and retention of these cells in the bone marrow (Ratajczak et al., 2004). Rahpeymai and colleagues have demonstrated that both C3a and C5a receptors are expressed on neural stem cells and neural progenitor cells and that they positively regulate neurogenesis following cerebral ischaemia (Rahpeymai et al., 2006).

In brief, anaphylatoxins influence the adaptive immune response through various mechanisms such as direct effect on antigen presenting cells (i.e. dendritic cells and macrophages), resulting in modulation of their effect on T cells as well as inducing production of various inflammatory cytokines such as IFN- γ , IL-4, IL-6, TNF- α and 39

IL-12 family from tissue resident macrophages and epithelial cells which affects the differentiation and expansion of Th17 cells and has an influence on the balance of Th1 and Th2 cell populations (Zhou, 2012).

The effect of anaphylatoxins on B cells is less extensively studied, although they have been shown to influence their cytokine production and chemotaxis (Fischer and Hugli, 1997, Kupp et al., 1991). Investigating the role of anaphylatoxins in tissue repair is an important field for future research.

1.4.1 Anaphylatoxin receptors

There are three known anaphylatoxin receptors: C3a receptor (C3aR), C5a receptor (C5aR) and C5a receptor-like 2 (C5L2). They belong to the family of G-protein coupled receptors which are among the largest family of proteins of the mammalian genome (Takeda et al., 2002). They consist of seven trans-membrane helices with an extracellular N-terminus and an intracellular C-terminus (Kroeze et al., 2003). They have many structural similarities but differ in their ligand specificity and function.

Both C3a and C5a receptors are present on a variety of cells including dendritic cells, neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, basophils and eosinophils. Some non-myeloid cells also express these receptors such as kidney tubular epithelial cells, endothelial cells, astrocytes, liver parenchymal cells and bronchial and alveolar epithelial cells (Ames et al., 1996, Wetsel, 1995, Zwirner et al., 1999, Ischenko et al., 1998, Zahedi et al., 2000, Braun et al., 2004).

Presence of the C3aR on T cells has been a matter of debate. Werfel et al have shown the presence of C3aR on activated T cells (Werfel et al., 2000) but they have not been detected on un-stimulated T or B cells (Martin et al., 1997). Presence of C5aR on T cells has been shown in several studies (Lalli et al., 2008, Strainic et al., 2008) although Soruri and colleagues could not detect the expression of C5aR on murine lymphoid cells using anti-C5aR antibodies and another study using fluorescent labeled C5a showed binding by only 6% of lymphocytes (van Epps and Chenoweth, 1984).

The widespread presence of anaphylatoxin receptors and their broad range of functions has invited significant interest into the study of their biological functions and production of compounds that can block their effect and modulate their function.

1.4.2 Complement regulatory proteins

As complement activation has the potential to induce significant inflammation and tissue injury, its function needs to be tightly regulated to prevent host damage. This regulation is executed via several fluid phase and membrane bound proteins (Hourcade et al., 1989). Table 1 shows a list of complement regulatory proteins.

Component	Size (kD)	[Serum](µg/ml)	Site of action
Soluble proteins			
C1 inhibitor	105	200	C1r, C1s, MASPs
Factor I	88	35	C4b, C3b
Factor H	150	480	C3b
C4BP	500	250	C4b
Vitronectin (S-Protein)	83	505	C5b-7
Clusterin (SP-40)	70-80	50-100	C5b-9
Properdin	52-55	5-25	C3/C5 convertase
Membrane-bound proteins			
CR1 (CD35)	190-220	-	C3/C5 convertase
MCP (CD46)	45-70	-	C3/C5 convertase
DAF (CD55)	70	-	C3/C5 convertase
CD59	20	-	C5b-8/C5b-9

Table 1. Complement regulatory proteins. C4BP, C4b binding protein; CR1, complement receptor type 1; MCP, membrane cofactor protein; DAF, decay accelerating factor

1.4.2.1 Fluid phase regulatory proteins

A number of proteins act as complement regulators in the fluid phase. C1 inhibitor (C1INH) is an inhibitor of serine protease enzymes and regulates the activation of the complement system by deactivating C1r and C1s of the classical pathway and MASP-2 of the lectin pathway (Davis, 2004) thereby preventing the formation of C4/C2 convertase complex. Factor I, a very specific serine protease, is another fluid

phase complement regulator. It prevents the formation of both C3 and C5 convertases of the three complement pathways by cleaving the α -chains of C3b and C4b (Kavanagh et al., 2005). C4b-binding protein (C4BP) acts as a co-factor for serum factor I, enhancing the proteolytic inactivation of C3b and C4b (Blom et al., 2003). When bound to C4b, in addition to preventing the formation of the classical and lectin pathway C3 convertase, C4bC2a, it accelerates its natural degradation (Gigli et al., 1979). Factor H is an important negative regulator of the alternative pathway of complement. It acts as a co-factor for factor I in C3b cleavage and inactivation and enhances the degradation and decay of C3bBb which is the C3 convertase of the alternative pathway (Ferreira et al., 2010). Factor H also protects the host cells from the damaging effect of the alternative pathway activation. This is achieved by the high affinity of factor H to bind sialic acid residues present on host cells which allows factor H to cleave the C3b molecules that bind to the host cell surface and prevent the activation of the alternative pathway (Fearon, 1978) whereas pathogens that don't have the sialic acid residue on their surface remain sensitive to destruction by the alternative pathway activation. Clusterin (SP-40) and vitronectin (S protein) are inhibitors of the membrane attack complex formation. They bind to C5b-9 and make the complex water soluble, hence preventing it from insertion into cell membrane and induction of cell lysis (Chauhan and Moore, 2006). Carboxypeptidase-N is responsible for deactivation of the anaphylatoxins C3a, C4a and C5a by cleaving the arginine amino-acid from the C-terminal side of these peptides (Matthews et al., 2004).

1.4.2.2 Properdin

Louis Pillemer and his collaborators in the early 1950s described properdin as a molecule which was able to activate the complement pathway without involvement of an antigen-antibody complex (Pillemer et al., 1954). After the initial interest in this molecule, it was reported that properdin preparations contain antigen-antibody complexes and that the activation of the complement pathway is through the established classical pathway (Nelson, 1958). After recognition of the alternative pathway, attention to properdin was re-instated and several studies thereafter investigated its role in complement activation (Muller-Eberhard and Schreiber, 1980). Properdin exerts its effect as a positive regulator of the alternative complement pathway by binding to and stabilizing C3 and C5 convertase complexes, C3bBb and C3b(n)Bb (Fearon and Austen, 1975, Muller-Eberhard and Schreiber, 1980). Properdin has an important role in optimal activation of the alternative pathway and patients deficient in properdin have been shown to develop fatal septicaemia mostly due to meningococcal infection (Fijen et al., 1999).

Properdin is formed of small (53kD) identical protein subunits which bind head to tail to form dimers, trimers and tetramers (Smith et al., 1984). In contrast to most other complement proteins, properdin is not synthesized in the liver and its secretion has been shown from monocytes, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and several bone marrow progenitor cell lines (Schwaeble et al., 1993, Schwaeble et al., 1994, Farries and Atkinson, 1989). Neutrophils are able to secrete properdin after stimulation with factors such as TNF- α , IL-8, C5a and *N*-formyl-methionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine (FMLP) (Wirthmueller et al., 1997). Endothelial cells exposed to sheer stress have been implicated as another source of properdin (Bongrazio et al., 2003).

Interestingly, properdin has been shown to act as a pattern recognition molecule, binding to apoptotic T cells, thereby facilitating their phagocytosis via activation of the alternative pathway (Kemper et al., 2008).

1.4.2.3 Membrane bound regulatory proteins

Membrane bound regulatory proteins are expressed on various host cells and are responsible for protecting the host tissues from damage due to complement activation.

Complement receptor 1 (CR1, also known as CD35) is a transmembrane glycoprotein which accelerates the decay of C3 and C5 convertases of both classical and alternative complement pathways and also acts as a co-factor for factor I in degrading C3b and C4b molecules (Ahearn and Fearon, 1989). Membrane Cofactor Protein (MCP, also known as CD46) is another cofactor for factor I, assisting the cleavage of C3b and C4b (Liszewski et al., 1991). Decay accelerating factor (DAF, also known as CD55), inhibits formation of C4b2a and C3bBb, the C3 convertases of the classical/lectin and alternative pathways respectively by competitive inhibition of C2 and Factor B uptake (Kinoshita et al., 1986) as well as accelerating the decay of available C3 and C5 convertases (Medof et al., 1984). CD59 acts differently from the other membrane regulators. It prevents the formation of the membrane attack complex by inhibiting the binding of C9 to C5b-8 (Miwa and Song, 2001).

1.5 Biological functions of the complement system

Opsonization/phagocytosis, lysis, and generation of inflammatory response through soluble mediators known as anaphylatoxins to eliminate pathogens are well established biological functions of complement (Dunkelberger and Song, 2009). In addition, complement has been known to be responsible for clearance of immune complexes (Walport and Davies, 1996). In the past decade, our understanding of complement and its functions has expanded and we know that complement is not only responsible as one of the first lines of defense against microbial infections but also plays a significant role in homeostasis by facilitating the removal of cellular debris and apoptotic cells, coordinating the immune response and acting on healthy cells that don't behave normally (Ricklin et al., 2010). Complement has also been found to be a key regulator of the adaptive immune response which is discussed in the next section.

Opsonization is a process by which certain complement molecules bind to pathogens or foreign particles and tag them so that they could be recognized by phagocytic cells such as neutrophils and macrophages. C3 is the main complement molecule involved in opsonization. Following activation, C3 is cleaved to form C3b which binds to Bb and forms the C3 convertase, C3bBb and cleaves C3 to produce more C3b. C3b is deposited on the target surface and is rapidly converted to inactive products including iC3b, C3c and C3dg which act as ligands for complement receptors 1-4 and CRIg on phagocytic cells. The interaction of the ligand and its receptor on phagocytic cells leads to clearance of the target by phagocytosis (Chen et al., 2007). C3 has an important role in immune complex solubilisation and its removal from circulation (Schifferli, 1987). Immune complexes are formed constantly in the circulation and their levels increase significantly after exposure of host to antigen and initiation of a humoral immune response. The antigen-antibody complexes could be harmful when deposited on vascular endothelium as they can activate the classical

Covalent binding of complement factors C1, C4, C2, and C3 to immune complexes

complement pathway and lead to an inflammatory reaction and tissue damage.

changes their biophysical characteristics and prevents their aggregation, so they 46

would remain soluble and do not precipitate (Schifferli et al., 1980, Hong et al., 1984). The immune complexes that have been opsonised with C3b would attach to cells that have the C3b receptor, CR1 (particularly on erythrocytes in the circulation), and are transferred to macrophages for elimination (Jensen, 2005).

MBL and C4 also act as opsonins, facilitating the uptake of various fungi, viruses and bacteria by polymorphonuclear cells (van Asbeck et al., 2008, Mascart-Lemone et al., 1983). Finally, C1q, which is a component of the classical pathway of complement has been shown to have an important role is opsonizing apoptotic cells from different tissues such as keratinocytes and vascular endothelial cells (Riley-Vargas et al., 2004), facilitating their removal in a physiological, non-inflammatory way. Elimination of apoptotic cells and immune complexes by C1q is an important feature, the absence of which leads to development of autoimmune diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (Botto et al., 1998, Walport et al., 1998).

The lytic effect of complement is through formation of the MAC by assembly of C5b, C6, C7, C8 and C9 molecules which induces a pore in the lipid bi-layer of pathogens (Muller-Eberhard, 1986). Insertion of MAC complex in the cell membrane leads to an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺, leakage of cellular nucleotide pools such as ATP and its precursors as well as loss of mitochondrial polarity, all of which result in cell death (Papadimitriou et al., 1994, Papadimitriou et al., 1991).

MAC has other biological functions beside its well known cytolytic effect such as induction of cell proliferation and initiating inflammation. MAC has been shown to induce activation of neutrophils and macrophages resulting in the production and release of inflammatory compounds such as prostaglandins, leukotrienes, thromboxanes and reactive oxygen metabolites (Hansch et al., 1984). In endothelial as well as glomerular mesangial cells, deposition of MAC has been shown to stimulate the release of platelet derived growth factor and fibroblast growth factor leading to proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells and glomerular mesangial cells which result in atherosclerosis and proliferative glomerular disease respectively (Niculescu and Rus, 1999, Lovett et al., 1987).

As described in section 1.4, proteolytic cleavage of complement molecules C3, C4 and C5 through activation of C3 convertase, activated C1s and C5 convertase respectively, leading to generation of the small (74-78 amino acid) pro-inflammatory by-products C3a, C4a and C5a which are known as anaphylatoxins (Hugli, 1984). C3a and C5a in particular have several biological activities such as: smooth muscle cell contraction; release of histamine and serotonin from basophils and mast cells; increase in vascular permeability; promoting adhesion of leukocytes to endothelium and initiating the chemotaxis of inflammatory leukocytes (Kohl, 2001). Anaphylatoxin receptors are found on a variety of non-immune cells such as the heart, kidney, lung, liver, endothelial cells, neurons and astrocytes (Klos et al., 2009) suggesting that they modulate the function of these organs in health and disease. Anaphylatoxins also exert a significant effect on the adaptive immune response, as will be discussed below.

1.5.1 Production of complement proteins

With the exception of C1q, C7, and factor D, liver is the main source of production of circulating complement proteins, although a number of studies in the past three decades have shown various extra-hepatic sources for synthesis of several soluble complement proteins with or without the presence of an external stimulus (Morgan and Gasque, 1997). Monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, fibroblasts and endothelial cells have all been shown to produce some of the complement proteins (Perlmutter and Colten, 1986). Organs such as the brain and the kidney are also capable of producing several of the complement proteins suggesting the importance of these molecules in dealing with potential local infection and tissue injury (Chen, 2004, Geissmann et al., 2010, Dodds, 2002, Gordon, 2002) although they might actually contribute to local inflammation (Lawrence and Natoli, 2011).

C1q is mainly produced by monocytes, macrophages, immature dendritic cells and microglial cells of the brain (Mantovani et al., 2009, Ji et al., 2012, Zhang et al., 2010, Martinez et al., 2008, Le Berre et al., 2005). Production of C1q by these cells could have an important role in the clearance of local immune complexes and apoptotic cells (Mantovani et al., 2004). Monocytes and tissue macrophages such as liver kupffer cells as well as fibroblasts are known sources of C7 (Lawrence and Natoli, 2011, Mantovani et al., 2009). Factor D is produced by adipocytes suggesting a role for complement in lipid metabolism (Mantovani et al., 2004).

1.6 Role of complement in adaptive immunity

1.6.1 Complement factors and humoral immunity

The involvement of the complement system in humoral immunity has been recognized since the late 1960s when Gajl-Peczalska and colleagues detected the presence of both C3 and complement fixing immune complexes in the germinal centre of lymphoid follicles suggesting the existence of a relationship between complement and B cell activation (Gajl-Peczalska et al., 1969) followed later by recognition of complement receptors on some lymphoid cells (Bianco et al., 1970). It was shown later that depletion of complement C3 impairs antibody responses (Pepys, 1976), further implying a role for complement in adaptive immunity.

It took several years to realize that complement components influence the humoral immune response by affecting the B cells at various stages of their development (Carroll, 2004). CR1 and CR2 (also known as CD21) which are expressed on follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) and B cells play an important role in regulating the humoral response (Fang et al., 1998). The signaling protein CD19 and CD81 protein join CR2 to form what is known as the B-cell co-receptor complex. Carter and Fearon demonstrated that engagement of complement-coated antigens with this B cell co-receptor, CD21/CD19/CD81, enhances positive selection of B cells (Carter and Fearon, 1992). Immunizing mice with hen egg lysosome using C3d as an adjuvant, Fearon's group later showed that C3d was able to significantly enhance the antibody production (Dempsey et al., 1996).

In addition to their role in humoral immune response, complement receptors CD21 and CD35 help with B cell survival in the germinal centre by inducing an antigenindependent signal (Fischer et al., 1998, Carroll, 1999).

The role of anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a on the B cell response has also been the subject of investigation in several studies. Although C3aR is not expressed on all B cells, its presence has been demonstrated on tonsillar B cells, and stimulation of these cells with C3a and C3a-desArg has been shown to suppress their polyclonal antibody response as well as reduce their production of IL-6 and TNF- α in a dose dependent manner (Fischer and Hugli, 1997). C5a on the other hand has been shown to have an effect on migration and trafficking of tonsillar naive and memory B cells as well as B cells of the germinal centre (Ottonello et al., 1999, Kupp et al., 1991).

1.6.1.1 Complement factors and T-cell mediated immunity

Mice with various complement component deficiencies have been used to examine the effect of complement in T-cell mediated immunity.

Being the centre of the three activation pathways of complement, C3 not only contributes to the well established pro-inflammatory effects of complement such as opsonization and anaphylatoxic activity, but also has an important role in immune regulation (Kinoshita, 1991). In a model of influenza virus infection, Kopf and colleagues showed that C3-/- mice had higher virus titers in their lung due to its delayed clearance, as well as reduced number of virus specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ effector T cells. In addition, proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells and lytic activity of cytotoxic T cells from mediastinal lymph nodes of C3-/- animals was significantly reduced compared to wild type mice (Kopf et al., 2002). This mouse phenotype also had reduced CD4⁺ dependent IgG response, suggesting that C3 or products of complement activation further down the pathway have a role in T cell priming in lymphoid organs as well as T cell-mediated antibody production.

Using a kidney transplant model in which WT or C3-/- kidneys were transplanted into congenic mice, Pratt and colleagues demonstrated that C3-/- transplants survive considerably longer than the WT (Pratt et al., 2002). They have shown that this effect is partly due to the fact that C3-/- tubular epithelial cells were less able to stimulate antigen-primed alloreactive T cells. This finding suggests that C3 has an important role in antigen presentation by tubular epithelial cells which had already been proposed (Kelley and Singer, 1993, Hagerty and Allen, 1992). Later, Li and colleagues confirmed the above results by showing in an *in vitro* model that C3 coated tubular epithelial cells were able to induce an allospecific T cell response and affect the production of T cell specific cytokines (Li et al., 2004). They also showed 51 that antigen presenting cell expression of complement was an important costimulatory factor for the priming of alloreactive T cells in mice (Zhou et al., 2006, Peng et al., 2008, Sacks and Zhou, 2012).

Following the above studies, to investigate the potential role of anaphylatoxins in Tcell response, Kim and colleagues used a C5aR antagonist in a mouse model of *influenza* A infection. They demonstrated a significant reduction in the number, cytotoxic ability and INF- γ production of CD8⁺ T cells in the lungs of mice treated with C5aR antagonist compared with the mice treated with a control peptide indicating a role for C5a in CD8⁺ T cell activation (Kim et al., 2004).

Anaphylatoxin C3a has also been shown to affect T cell function through its interaction with dendritic cells (DCs). Peng and colleagues have shown that DCs from C3aR-/- mice and wild type DCs treated with C3aR antagonist have a reduced capacity to induce a T cell response towards their expressed alloantigen (Peng et al., 2008). They noted that both C3aR-/- DCs and DCs treated with C3aR antagonist expressed fewer MHC class II and co-stimulatory molecules such as CD40, B7.1 and B7.2, which potentially explains the reduced T cell response (as optimal T cell activation is dependent on the co-stimulatory signals). Strainic and colleagues consequently demonstrated that both C3a and C5a and interaction of these anaphylatoxins with their respective receptors have an important role in expression of MHC class II and co-stimulatory molecules on DCs and consequently on T cell differentiation and proliferation (Strainic et al., 2008). They suggested that anaphylatoxins have a direct effect on T cells via their receptors although as discussed earlier, the presence of these receptors on T cells has been controversial. Complement regulatory molecules have also been shown to modulate T cell response. Daf-/- mice have been shown to have an enhanced T cell response to active

immunization, secreting increased amounts of pro-inflammatory cytokines, IL-2 and INF-γ, and reduced amounts of anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10. This effect was complement-dependent as absence of either C3 or C5 abolished the increased T cell response in daf-/- mice (Fang et al., 2011). Heeger and colleagues have demonstrated that the increased T cell proliferation and frequency in daf-/- animals in response to antigen presentation (by daf-/- antigen presenting cells) is factor D and to some extent C5 dependent suggesting that the alternative pathway activation is important in influencing the T cell response (Heeger, 2005). These results suggest that daf molecule has an effect on T cell activation and potentially suppresses T cell response through inhibition of convertase activity leading to reduced alternative pathway activation and production of anaphylatoxins.

CD46, the complement regulatory protein which acts as a receptor for C3b, has been shown to influence T cell function in various ways. Astier and colleagues demonstrated that stimulation of CD46 on T cells not only resulted in tyrosine phosphorylation of complexes in the cell which regulate T cell receptor signaling but also in conjunction with CD3, it induced a co-stimulatory effect leading to increased T cell proliferation (Astier et al., 2000). Later, it was shown that stimulation of CD3 and CD46 on CD4⁺ T cells in the presence of IL-2, induces a regulatory phenotype in these cells characterized by IL-10 production and suppression of T-helper cell activation (Kemper et al., 2003). Failure to switch from CD4⁺ T-helper cell to the regulatory phenotype through CD46 activation has been shown to contribute to autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis and multiple sclerosis (Astier et al., 2006, Cardone et al., 2010).

1.7 The role of complement in IRI

The pathophysiology of the inflammatory cascade that is activated following the reperfusion of ischaemic tissue has been the subject of intensive research, as it is believed that modulation of this response in the early phase could prevent organ damage. Complement is one of the key contributors to the inflammatory response following IRI. Complement proteins and their active breakdown products participate in various aspects of the inflammatory response; They are able to initiate chemotaxis of leukocytes, stimulate the release of cytokines and cause vasodilatation as well as have an effect on the function of the coagulation pathway (Frank and Fries, 1991, Prydz et al., 1977).

In the early 1970s, Hill and Ward demonstrated the presence of C3 cleavage products associated with leukocyte infiltration in the damaged heart tissue of rats after ligation of their coronary arteries, suggesting for the first time that complement has an active role in inducing cellular damage following IRI (Hill and Ward, 1971). Following this finding, many studies using knock out animal models or complement inhibitors have shown the pathogenic role of complement products in IRI of different organs such as kidney, intestine and hind limb (Diepenhorst et al., 2009).

Investigations on the role of complement in IRI have shown that components from each complement activation pathway could be important in the damage caused depending on the involved organ for example the classical pathway has been shown to be important in intestinal (Schenk et al., 2008) and liver (Heijnen et al., 2006) IRI but not in the kidney. Although there was a well defined distinction between the effects of each pathway in IRI, the more recent studies raise the possibility of an interaction between the classical and lectin pathway activation. Furthermore, it is

54

possible that activation of either of these pathways act as an initial stimulus for alternative pathway activation which then continues its positive feedback loop.

As shown in Fig 2, C3 is the central component that is in common with all complement activation pathways and most of the recognized effector mechanisms depend on it. The effector molecules produced after C3 is shared in the all 3 pathways.

Cobra venom factor (CVF) was one of the first agents used in early *in vivo* complement studies. As its name implies, CVF is derived from cobra venom; it has structural similarity to C3 and functions like C3b, forming C3 and C5 convertase with longer half life than C3bBb leading to continuous conversion of C3 and C5 molecules and depletion of serum complement (Fritzinger et al., 2009). Maroko and colleagues in the late 70s showed that use of CVF in dogs who underwent cardiac ischaemia by occlusion of their left anterior descending coronary artery, developed less myocardial injury compared to a control group (Maroko et al., 1978). Complement depletion using CVF was later shown to reduce the infiltration of polymorphonuclear cells and reperfusion injury in post ischaemic rat livers (Jaeschke et al., 1993).

Considering that IgG and IgM are important activators of the classical pathway, recombinase activating gene-1 deficient (RAG-1-/-) mice which are unable to produce immunoglobulins due to the lack of mature B and T cells as well as complement receptor CD35 deficient (CR2-/-) mice have been used in studies investigating the role of the classical pathway in IRI. Use of these animals in the heart, hind limb and intestinal IRI models have shown that they have reduced level of tissue damage in the injured organ compared to their WT control (Williams, 1998, Weiser et al., 1996, Zhang et al., 2006a). A specific natural IgM directed towards a

self-antigen which is exposed by ischaemia seems to be responsible for inducing injury (Zhang et al., 2004, Chan et al., 2006b). Re-constitution of these animals with natural IgM restores their organ damage following IRI suggesting that IgM has an important role in activating the complement pathway thereby inducing injury. RAG-1-/- mice are not protected from kidney IRI (Park et al., 2002), indicating that IgM is not a major player in this model which emphasizes the fact that complement activation in IRI varies in different organs.

Interestingly, while absence of C1q has not provided any protective effect in myocardial and intestinal IRI, the activation of the lectin pathway via MBL has been shown to have an important role in inducing tissue damage in these organs demonstrated by the fact that mice deficient in MBL have less injury (Walsh et al., 2005, Hart et al., 2005). Previous experiments displaying the binding of IgM to MBL (Nevens et al., 1992, Arnold et al., 2005) raised the possibility that it is actually the lectin pathway that plays the key role in IRI and indeed later studies showed that in intestinal and myocardial IRI, tissue damage is dependent on the presence of both IgM and MBL (McMullen et al., 2006, Busche et al., 2009). Deficiency of C1q was not protective in these models suggesting that the effect of IgM was independent of the classical pathway (Zhang et al., 2006b). By showing that MBL binds to IgM molecules targeted towards a self non-muscle myosin heavy chain in murine models of intestinal and skeletal IRI (Zhang et al., 2006a), Zhang and colleagues strengthened the notion that LP plays the key role in IRI.

Kidney IRI has been shown to be independent of C4 which is a component of the classical as well as the lectin complement pathway (Zhou et al., 2000); However, the influence of the lectin pathway in kidney IRI has been demonstrated by Moller-Kristensen and colleagues where mice deficient in MBL A and C had 35% protection 56

from injury following IR compared to the WT mice (Moller-Kristensen et al., 2005). The importance of MBL molecules in this model was confirmed by reconstitution of these deficient mice with recombinant MBL-A and MBL-C after which they developed similar level of kidney injury as WT. Demonstration of MBL deposition in ischaemic kidney tissue of both mice and human has further indicated the importance of the LP in IRI (de Vries et al., 2004).

The effect of the LP has been shown in a mouse model of cerebral IRI where MBL null mice had smaller infarct size compared to the WT which was translated in a population of stroke patients, where genotypes with low MBL levels also showed better outcome in 3 months compared to the MBL sufficient group (Osthoff et al., 2011, Cervera et al., 2010). IRI in MBL deficient mice has shown to induce less damage in skeletal muscle (Chan et al., 2006a) and less infarct size in the heart with better preservation of left ventricular ejection fraction (Walsh et al., 2005). Use of monoclonal antibodies against MBL has been shown to reduce myocardial IR damage significantly in a rat model (Jordan et al., 2001). Most recently Schwaeble and colleagues have demonstrated that absence of LP activation in MASP-2-/- mice as well as treatment of wild type mice with anti-MASP-2 antibody protects them from cardiac and intestinal IRI (Schwaeble et al., 2011).

Investigations on the AP including use of factor B-deficient mice as well as utilization of an inhibitory monoclonal antibody to mouse factor B (FB) in a native kidney IR model have demonstrated a protective effect (Thurman et al., 2005, Thurman and Holers, 2006). Factor D-deficient mice have been used in a gastrointestinal IR model where in comparison with the WT, they have been shown to developed significantly less injury demonstrated by less C3 deposition (Stahl et al., 2003). Furthermore, reconstitution of the factor D-deficient mice with recombinant factor D in this experiment, resulted in development of injury comparable to the WT suggesting that factor D and hence the AP activation is responsible for induction of the damage.

A major outcome of animal IR studies was the finding that local production of complement C3 by kidney epithelial cells plays an important role in graft injury as experiments performed in mouse isograft transplant models in the absence of locally produced C3 have shown a remarkable reduction in reperfusion graft damage (Farrar et al., 2006). This study showed for the first time that local production of complement is an important factor in tissue damage following IRI.

The role of effector molecules which follow C3 activation have also been investigated in animal IRI models. Use of an antagonist against the anaphylatoxin C5a has shown a protective effect in several models of IRI including native kidney IR in mice as well as intestinal IR in rats suggesting the role of this molecule and potentially the downstream effector component C5b-9 in tissue injury (de Vries et al., 2003a, Arumugam et al., 2002). Administration of anti-C5 monoclonal antibody has also shown to have a protective effect in the mouse intestine and kidney as well as the rat heart following IRI (de Vries et al., 2003b, Wada et al., 2001, Vakeva et al., 1998). Absence of the terminal pathway complex, C5b-9 has also been shown to be protective from native kidney IRI (Zhou et al., 2000).

While progress has been made in identifying some of the effector mechanisms by which complement stimulates the genesis of IRI, there is more uncertainty regarding the molecular and biochemical mechanisms that initiate the complement mediated injury, i.e. which DAMPs are involved and how they trigger the activation of complement molecules that result in tissue injury. Table 2 summarizes the studies which have investigated the role complement molecules in mouse kidney IRI.

Complement Factor Investigated	Model of kidney IR	Author
C3, C4, C5, C6	Native mouse IR Using C3, C4, C5 and C6 deficient animals	Zhou et al., 2000
C5a	Native mouse IR Using Anti-C5 compound (preventing C5a formation)	de Vries et al., 2003
FB	Native mouse IR Using FB-/- animal and anti-FB monoclonal antibody	(Thurman et al., 2005, Thurman and Holers, 2006, Thurman et al., 2003)
MBL-A/MBL-C in mice MBL in human	WT Native mouse IR, Transplanted human kidney	(de Vries et al., 2004)
MBL-A/MBL-C	Native mouse IR Using double deficient animals	Moller-Kristensen et al., 2005
C3	Isograft mouse Transplant Using C3-/- animal	Farrar et al., 2006

Table 2. Summary of studies looking at the role of various complement components in native or transplant mouse model of kidney IRI

Knowing that anaphylatoxin C5a is an important mediator of IRI in the kidney and the fact that the potential role of C3a was unexplored in this model, I planned to first investigate the influence of this molecule in kidney IRI. At the same time, since there were increasing evidence that the lectin pathway of complement is the key trigger in IRI in various organs including the kidney, and due to the availability of MASP-2 deficient mice (from the laboratory of my second supervisor, Professor Schwaeble in Leicester) which have no lectin pathway activation (compared to MBL deficient mice which can still activate the lectin pathway via ficolins), I investigated the role of the lectin pathway in a kidney transplant model of IRI, compared to the effect of classical and alternative pathway activation using C4-/- and FB-/- mice respectively.

Therefore, the first two questions of my research were: a) to examine the expectation that C3a is a possible effector of IRI in the kidney and if so by what mechanism it induces injury and b) to address the hypothesis that the lectin pathway is a mediator of kidney IRI and specifically that MASP-2 deficient mice would be protected compared with C4 and FB deficient mice lacking the activation of the classical and alternative pathway respectively.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Materials

General chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich or BDH (VWR, Leicestershire, UK). Histological stains were purchased from Raymond A. Lamb (London, UK). Microscope slides and solutions used for mounting were purchased from BDH (VWR, Leicestershire, UK).

2.1.1 Surgical Equipment

Clamp applicator and microaneurysm clamps were purchased from Codman (Berkshire, UK). Other surgical tools, including scissors, forceps, retractor and needle holders were purchased from Braun (Sheffield, UK). Ethicon sutures 4-0 were purchased from Southern Syringe Services (London, UK). Warm pads to keep even core body temperature in the animal during surgical procedures were purchased from VetTech (Cheshire, UK).

2.1.2 Antibodies

Rabbit anti-human C3d for tissue staining was purchased from DAKO (Cambridge, UK). FITC-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG from Jackson Laboratories (Maine, USA)

was used as secondary antibody for C3d staining. Rat anti-mouse anti-MASP-2 antibody was produced by Dr Youssif M. Ali (at Professor Schwaeble's lab) and kindly donated by Professor Schwaeble (Schwaeble et al., 2011) and goat anti-rat FITC antibody from Jackson laboratories (Maine, USA) was used as secondary antibody. Anti-MASP-2 antibody and its isotype control for the therapeutic experiments were provided by Omeros corporation (made by AbD Serotec, Düsseldorf, Germany).

2.1.3 Buffers and solutions

Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS): PBS 10 x tablets purchased from Thermo Scientific (Hampshire, UK). 10 tablets were diluted in 1 liter of distilled water and autoclaved.

Lysis buffer:100 mM Tris-HCl, 20 mM EDTA, 1% SDS, 200 mM NaCl, pH: 8. 5 x TBE: 54 g Tris-Base, 27.5 g Boric acid, 20 ml of 0.5 M EDTA, pH: 8.

2.1.4 Mice

All mice used for experiments (WT and gene knock out) were on C57/BL6 (B6) background. WT mice were purchased from Harlan UK Ltd (Bicester, UK). C3aR-/mice and MASP-2-/- mice were kindly donated by Professor Carroll from Harvard (Boston) and Professor Schwaeble from Leicester, respectively. MASP-2-/- mice were produced using a gene-disrupting construct (Stover et al., 1999b). C4 deficient (C4-/-) mice which were derived by homologous recombination in embryonic stem cells (Fredholm, 1997) were also obtained from Professor Carroll's group in Boston. C4-/-/MASP-2-/- double knockout mice were generated by back crossing the 2 strains for 10 generations in our department. Factor B deficient mice were a gift from Professor Stahl (Boston). For native kidney IR experiments, male mice were used, and for transplantation, due to technical reasons, female mice were used throughout. Mice were 7-10 weeks of age and 19-23 grams of weight at the time of procedure. All mice were housed in pathogen free conditions at KCL facilities. All experiments were performed according to KCL and national guidelines and under Home Office Project Licence PPL70/6835.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Genotyping

All genetically altered mice were genotyped by a member of the research group after their arrival at KCL animal facilities and at regular intervals afterwards. I genotyped the C3aR-/- mice and the rest of the mice used in my thesis experiments were genotyped by Dr Anthony Farrer. DNA for genotyping was obtained from a portion of the mouse tail. WT mouse tail was used as control.

2.2.1.1 Preparing the genomic DNA

3-4 mm of mouse tail from WT and C3aR-/- mouse was collected, finely chopped and stored in a 1.5 ml eppendorf tube. 700 μ l of lysis buffer was added followed by 35 μ l of proteinase K (from a 10 mg/ml stock) and the tubes were then incubated at 55°C overnight. After the overnight incubation, 25 μ l RNase was added to the tubes and they were incubated for 2 hours at 37°C. Following this and addition of 700 μ l of Phenol-Chloroform-Isoamyl alcohol mixture (pH 8.0), the tube was vortexed for 5 minutes to mix the components well and then centrifuged at 14K for 10 minutes.

The aqueous phase that was separated on the top was collected in a fresh 1.5 ml eppendorf tube. 700 μ l isopropanol was then added and the tube was inverted about

20 times until stringy precipitates formed. The tube was centrifuged at 14k for 5 minutes and the liquid was discarded, leaving a pellet at the bottom of the tube.

The pellet was washed with 75% ethanol followed by another wash with 100% ethanol. The ethanol was then discarded and the pellet was left on the bench to dry for 15 minutes. The pellet, containing genomic DNA, was then dissolved in 100 μ l of nuclease-free water and stored at 4°C, ready for use. 1 in 10 and 1 in 50 dilutions were used for genotyping assays.

DNA quantity was assessed using a NanoDrop 2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, DE, USA).

2.2.1.2 Polymerase chain reaction

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was used on the genomic DNA to amplify the gene of interest and compare its expression in WT and gene knock out animal. Comparison was made with the presence of GAPDH gene. For the PCR reactions, 10-20 ng (4 μ l) of the genomic DNA was used in addition to 5x Buffer, dNTP, Taq polymerase (all from Promega) and primers (from Sigma-Aldrich), bringing the total reaction volume to 12 μ l as shown in Table 3 (F stands for forward and R for reverse).

Reaction Components	Volume per reaction (µl)	Final Concentration
5x Buffer (with 7.5 mM MgCl ₂)	2.40	1 x
10 mM dNTP	0.24	0.2 mM
10 μM GAPDH-F	0.6	0.5 μΜ
10 μM GAPDH-R	0.6	0.5 μΜ
10 µM C3aRg-F (primer 1)	0.6	0.5 μΜ
10 µM C3aRg-R (primer 2)	0.6	0.5 μΜ
5 U/µl Taq Pol.	0.06	0.025 U/µl
H ₂ 0	2.9	
DNA (4 µl per reaction)	4.00	
Final volume	12.00	

Table 3. Components of the reaction mix and their volume for PCR experiments

After mixing the samples by gentle flicking, they were centrifuged for a few seconds.

Applied Biosystems Gene Amp PCR system 9700 was used for gene amplification, at the condition described below:

- 1- 5 minutes at 95°C for denaturing of the DNA
- 2-30 seconds at 94°C, denaturing
- 3-45 seconds at 62°C, annealing of primers
- 4- 60 seconds at 72°C, extension

Repeat of steps 2-4, 35 times for amplification

5- 72°C for 10 min

The product was then cooled and kept at 4°C until analyzed. Table 4 shows the sequences for the primers used for genotyping the mice.

Genotype	Primer sequence	PCR conditions		Expected size (bp)	
		1.	95°C 5 min		
C3aR-/-	C3aR F 5'-CAGGTCAGCTCCTTCCTCTG-3' C3aR R 5'-AAAGCGGCGTTCAGTGT-3' GAPDH F 5'- ACCACAGTCCATGCCATCAC-3' GAPDH R 5'- CACCACCCTGTTGCTGTAGCC-3'	2.	94°C 30s		
		3.	62°C 45s	WT 430 bp	
		4.	72°C 60s	C3aR-/-230 bp	
		5.	repeat 2-4 x35		
		6.	72°C 10 min		
		1.	95°C 5 min		
	ΜΑΣΡ 2 Ε 5' ΟΛΤΟΤΑΤΟΟΛΑΘΤΤΟΟΤΟΛΟΛ 3'	2.	95°C 30s		
MASP-2-/-	MASP-2 R 5'AGCTGTAGTTGTCATTTGCTTGA-3' MASP-2 Neo 5'-CTGATCAGCCTCGACTGTGC-3'	3.	60°C 30s	WT 800 bp	
WIASE -2-/-		4.	72°C 15s	MASP-2-/- 500 bp	
		5.	repeat 2-4 x35		
		6.	72°C 10 min		
C4-/-	C4 F 5'-GCATTTCTCTCCCTTCTAGAACA-3' C4 R 5'-TGTAGCCCGTGGGTCTTAAG-3' C4 Neo 5'-CCTTCTTGACGAGTTCTTCTGA-3'	1.	95°C 5 mins		
		2.	94°C 30s	WT 600 hp	
		3.	62°C 30s	$C4_{-}/-458$ hp	
		4.	72°C 15s		
		5.	repeat 2-4 x35		
		6.	72°C 2 min		
FB-/- F	FB F 5'-GCAATACGCTGCCCACGACCGCAG-3' FB R 5'-CTTCTCAATCAAGTTGGTGAGGCACCG CTT-3' FB Neo 5'-TGCGTGCAATCCATCTTGTTCAAT-3'	1.	94°C 3 min		
		2.	94°C 30s	WT 600 hp	
		3.	67°C 1 min	FB-/- 928 bp	
		4.	72°C 1 min	12, 920 op	
		5.	repeat 2-4 x35		
		6.	72°C 2 min		

Table 4. PCR primer sequences and conditions for genotyping C3aR-/-, MASP-2-/-, C4-/- and FB-/-

2.2.1.3 Gel Electrophoresis

The gel required for electrophoresis was prepared by dissolving 1% agarose in 1x TBE by heating in a microwave and addition of 0.5 μ g/ml of ethidium bromide. After cooling of the gel to room temperature, it was put in the gel tank which was filled with 1x TBE. The PCR products were loaded onto the gel and a 100 bp DNA ladder was used as a marker for molecular weight of the amplification products. The samples were run for 45 min at 90 volts. After completion of electrophoresis, the separated DNA fragments were viewed in Uvitec, a device using UV light to illuminate the fluorescence of the identified bands and the image was created with Xplorer software.

2.3 Induction of native kidney IRI

Male WT and C3aR-/- mice weighing between 19-23 grams were anesthetized by inhalation of isoflurane (Abbott Laboratories, Ltd, Kent, UK). Isoflurane was chosen as both induction and recovery from Isoflurane-induced anaesthesia is rapid, it has minimal side effects and is also relatively easy to titrate. Isofloran was administered mixed with approximately 0.4 litres of oxygen via a small mask and the flow was set constant throughout the procedure. The animal was placed on a warm pad throughout the procedure to maintain a constant body temperature. After the animal was completely anesthetized, a midline abdominal incision was made and the body cavity was held open with a pair of retractors. The connective tissue around the renal vein and artery of both right and left kidneys were gently cleared with a small forceps, and both vessels were clamped on each side for 50 minutes with a microaneurysm clamp. This period of ischaemia was used based on a previous study performed by Dr Zhou in our laboratory (Zhou et al., 2000). To confirm the suitability of this time point for my experiment, several experiments using various ischaemic times (40, 45 and 55 minutes) as well as

reperfusion times (2h, 4h, 12h and 48h) were performed and it was found that 50 minutes of ischaemia induced consistent injury with less than 5 percent mortality rate at 24 hours. After occlusion of the vessels, the abdominal wall was closed for the period of ischaemia. The clamps were then removed and kidneys observed for change in colour after reperfusion (successful clamping causes the kidney to go dark red in colour and reperfusion brings the normal dark pink colour back to the kidney). At this point 0.4 mls of warm saline was placed in the abdominal cavity and the incision was sutured. The animals were kept in warm incubator (28°C) for the first few hours after the procedure. They were sacrificed at 24 hours and blood samples were obtained using cardiac puncture following which the kidneys were removed for histological examination (both paraffin embedded and snap frozen samples were prepared)(Figure 4).



Figure 4. Summary of the IR protocol used for induction of native kidney IRI

2.4 Harvesting blood and tissue samples

2.4.1 Collection of blood and extraction of serum

24 hours after the initiation of reperfusion injury blood samples were collected in 1.5 ml eppendorf tubes following cardiac puncture. On average 300-400 μ l of blood was collected by this method for functional analysis. Blood samples were kept in room temperature for 30 minutes to coagulate and then centrifuged for 15 minutes at 13,000 rpm. Separated serum samples were transferred to fresh tubes and centrifuged again at 13,000 rpm for 5 minutes to remove potential contaminating red blood cells. The serum samples were then stored at -20°C or -80°C before being used for measurement of renal function.

2.4.2 Collection of tissue

Following cardiac puncture and removal of blood sample, kidneys from both sides were removed surgically and cut into two through a coronal plane. One half of the kidney was placed in 4% formaldehyde (Sigma-Aldrich) for fixation and was later embedded in paraffin wax. Three quarters of the other half was immersed in OCT (optimal cutting temperature) compound (Raymond A. Lamb, London, UK) that was added to an aluminum mould suitable for mounting in a cryostat and was snap frozen in liquid nitrogen for immunohistochemistry studies. The remaining quarter was placed in a cryovial tube, snap frozen and kept in -80°C for potential future RNA analysis.

2.5 Assessment of renal function

2.5.1 Measurement of Blood Urea Nitrogen

Blood Urea Nitrogen (BUN) is the measurement of urea in the blood which is a byproduct of protein that is metabolized in the liver and removed from the circulation by the kidneys. The level of blood urea reflects renal function in that when there is impairment in renal function, this level increases as the kidney cannot effectively filter and dispose of the urea.

BUN was measured using a diagnostic kit (BUN Infinity) from Sigma-Aldrich. The functional basis of this kit is degradation of urea by urease enzyme which forms ammonia. The ammonia then binds to 2-oxoglutarate to make glutamate. Glutamate dehydrogenase catalyses this reaction which results in oxidation of NADH (nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide) and formation of NAD. NADH oxidation leads to a reduction in absorbance at 340 nm optical density (OD), proportional to the initial concentration of urea.

To measure the BUN using the above kit, 5 μ l of serum was added to 500 μ l of BUN assay reagent. The mixture was inverted 5-6 times to allow equilibration. The absorbance was then read at 340 nm at time 0 and at 60 second. BUN level was calculated by comparing this change of absorbance in 60 seconds with a reference standard.

Dr Zhou in our laboratory had previously shown an excellent correlation between BUN and creatinine levels in IRI setting shown in Figure 5. For this reason BUN levels were used as an indicator of renal function in all IR experiments.



Figure 5. Correlation between creatinine and BUN measurement in mouse serum. Data generated by Dr Wuding Zhou.

2.6 Paraffin fixing and periodic acid schiff (PAS) staining

Kidney tissues fixed in 4% formaldehyde were embedded in wax and using a sledge microtome, were cut at 2 μ m thick sections. The sections were then floated in a 40°C water bath and collected on a glass slide and left on the bench at room temperature to dry. The slides were then put in 60°C oven for a minimum of 1 hour for the wax to melt. The slides were then transferred to xylene to wash away the wax. Afterwards they were hydrated by passing through 100%, 90% and 70% ethanol solutions (40 seconds in each). They were then put in 1% periodic acid for 10 minutes following which they were washed in running water for 5 minutes. They were covered with Schiff's reagent for another 10 minutes and washed for 5 minutes. Slides were then put in haematoxylin solution for 5 minutes and then washed for 10 minutes and dehydrated by passing
through 70%, 90% and 100% ethanol solutions. They were dipped into xylene for 5 minutes and mounted in DPX (Distrene, Plasticiser, Xylene) mounting medium. After drying for a few hours they were reviewed using a light microscope.

2.7 Immunohistochemistry

4 frozen tissue sections μm were cut from snap frozen tissues for immunohistochemistry studies using a cryostat microtome (Bright, UK). Sections were transferred to glass slides and left in room temperature for 30 minutes to dry. If the slides were not used for staining on the day, they were stored in -80°C for future analysis.

2.7.1 Immunohistochemical staining for C3d

For FITC-labeled secondary antibody staining, the slides were initially fixed in acetone for 10 minutes and air-dried (if they were removed from -80°C freezer, they were left to dry for 30 minutes before staining). Slides were then immersed in PBS for 5 minutes and subsequently in 20% serum (of the species from which the secondary antibody was raised in, in this case goat serum) in PBS for 1 hour to block unspecific antibody binding. Slides were briefly washed with PBS and incubated with primary antibody for detection of C3d for 1 hour in a humidified chamber in room temperature. This was a purified immunoglobulin fraction of rabbit anti-human serum which is cross-reactive with mouse C3d (Mariathasan et al., 2006). After three washes in PBS for 5 minutes each, slides were incubated for 1 hour with FITC-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG in the humidified chamber at room temperature. Following three 5 minute washes with PBS and one wash with water to remove any unbound secondary antibody, slides were mounted using fluoromount and viewed with an immunofluorescence microscope. For MASP-2 staining, rat anti-mouse primary antibody, kindly donated by Professor Schwaeble's lab was used followed by goat anti-rat FITC antibody for detection (Schwaeble et al., 2011).

2.8 Mouse kidney transplant

An isograft mouse model of kidney transplantation was used for this project. Dr Farrar who provides microsurgical services at our centre and is skilled in mouse kidney transplantation performed the surgery for identification of the role of complement in IRI. Dr Qijun Li, a research fellow in our department and experienced in microsurgical techniques, performed the surgical procedures for assessment of the therapeutic effects of anti-MASP-2 antibody. Donor and recipient mice were on C57BL/6 (B6) background to eliminate the risk of immune mediated rejection. Female mice were used for all transplant experiments. Mice were on average 8 to 10 weeks of age and weighed about 19-23 grams. All of these surgical procedures were performed on a warm mat and animals were anaesthetized with inhaled isoflurane just before start of the procedure. An established protocol in the unit was used for transplant experiments which was extracted from previous published methods by Kalina and Mottram (Kalina and Mottram, 1993) and later by Zhang and colleagues (Zhang et al., 1995). The left kidney was surgically removed from the donor with the renal vein and a renal arterial patch. After separating the donor ureter from the surrounding connective tissue, it was cut close to the bladder. The donor kidney was then put on ice for 30 minutes (cold ischaemia time) while the recipient was prepared. The right native kidney was surgically removed from the anaesthetized recipient and the aorta and the inferior vena cava (IVC) of the recipient were closed off using microaneurysm clamps. Small incisions were made in the aorta and IVC of the recipient for anastomosis of the respective vessels from the donor

kidney which was placed in the left iliac fossa. An end to side anastomosis of the donor aortic patch to the recipient aorta and of the donor renal vein to the recipient IVC was performed after which the microaneurysm clamps were removed and the kidneys were observed to ensure the transplanted kidney was appropriately reperfused (turning pink following de-clamping of the vessels). Implantation surgery in general took 40 minutes which is considered warm ischaemia time. To connect the ureter, two small incisions were made in the recipient bladder (one entrance and one exit). The donor ureter was pulled through both incisions following which 2 sutures were made between the entry incision of the recipient bladder and the connective tissue around the donor ureter to create some stability. The excess part of the donor ureter was removed at the exit incision site and the site was then closed with three sutures. 0.5 ml of warm saline was put in the abdominal cavity and the abdominal incision was sutured. The animal was then kept in 28°C chamber for 24 hours to recover. On day 5 the second native kidney was removed under anesthetic (isoflurane), and on day 6 the animal was sacrificed. Blood samples were taken at this time following cardiac puncture for measurement of BUN as an indicator of renal function. The transplanted kidney was removed and with a coronal cut was split in half. One half of the kidney was fixed in 4% formaldehyde for future paraffin staining. The other half was divided in 2 parts (one quarter and three quarters). The larger piece was snap frozen in liquid nitrogen for immunohistochemistry staining and the other piece was kept in liquid nitrogen for RNA extraction and measurement of inflammatory marker gene expression if required.

2.9 Therapeutic use of anti-MASP-2 antibody in mouse kidney transplantation

In collaboration with Professor Schwaeble and Omeros Corporation Company (Seattle) that had made an effective anti-MASP-2 antibody (AbyD 04211), kidney transplants

were performed using the antibody and the provided isotype control antibody based on this protocol:

Anti-MASP-2 monoclonal IgG2a antibody and its isotype control were supplied frozen in clear vials of stock solution. The antibodies were thawed and aliquoted upon arrival and kept in -20°C freezer until planned to use to prevent frequent freeze-thaw cycles. The day prior to transplantation, the recipient mice were randomly injected (intraperitoneal) with 0.6mg/kg of the anti-MASP-2 antibody or the isotype control, as recommended by the manufacturer on the basis of their bioavailability experiments. One dose (0.6mg/kg intraperitoneal) was considered sufficient to prevent MASP-2 activation for at least 7 days. The day after administration of the antibodies, transplants were performed using the above protocol. The only difference in these experiments compared to the transplant experiments in gene knockout mice was that the mice were not scarified at day 6. Small amount of blood (40-50 μ l) was obtained through a tail incision on day 6 and the animal was sacrificed at day 7. Dr Qijun Li, a research fellow in our lab who had great experience in mouse microsurgery, performed these transplantations.

2.10 Statistical analysis

Unpaired t-test was used for the statistical analysis of all paired data sets with the use of GraphPad prism software (version 5).

3 Examination of the role of C3a in renal IRI

3.1 Hypothesis and aims of the study

As discussed above, complement activation is known to have a role in IRI. An important obstacle in translating basic laboratory results into clinical practice has been the lack of understanding of the specific action of complement. Complement generates several effector products such as C3a, C5a and C5b-9 that interact with receptors on cells or insert directly into cell membrane causing injury to the target tissues (Sim and Tsiftsoglou, 2004). While some studies have defined the terminal attack complex (C5b-9) as a key mediator of IRI in the kidney (Zhou et al., 2000), others have identified the small cleavage fragments known as C3a (Ducruet et al., 2008) and C5a (de Vries et al., 2003a) to be of significant importance in inducing injury following cerebral and kidney IR respectively. Indeed, animal studies using C5a inhibitors (antibody or antagonist) have shown the potential for preventing reperfusion damage in organs such as the heart, hind-limb and the kidney (Arumugam et al., 2003, Amsterdam et al., 1995, Woodruff et al., 2004). There is little information available for the role of C3a and the intracellular pathway following activation of its receptor on the kidney tubular epithelial cell, and this seems important since C3a can have functions that are distinct or overlapping compared to C5a. I hypothesized that absence of C3aR would have a protective effect in native kidney IRI.

My aim was to compare the injury induced by IR in native WT mouse kidney vs C3aR-/- kidney, to investigate if the C3aR-/- strain are protected from injury. The ultimate plan was to identify the relative importance of C3a in the mechanism of renal IRI and inform strategies to prevent receptor activation if C3aR turned out to be a significant mediator of the injury.

3.2 Experimental design

To investigate the involvement of C3a in kidney IRI, C3aR-/- mice were genotyped to make sure they lack expression of the receptor gene. Then using an established model to induce IRI, C3aR-/- and WT mice were subjected to 50 minutes of renal ischaemia (by bi-lateral clamping of the native renal artery and vein) followed by 24 hours of

reperfusion (after removal of the clamps). A pilot study including eight mice in each group was initially performed and the numbers in each group were subsequently increased to enable more definitive comparison of the two groups. The serum and kidney tissue were harvested 24 hours after reperfusion. The intention was to look at the difference in blood urea nitrogen and tissue injury (on kidney histology samples) between the 2 groups. The plan was to investigate the intracellular mechanism of C3aR activation leading to tissue damage if the WT mice had more injury compared to the C3aR-/- strain.

4 **Results**

4.1 Characterization of C3aR-/- mice by genotyping

It was essential to confirm the phenotype of the C3aR-/- mice prior to induction of IRI to ensure the mice used in the experiment have no C3aR. To achieve this, genotyping of the mice was performed using their tail as a source of DNA.

Mouse tails from C3aR-/- and WT mice were used to produce genomic DNA as described in section 2.6.1. Using the appropriate primers for C3aR and GAPDH, the genes were amplified and semi-quantitative PCR product was determined for each sample using gel electrophoresis.

Figure 6 shows an agarose gel stained with ethidium bromide and examined under UV light, following C3aR and GAPDH gene amplification using semi-quantitative PCR from WT and C3aR-/- mouse. A positive 230 base pair band for C3aR is visible in the WT mouse but is absent in the C3aR-/- mouse. The result of this experiment confirms the C3aR deficient genotype, enabling mice with this result to be used in future experiments.

The figure shown here is a representative of C3aR genotyping. About 20 mice were genotyped and the homozygotes and heterozygotes were separated and allowed to breed. The offspring of the homozygotes were used in experiments. The progeny of the heterozygotes were genotyped for detection of homozygotes as above.



Figure 6. Detection of C3aR in WT and C3aR-/- mice using PCR. Genomic DNA was prepared from WT and C3aR-/- mouse tails. Comparison was made between semi-quantitative PCR products from amplification of C3aR gene and GAPDH as control. In each PCR reaction 10 ng of DNA was used.

4.2 IRI in WT and C3aR-/- mice

The native kidney IR protocol described in section 2.7 was used in this experiment where renal pedicles on both sides were clamped for 50 minutes. 24 hours after clamp removal, animals were sacrificed and blood sample was taken for BUN measurement and both kidneys were harvested for histology experiments.

The pilot experiment consisted of 8 WT and 8 C3aR-/- mice, both on C57BL/6 background. The average BUN measurements in both groups are shown in Figure 7. The average BUN for WT non-injured mice was 6 mmol/l.



Figure 7. Effect of renal IRI on renal function in WT and C3aR-/- mice. Mice in each group underwent 50 minutes of bilateral renal ischaemia. Blood samples were obtained 24 hours after removal of clamps and used for BUN measurement. Numbers above each column represent the number of animals in each study. The values are means +/- SD (standard deviation). P value <0.05 is considered significant.

Following the pilot experiment, I had become experienced in inducing IRI with consistent results. Although there was no significant difference in renal function between the 2 groups, the C3aR-/- mice had slightly better renal function. I therefore repeated the experiment using 8 WT and 11 C3aR-/- mice (which were available at the right age and size), to confirm whether or not a significant difference could be detected with an enlarged number of mice. The result of this second experiment comparing the renal function between WT and C3aR-/- mice after 50 minutes of ischaemia and 24 hours of reperfusion is shown in Figure 8.



Figure 8. Effect of renal IRI on renal function in WT and C3aR-/- mice (2). Mice in each group underwent 50 minutes of bilateral renal ischaemia. Blood samples were obtained 24 hours after removal of clamps and used for BUN measurement. Numbers above each column represent the number of animals in each study. The values are means +/- SD (standard deviation). P value <0.05 is considered significant.

As shown in Figure 8 the repeated experiment did not confirm my hypothesis that absence of C3aR can protect the mice from IRI. In fact this time the C3aR-/- mice had slightly worse renal function compared to the WT although this was not statistically

significant. Both experiments were performed in similar conditions and there was a short interval between them. I pooled the result of both experiments and compared the values between the 2 groups, the result of which is shown in Figure 9.



Figure 9. Effect of renal IRI on renal function in WT and C3aR-/- mice (3). Pooled result from the 2 experiments measuring BUN as a marker of renal function following 50 minutes of bilateral renal ischaemia and 24 hours of reperfusion. Numbers above each column represent the number of animals in each study. The values are means +/- SD (standard deviation). P value <0.05 is considered significant.

In addition to the BUN measurement in WT and C3aR-/- mice, the kidneys were examined microscopically for tissue damage as described below. Figure 10 shows the morphology of normal non-injured kidney tissue in which the normal tubular and basement membrane structure are highlighted.



Figure 10. Histology of non-ischaemic kidney tissue. Normal non-ischaemic kidney tissue from WT B6 mouse, stained with periodic acid Schiff. The thin arrow points to a tubular lumen and the thick arrow points to an intact basement membrane (magnification x 40).

The paraffin embedded kidney tissues from the WT and C3aR-/- mice were prepared and cut followed by PAS staining as described in section 2.10. Four coronal sections were processed from each animal in the experiment and in a blinded fashion examined using a light microscope. Tubular damage was assessed using the 5 point scale described below (Table 5).

Percentage of injury on histology	Score
0% (Normal kidney)	0
<10%	1
10-25%	2
25-50%	3
50-75%	4
>75%	5

Table 5. Scoring system used for assessing kidney tubular damage

For assessing tubular damage in histology sections, the above well-established scoring system (Kummer et al., 2007) was used in which 0 stands for no injury, 1 is when there is <10% tubular damage, 2, 10 to 25% damage, 3, 25 to 50% damage, 4, 50 to 75% damage and 5, more than 75% damage. The score was given based on the review of the four coronal sections for each animal.

Figure 11 demonstrates the tissue morphology of the WT and C3aR-/- kidney following IRI. The images are representative of each group (all kidney samples from both groups were processed and analyzed). As shown in the pictures, in both samples there is significant tissue damage such as thinning of the tubular epithelium, tubular dilatation, patchy loss of some tubular cells and tubular casts. The histological damage was proportional to the functional impairment of the kidneys.



Figure 11. Effect induced by ischaemia-reperfusion on renal morphology. PAS staining of WT and C3aR-/- mouse kidney following 50 minutes of ischaemia and 24 hours of reperfusion. The small arrows show areas of tubular damage and the longer arrows indicate tubular casts (magnification x 25).

Comparing the histology samples using the 5 point scale described above, there was no significant difference between the two groups regarding tubular damage (P=0.44) which was expected from the functional data. Tubular damage scoring of the WT and C3aR-/-kidneys are shown in Table 6.

Mouse group	Mean severity score ± SD
WT	3.06 ± 0.85
C3aR-/-	3.26 ± 0.73

Table 6. Tubular injury in WT and C3aR-/- mice. SD: standard deviation.

4.3 Discussion

Various elements of the complement pathway have been shown to have a role in induction of IRI in different organs. Anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a, which are by-products of complement activation, are known to be mediators of many inflammatory reactions (Kohl, 2001). C5a has been shown to mediate kidney IRI (de Vries et al., 2003a), and inhibition of C5a has been demonstrated to have a protective role (Arumugam et al., 2003). Although C3a has been shown to induce the production of chemokines in kidney tubular epithelial cells in response to hypoxia (Thurman et al., 2007), the direct effect of C3a in kidney IRI has not been determined.

To assess the role of C3a in kidney IRI, I used C3aR-/- mice in comparison with WT mice in a native model of kidney IRI in which 50 minutes of ischaemia was induced by clamping the renal vessels followed by 24 hours of reperfusion. Contrary to my expectation, absence of C3aR did not protect the mice from kidney IRI and mice with C3aR deficiency had similar functional and histological damage in their kidney following the IR. This is suggestive that in this model, C3a-induced inflammation is not the main cause of kidney damage after IRI and other factors are more effective in inducing the observed damage.

There are some factors that might have influenced the outcome of this study. In most kidney IRI studies, the ischaemia time is significantly shorter (24-30 min) than the 50 minute time point I have used. 50 minute ischaemia was established in our lab by Dr Zhou and was routinely used in all IRI studies. It is possible that in my hands, 50 minutes of injury was too much to allow differences between the two groups related to complement activation be demonstrated. It is plausible that long periods of ischaemia result in complement activation initially which then lead to tissue necrosis if the injury is not eliminated.

The strain of mice is another important factor in complement studies. For example, it has been shown that different strains of mice have different capacity to produce C5a (Patel et al., 2008). However, the fact that WT and C3aR-/- animals in this experiment were on the same background should eliminate this potential effect.

In any event, the results suggest that it would be unlikely that therapeutic C3a inhibition or blockade have a significant effect on prevention of IRI in the experimental model described here.

Considering the importance of complement activation in IRI and the reported detrimental actions of C5a and C5b-9 in native and transplanted kidneys, I went on to investigate which complement activation pathway could be the trigger for inducing injury in kidney transplantation. Availability of mice deficient in particular elements of complement which would allow investigation of each specific pathway allowed me to design an informative set of experiments. I explain this in more detail in the next chapter.

5 Investigating the importance of complement activation pathways in a mouse kidney isograft model of IRI

The focus of this part of the project was to assess the participation of each of the complement pathways in inducing reperfusion injury in a mouse renal isograft model. A transplant model of IRI was chosen for these experiments as there are several aspects that are different from native kidney IRI. For example, in transplantation the organ is denervated and handled and undergoes both cold and warm ischaemia compared to only warm ischaemia in the native model. These differences are likely to affect how the

complement is activated and the pathway which is most significant in inducing tissue damage.

Previous work from our laboratory indicated that C4-deficiency, unexpectedly, does not have a protective role in native renal IRI (Zhou et al). This is surprising as MBL has been shown to play a role in a similar model (Moller-Kristensen et al., 2005, de Vries et al., 2004). The question which arises based on these findings is that if MBL is important but not C4, then how this could be explained, since C4 is an obligatory intermediate in the LP according to the text book description. This could suggest that MBL is able to result in cleavage of C3 independently of C4, or MBL could contribute to another, as yet undefined mechanism leading to reperfusion injury. Either way, considering the fact that MASP-2, an essential serine protease of the LP interposed between MBL and C4, is required to convert the pattern recognition function of MBL into a downstream effector function, I proposed that if MASP-2 is required for reperfusion injury and is shown to lead to C3 cleavage independently of C4, this would suggest the possibility of a novel C4-bypass pathway resulting in the cleavage of C3. I therefore tested the role of MASP-2 in the induction of renal isograft reperfusion injury and determined if it has an action that is independent of C4. The role of the AP of complement activation is also of interest, since the AP can amplify the cleavage of C3 into C3b initiated by the LP or CP. I aimed to assess the potential effect of the AP in the kidney transplant model of IRI using factor B deficient (FB-/-) mice.

Previous studies have demonstrated that the kidney (in both human and mice) is able to produce several complement components including C4 and FB (Welch et al., 1996, Passwell et al., 1988, Welch et al., 1993). For this reason, in transplant experiments using C4-/- and FB-/- mice, the donor kidney was taken from the C4-/- and FB-/- mice respectively where the recipient was deficient in the same component as the donor

organ. MASP-2 enzyme however, has not been shown to be produced outside of liver (Stover et al., 1999a), therefore in experiments assessing the role of MASP-2 deficiency in IRI, WT donors were used in MASP-2 deficient recipients with the expectation that the donor kidney would not be able to produce MASP-2 to affect the experiment result.

5.1 Experiment design

I designed the initial experiments focusing on the role of MASP-2 in the LP and on the role of C4 in the LP and CP, followed by the role of FB in the AP. The donor-recipient groups were arranged as shown in Figure 12 with 8 mice transplanted in most groups. WT to WT transplants were proposed as the control group and transplantation of WT mouse kidney to the MASP-2 deficient mouse was planned to assess the role of MASP-2 enzyme following IRI. As MASP-2 is reported to be only produced in the liver, donor kidney from the WT mouse was used in these experiments (validated by staining of MASP-2 to assess the presence of the enzyme in the liver and transplanted WT kidney, Figure 15). For investigating the role of C4, C4-/- mice were used as both donor and recipient as kidney is known to be a source of C4 (discussed above). To determine if absence of C4 provides any additional benefit to MASP-2 deficiency in preventing IRI an additional transplant group was performed consisting of transplants from C4-/donors to recipients with combined deficiency of C4 and MASP-2. The idea was that if C4 has a protective role in IRI other than its effect on the LP activation, the C4-/-/MASP-2-/- mice would have less injury compared to the mice with MASP-2 deficiency alone.



Figure 12. The experimental groups designed for assessment of the role of the LP, the CP and the AP in a transplant model of renal IRI. Transplant between WT animals (group 1) was performed as control. In the second group, WT kidneys were transplanted into MASP-2-/- animals to assess the role of the LP activation in transplant kidney IRI. In the 3rd group, kidney from C4-/- donor was transplanted to C4-/- recipient to assess the role of both the CP and the LP as both pathways are dependent on C4. Transplant in the fourth group was performed to investigate if absence of C4 has any additional benefit to deficiency of MASP-2. In this group, donor kidney was a C4-/- mice, and the recipient was deficient in both MASP-2 and C4, due to the fact that the C4-/- donor kidney would not be able to produce MASP-2 and essentially be deficient in both C4 and MASP-2. In the fifth group both the donor and recipient mice were FB-/- to allow assessment of the role of the AP in this model of kidney IRI.

Transplants were performed as described in section 2.12. Figure 13 shows a summary of the procedure. After 30 minutes of cold and 40 minutes of warm ischaemia, the donor kidney was transplanted to the recipient, and then the left recipient kidney was immediately removed. The second recipient kidney was removed on the 5th day post transplantation and the mice were sacrificed a day after at which time their blood and kidney tissue were collected for analysis. This procedure was adopted after a number of control studies in our department had shown that bilateral removal of recipient kidneys at the time of transplantation leads to high death rates of the animals. Also earlier (than 5 days) removal of the second native kidney from the recipient was associated with high

mortality. The current protocol generated the most consistent results with the least number of deaths in the transplanted animals.



Figure 13. Summary of the mouse kidney transplantation protocol used in the experiments. Kidney from the donor mouse was removed and was kept on ice for 30 min (CIT, cold ischaemia time) in which time the recipient was prepared for transplantation. The right recipient kidney was removed and the donor kidney was transplanted within 40 minutes (WIT, warm ischaemia time). The native left recipient kidney was removed on the 5th day after transplantation and the animal was sacrificed on day 6 when blood and tissue samples were collected for assessment.

5.2 Results

Figure 14 shows the recipient BUN results from the first four of the experimental groups described above. Eight mice were transplanted in each group and one mouse from each group died prior to the end of the experiment. The experiments were performed over a period of 3 months using the same room and equipment to reduce the variability between groups to minimum.

5.2.1 Effect of MASP-2 and C4 on IRI in mouse kidney isografts

Transplants were made in the above 4 groups to assess the role of the lectin and the classical pathway in the transplant model of renal IRI. As demonstrated in Figure 14,

the WT recipients had significant amount of kidney injury at day 6 with an average BUN of 38 mmol/l. In contrast, the MASP-2-/- recipients were protected with an average BUN of 15 mmol/l (P value= 0.015). Considering the fact that absence of MASP-2 completely abrogates LP activation, the renal protection in MASP-2-/- animals is suggestive that the LP does play a role in inducing IRI. However, absence of C4 did not protect the kidneys from transplant IRI, since renal function in C4-/- mice was similar to the WT group with an average BUN of 42 mmol/l. This is suggestive that the CP, which is dependent on C4 for its activation, does not play a role in this model of injury. As C4 is theoretically required for LP activation as well, and considering that absence of MASP-2 is protective and absence of C4 is not, this suggests that LP activation was independent of C4 in these experiments. To investigate if absence of C4 leads to any additional benefit to MASP-2 deficiency in protecting from IRI, transplants were performed from C4-/- donors to C4-/-/MASP-2-/- recipients. As evident in Figure 14, absence of C4 did not add to the protective effect of MASP-2 deficiency and the average BUN in this group was similar to the MASP-2 deficient only group at 17 mmol/l.



day 6 post-transplantation

Figure 14. Absence of MASP-2 is protective in a transplant model of kidney IRI. Measurement of renal function in four groups of transplant recipients 6 days after transplantation. Transplantation was performed with 30 minutes of cold ischaemia and 40 minutes of warm ischaemia time with removal of one native kidney. The remaining native kidney was removed on day 5 and blood samples were collected a day after. The number above each column indicates the number of transplants performed in each group. Arrow bar on each column shows the standard deviation. P value of < 0.05 is considered significant.

These results indicate that the activation of MASP-2 enzyme is important in transplant kidney IRI and inhibition of this enzyme could potentially reduce the injury to transplanted kidneys. Interestingly, activation of the LP was independent of C4, suggesting that there is a bypass pathway available in which MASP-2 can cleave the C3 molecule without C4.

5.2.2 Expression of MASP-2 enzyme

To confirm that MASP-2 enzyme is not expressed in WT kidney as previously reported (and thus exclude an effect of MASP-2 in WT kidney transplanted into MASP-2-/- recipients), immunofluorecent staining of the enzyme was performed on frozen sections of 2 native kidneys from WT B6 mice and 2 WT kidneys transplanted into a WT

recipient (following ischaemic insult of the donor kidney). Frozen sections of the liver were also stained as positive controls, as it is well established that liver is the main source of MASP-2 production (Bornstein, 2008). There was no MASP-2 detected in either of the kidneys of the WT mice (native and transplanted). This suggests that it is unlikely that the WT donor kidney would have MASP-2 activation following transplantation in the MASP-2-/- mouse. Considering the significant reduction of injury in the MASP-2-/- mice, even if there was a supply of MASP-2 in the WT donor kidney, this could not have resulted in significant damage resulting from complement activation. Figure 15 shows the result of tissue staining for MASP-2 enzyme in the normal liver and kidney as well as in a transplanted kidney.





WT Kidney after transplantation



Non-ischaemic WT kidney

Figure 15. Immunohistochemical staining of MASP-2 enzyme in the liver, non-ischaemic and transplanted kidney of WT B6 mouse. The green fluorescent colour indicates the presence of the enzyme which is abundant in the liver and the blue colour is the Hoechst stain for cell nuclei. MASP-2 protein is not detected in the normal and transplanted WT kidney.

5.2.3 Tissue damage in the transplanted kidneys

To assess the kidney tissue damage following transplantation in each of the experiment groups and to find out if the kidney function measured by BUN had any correlation with kidney tissue damage, histological sections from the harvested kidneys of all

Liver

experiments (7 mice in each group) were stained with Periodic Acid Schiff and assessed by two examiners (myself and Dr Farrar) in a blinded fashion. The severity of tubular damage was assessed with the scoring system summarized in Table 5. As shown in Figure 16, WT kidneys transplanted into WT mice as well as C4-/- kidneys transplanted into C4-/- recipients had significantly more tubular damage compared to the MASP-2-/recipients (both the MASP-2-/- that was the recipient of WT kidney and the C4-/-/MASP-2-/- mice that was the recipient of the C4-/- kidney). As shown in Table 7, the damage score was significantly higher for the WT and C4-/- recipients. The histology scores were in general proportional to kidney damage observed with BUN measurement (Figure 14) which was expected.



WT to WT

WT to MASP-2-/-



C4-/- to C4-/-

C4-/- to C4/MASP-2-/-

Figure 16. Effect of IRI on the renal tissue morphology in four transplant groups. Above are light microscopy images of representative histology samples from the kidney transplants in the four groups. In both WT and C4-/- transplant recipients, there are visible signs of tubular damage including tubular thinning and dilatation and formation of hyaline casts in the tubules, compared with the MASP-2-/- and C4/MASP-2-/- recipients where the kidney shows minimal signs of injury. PAS staining, x40 magnification

Isograft group (number of transplants)	Mean severity score ± SD
WT to WT (7)	3.14 ± 1.46
WT to MASP-/- (7)	1.57 ± 0.78
C4-/- to C4-/- (7)	3.29 ± 1.13
C4-/- to C4/MASP-/- (7)	1.71 ± 0.75

 Table 7. Tubular damage score based on the histology of all transplants performed in the four experimental groups

The above table shows the average scoring \pm SD (standard deviation) for tubular damage in the four transplant groups. The WT and C4-/- recipients had significantly more tubular damage in their kidneys compared to the MASP-2-/- and C4/MASP-2-/- animals. P value comparing the WT and MASP-2-/- recipient scores was 0.027 and between C4-/- and C4/MASP-2-/- recipient was 0.0215.

5.2.4 Immunohistochemical staining for complement deposition

In order to obtain evidence of complement activation in the injured tubules, I examined the staining pattern for C3d in all kidneys from the transplant experiments, using immunohistochemistry. C3d is a metabolite of C3b through iC3b, and its deposition on cells provides a measure of complement activation at that site. Staining the frozen sections of the kidney tissue from the transplant experiments, a large increase in C3d deposition was detected, notably at the basolateral surface of tubular epithelial cells in a circumferential pattern. The proximal renal tubules are the site of maximum tubular injury and correspondingly are the main target for C3 deposition after reperfusion of ischaemic kidney. In the MASP-2 deficient mice, the tubular deposit of C3 was markedly reduced, consistent with reduced complement activation at the tubule surface in the absence of MASP-2. This suggests that activation of C3 on the basolateral surface of kidney tubules is dependent on MASP-2, and the lower C3d staining is either due to reduced C3 cleavage downstream of MASP-2 or due to reduced injury through a separate mechanism involving MASP-2. The C4-/- kidneys showed similar level of C3d staining as WT kidneys, which indicates that activation of complement at this site was independent of C4. C4-/-/MASP-2-/- recipients of the C4-/- kidneys had similar staining pattern to MASP-2-/- recipients emphasizing that activation of complement and hence C3d deposition had been reduced due to the absence of MASP-2. The extent and intensity of C3d deposition was assessed by 2 people (myself and Dr Farrar) in a blinded fashion.

The increase in intensity and extent of C3d deposition in WT and C4-/- recipients in the face of the worse renal function in these groups, could be an indication that activation of complement in the tubules at least to some extent is responsible for the observed tubular injury.





C4-/- to C4-/-



WT to MASP-2-/-

WT to WT

WT to C4/MASP-2-/-

Figure 17. Immunohistochemical staining of the complement split product C3d in the four transplant groups. Frozen sections of the transplanted kidneys from the above four transplant groups were stained for C3d, using FITC labeled anti-C3d antibody. Deposition of C3d was observed in the basolateral surface of the tubular epithelial cells in all groups. However in WT and C4-/- recipients the deposition of C3d was more extensive and had more intensity compared with the MASP-2-/- and C4/MASP-2-/- recipients.

5.3 Role of the alternative pathway in transplant kidney IRI

To assess the role of the AP in the kidney transplant model of IRI, FB-/- animals were

used. FB is an essential component required for activation of complement via the AP.

Although absence of FB and hence the AP activation in native kidney IRI has been shown to be protective of kidney tissue damage (Thurman et al., 2005), its contribution to tissue injury has not been investigated in a transplant IRI model. For this experiment, 2 transplant groups were designed with the aim of 6 transplants in each group: (1) WT to WT transplantation as the control group and (2) FB-/- to FB-/- transplants to assess the effect of the AP. As discussed earlier, due to the ability of WT kidney to produce FB, both donor and recipient were FB-/-. The average BUNs from the two groups on day 6 after transplantation are shown in Figure 18. In contrast to a report for a native kidney model (Thurman et al., 2003), absence of FB did not lead to significant protection form IRI, suggesting that activation of the AP does not play an important role in the kidney transplant IRI, either by triggering the complement cascade or by amplifying the effect of the LP (shown here to mediate renal transplant IRI).



Figure 18. Influence of complement factor B on IRI in mouse kidney isografts. Comparison of renal function in WT to WT and FB-/- to FB-/- transplants 6 days after transplantation. Renal function was assessed by BUN measurement in the two transplant groups 6 days after the transplant procedure. The numbers above each bar represent the number of transplants in each group and the arrow bar indicates the standard deviation. Although the FB-/- group had slightly lower average BUN levels the difference between the groups was not statistically significant. P=0.5.

5.3.1 Kidney tissue damage in the absence of FB

To assess the level of kidney tissue injury following transplant IRI in WT and FB-/-

groups, sections from the paraffin embedded kidney transplants were stained with PAS.

Figure 19 shows the level of tissue injury in the 2 transplant groups.



WT to WT

FB-/- to FB-/-

Figure 19. Kidney tubular necrosis in WT and FB-/- transplants. The above images show representative pictures from light microscopy of the transplanted kidney in WT to WT and FB-/- to FB-/- groups 6 days after transplantation. Both groups had significant levels of tubular damage, necrosis and cast formation (PAS staining, x25).

To assess complement deposition on the transplanted kidney tissue in this group, frozen sections from all kidney tissues as well as a non-transplanted FB-/- kidney as control were stained with C3d antibody as described above. A representative sample from WT and FB-/- transplant groups are shown in Figure 20.



WT to WT

FB-/- to FB-/-



Negative control

Native FB-/- kidney

Figure 20. Immunohistochemical staining of the complement split product C3d in WT and FB-/kidney tissues. The top panel shows the C3d deposition in the kidney of a WT mouse transplanted into a WT recipient (left) and a FB-/- mouse kidney transplanted into a FB-/- mouse (right). In the bottom panel on the left is the negative control staining (without primary Ab) of WT to WT transplant kidney and on the right is a section of a native uninjured FB-/- kidney stained for C3d. The transplant images are representative of 6 transplants performed in each group.

It was unexpected that despite almost similar levels of kidney injury noted by the BUN results and light microscopy of the kidney tissue from WT and FB-/- mice, C3d staining for these groups showed quite a different picture. As shown in Figure 20, the WT recipients had extensive C3d deposition in the tubular basement membrane whereas in the FB-/- transplant kidney (as well as the normal non-transplanted FB-/- kidney) there

was only some glomerular C3d deposition. This could be suggestive that the deposited C3d in the tubular basement membrane in the WT group is dependent on the alternative pathway activation. The absence of C3d staining in the kidney of FB-/- mice has previously been shown in native kidney IR model (Thurman et al., 2003); however in this study, the injury to the kidney was reduced in the FB-/- mice comparable with the reduced complement deposition. In my experiment, the fact that FB-/- mice had similar level of injury to the WT group can indicate that injury induced by complement in the transplant model, is perhaps not through the conventional route of MAC production. It can also be that factors inducing injury in the transplant model which do not exist in native IRI, such as cold and warm ischaemia, result in significant injury which reduces the effect of the alternative pathway activation. These results can strengthen the theory that factors of the LP of complement induce injury in the transplant model of IRI. Repeating the experiment with FB-/- mice with larger numbers is required to confirm the results.

5.4 Discussion

There are increased number of patients with end stage kidney disease who need a kidney transplant. However, this increase has not been met by the number of organs being donated, meaning that there is a widening shortfall between demand and supply. One of the most efficient ways to reduce this demand is to increase the survival of the available transplanted organs. It is well established that IRI is responsible for both acute kidney injury after transplantation as well as reducing long term graft survival. Activation of the complement pathway is known to play an important part in inducing this injury and not surprisingly a lot of interest has been shown in this subject in recent years, with the idea that modulating the responsible factor for complement activation in

this setting should reduce transplant organ damage and lead to longer graft survival. Protection of gene knock out animals deficient in various complement components as well as animals treated with complement inhibitors in various models of IRI have been very important in proving the role of complement cascade activation in IRI (Zhou et al., 2000, Thurman et al., 2003, Thurman et al., 2006, de Vries et al., 2003b, de Vries et al., 2003a). However, the initial triggering component for the pathway activation remains unclear.

The results of this study indicate that absence of MASP-2 enzyme which prevents LP activation significantly protects the organ from IRI. Deficiency of MASP-2 enzyme provides complete blockade of the LP in comparison to MBL deficiency, as ficolins are also able to activate MASP-2 (Matsushita et al., 2000, Matsushita et al., 2002). My results indicate that MASP-2 potentially by inhibition of the LP activation is critical in kidney IRI. The mechanism for induction of the LP activation could be the expression of damage associated molecules due to the IR stress during the renal transplant procedure. These putative DAMPs could then bind to the pattern recognition molecules such as MBL or ficolins, leading to activation of MASP-2 followed by the LP-induced cleavage of C3. The precise nature of these DAMPs and their presence at the hypoxia sensitive site remains to be identified.

That C4 deficiency did not show any protective effect in kidney IRI, while MBL/MASP-2 deficiency has been shown to be protective, raising the possibility that either the LP of complement can be activated independently of C4, perhaps via a different cleaving substrate, or it is possible that MBL/MASP-2 can induce tissue damage by a pathway that is independent of complement activation (Schwaeble et al., 2011). Indeed, in a recent study by van der Pol et al, MBL was shown to be able to induce renal tubular injury independent of complement activation in a rat model of 104

kidney IR (van der Pol et al., 2012). However, in this study systemic administration of monoclonal anti-C5 antibody or complement depletion with CVF were used and it is possible that the large size of these molecules prevented adequate penetration to the tubules, which is the site of complement activation that is mediated by IR insult (Park et al., 2001). Interestingly, Schwaeble et al have shown that the MASP-2 dependent C4-bypass activation of complement C3 is also dependent on blood clotting factor XI, since mice deficient of both C4 and factor XI lose the ability to activate C3 in a LP dependent fashion (Schwaeble et al., 2011). This suggests that elements of the coagulation cascade might be responsible for activation of complement.

Although in my experiment reduced C3d deposition in MASP-2 deficient animals posttransplantation indicates that the process of damage is complement dependent, there is still the possibility that MASP-2 is able to induce a complement-independent injury that is secondarily amplified by the deposition of complement on the injured tissue. In the latter case, MASP-2 should have an effect in the absence of C3, and double deficient animals (lacking MASP-2 and C3) should be further protected compared with C3 deficiency alone. If the effect of MASP-2 and C3 were not found to be additive, this would indicate an interdependent mechanism, in which MASP-2 led to the cleavage of C3 (bypassing C4). Experiment with C3-/-/MASP-2-/- animals would clarify this matter.

One of the limitations of this study is that MASP-2 was not identified within the kidney, despite its role in the generation of post-ischaemic damage of the renal tubules. Complement deposition on the renal tubules initiated by MASP-2 would require the presence of MASP-2 in association with MBL or ficolin at this locality. The absence of staining for MASP-2 in the post ischaemic tissue 6 days post transplantation would suggest the amount of MASP-2 was below the limit of detection at this time, which 105

could indicate a low threshold level of MASP-2 required for complement activation or is consistent with the short half-life for MASP-2 protein (26 minutes at 37 °C and pH 7.5) (Gal et al., 2005). It could also be that the most active period of injury is in the first 24-48h post-transplantation and the injury is established by day 6 when we have harvested the transplanted kidney. It would be indeed ideal to test the effect of transplantation by removing both native kidneys at the time of transplantation to reflect the real life situation of transplant dependent renal function from the start of transplantation. However, in our pilot studies the mice did not survive the injury if both kidneys were removed at the time of the transplant operation.

Inhibiting the LP prior to kidney transplantation could be an important therapeutic intervention for reducing IRI in this organ. Investigating the potential component that cleaves C3 independent of C4 would be very useful not only for helping us understand this bypass mechanism, but also due to the fact that it can open the way for possible therapeutic interventions.

6 Investigating the therapeutic benefit of Anti-MASP-2 antibody in kidney transplant IRI

Following the finding that absence of MASP-2 enzyme is protective in kidney transplant IRI; I investigated the therapeutic benefit of anti-MASP-2 use in this model. The idea was that inhibition of LP activation with an anti-MASP-2 antibody should theoretically reduce the IRI following kidney transplantation. If that would be the case, anti-MASP-2 antibody could be used to prevent kidney damage induced by transplantation.
6.1 Experimental design

Intraperitoneal (IP) administration of 0.6 mg/kg of the murine anti-MASP-2 antibody AbyD 04211 (provided by Omeros) has been shown to inhibit LP activation in the mouse serum within 6 hours of administration, with less than 10% of the activity recovering by 7 days (Schwaeble et al., 2011). Based on this data, 0.6 mg/kg of the monoclonal anti-MASP-2 antibody AbyD 04211 was injected intraperitoneally into 12 WT mice one day before they received a kidney transplant from a WT B6 donor. The same dose of the isotype control antibody was injected into a second group of 10 such mice one day before they received a WT B6 kidney transplant. The donor mice were not treated on the basis that MASP-2 enzyme is not produced in the kidney. As per the transplant protocol one native kidney was removed at the time of transplantation and the second native kidney was removed on day 5 post-transplantation. Kidney function was assessed by measuring the BUN in the serum from tail bleeding the recipient on day 6 (24 hours post second nephrectomy) and at day 7 (48 hours post second nephrectomy) using the serum obtained following cardiac puncture. The reason for checking the BUN at 48 hours after the second nephrectomy as well as at 24 hours was based on the maximal histological injury being described at 48 hours after the induction of IRI in native mouse kidney (Zhou et al., 2000). Three mice in the anti- MASP-2 treated group and 1 mouse in the isotype control treated group died between day 6 and day 7 and were excluded from the study. Both the anti-MASP-2 antibody and the isotype control were aliquoted after arrival from the company so that no added freezing and thawing was required. The experiment was carried out over a 6-week period with one to two transplants from each group (treatment and isotype control) performed on a single day.

6.1.1 Results

6.1.1.1 BUN measurement

As shown in Figure 21, no significant difference was observed between anti-MASP-2 and isotype control antibody treated group at day 6 (P=0.63) or day 7 (P=0.58). Although transplantations were done randomly and in each transplant day one anti-MASP-2 treated and one isotype control treated mouse was transplanted to reduce any potential bias related to the transplantation environment, there was significant variation in the range of BUN results between each group. The reason for this extreme variability and apparent lack of therapeutic effect was not clear. The absence of a therapeutic effect was thought to be possibly due to inadequate dosing or insufficient penetration of the antibody to the site of injury.



Figure 21. Treatment with anti-MASP-2 antibody does not protect from transplant IRI. Treatment with anti-MASP-2 or Control Ab pre-transplant and measurement of BUN at 24 and 48h post native nephrectomy (day 5) is shown. WT B6 transplant recipients were treated randomly with 0.6 mg/kg of anti-MASP-2 antibody or isotype Control Ab one day before kidney transplantation (IP injection). Transplantation was performed with 30 minutes of cold and 40 minutes of warm ischaemia time. One native kidney was removed at the time of transplantation and the second one was removed on day 5 post-transplantation. BUN levels were measured 24 hours and 48 hours after second native nephrectomy. Numbers in brackets indicate the number of transplants in each group. At 24 hours, the difference between the 2 groups had a P value of 0.63 and at 48 hours the P value was 0.58.

6.1.1.2 Histology

Histology sections of the paraffin embedded tissues from all the transplants in each group were prepared and stained with periodic Acid Schiff. Figure 22 shows a sample of kidney tissue from the anti-MASP-2 and isotype control treated antibody 48 hours after second nephrectomy (both samples are from mice with BUN of about 20 mmol/l).





Control Ab treated

MASP-2 Ab treated

Figure 22. Histology of transplanted kidneys in recipients treated with anti-MASP-2 antibody and isotype control antibody. Light microscopy of kidney tissue from WT B6 mice treated with anti-MASP-2 antibody or isotype control antibody the day before transplantation. Both kidneys show evidence of tubular damage such as cast formation and necrosis (arrows). Magnification x25

Isograft group (number of transplants)	Mean severity score \pm SD
Anti-MASP-2 Ab treated (9)	2.2 ± 0.78
Isotype control Ab treated (9)	3 ± 1.5

Table 8. Score of tubular injury in anti-MASP-2 and isotype control treated mice. Histology samples from anti-MASP-2 and isotype control treated mice, 48 hours after second native nephrectomy were reviewed and scored based on the tubular damage. The numbers in brackets show the number of transplants in each group. P=0.157

Similar to the kidney function data (measured by BUN levels) from the two treated groups, the histological data did not show a significant difference between the control treated mice and the anti-MASP-2 antibody treated recipients (Table 8). The histology samples correlated with the BUN results in both groups. Altogether, due to the wide range of BUNs in both groups, it was not possible to make a conclusion about the

results and repeat of the experiment was considered necessary to assess the effectiveness of the anti-MASP-2 treatment.

6.2 Discussion

Considering the significant protective effect that the absence of MASP-2 had on the kidney transplant IRI, the expectation was that the anti-MASP-2 antibody would provide some degree of protection from IRI in the therapeutic experiments.

There are several reasons that could explain why the anti-MASP-2 antibody treatment didn't show any protection in this experiment. One important factor is that the variation between the BUNs in each group has been high, leading to inconsistent injury in the kidneys which could be due to the surgical procedure or variation in induction of injury at different times through a lengthy experiment. To show a significant difference between 2 treatment groups with such high variation in injury, the sample size needs to be larger to detect a statistically significant difference. The other factor could be the dosing of the antibody which might not have been enough to inhibit the LP for the required period to prevent injury. Further experiments with dose titration needs to be performed to identify the optimal effective dose. The control antibody could have a therapeutic effect as well which could skew the result. In fact the Omeros Company later found that freeze and thawing the isotype control antibody, changes its characteristics in a way that it inhibits LP activation. Although all effort was made not to have the antibody go through freeze and thaw cycles, the main vial had to be thawed before being aliquoted and frozen before use. This could have changed the specificity of the control antibody and given it a protective effect (there was no change in specificity described with the anti-MASP-2 antibody following one freeze and thaw cycle). Presence of a sham operated group treated with a control such as normal saline would

have been appropriate in this experiment and would have clarified the true damage expected in the untreated mice.

Although application of anti-MASP-2 antibody in this experiment did not show a beneficial effect, protection of MASP-2-/- animals from IRI does show that LP via MASP-2 has a significant role in kidney transplant IRI. The protective effect of anti-MASP-2 treatment has been shown in other models of IR (Schwaeble et al., 2011). One other possible reason for the lack of protective effect in the transplant kidney model is the lack of adequate penetration of the antibody in the kidney tissue to prevent LP activation and induction of injury. Assessing the presence of antibody in the kidney at different time points following its administration can clarify its tissue penetration. Use of the recently developed small peptide which inhibits MASP-2 (Kocsis et al., 2010) would potentially overcome the tissue penetration barrier and could open up new therapeutic opportunities. Of course these are still animal models and would take some time to be translated to human experiments.

6.3 Conclusion

In conclusion, the results of this part of my study confirm the requirement for MASP-2 to produce full blown tubular injury following ischaemic insult of mouse donor kidney used for transplantation. The mechanism is independent of C4 but is associated with C3 deposition on the tubular surface. The precise trigger mechanisms leading to activation of MASP-2 and consequently to the cleavage of C3 and C5 will be of considerable interest to ongoing research, since it may identify new pathogenic targets on ischaemic tissue and reveal a non-conventional pathway of complement activation.

7 Effect of anaphylatoxins on cytokine production of monocytes and macrophages and their influence on adaptive immune response

7.1 Introduction

7.1.1 Rationale and Aim

The previous chapters of my thesis focused on the components that may activate the complement cascade following ischaemia-induced tissue stress, possibly through the exposure of damage associated molecular patterns on target epithelial or endothelial cells. I also focused on the possible effects of anaphylatoxin receptor C3a in mediating the subsequent inflammatory injury. With the second part of my thesis work, I aimed to assess in more detail, the cellular mechanisms that may be driven by this local complement activation which could ultimately contribute to IRI-mediated organ dysfunction in the context of graft rejection. I chose to assess the potential effect of the anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a on the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by human monocytes and macrophages. This particular interest arose from recent publications suggesting an unexpected and important role for graft infiltrating IL-1βproducing monocytes in kidney transplant rejection (Girlanda et al., 2008, Zhang et al., 2005). Earlier studies had connected C3a and C5a and their desarginated forms (C3adesArg and C5adesArg) with the induction of IL-1 β in human monocytes (Haeffner-Cavaillon et al., 1987, Okusawa et al., 1987). However, those studies raised controversies because at that time it was unclear if the preparation of the anaphylatoxins had been free of LPS - a strong inducer of IL-1 β in monocytes (Arend et al., 1989). There were no subsequent studies on this subject and therefore the role of C3a and C5a in monocyte activation and their effector function, particularly in the setting of transplantation, was left largely unexplored.

In contrast to work with human monocytes, which can be easily purified in high numbers from freshly-drawn blood (de Almeida et al., 2000), isolating monocytes from non-manipulated (non-infected) mice is a time-consuming and expensive procedure ultimately leading to low numbers of cells for *ex vivo* experiments. I therefore first began addressing the role of C3a and C5a in monocyte activation by using blood-purified human monocytes (and macrophages) – with the future plan to confirm key findings in a mouse model of IRI/transplantation using pertinent complement component-deficient and/or monocyte-depleted animals.

Thus, I first aimed to investigate whether anaphylatoxins can induce or modulate the production of the key effector cytokine IL-1 β by human monocytes and/or macrophages in a LPS-dependent or -independent fashion.

7.1.2 Monocytes

Monocytes are circulating blood leukocytes that are derived from bone marrow precursors and after circulating for an average time of 1-3 days, migrate into tissues and – depending on the activation stimulus – can develop into different subtypes (subpopulations) of macrophages with distinct functions (Locovei et al., 2006b). Monocytes also have the capacity to differentiate into dendritic cells (Pelegrin and Surprenant, 2006).

In humans, monocytes make up 10% of the blood leukocytes whereas in the mouse blood, they represent 4% of the leukocytes (Billaud et al., 2011). Monocytes have an important role in innate immune defense in response to invading microorganisms. They express a large variety and number of scavenger receptors that recognize pathogens and are able to produce inflammatory molecules such as complement factors, prostaglandins and reactive oxygen species as well as various inflammatory cytokines including IL-1 β , tumour necrosis factor (TNF), IL-6 and CXCL8 (chemokine ligand 8, known also as IL-8) (Madry et al., 2010). Monocytes are involved in key immunological processes including homeostasis and tissue repair (Kienitz et al., 2011, Chekeni et al., 2010) as well as modulation of T cell responses (MacVicar and Thompson, 2010, Mylvaganam et al., 2010). It is therefore not surprising that they also contribute to the pathogenesis of inflammatory conditions such as arthritis and atherosclerosis (Libby et al., 2008, D'Hondt et al., 2011). Monocytes were initially defined on the basis of their shape and later by their cytochemical characteristics (Woehrle et al., 2010). It was in the late 1980s that two subset of monocytes with distinctive phenotype and function were described based on their surface expression of CD14, a lipopolysaccharide co-receptor, and CD16 an Fc receptor. The majority of circulating monocytes were shown to express only CD14 but a small subgroup (of around 10%), expressed both CD14 and CD16 (Passlick et al., 1989). The number of CD16-positive monocytes has been shown to expand in several inflammatory conditions such as HIV disease, sepsis and rheumatoid arthritis as well as in haemodialysis patients with and without infection (Kawanaka et al., 2002, Fingerle et al., 1993, Thieblemont et al., 1995, Nockher and Scherberich, 1998); hence they were called pro-inflammatory monocytes. Further studies revealed that the CD16-positive monocyte consisted of two subpopulations that had different chemokine receptors: one with high and the other with low CD14 expression (Ancuta et al., 2003). In the following years different names were used to describe these various monocyte subpopulations until in 2010 a consensus nomenclature was proposed by a panel of monocyte biology experts who described monocytes in three distinct subtypes: 1) Classical monocytes which have high expression of CD14 but no CD16 expression (CD14⁺⁺CD16⁻), 2) Intermediate monocytes which have high expression of both CD14 and CD16 (CD14⁺⁺CD16⁺) and 3) Non-classical monocytes which have high levels of 115 CD16 and low levels of CD14 expression (CD14⁺CD16⁺⁺). The latter 2 groups are sometimes referred to (in combination) as CD16-positive monocytes (Ziegler-Heitbrock et al., 2010). The different monocyte subpopulations differ in their expression of chemokine receptors, cytokine production and phagocytic activity and respond differently to infectious and inflammatory stimulations (Billaud et al., 2011). The classical monocytes have a strong phagocytic capability and produce antimicrobial proteins, whereas CD14⁺CD16⁺ monocytes have higher concentration of MHC class II and can act more effectively as antigen presenting cells (Passlick et al., 1989). $CD16^+$ monocytes also produce high amounts of inflammatory cytokines including TNF and IL-1 β in response to stimuli such as bacterial lipopolysaccharides, viruses and immune complexes (Belge et al., 2002, Cros et al., 2010). While CD14⁺CD16⁺ cells express high levels of the chemokine receptors CCR5 and CX3CR1 (CX3C chemokine receptor 1), classical monocytes express chemokine receptor CCR2 and lower levels of CX3CR1 (Geissmann et al., 2003; Weber et al., 2000). CX3CR1 is a transmembrane G-protein coupled receptor that is expressed on a wide range of immune cells such as monocytes, natural killer cells, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, mast cells and B cells and is involved in adhesion and migration of these cells (Corcione et al., 2009; Imai et al., 1997). CCR2 (chemokine receptor 2) and CCR5 (chemokine receptor 5) are chemokine receptors on leukocytes that facilitate migration and activation of the cells by which they are expressed on to their respective ligands at the site of infection/inflammation (Luster, 1998): monocyte chemo attractant protein-1 (MCP-1) for CCR2 and macrophage inflammatory protein 1α and 1β (MIP-1) and regulated on activation normal T cell expressed and secreted (RANTES) for CCR5. The variable expression of these receptors on different monocyte populations might contribute to their different migration pattern as well as their response to infectious stimuli (Mizuno et al., 2005).

It has been shown that monocytes are initially produced as the classical type in the bone marrow and after their release into the circulation they can differentiate to intermediate monocytes. Intermediate monocytes can then differentiate into non-classical monocytes. In vitro experiments have shown that different monocyte subtypes, when exposed to specific cytokines can transform into different subtypes of dendritic cells or macrophages (Sanchez-Torres et al., 2001, Rutherford et al., 1993). To investigate the role of monocytes in various in vivo models of disease, several studies have concentrated on defining the heterogeneous monocyte populations in animal models, mostly in mice (Strauss-Ayali et al., 2007). Initially surface markers such as CX3CR1, CCR2 and Gr1 (also known as Ly6C) were used to describe two main functional subsets of murine monocytes; 1- CX3CR1^(low)CCR2⁺Gr1⁺ and 2- CX3CR1^(High)CCR2⁻ Gr1⁻ (Geissmann et al., 2003). Later, similar to human monocytes, a new nomenclature describing the mouse monocyte subpopulations was agreed, which divides them into three subsets based on their expression of Ly6C and CD43. Monocytes with high expression of Ly6C and low expression of CD43 (Ly6C⁺⁺CD43⁺) represent the classical monocytes, high expression of both Ly6C and CD43 (Ly6C⁺⁺CD43⁺⁺) identifies the intermediate monocytes and low expression of Ly6C together with high expression of CD43 (Ly6C⁺CD43⁺⁺) marks the non-classical monocytes (Ziegler-Heitbrock et al., 2010).

7.1.3 Macrophages

Macrophages are tissue-resident phagocytes derived from circulating monocytes and are present throughout the body (Iwamoto et al., 2010). They play an important role in maintaining tissue homeostasis by clearing apoptotic cells, producing growth factors and being involved in tissue remodeling and repair after injury (Eastgate et al., 1988, Bryan et al., 2001). In addition to being a substantial source of inflammatory cytokines, macrophages have a broad range of pathogen recognition receptors (such as TLRs, complement receptor 3 (CR3) and mannose receptors) allowing them to effectively recognize pathogens and remove them through phagocytosis (Gordon, 2002). They also act as antigen presenting cells and influence the activation of specific B and T cells: After phagocytosis of pathogens and necrotic cells and the degradation of their protein constituents to peptides, macrophages are able to present them in conjunction with MHC II to T cells and initiate the adaptive immune response. T cell-derived IFN- γ further increases the expression of MHC II and co-stimulatory molecules on macrophages leading to their amplified ability for antigen presentation (Underhill et al., 1999, Barker et al., 2002). Macrophages present in the sub-capsular region of lymph nodes have been demonstrated to present viral particles as well as other antigens and immune complexes to B cells resulting in initiation of the humoral immune response (Junt et al., 2007, Carrasco and Batista, 2007, Phan et al., 2007).

Similar to monocytes, macrophages are a heterogeneous population and based on pathogen and cytokine exposure, they develop different functional abilities. Broadly, two functional groups named M1 and M2 are described: Exposure to microbial products such as LPS and a range of cytokines including IFN- γ , TNF and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) induces the M1 phenotype which is capable of producing inflammatory cytokines, reactive oxygen species and nitrogen metabolites as well as stimulating the Th1 response (Mantovani et al., 2009). The M2 phenotype refers to macrophages that are induced upon exposure to IL-4, IL-13, IL-10 and immune complexes. They have been shown to support Th2 response, have immunoregulatory functions and are involved in tissue repair and remodeling (Mantovani et al., 2004).

Interleukin-1 (IL-1) is a pro-inflammatory cytokine with potent effects on many cell types alone or in combination with other cytokines and has a wide range of biological activities including regulation of the immune response and host defense (Church et al., 2008). Cloning of the IL-1 gene in 1984 (Auron et al., 1984) made a significant impact on the field of cytokine biology and stimulated many studies thereafter, investigating the role of this molecule in the pathogenesis of several inflammatory and auto-immune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (Eastgate et al., 1988), gout (Martinon et al., 2006), type 1 diabetes (Mandrup-Poulsen et al., 1986) and inflammatory bowel disease (McAlindon et al., 1998). Experiments to investigate the nature of IL-1 protein using macrophage cDNA library, led to the finding of 2 distinct proteins with IL-1 activity that were named IL-1 α and IL-1 β (March et al., 1985). Soon another protein was found as a member of IL-1 family named IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra). IL-1Ra which was initially found in the supernatant of monocytes that were cultured on adherent immune complexes (Arend et al., 1985) and in the urine of febrile patients (Rosenstreich et al., 1988) is a naturally produced receptor antagonist that competitively binds to IL-1 receptor without initiating any intracellular response. In this way, IL-1Ra regulates the effect of pro-inflammatory components IL-1 α and IL-1 β (Arend et al., 1998) – an indication for the potency of IL-1 and the requirement of its tight control.

Both IL-1 α and IL-1 β are produced in response to stress or an inflammatory stimulus from cells of the innate immune system as precursor proteins known as pro-IL-1 α and pro-IL-1 β . IL-1 α is active both as pro-IL-1 α (Mosley et al., 1987) and following cleavage by calpain, which is a calcium dependent protease (Kavita and Mizel, 1995). Activation of IL-1 β however requires the cleavage of the 31-33 kD precursor molecule by IL-1 β converting enzyme, later named caspase-1, to the 17.5 kD mature form 119 (Thornberry et al., 1992). IL-1 β is a multifunctional cytokine which either on its own or in combination with other cytokines can affect almost all cell types (Church et al., 2008) and influences a variety of physiological and pathological processes such as wound healing, mitogenic T cell stimulation, inflammation and sepsis (Schumann et al., 1998). IL-1 β has also been shown to have a role in pathogenesis of cryopyrin-associated periodic syndrome consisting of auto-inflammatory disorders such as familial cold autoinflammatory syndrome, neonatal onset multisystem inflammatory disease and Muckle– Wells syndrome in which a mutation in the NLRP3 inflammasome gene leads to overproduction of IL-1 β (Church et al., 2006, Yu and Leslie, 2011). More recently, IL-1 β has been shown to be important in modulating the adaptive immune response by inducing the development of pro-inflammatory Th17 cells from naive CD4⁺ T cells (Acosta-Rodriguez et al., 2007, Wilson et al., 2007).

Monocytes and macrophages are the main sources of IL- β secretion. Various bacterial products such as LPS (by stimulating TLR4) and peptidoglycans as well as endogenous danger signals including extracellular ATP and uric acid have been shown to stimulate the production and release of IL-1 β (Martinon et al., 2004, Mariathasan et al., 2006, Martinon et al., 2006).

7.1.5 Toll-Like Receptors

Toll like receptors (TLRs) comprise a family of pattern recognition proteins that are able to recognize a wide variety of pathogen-associated molecular patterns and damageassociated molecular patterns and play an important role in host defense against pathogenic infections as well as initiation of inflammation. They have structural homology to the Toll protein (hence being named after it) which was initially described in Drosophila where they play a role in the immune response of the insect to fungal infections (Lemaitre et al., 1996, Hashimoto et al., 1988).

Extensive studies on TLR proteins have led to the identification of 11 TLR family members in humans and of 13 in the mouse (Robson, 2009). TLRs are expressed by immune cells such as dendritic cells, monocytes, neutrophils, T and B cells (Hornung et al., 2002, Zarember and Godowski, 2002) as well as tissue cells including epithelial cells in the renal tubules (Wolfs et al., 2002), intestine (Cario et al., 2000), the respiratory tract (Hertz et al., 2003) and endothelial cells in various organs (Zhang et al., 1999, Faure et al., 2000). The structure of TLRs consists of an extracellular domain that contains multiple leucine-rich repeats and a cytoplasmic domain which has strong homology with mammalian IL-1 receptor (Means et al., 2000). Later studies have identified that some of the TLRs including TLR3, TLR7, TLR8 and TLR9 are localized inside the cells in structures such as the endoplasmic reticulum and lysosomes and are able to detect foreign nucleic acid particles from viruses and bacteria and initiate an inflammatory response by inducing pro-inflammatory cytokine production (Blasius and Beutler, 2010). MyD88 (Myeloid differentiation primary response protein 88) is an important adaptor molecule which is involved in the signaling of all TLRs (except TLR3) (Medzhitov et al., 1998, Premkumar et al., 2010) as well as IL-1 and IL-18 (Adachi et al., 1998). Most TLRs mediate intracellular signaling events via the protein MyD88 to generate pro-inflammatory cytokines whereas MyD88-independent activation of TLRs predominantly controls the anti-viral interferon production (Kawai and Akira, 2006, Akira and Takeda, 2004). Stimulation of the TLRs by PAMPs for example derived from bacteria or viruses leads to activation of the NF-kB pathway which regulates the production of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-6, IL-12, TNF- α and induces the expression of co-stimulatory molecules including CD40 and CD86 thereby affecting both innate and adaptive immune response (Hou et al., 2008).

TLR4 is a member of the TLR family which responds to the LPS of gram-negative bacteria (Poltorak et al., 1998, Chow et al., 1999). TLR4 is expressed on monocytes and macrophages and its interaction with LPS on these cells has been the subject of extensive number of studies that aim at investigating how TLRs influence the innate and adaptive immune response in different inflammatory disease models as well as assessing therapeutic potentials by modulating its signaling (Hennessy et al., 2010). TLR activation on monocytes and macrophages is an important inducer of the inflammasome (explained in chapter 7.8) and of IL-1 β production from these cells (Netea et al., 2008) and is discussed in more detail below.

7.1.6 Anaphylatoxins and TLRs

Complement and TLRs are key components of the innate immune system that in addition to providing the first line host defence, modulate the adaptive immune response. Considering their co-operative role in host defence and overlap in their stimulating factors, it is plausible that there is a crosstalk between these evolutionary old danger recognition systems. Several microbial and non-microbial factors have the ability to stimulate both of these systems of immunity. A good example is LPS, which, although well known for being a ligand for TLR4, is able to trigger complement activation (Bjornson and Bjornson, 1977, Morrison and Kline, 1977). A component of the yeast cell wall, zymosan, which activates both the classical and the alternative pathway of complement, has also been shown to stimulate TLR2 (Sato et al., 2003, Volman et al., 2005).

Using daf deficient (daf-/-) mice, Zhang and colleagues have demonstrated a functional interaction between complement and TLRs (Zhang et al., 2007). They noted that intraperitoneal injection of LPS in daf-/- mice resulted in significant elevation of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, TNF- α and IL-1 β in their plasma compared with the wild type control. In contrast, the level of IL-12 was higher in the wild type mice compared to the daf-/- mice. Further experiments using receptor antagonists and gene deficient mice showed that C5aR and to a lesser degree C3aR are responsible for the cytokine production of daf-/- mice which were treated with LPS (Zhang et al., 2007). The result of this experiment in combination with the findings (in the same paper) that WT mice treated with cobra venom factor (which activates and therefore depletes the serum from complement factors) or LPS alone did not have similar changes in the proinflammatory cytokine production, suggests that the effect on cytokines is the result of the synergistic effect of the anaphylatoxins in combination with TLR4. Interestingly, C5a had previously been shown to suppress TLR4 mediated production of IL-12 and IL-23 from inflammatory macrophages thereby reducing IL-12 dependent Th1 response both in vitro and in vivo (Hawlisch et al., 2005). Zhang and colleagues demonstrated that this effect is IL-10 dependent by showing increased IL-10 production in peritoneal macrophages exposed to both C5a and LPS (Zhang et al., 2007).

Taking into account that IL-6 has a role in Th17 cell polarization in the mouse, and the experiments by Zhang and colleagues which showed the synergistic effect of complement and TLR4 in the production of IL-6, Fang and colleagues looked into the effect of the mouse serum treated with LPS and C5a or cobra venom factor on cultured mouse T cells. They found that a higher percentage of these T cells develop into Th17 cells compared with T cells exposed to mouse serum activated with LPS, C5a or cobra venom factor alone (Fang et al., 2009). This effect was shown to be IL-6-dependent, as

neutralizing IL-6 in the T cell culture medium abrogated the differentiation of Th17 cells.

TLR activation has also been shown to have an effect on the production of certain complement components. Kaczorowski and colleagues have shown that stimulation of mouse macrophages with LPS result in increased factor B production (Kaczorowski et al., 2010).

Some pathogens have been shown to exploit the interaction of the TLRs and the complement system in a way that the immune response is either weakened or deviated in their favour (i.e. towards a more tolerogenic microenvironment). *Porphyromonas gingivalis*, a periodontal pathogen, has the ability to produce a protease which has C5 convertase activity and leads to production of C5a but not the membrane attack complex (Wingrove et al., 1992). Activation of TLR2 on macrophages by this pathogen in conjunction with ligation of the C5aR with C5a has been shown to result in increased cyclic AMP (cAMP) production which prevents the release of nitric oxide that is required for elimination of *P. gingivalis* leading to its survival (Wang et al., 2010).

The above investigations demonstrate the complex nature of crosstalk between the complement and TLR systems and their ability to modulate both the innate and adaptive immune response. They also reveal that the interaction between the two systems can sometimes be exploited by opportunistic pathogens to evade elimination by the immune response.

7.1.7 NOD-like receptors

The second vital group beside the TLRs in pathogen or danger recognition are the NOD-like receptors (NLRs) which as their name implies contain a nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD) (Inohara and Nunez, 2003). The NLRs are a group of

exclusively intracellular pattern recognition receptors that are able to sense danger signals such as PAMPs (for example, the RNA or DNA of cell-infecting viruses) and initiate an inflammatory response (Kanneganti et al., 2007). Since their recognition (Harton et al., 2002), 22 and 34 NLR proteins have been discovered in humans and mice, respectively (Jones et al., 2011). They are expressed in immune cells such as dendritic cells, monocytes, macrophages, T and B lymphocytes as well as in epithelial and endothelial cells (Kummer et al., 2007, Petterson et al., 2011). The structure of NLRs consists of three parts: 1) the effector N-terminal domain for protein-protein interactions which is either a caspase activation and recruitment domain (CARD), three baculovirus IAP (Inhibitor of Apoptosis Protein) repeats, or a pyrin domain (PYD) 2) a nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD) in the centre for nucleotide binding and self-oligomerization during activation and 3) the C-terminal part which consists of variable numbers of leucine-rich repeats (LRR) that are involved in sensing pathogens and modulate the NLR activity (Kanneganti, 2010). NLRs have been classified into three subgroups based on their N-terminal domains:

1. CARD-containing NLRs such as NOD1, NOD2 and the class II transactivator (CIITA). NOD1 and NOD2 are activated by bacterial peptidoglycans and are the inducers of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and NF-κB signaling via activation of the serine-threonine kinase RICK (also known as RIP2) (Ogura et al., 2001, Kanneganti et al., 2007). Mutations in the NOD2 gene have been found in some patients with Crohn's disease (Hugot et al., 2001) and NOD1 polymorphism has been demonstrated to have a role in inflammatory conditions such as asthma (Hysi et al., 2005) and inflammatory bowel disease (McGovern et al., 2005) as well as host defense against *Helicobacter pylori* infection (Viala et al., 2004), suggesting that these molecules participate in mucosal immunity and homeostasis. CIITA is one of the main regulatory factors for MHC II gene transcription, the absence of which leads to bare lymphocyte syndrome, a hereditary immunodeficiency condition (Reith and Mach, 2001).

2. IPAF (ICE (interleukin-1 β -converting enzyme) protease-activating factor) and baculovirus inhibitor repeat (BIR)-containing NAIPs (neuronal apoptosis inhibitory protein) are a separate group of NLRs which are involved in apoptosis as well as inflammasome formation (Poyet et al., 2001, Liston et al., 1996).

3. The largest NLR subgroup is the NALPs (NACHT, LRR and PYD containing proteins) which has 14 genes recognized in humans (Tschopp et al., 2003). NALP1 and NALP3 (also known as cryopyrin), the most well studied molecules in this group, are known to use the ASC (apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD) adaptor molecule to activate the inflammasome complex containing caspase-1, leading to production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β and IL-18 (Martinon et al., 2001, Mariathasan, 2007, Mariathasan et al., 2006).

7.1.8 Inflammasome

Inflammasome is the term originally used to describe a high molecular weight intracellular complex that can activate inflammatory caspase enzymes and lead to production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β and IL-18 (Martinon et al., 2002). Similar to TLRs on the cell surface and within the endosomes, the inflammasomes have the ability to recognize PAMPs and DAMPs such as ATP, uric acid and DNA in the cell cytoplasm and initiate an inflammatory response (Figure 24) (Mariathasan et al., 2006, Martinon et al., 2006, Muruve et al., 2008).

Inflammasomes have been divided into four subtypes known as: NALP1, NALP3, IPAF and AIM2 inflammasome (Schroder and Tschopp, 2010) (Figure 23). NALP1 and NALP3 inflammasomes consist of a sensor protein from the nucleotide binding and oligomerization domain NOD-like receptor (NLR) family, the adapter protein apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD (ASC) and inflammatory proteases, caspase-1 and caspase-5 (Martinon et al., 2002). The CARD domain of the IPAF molecule directly interacts with the CARD domain of the procaspase-1 and can change it to the active form, caspase-1 in response to apoptotic and inflammatory stimulations such as endotoxic shock (Poyet et al., 2001, Li et al., 1995). AIM2 (absent in melanoma 2) is the most recent identified inflammasome that is activated by sensing double stranded DNA (dsDNA) from bacteria, viruses or self in the cytosole through its C terminal HIN-200 (hematopoietic interferon-inducible nuclear proteins with a 200amino-acid repeat) domain (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 2009, Hornung et al., 2009). AIM2 does not contain an NLR segment but has a pyrin domain which interacts with the pyrin domain of ASC molecule and is able to engage with procaspase-1 and similar to other inflammasome complexes, form the active caspase-1 and the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1ß and IL-18 (Hornung et al., 2009, Burckstummer et al., 2009, Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 2009).



Figure 23. Infammasome subtypes. Schematic of the inflammasome subtypes NLRP1, NLRP3, IPAF, and AIM2 which in conjunction with ASC protein activate the caspase-1 complex. CARD: caspase recruitment domain; LRR: leucine-rich repeat; NACHT: nucleotide-binding and oligomerization domain; PYD: pyrin domain.

NALP3 is the most studied and best understood of the inflammasome complexes and has been shown to be involved in the pathophysiology of a variety of diseases. Viral RNAs and a wide range of bacterial products such as LPS, lipoteicoic acid and peptidoglycans when combined with ATP in millimolar concentrations are able to activate this inflammasome which in association with the ASC adaptor molecule leads to caspase-1 activation and production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18 (Kanneganti et al., 2006a, Kanneganti et al., 2006b, Sutterwala et al., 2006, Mariathasan et al., 2006). NALP3 is also responsible for sensing calcium pyrophosphate dehydrate and monosodium urate crystals in joints and inducing an inflammatory response by producing IL-1 β and IL-18 (Martinon et al., 2006). As mentioned in the IL-1 section above (7.1.4), mutation in the NALP3 gene can cause a number of inherited auto-inflammatory disorders including Muckle-Wells Syndrome, chronic neurologic cutaneous and articular syndrome and familial cold auto-inflammatory syndrome (Hoffman et al., 2001, Feldmann et al., 2002, Dode et al., 2002, Aganna et al., 2002) indicating the importance of this molecule in controlling inflammation.



Figure 24. Activation of inflammasome leading to production of IL-1 β . This diagram shows how stimulation of Toll Like Receptors in conjunction with another stimulus (ATP in this case) leads to activation of inflammasome and production of IL-1 β in cells such as macrophages (in monocytes TLR stimulation alone is sufficient for IL-1 β production (Netea et al., 2009)

7.1.9 Caspases

Caspases are a family of highly regulated proteolytic enzymes that are involved in a wide range of biological reactions such as apoptosis, inflammation, and cellular differentiation and remodeling (Crawford and Wells, 2011). They are produced as

inactive zymogens in the cell and undergo proteolytic processing (whereby a prosegment which prevents the binding of the substrate to the enzyme is removed by proteolysis) or dimerization (where binding of the monomeric enzyme produces a dimeric structure that has more enzymatic activity) to become activated (Khan and James, 1998, Boatright et al., 2003, Donepudi et al., 2003). Caspases are classically also connected with programmed cell death in somatic cells (Kumar, 2007). Caspases involved in apoptosis are divided into 2 subgroups, the initiator (caspases-2, 8, 9 and 10) and the executioner (caspases-3, 6 and 7) caspases, with the initiator group sensing the death signal and activating the executioner group that cleave the required substrates leading to apoptosis (Boatright and Salvesen, 2003). Another group of caspases including caspase-1, 4, 5 and 14 in humans (1, 11 and 12 in the mouse) are known as inflammatory caspases because the substrates of the leading member of the group, caspase-1, are inflammatory cytokines, IL-1 β and IL-18 (Nadiri et al., 2006). Caspase-5 is known to engage with the CARD domain of NALP-1, indicating that it might be involved in inflammasome activation through NALP-1.

Caspase-1 has been extensively studied in the past decade after its contribution to inflammasome activation was demonstrated (Martinon et al., 2002). The enzyme was originally discovered in experiments aimed at pinpointing the responsible enzyme that processes pro-IL-1 β (Thornberry et al., 1992, Cerretti et al., 1992). Later, experiments using caspase-1-deficient mice confirmed the requirement of caspase-1 for IL-1 β production, as these mice were unable to produce mature IL-1 β and were resistant to endotoxic shock induced by injection of high dose LPS in the peritoneum (Li et al., 1995). Soon after, it was demonstrated that caspase-1 is required for activation of another pro-inflammatory cytokine, IL-18, which was known as IFN- γ -inducing factor (Gu et al., 1997) by showing that splenocytes from caspase-1-deficient mice have a 130 significantly reduced capability to produce IFN- γ after stimulation with LPS compared to the control group (Fantuzzi et al., 1998). As discussed in the inflammasome section (7.1.8), several inflammasomes activate caspase-1 with or without involvement of the ASC adaptor protein.

7.1.10 ATP and ion channels

As mentioned, TLR- and NLR-mediated assembly of the inflammasome and caspase-1 activation is one of the vital events required for IL-1 β production in monocytes and macrophages. However, this alone is not sufficient in most cases to induce IL-1 β and a second signal is required for successful cytokine production and that signal can be provided by ATP (adenosine-5'-triphosphate) and engagement of its receptor(s) (Figure 24).

ATP is the carrier of energy in all living organisms. It transfers the chemical energy released from nutrient metabolism to various cellular reactions that require energy. ATP was first discovered in 1929 by Karl Lohmann, a German chemist (Langen and Hucho, 2008). In the early 1940s, Fritz Lipmann (the 1953 Nobel laureate in Medicine) demonstrated that ATP is the common transporter of chemical energy and used the phrase 'energy-rich phosphate bonds' (Lipmann, 1941).

ATP is composed of an adenosine nucleoside which is bound to three phosphate molecules. Removal of the outermost phosphate molecule during hydrolysis, leads to formation of adenosine diphosphate (ADP) and release of energy which is used for cellular functions. The reverse of this reaction, binding of an inorganic phosphate to ADP with use of energy, forms ATP again.

With time, studies demonstrated that ATP is present in the extracellular space and plays an important role in various physiologic functions such as neurotransmission, cardiac function, bone metabolism and muscle contraction (Holton, 1959, Forrester and Lind, 1969, Yu and Ferrier, 1993, Davies, 1963). Importantly, ATP has been recognized as DAMP and can cause inflammation with different mechanisms such as attracting neutrophils (Fredholm, 1997) or activating the inflammasome complex leading to production of inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18 (Cruz et al., 2007). More recently, ATP has been shown to have various immunomodulatory roles such as affecting T cell signaling (Schenk et al., 2008) and differentiation of Th17 cells (Atarashi et al., 2008).

Extracellular ATP exerts its effect by binding to two different types of receptors known as: 1) Ionotropic P2X receptors which are widely expressed in immune and non-immune cells of humans and have 7 subunits, P2X1 to P2X7 (Valera et al., 1994, Surprenant and North, 2009) and 2) G protein-coupled P2Y receptors (Webb et al., 1993).

The wide range of ATP function including its effect on inflammation and immune response has made P2X receptors interesting potential therapeutic targets in a variety of inflammatory, neurologic and cardiovascular disorders (Burnstock and Kennedy, 2011, Coddou et al., 2011). In both monocytes (Grahames et al., 1999) and macrophages (Mariathasan et al., 2006) activation of P2X7 receptor by ATP in conjunction with LPS has been shown to significantly enhance the production of IL-1 β . In fact, in macrophages, second stimulation with ATP in addition to LPS has been suggested to be essential for production of IL-1 β (Netea et al., 2009). Pannexin-1 hemi-channel which is expressed on most cells (Dubyak, 2009), is known to play a significant role in regulation of ATP efflux from various cell types (Ransford et al., 2009, Barbe et al., 2006), leading to activation of P2X7 receptor which as described above, contributes to IL-1 β secretion.

As ATP engagement with its receptors has strong immunomodulatory functions, the extracellular availability of ATP needs to be regulated. This is achieved by the regulation of ATP cell efflux via specific channels, including the pannexin channels.

7.1.11 Pannexin Channels

Pannexins are a family of cell membrane channel-forming glycoproteins that were first described by Panchin and colleagues in the mammalian genome and the name pannexin (Panx) was suggested for these channels due to their wide distribution in animal species, where the Latin pan means all and nexus stands for connection (Panchin et al., 2000). Three pannexins have been identified: Panx1, Panx2 and Panx3. Panx1 is the most studied channel and its expression has been shown in a variety of human tissues such as the heart, skeletal muscle, ovary, testis, erythrocytes, small intestine, prostate, thymus, kidney, lung and brain (Baranova et al., 2004). Panx2 is expressed mostly in the brain and expression of Panx3 has been shown in chondrocytes, cochlea and epidermis (Baranova et al., 2004, Iwamoto et al., 2010, Wang et al., 2009, Celetti et al., 2010).

Molecules up to 1 KDa in size are able to cross the Panx1 channel (MacVicar and Thompson, 2010). One of the important functions of Panx1 which has been well studied is the control of ATP (507 D) release from cells (Locovei et al., 2006a) which acts as a paracrine signal to the surrounding cells. Release of ATP through Panx1 channel plays a role in a variety of cell functions such as initiation and propagation of calcium waves (Locovei et al., 2006b), regulation of vascular smooth muscle contraction (Billaud et al., 2011), sensation of taste through taste buds (Dando and Roper, 2009) and mucocilliary function of the airway epithelium (Ransford et al., 2009). Importantly, release of ATP from apoptotic cells mediated by Panx1 (Chekeni et al., 2010) acts as a 'find me' signal which attracts phagocytic cells including monocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells

which are responsible for removal of these dying cells (Elliott et al., 2009). As well as paracrine functions described above, Panx1 also influences the immune response; it has been shown that activation of caspase-1 of the inflammasome complex and release of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β induced by P2X7 receptor stimulation in macrophages, is mediated by Panx1 (Pelegrin and Surprenant, 2006).

The role of Panx2 has been less studied but so far it has been shown to be involved in neuronal differentiation (Iwamoto et al., 2010) and more recently absence of Panx1 and Panx2 (double knockout mice) has proven to lead to a smaller infarct size in a mouse model of ischaemic stroke, suggesting a combined role for these channels in inducing ischaemic brain damage (Bargiotas et al., 2011). The physiologic role of Panx3 has been the subject of several new studies. Panx3 promotes the differentiation of osteoblasts by acting as a Ca²⁺ channel in the endoplasmic reticulum as well as being able to form gap junctions and modulate the transmission of Ca²⁺ between cells (Ishikawa et al., 2011). Panx3 can also form a hemi-channel and release ATP into the extracellular compartment and modulate the intracellular cAMP levels which has been demonstrated to influence chondrocyte differentiation (Iwamoto et al., 2010).

7.1.12 Effector T cells

7.1.12.1 Th1/Th2 cells

The concept of CD4⁺ T cells differentiating into distinct populations with exclusive effector capacities was first described in the 1980s by Mossman and colleagues, using mouse T cell clones (Mosmann et al., 1986). This group demonstrated two separate populations of mouse T helper cells, namely Th1 and Th2 based on their cytokine production profile. The presence of Th1/Th2 T-helper subtypes in humans was shown in the early 1990s. Using T cell clones from the peripheral blood of patients with allergies,

T cells showing Th1 and Th2 specificities were identified; the first was the main producer of IFN- γ in response to infectious stimuli and the second was shown to be allergen specific and mainly produced IL-4 (Wierenga et al., 1990, Parronchi et al., 1991). In addition to IFN-y, Th1 cells also produce TNF and express the chemokine receptors CXCR3 and CCR5, whereas Th2 cells secrete IL-5 and IL-13 in addition to IL-4 and express surface markers CCR3 and CCR4 (Bonecchi et al., 1998, Sallusto et al., 1998, Loetscher et al., 1998, Sallusto et al., 1997). In vitro generation of Th1 and Th2 cells from naive precursor T cells was shown following stimulation with IL-12 and IL-4, respectively (Swain et al., 1990, Hsieh et al., 1993). In the following years, characteristics and functions of these two cell subtypes have been extensively studied and distinct roles have been identified for each group. Overall Th1 cells were found to initiate the response to intracellular viruses and bacteria and help cells of the innate immune system such as macrophages whereas Th2 cells were shown to be activated in response to extracellular stimuli such as helminthic infections and allergens and facilitate mast cell and basophil recruitment and activation (Abbas et al., 1996, Kawakami and Galli, 2002). The Th1/Th2 framework explained various disease processes in mice and in humans. Th1-related activity was demonstrated in autoimmune diseases including multiple sclerosis in humans (Selmaj et al., 1991) and its equivalent mouse model, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)(Ando et al., 1989). Investigation of the animal model of autoimmune diabetes using non-obese diabetic (NOD) mouse indicated that the disease is mediated by Th1 cells (Campbell et al., 1991). In diseases such as asthma, however, Th2 responses were found to be predominant (Wills-Karp et al., 1998, Robinson et al., 1992). Further development in characterization of Th1 and Th2 was made possible with identification of the lineagespecific transcription factors, t-box transcription factor T-bet (Szabo et al., 2000) and GATA3 (Zheng and Flavell, 1997), which respectively direct their differentiation.

For a long time the many aspects of immune function such as response to infections and allergic and autoimmune diseases was attributed to these two effector T cell subpopulations. However, some experimental findings particularly in autoimmune diseases such as immune-mediated arthritis and allergic asthma were not completely consistent with the Th1/Th2 paradigm and their occurrence have recently been attributed to a more recently defined T cell subtype known as Th17 cells (Steinman, 2007, Nakae et al., 2003, Hellings et al., 2003).

7.1.12.2 Th17 cells

Although for a long time Th1 and Th2 subtypes were thought to be the main components of the T-helper cell immune response, studies on autoimmune disease in mouse models including experimental auto immune encephalomyelitis (EAE) and collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) led to the discovery of another T-helper linage later known as Th17 cells. The autoimmune process in these disease models was thought to be due to Th1 response and inhibition of IL-12 (which is required for Th1 activation) with antibodies or use of mice deficient in the p40 subunit of IL-12 attenuated the disease (Bright et al., 1998, Muller et al., 1998, Malfait et al., 1998, Gran et al., 2002). However, following the discovery of IL-23 cytokine and identifying that it contains the p40 subunit of the IL-12 molecule in addition to another subunit named p19 (instead of the p35 in IL-12) (Oppmann et al., 2000), further experiments using gene targeted mice were able to show that the development of both EAE and CIA were dependent on IL-23 rather than IL-12 (Cua et al., 2003). Aggarwal and colleagues then described that IL-23 induces the production of IL-17 from CD4⁺ T cells (Aggarwal et al., 2003).

Even though IL-17 was known for over a decade to be produced by activated CD4⁺ T cells, identification of Th17 cells as a distinct subset of T helper cells is a relatively recent finding (Harrington et al., 2005, Langrish et al., 2005, Park et al., 2005). Since their discovery, the influence of Th17 cells in adaptive immune response has been extensively studied and they are now acknowledged as key contributors to several inflammatory and autoimmune diseases (Kimura and Kishimoto, 2011). Investigation by Ivanov and colleagues identified the orphan nuclear receptor RORyt as the Th17 signature transcription factor required for differentiation of the Th17 cell linage (Ivanov et al., 2006). Following that, other groups identified IL-6 and TGF- β as the prominent cytokines necessary for differentiation of Th17 cells (Veldhoen et al., 2006, Bettelli et al., 2006); however, it was later demonstrated that these cytokines promote Th17 induction in the mouse system, but in humans, $CD4^+$ cells require IL-1 β and IL-6 to develop and TGF- β has in fact an inhibitory effect on this process (Acosta-Rodriguez et al., 2007). IL-23 was initially thought to be required for Th17 differentiation, but it was later shown that despite having the ability to maintain the Th17 phenotype and IL-17 production, it does not affect the proliferation or survival of the Th17 cells (Stritesky et al., 2008).

Many of the effector functions of Th17 cells are mediated by their production of various cytokines and chemokines. The most studied cytokine produced by Th17 cells is IL-17A (also called IL-17). Detailed studies on IL-17 have identified five members in the family of this cytokine named IL-17A-F of which IL-17A and IL-17F have been shown to be produced by Th17 cells (Kawaguchi et al., 2004). Other important cytokines produced by Th17 cells include IL-22, IL-26 and IL-21 (Ouyang et al., 2008). Cytokines produced by Th17 cells have been shown to be important in host defense against extracellular pathogens, generating inflammation by recruiting cells of the 137

innate immune system particularly neutrophils and inducing autoimmune reactions (Miossec et al., 2009). More recently, Th17 cells and its cytokines have been demonstrated to have an immunoregulatory role in certain settings and provide protection from tissue destruction in autoimmune diseases such as inflammatory bowel disease and graft versus host disease (O'Connor et al., 2009, Yi et al., 2008, O'Connor et al., 2010).

It is important to note that despite the initial belief that $CD4^+$ T cells are the main producers of IL-17 (Fossiez et al., 1996), more recent studies have shown that other cells of the immune system such as macrophages, NK cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells and neutrophils as well as certain epithelial cells, are able to produce this cytokine (Cua and Tato, 2010). Unlike T cells, which require antigen specific signaling via the T cell receptor to produce IL-17, the other cells produce IL-17 independent of antigen stimulation, in response to cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-23, TNF or DAMPs (Liu et al., 2004, Cua and Tato, 2010, Takahashi et al., 2008). Production of IL-17 by epithelial cells in the intestine has an important role in maintaining the integrity of the mucosal barrier (Kinugasa et al., 2000).

7.1.12.2.1 Anaphylatoxins and IL-17 production

Several recent studies have looked into the role of anaphylatoxins in the differentiation and regulation of Th17 cells in various animal disease models. In a model of experimental autoimmune encephalitis Liu and colleagues have shown that presence of both C3a and C5a is required for increased production of IL-17 which contributes to the pathogenesis of the disease (Liu et al., 2008). Stimulation of mouse peritoneal macrophages with C5a and LPS has been shown to induce IL-6 production which promotes differentiation of functional Th17 cells (from anti-CD3/CD28 stimulated T cells) that are able to induce autoimmune arthritis and EAE in mice (Fang et al., 2009, Hashimoto et al., 2010). In contrast, in a mouse model of endotoxic shock Bosmann and colleagues have demonstrated that C5a has an anti-inflammatory effect and its addition to LPS-treated peritoneal macrophages leads to a reduction in IL-17 production in a dose dependent manner (Bosmann et al., 2012). They showed that this effect is due to induction of IL-10 which strongly inhibits IL-17 production.

The differential effect of anaphylatoxins on Th17 cell differentiation has been described in a mouse airway hyper responsiveness (AHR) model where deficiency of C5aR resulted in increased production of IL-17 and development of severe asthma whereas C3aR deficiency was associated with reduced number of IL-17 producing Th17 cells and presentation of less severe form of asthma (Lajoie et al., 2010). C3a-dependent induction of Th17 cells leading to increased production of IL-17 has been described in other studies using the AHR mice model (Bera et al., 2011, Mizutani et al., 2012). Interestingly, in a mouse model of sepsis induced by cecal ligation and puncture, C5a was shown to induce IL-17 production from $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Xu et al., 2010). This effect was dependent on the presence of DCs and production of IL-6 and TGF- β from these cells. Studies investigating the role of anaphylatoxins on Th17 development in humans are limited. High levels of serum C5a has been shown in patients with age related macular degeneration (AMD) (Reynolds et al., 2009), leading to increased production of IL-6, and IL-1 β from monocytes which in turn induces the production of IL-17 and IL-22 from CD4⁺ T cells, a process that could be related to the pathogenesis of the disease (Liu et al., 2011).

These studies demonstrate that anaphylatoxins do influence the differentiation of Th17 cells and production of its main cytokine, IL-17. However, their differential effect in different disease models make a universal approach to their modulation complicated. As

discussed above, other immune cells have the ability to produce IL-17, a fact that should be taken into consideration when inhibition of its effect is being considered.

7.1.12.3 Regulatory T cells

Regulatory T cells (Tregs) are a population of T cells that are known to suppress and regulate the activity of the immune response. They are broadly divided into two groups: 1) natural Tregs (nTregs) which originate in the thymus and 2) inducible Tregs (iTregs) which acquire regulatory function in the periphery (Adalid-Peralta et al., 2011). nTregs are derived from a distinct population of naive CD4⁺ T cell precursor with a different T cell receptor repertoire than the conventional naive CD4⁺ T cells (Romagnoli et al., 2002) and posses suppressive capacity following their production in the thymus. They express the key transcription factor forkhead box P3 (FoxP3) as well as CD25 which is the IL-2 receptor- α chain and the surface marker cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) (Fontenot et al., 2003, Sojka et al., 2009, Hori et al., 2003). The iTregs are, however, generated in the periphery from naive CD4⁺ cells under certain environmental conditions where there is T cell receptor stimulation as well as presence of IL-2 and TGF-β cytokines. Presence of these factors induces the expression of FoxP3 and CD25 on the T cells and gives them suppressive capacity. Induction of iTregs in vitro has been demonstrated when naive CD4⁺ T cells were stimulated with antigen in the presence of TGF-β (Chen et al., 2003, Fu et al., 2004).

7.1.12.4 Other T helper cells

Other than the 4 distinguished T helper cell lineages Th1, Th2, Th17 and iTregs which develop from naive CD4⁺ T cells, a number of T cell subsets have been identified in the past decade which do not belong to either of these categories. Follicular helper T cells

are one of these T cell subsets which are known to reside in the germinal centre of the peripheral lymph nodes, produce IL-21 and influence B cell function (Nurieva et al., 2008). They express the chemokine receptor, CXCR5, and have a key role in differentiation of B cells and their antibody production (Kim et al., 2001, Breitfeld et al., 2000). Differentiation of follicular helper T cells is regulated by the transcription factor Bcl6 (B cell lymphoma 6) the expression of which is mediated by IL-6 and IL-21 (Johnston et al., 2009, Nurieva et al., 2009).

Production of IL-9 from naive CD4⁺ T cells following stimulation with TGF-β and IL-4 was initially described by Schmitt and colleagues (Schmitt et al., 1994). It was later suggested that these IL-9 producing cells belong to a distinctive T cell linage named Th9 cells (Dardalhon et al., 2008, Veldhoen et al., 2008). Interferon-regulatory factor 4 (IRF4) and transcription factor PU.1 have been shown to be essential for the development of Th9 cells (Staudt et al., 2010, Chang et al., 2010). IL-9 has a role in host defense against helminthic infections and mediates an inflammatory response in allergic asthma (Cheng et al., 2002, Nicolaides et al., 1997, Tan and Gery, 2012).

Another subset of T helper cells named Th22 which secret IL-22 and TNF- α has been identified in the skin infiltrates of patients with inflammatory skin diseases such as psoriasis (Eyerich et al., 2009). They have an epidermal homing characteristic and are involved in epidermal inflammation and wound healing (Duhen et al., 2009, Boniface et al., 2005). More recently they have been shown to have an important role in host defense against enteropathogenic bacteria (Basu et al., 2012).

T cell differentiation to various subtypes continues to be the subject of many investigations and there is the potential for discovery of further subsets.

7.1.13 Kidney transplant rejection

Since the early 1990s the histopathological appearance of kidney transplant tissue following rejection has been classified under Banff criteria. Banff is the international standardized criteria for histological diagnosis and classification of kidney transplant pathologies set by a group of renal histopathologists, nephrologists and transplant surgeons who initially met in Banff, Canada, in 1991 with the purpose of facilitating international comparison of data on kidney transplant rejection and to ultimately improve patient care (Solez et al., 1993). Since then the criteria (summarized in table 9) is revised every few years and the latest was in 2011 (Mengel et al., 2012).
1. Normal

2. Antibody-mediated rejection. Histological grade:

I. ATN-like, C4d +, minimal inflammation

- II. Capillary- margination and/or thromboses, C4d +
- III. Arterial, C4d +

3. Borderline changes ('Suspicious' for acute cellular rejection): No intimal arteritis is seen but there are foci of mild tubulitis (1–4 MN cells/tubular cross-section)

4. Acute/active cellular rejection (T cell-mediated). Histological grade:

- 1A: Cases with significant interstitial infiltration (>25% of parenchyma affected) and foci of moderate tubulitis (>4 MN cells/tubular cross section or group of 10 tubular cells)

- 1B: Cases with significant interstitial infiltration (>25% of parenchyma affected) and foci of severe tubulitis (>10 MN cells/tubular cross-section or group of 10 tubular cells)

• 2A: Cases with mild to moderate intimal arteritis

- 2B: Cases with severe intimal arteritis comprising >25% of the luminal area

- 3: Cases with transmural arteritis and/or arterial fibrinoid change and necrosis of medial smooth muscle cells with accompanying lymphocytic inflammation

5. Chronic/sclerosing allograft nephropathy: Fibrosing changes in the allograft, with or without features of true alloimmune injury to the graft. Histological grade:

- I. Mild interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy without (a) or with (b) specific changes suggesting chronic rejection (mild)
- II. Moderate interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy (a) or (b) (moderate)
- III. Severe interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy and tubular loss (a) or (b) (severe)

6. Other: changes not considered to be due to rejection.

Table 9. Banff diagnostic categories for kidney transplant rejection. There might be an overlap between different categories on histology samples (Racusen et al., 2003). MN: mononuclear cells; ATN: Acute Tubular Necrosis.

In broad terms, kidney transplant rejection is categorized into antibody-mediated rejection (AMR) or T cell-mediated rejection, each of which can present in acute or chronic form and have different degrees of severity (mild, moderate or severe rejection). AMR (also known as humoral rejection) occurs due to the presence of anti-donor antibodies leading to damage of endothelial cells in microcirculation potentially through complement activation and infiltration of leukocytes (Sis et al., 2009). Presence of C4d deposition in peritubular capillaries of the kidney tissue in the biopsy samples has been one of the hallmarks of AMR (Colvin, 2007). However, more recently it has been recognized that in some cases (particularly when chronic), AMR can occur with negative C4d staining (Sis et al., 2007, Miura, 2007) perhaps due to the presence of non-complement fixing antibodies or fading of deposited C4d. This issue has been raised in the latest Banff meeting in 2011 suggesting a need for a new diagnostic criteria for AMR independent of C4d which is expected to be developed for the next meeting in 2013 (Mengel et al., 2012). In addition to positive C4d staining, infiltration of neutrophils and/or mononuclear cells in the peritubular capillaries, features of acute tubular injury and presence of thrombi and fibrinoid necrosis are elements suggestive of AMR (Sis et al., 2010).

In T cell-mediated rejection, there is interstitial infiltration of T cells associated with areas of tubular inflammation (tubulitis) the intensity of which defines the grade of rejection. Inflammation of the vessel wall is another feature of T cell-mediated rejection which can present as mild to moderate inflammation in the intimal layer known as intimal arteritis to involvement of the whole vessel wall (transmural arteritis) where inflammation extends to the medial smooth muscle cells and can lead to necrosis and infiltration of lymphocytes (Sis et al., 2010). AMR and T-cell mediated rejection can sometimes coincide.

Several studies have looked into identification of the types of cellular infiltrate in kidney transplant rejection with the aim of predicting prognosis and tailoring treatment. Presence of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in kidney allograft rejection was originally defined by Bolton et al (Bolton et al., 1989) and is a well established phenomenon in T cell-mediated rejection. In addition to T cells, monocyte and macrophages are known to have a significant role is acute and chronic allograft rejection by stimulating T cells (as antigen presenting cells) as well as producing pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-12, IL-18, TNF- α and IFN- γ (Wyburn et al., 2005). Eosinophils and B cells have also been demonstrated in some cases of graft rejection and are associated with steroid resistance and worse prognosis (Sarwal et al., 2003, Nankivell and Alexander, 2010). Presence of NK cells has been more recently described in AMR with suggestions that they can be used as a diagnostic tool for rejection episodes (Hidalgo et al., 2010). I have discussed the role of various T cells and monocyte/macrophages in kidney allograft rejection in more detail in sections below.

7.1.13.1 Monocytes and macrophages in transplanted kidney

Presence of monocytes in transplanted kidneys has been described to be associated with poor transplant outcome since the early 1980s (Harry et al., 1984). At the time, non-specific esterase reaction was used to identify monocytes. CD14 as well as CD68 which were later identified as markers for monocytes and macrophages are now used to assess the infiltration of these cells in kidney tissue biopsies and the cells have been referred to as monocytes or tissue macrophages in different studies. In a study of 154 renal allograft biopsies, Dooper and colleagues demonstrated that staining for peritubular CD14 offers a valuable marker for diagnosis of acute rejection with positive predictive value of 95% and a negative predictive value of 47%, when compared with the original

diagnosis made on the samples using the Banff criteria (Dooper et al., 1994). Using CD68 as a marker of monocytes/macrophages, it has been shown that presence of these cells in the transplant kidney biopsy is not only a marker of rejection but also predictor of poor long term graft outcome in studies performed up to 4 years after transplantation (Ozdemir et al., 2002, Tinckam et al., 2005). Macrophages were also suggested to play a key role in acute vascular rejection in kidney transplants, being identified as the predominant cell types in intimal arteritis which is diagnostic of this condition (Matheson et al., 2005). However, this view was later challenged by Kozakowski and colleagues, who described that although monocytes are present in intimal arteritis, their presence is not associated with a humoral response and their infiltration of the intima did not predict a worse outcome when compared to levels of T cell infiltration observed (Kozakowski et al., 2009).

7.1.13.2 T cells in kidney transplant rejection

T cells are the key elements in the process of kidney transplant rejection (Bolton et al., 1989). Presentation of donor alloantigens by either the donor (direct pathway) or the recipient (indirect pathway) APCs to recipient T cells in the draining lymph nodes and the spleen results in clonal expansion of alloreactive T cells which then differentiate to CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells and initiate an effector immune response (Jiang et al., 2004). CD4⁺ T cells are not only important in activation of B cells that produce alloantibodies, but also assist the induction of delayed type hypersensitivity responses by macrophages whereas CD8⁺ T cells induce apoptosis and cell death in the donor organ (Sayegh and Turka, 1998). These reactions collectively lead to graft rejection and damage of the transplanted organ.

Within the subset of CD4⁺ T cells, Th1 population has been shown to have a more prominent role in kidney transplant rejection. Discovery of other subpopulation of T cells, in particular Th17 cells, has led to the investigation of their role in various immunological reactions including transplant rejection. As the contribution of Th17 cells to transplant rejection is relevant to my work, I have explained it in more detail below.

A few recent experimental studies have investigated the role of Th9, Th22 and follicular T cells in transplant rejection (Liu et al., 2013) which is the beginning of a potentially interesting field.

7.1.13.3 Th-17 cells in kidney transplantation

Production of IL-17 was shown to contribute to transplant rejection before Th17 cells were described, when Vankooten and colleagues demonstrated that kidney transplant biopsies from patients with graft rejection had positive immunofluorescent staining for IL-17 compared to patients with no rejection who had negative staining for IL-17 (Van Kooten et al., 1998, Strehlau et al., 1997). Later, presence of IL-17 was reported in the transplanted kidney tissue in a rat model with acute borderline transplant rejection as well as in human kidneys with subclinical kidney rejection (Hsieh et al., 2001). Hsieh and colleagues also demonstrated the existence of IL-17 mRNA in the mononuclear cells obtained from the urinary sediment of patients with borderline subclinical kidney transplant rejection which was not present in the control group indicating that IL-17 measurement in the urine could have a predictive value for kidney transplant rejection (Hsieh et al., 2001).

In addition to a higher number of neutrophils and lymphocytes, increased levels of IL-17 mRNA and protein have been demonstrated in the bronchioalveolar lavage of lung transplant patients with acute rejection suggesting its contribution to the pathogenesis of rejection (Vanaudenaerde et al., 2006). Increased levels of IL-17 as well as IL-23 have also been shown in liver transplant patients with acute rejection (Fabrega et al., 2009).

Although it was initially presumed that CD4⁺ T cells are the source of IL-17 in the rejecting kidney transplant tissue, more recent studies indicate that despite presence of high levels of IL-17 in rejecting transplant tissue compared to non-rejecting samples, the source of this IL-17 is not necessarily always the infiltrating CD4⁺ T cells. In one study, assessment of 49 human kidney transplant biopsy samples with acute rejection found high number of IL-17⁺ cells which were mostly neutrophils and mast cells (Yapici et al., 2011). Loverre and colleagues have demonstrated that renal tubular epithelial cells produce IL-17 in acute antibody mediated rejection which interestingly co-localizes with C4d deposition in peritubular capillaries (Loverre et al., 2011). They have also shown that stimulation of proximal tubular epithelial cells with C3a *in vitro*, results in expression of IL-17 in these cells which could be the mechanism by which they produce IL-17 in AMR.

This potentially important role of IL-17, produced from cells other than classic CD4⁺ Th17 T cells has also been investigated in other animal models of transplantation. In a mouse heart transplant model, production of IL-17 from $\gamma\delta$ T cells rather than CD4⁺ T cells was shown to have a key role in acute rejection and absence of IL-17 (using IL-17-deficient mice) resulted in expansion of regulatory T cells, suggesting an inhibitory role of IL-17 in the development of these latter cells (Itoh et al., 2011).

The above studies suggest strongly that IL-17 does have a role in the pathogenesis of transplant rejection; however, the source of IL-17 in this setting as well as the target cells may vary and warrants further exploration.

Based on review of this literature, I proposed that IL-β produced by monocytes and macrophages in response to anaphylatoxins with or without TLR signaling, is a potent effector mechanism that could in part explain the complement-mediated inflammatory reaction following metabolic stress. I also hypothesized that if ATP as an additional signal is required for monocyte and macrophage activation, Panx1 channel has a role in its release into the extracellular space. For technical reasons explained earlier in this Chapter, I used human rather than mouse monocytes as the preferred cell type, and I used LPS for TLR4 stimulation as an established model for TLR-mediated signaling. Also, taking into account the combined role for anaphylatoxins, monocytes and IL-17 producing cells in kidney transplant rejection, my plan was to investigate if the effect of anaphylatoxins on monocytes/macrophages (with or without TLR activation) would result in production of inflammatory cytokines which could affect the T cell response in

kidney transplant rejection.

8 Materials and Methods

8.1 Materials

8.1.1 Plastic ware

24-well and 12-well cell culture plates were purchased from Greiner Bio-One GmbH (Frickenhausen, Germany).

8.1.2 Chemicals and reagents

EDTA to detach cells for co-culture was from Fisher Scientific and Tryptan Blue to assess cell viability (under microscope) was obtained from Sigma Aldrich (Saint Louis, MO, USA). Tween 20 used in wash buffers was from Calbiochem (Darmstadt, Germany). Ficol for separation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells was purchased from Amersham (New Jersy, USA). Propidium Iodide to detect cell viability (with flow cytometry) was purchased from BD Biosciences. For intracellular staining phorbol 12myristate 13-acetate (PMA) and ionomycin were purchased from Sigma and monensin (420701) from Biolegend.

8.1.3 Media and buffers

RPMI GlutaMAX 1640 media, Sodium Pyruvate, non-essential amino acids (NEAA) and Penicillin-Streptomycin were all purchased from Gibco, Invitrogen, PBS (phosphate buffered saline) and FCS (fetal calf serum) used in the cell culture experiments were from Hyclone (Utah, USA).

Monocyte and T cell culture media:

RPMI GlutaMAX media, 10% FCS, 1% penicillin-Streptomycin (100 units/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin) – the same media was used for both monocytes and T cells.

Macrophage culture media:

RPMI GlutaMAX, 10% FCS, 1% penicillin-Streptomycin (100 units/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin), 1% NEAA (non-essential amino acids), 1% sodium pyruvate and 50 ng/ml recombinant human macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF). Bead separation buffer:

PBS + 0.5% FCS + 1.5 mM EDTA

ELISA wash buffer:

PBS + 0.05% Tween

FACS (fluorescence-activated cell sorting) buffer:

PBS + 5% FCS

8.1.4 Antibodies and cytokines

Anti-CD3 (OKT-3) was prepared in-house from a specific hybridoma line; anti-CD28 was from BD Biosciences, recombinant IL-6, IL-1 β and IL-23 were purchased from R&D systems. Recombinant human IL-2 was a gift from Dr. Christine Pham (Washington University in Saint Louis, MO, USA). Anti-IL-4 and anti-INF- γ were from eBioscience (Hatfield, UK).

The following mouse monoclonal antibodies conjugated to fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) or phycoerythrin (PE) were used for flow cytometry in this study: FITC-labeled anti-C5aR Ab (CD88 S5/1, sc-53795) and FITC-IgG Ab as isotype control (sc-2856), both from Santa Cruz biotechnology. PE-conjugated human anti-C3aR Ab (Biolegend, 345804) and PE-conjugated mouse anti-human-IgG as isotype control (BD Biosciences, 400314).

For pannexin-1 studies, polyclonal rabbit anti-pannexin antibody from Abcam Plc (Cambridge, UK) (ab60098) was used as well as polyclonal rabbit IgG as isotype control. Both antibodies were PE-conjugated using Zenon PE rabbit conjugating kit from Invitrogen (Z-25355) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

For immunohistochemistry, anti-CD4 (clone BC/1F6), anti-IL-17 (polyclonal), and anti-C3a (clone 4H3), all purchased from Abcam Plc, were used. Anti CD68 antibody was also from abcam.

8.1.5 Recombinant proteins, protein inhibitors and receptor agonists and antagonists

Recombinant human C5a (234397) was purchased from Calbiochem (San Diego, USA) and serum-purified human C3a (A118) was obtained from Comptech (Texas, USA), C3a receptor agonist (C4494) and LPS (lipopolysaccharide) were from Sigma Aldrich. Caspase-1 inhibitor (400015) was from Calbiochem, ATP (A1852), oxidized ATP (oxATP, A6779) and Carbenoxolone (C4790) were from Sigma Aldrich. Recombinant Human IL-1 receptor antagonist (C-61122) was from Promokine (Heidelberg, Germany). M-CSF was purchased from Gibco, Invitrogen.

8.2 Methods

8.2.1 Purification of T cells and monocytes by magnetic bead separation

Fresh blood was obtained from healthy volunteers with the approval and in accordance of the King's College Ethics Committee guidelines (Reference No: 06/Q0705/20) and collected in sodium heparin containing tubes (BD Vacutainer, BD Biosciences). The blood was diluted in 50 ml Falcon tubes 1:1 with 1 x PBS. 30 mls of the diluted blood was then layered using a pipette over 15 mls of ficol and then centrifuged at 1600 rpm for 30 minutes. The obtained 'buffy coat' (consistent of the peripheral blood mononuclear cells) was aspirated with a pipette and transferred into a new 50 ml Falcon tube, washed twice in 1 x PBS to extract the peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and then washed one more time in bead buffer.

Monocytes and/or CD4⁺ T cells were extracted from the PBMC population by positive selection using incubation with either CD14 (for monocytes) or CD4 (for T cells) microbeads according to the manufacturer's instructions (MACS; Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) whereby after the final wash, the cell pellet was resuspended in bead buffer (80μ l for 10^7 cells) and 20μ l of the relevant microbead was added for every 10^7 cells. The suspension was kept on ice for 15 minutes after which the cells were washed again with PBS for 10 minutes. The bead-labeled monocytes or T cells were then separated from other PBMCs by usage of a magnetic-activated cell 152

separation column from Miltenyi Biotec. Cell viability was assessed using tryptan blue and was generally > 90%. Similarly, cell purity as determined by FACS analysis was > 95% in most cases (Fig 25).



Figure 25. Representative purities of CD14+ and CD4+ cells using magnetic bead separation. The purple section on the left represents the cells stained with isotype control and the green section on the right, the $CD14^+$ (top panel) and $CD4^+$ (bottom panel) cells

8.2.2 Macrophage generation

To generate macrophages *in vitro*, PBMCs were first extracted as described above. After assessment of cell viability, cells were re-suspended in RPMI 1640 media with glutamine (but without FCS) and plated in 24-well tissue culture plates at a concentration of 10^6 /ml, 1 ml/well. After 2 hours of incubation at 37°C and 5% CO₂, the wells were washed twice with warm PBS to remove non-attached cells. The remaining attached monocytes were then cultured in macrophage media (0.5 ml/per well in 24well plate). The media was replaced every 2 to 3 days with fresh media and matured macrophages were utilized at day 5-6 for subsequent experiments.

8.2.3 Monocyte and macrophage activation

To activate monocytes or macrophages, cells were purified and generated as described and cultured in the appropriate media in 24-well plates. C3a, C5a, LPS (100 ng/ml) and the combination of each anaphylatoxin with LPS were added to the culture and aliquots of cell supernatants and cell samples were collected at different time points for the subsequent analysis of cytokine production, surface receptor expression and caspase-1 activation. Various concentrations of C3a (5, 12.5, 25, 50 and 100 μ M of the C3a agonist and 5, 12.5, 25, 50 and 100 nM of the serum purified C3a) and C5a (5, 12.5, 25, 50 and 100 nM) were used.

8.2.4 T cell activation

Isolated CD4⁺T cells were activated in flat-bottom 48-well culture plates (2.5-3 × 10^5 cells in 200 µl of media per well) which were coated with mAbs to CD3 and CD28 at 2.0 µg/ml each and incubated at 4°C overnight. Purified T cells were cultured and activated in the presence of 50 U/ml of recombinant human IL-2. T cell activation was then assessed by measurement of cell proliferation and cytokine production. For the specific *in vitro* induction of Th17 cells, recombinant IL-6 (25 ng/ml), IL-23 (25 ng/ml) and IL-1 β (10 ng/ml) were added to the culture media as well as anti-IL-4 (10 µg/ml) and anti-INF- γ (10 µg/ml).

8.2.5 Assessment of cell surface receptor expression by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) analysis

The expression of C3aR and C5aR on monocytes and macrophages and of pannexin-1 channel on monocytes were assessed by FACS. Prior to incubation with relevant antibodies, monocytes and macrophages suspended in FACS buffer were incubated for 10 minutes in the refrigerator with Human Fc Receptor Blocking reagent (Miltenyi Biotec) according to the manufacturer's instructions (90 µl of FACS buffer plus 10 µl Fc Receptor Blocking reagent for 10^7 cells) to reduce unspecific antibody binding as these cell types express high amounts of Fc receptors. Washed and blocked cells were then incubated 20 min on ice with the appropriate amount of primary antibody (generally ranging from 0.2 μ g/ml to 1 μ g/ml). In case the primary antibody was directly conjugated with a fluorochrome, the sample was then subjected to FACS analysis. As the primary pannexin-1 antibody was not fluorochrome conjugated, the Zenon PE Rabbit Conjugating Kit from Invitrogen was used based on manufacturer's instructions to label the antibody first prior to addition to cells. The labeling process involved addition of 1 µg of antibody to PBS with a final volume of ≤ 20 µL followed by addition of 5 µL of the Zenon rabbit IgG labeling reagent. The mix was kept in room temperature for 5 minutes before 5 μ L of the Zenon blocking reagent was added to the mix. After 5 minutes of incubation in room temperature, the labeled antibody was ready to use.

Flow cytometeric analyses were performed using the Becton-Dickinson Fluorescence activated cell sorter (FACS Calibur) and data were analyzed using the CellQuest Pro software.

8.2.6 Measurement of caspase-1 activation

For assessment of Caspase-1 activation in monocytes, Green FLICA caspase-1 assay kit from Immunochemistry technologies (Minnesota, USA) was used according to the manufacturer's instructions. As described by the manufacturer, FLICA (Fluorescent Labeled Inhibitors of Caspases) probes are non cytotoxic and cell permeable. The probe covalently binds to active caspase in the cell and emits the green fluorescent signal while the unbound probe is removed during the wash step.

Monocytes stimulated with LPS, C3a or both for 2 hours, 4 hours and overnight (as well as un-stimulated monocytes) were prepared at a concentration of 5×10^5 /ml and 290 µl of each was placed in eppendorf tubes. Cells were incubated with 10 µl of FLICA stain at 37°C for 1 hour. They were then washed twice with wash buffer provided in the kit and suspended in FACS buffer and analyzed with flow cytometry.

8.2.7 ATP measurement

ENLITEN ATP assay system from Promega was used to measure ATP in cell culture supernatants using manufacturer's instructions.

Monocytes were stimulated overnight with LPS with and without C3aR agonist. The supernatants were removed the next day and centrifuged to remove cells and debris. 100 μ l of diluted rL/L reagent from the kit was added to 100 μ l of supernatant from each cell culture condition and the light output from the reaction of the rL/L reagent with the ATP in supernatants was measured by luminometer (Lumat LB9507, Berthold Technologies, Bad Wildbad, Germany). Results were compared with the standard curve which was generated using serial dilutions of standard (ATP) available in the kit, addition of rL/L and measuring the light output with the luminometer.

8.2.8 Measurement of cytokine production

8.2.8.1 A. Enyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

At the time point of interest, cell supernatants were collected from the culture plates and centrifuged at 1000 rpm to clear off cell debris. The supernatants were either used immediately or stored in -40° C until use.

Ready-Set-Go! ELISA kits and Corning Costar ELISA plates from eBiosciences (Hatfield, UK) were used for all ELISA experiments according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, ELISA plates were coated with 100 µl/well of capture antibody in Coating Buffer (1:250) and incubated overnight at 4°C. Plates were washed 5 times with ELISA wash buffer and dried on absorbent paper to remove residual buffer. Wells were blocked with 200 µl/well of Assay Diluent for 1 hour at room temperature. The plates were washed and dried as before and 100 μ l of the standard solution and samples were added in duplicates. For the standard curve, the standard was prepared in 2-fold serial dilutions (in assay diluent) from the maximum concentration that was recommended by the manufacturer to a sample without standard addition. Cell culture supernatants were generally diluted 1:1 in diluent buffer (for monocyte IL-1 β the concentration was reduced to 1:10 due to high amounts of the cytokine). The plates were incubated at room temperature for 2 hours after which they were washed 5 times. 100 µl of detection antibody (1 in 250 dilution in the assay diluent) was added per well and incubated in room temperature for 1 hour. After washing the plate as before, 100 µl/well of Avidin-HRP diluted in assay diluent (1:250) was added and the plate was incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. Following 5 more washes, 100 µl of TMB (Tetramethylbenzidine) substrate solution was added to each well and the plate was incubated in room temperature for 15 minutes after which 50 µl of 1M sulphuric

acid (H_2SO_4) was added to each well to terminate the reaction. Optical density was measured on an ELISA plate reader (Specramax Plus, Molecular Devices) at 450 nm. The concentration of each cytokine was calculated in comparison with the standard curve made from optical densities of the known concentrations of the standard.

8.2.8.2 B. Intracellular cytokine staining

Purified and cultured cells were re-stimulated with a combination of 50 ng/ml phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA; Sigma) and 500 ng/ml ionomycin (Sigma) for 4 hours. 3 μ M Monensin (Biolegend, 420701) was added for the last 2 hours of the culture to induce accumulation of cytokines in the golgi apparatus of the cell. The cells were then harvested and washed twice in 1x PBS. Fix and Perm reagent from Invitrogen (GAS004) was added at 100 μ l to each sample and incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature. The cells were washed with 1 ml of FACS wash buffer and centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1400 rpm. The supernatant was aspirated and the cell pellet re-suspended with a gentle vortex. 100 μ l of permeabilization medium containing an appropriate amount of the desired antibody (generally 0.2 μ g/ml to 1 μ g/ml) or the corresponding isotype control was added, vortexed for 1-2 seconds and incubated on ice for 20 minutes. The cells were washed again using 1 ml of wash buffer and centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1400 rpm and re-suspended in 250 μ l of the wash buffer and analyzed by flow cytometry.

8.2.9 Histology

The rejecting and non-rejecting renal transplant biopsy samples were obtained from Professor Terrence Cook at Imperial College (London) and were from patients who had given consent to use of biopsy material surplus to diagnostic requirements. Hematoxylin-Eosin staining: Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue samples were de-paraffinized by incubation in a 60°C-heated oven for 1 hour after which they were immersed in xylene for 10 minutes followed by hydration using decreasing concentrations of ethanol (slides were put in 100%, 90% and 70% ethanol for 5 min each). After washing the slides with PBS, they were incubated with hematoxylin for 10 minutes, washed under running water and incubated with eosin for 30 seconds after which they were washed again under running water and dehydrated through increasing concentration of alcohol (put in 70%, 90% and 100% ethanol for 5 min each) followed by immersion in xylene for 10 minutes and then mounted in permount.

Immunohistochemistry: Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded samples were deparaffinized and hydrated through decreasing concentrations of ethanol as described above. Heat-induced antigen retrieval was conducted in 10 mM sodium citrate solution (pH=6.0) for 30 minutes. Slides were washed three times in PBS, and incubated with 5% BSA for 60 minutes at room temperature to block non-specific binding. Primary antibodies (anti-CD4, anti-IL-17, and anti-C3a) were diluted to manufacturers' recommended concentrations and applied to each sample and incubated at 4°C overnight. Secondary antibody staining was conducted for 60 minutes at room temperature. Nuclei counterstained with DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2were phenylindole). Images were taken using the Nikon A1R Si confocal microscope. Dr Hide Yamamoto, a postdoctoral fellow in our laboratory helped me with the staining and together with Dr John Harris from the NIKON Imaging Centre at KCL (King's College London) assisted with obtaining the confocal microscopy images.

8.2.10 Statistical analyses

Unpaired Student t-test was used to compare groups (with Graphpad software) and data were presented as mean \pm standard deviation. P <0.05 was defined as significant.

8.3 Results

Similar to the injury-inducing role of complement activation products, several studies have indicated that elevated levels of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β is associated with kidney IRI (Furuichi et al., 2006, Rusai et al., 2008). It has also been shown that IL-1 β production is the major and most important end product of inflammasome activation (Franchi et al., 2009). Based on these observations and the fact that some complement components (anaphylatoxins in particular) play an important role in kidney IRI, which I have discussed in detail in the first chapter of my thesis, I hypothesized that complement has a role in activation of inflammasome and production of IL-1 β in kidney IRI.

Knowing that monocytes and macrophages are the main sources of IL-1 β production, I planned to first assess if stimulation of these cells with anaphylatoxins with or without TLR4 stimulation (via LPS addition) leads to production of IL-1 β . Although production of IL-1 β by monocytes with anaphylatoxin stimulation has been reported before (Haeffner-Cavaillon et al., 1987), there was controversy over contamination of the anaphylatoxin used with endotoxins (Arend et al., 1989).

8.3.1 Expression of C3a and C5a receptors by monocytes and macrophages

The first set of experiments in this part of my thesis was aimed at investigating if stimulation of monocytes and macrophages with anaphylatoxins C3a or C5a leads to production of the key effector cytokine IL-1 β by these cells. To assess if these cells are

able to respond to the complement activation fragments, C3aR and C5aR expression on freshly isolated monocytes and on M-CSF-differentiated macrophages were first measured (5 days after their culture) by FACS analysis.

Up to 10^7 freshly isolated human monocytes and M-CSF-differentiated macrophages were initially suspended in 90 µl of FACS buffer and incubated with 10 µl of Fc receptor block (miltenyi) to reduce nonspecific binding of antibody, then washed with PBS and incubated with PE-conjugated human anti-C3aR antibody, FITC-conjugated anti-C5aR antibody or their respective isotype control antibodies (5 µl of antibody was used for an average of 10^6 cells suspended in 100 µl of FACS buffer). Figure 26a demonstrates that freshly isolated monocytes express both C3a and C5a receptors in ample amounts. In contrast, the expression pattern of these receptors changes visibly in monocyte-derived macrophages (Figure 26b): although all cells express comparable amounts of the C5aR, the expression of C3aR on macrophages was only about 50% of cells compared to monocytes. Nonetheless, these data show that monocytes and macrophages express anaphylatoxin receptors and are therefore equipped to respond to C3a (in the case of macrophages about half of the cells) and C5a.

a. Monocytes



b. Macrophages



Figure 26. Monocytes and macrophages express C3a and C5a receptors. C3aR and C5aR expression was assessed on freshly isolated human monocytes (a) or on 5d M-CSF-differentiated macrophages (b) by FACS analysis. Shown is one representative of three similarly performed experiments using a different donor each time.

8.3.2 Impact of C3a and C5a on monocyte and macrophage IL-1β production

8.3.2.1 Monocytes

To investigate if anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a affect IL-1 β production by monocytes, fresh blood was obtained from volunteer donors and monocytes were isolated using CD14 beads as described in section 8.2.1. To overcome the risk of contamination with

endotoxins, a C3aR agonist (generated under endotoxin-free conditions) was used in these experiments. However, for C5aR stimulation experiments, I had to use recombinant C5a as there is no chemical C5aR agonist available. C3aR agonist had similar effects compared with purified C3a (Figure 29). Cells were stimulated with different doses of the C3aR agonist or recombinant C5a with and without 100 ng/ml of LPS. LPS was used in this model as its presence as a TLR4 agonist has been shown in previous studies to be a stimulator for IL-1 β production in monocytes and macrophages (Beutler, 2000, Chow et al., 1999). Furthermore, TLR4 has been shown to have a role in tissue injury in both native and transplant models of kidney IR (Kruger et al., 2009, Pulskens et al., 2008). Doses of both C3a and C5a were titrated: 25 µM of C3aR agonist (equivalent to 100 nM of purified C3a) and 50 nM of recombinant C5a consistently induced the most effect (for IL-1 β production); therefore these doses were used in future experiments. A wide range of anaphylatoxin concentrations (from 10-300 nM for C3a and 5-100 nM for C5a) have been used on different cell types in other studies and the dose I used represents an average (Hartmann et al., 1997, Schraufstatter et al., 2009, Monsinjon et al., 2003). The cells were incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ and cell supernatants were removed at different time points of 1, 2 and 4 hours as well as from the overnight incubated samples for measurement of IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-23 by ELISA. Since the overnight stimulated samples showed the highest amount of cytokine, this time point was selected for all cytokine production experiments.

As shown in Figure 27, LPS induced IL-1 β production from monocytes, as expected from previous studies (Netea et al., 2009). Addition of C3aR agonist to LPS-treated monocytes increased their IL-1 β production up to 4-fold after overnight incubation in a dose dependent manner (Figure 29). Interestingly, addition of the C3aR agonist alone to the monocyte culture had no effect. This observation is in contrast to earlier findings 163 where serum-purified C3a (in comparable doses used in my experiment) and C3adesArg alone induced IL-1 β from PBMCs (Haeffner-Cavaillon et al., 1987). I observed that recombinant C5a does not affect IL-1 β production in this system. However, C5a was active and modulated monocyte function as it was detected – in line with previous publications (Hashimoto et al., 2010) – to strongly induce IL-6 in an LPS-independent fashion (Figure 27b). Neither C3a nor C5a had an effect on the production of IL-23, a cytokine produced by activated monocytes and by DCs, vital in the induction of Th17 effector responses (Fig 27c).

Thus, these data demonstrate that C3aR engagement significantly and specifically increases LPS-mediated IL-1 β production by human monocytes.



Figure 27. C3a increases LPS-mediated IL-1 β production by human monocytes. Cytokine production by monocytes after LPS and anaphylatoxin activation. Freshly isolated monocytes were incubated overnight in media or in media with LPS (100 ng/ml) with and without addition of human C3a receptor agonist (25 µM) or recombinant human C5a (50 nM). IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-23 levels were measured in supernatants by ELISA. *, p < 0.005; ***, p < 0.005; ***, p < 0.001.

8.3.2.2 Macrophages

When monocytes encounter activating signals, they produce pro-inflammatory cytokines and can also further develop into DCs or macrophages, depending on the

environmental cues they encounter. Noting the pathological influence of macrophages as well as anaphylatoxins in IRI and kidney transplant rejection (Chadban et al., 2010; Li and Okusa, 2010), I wanted to next determine if C3a and/or C5a is also able to modulate cytokine production of macrophages and possibly participate in tissue injury. Thus, production of several key cytokines involved in tissue inflammation and immune cell activation such as IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-23 were measured from macrophages after stimulation with C3a, C5a and LPS or their combination.

Monocyte derived macrophages were prepared as described in section 8.2.2. Initially, expression of C3a and C5a receptors on these cells were confirmed (Fig 26b). After 5 days of culture, the cells were stimulated (in duplicate wells) overnight with 25 μ M C3a agonist, 50 nM recombinant C5a, 100 ng/ml LPS or combination of LPS with either anaphylatoxin. The supernatants were removed, centrifuged at 300 rpm and kept in -40°C until used.

These experiments resulted in some key observations (Figure 28). First, anaphylatoxin and LPS-stimulated macrophages produced substantially lower cytokine levels compared to monocytes (about 10-15 times less in the case of IL-1 β and IL-23 and half the level of IL-6). Second, C5a was able to positively regulate IL-6 secretion in macrophages, as with monocytes but even more so. Lastly and most importantly, IL-1 β production was critically dependent on addition of both C3aR agonist and LPS, as only cells treated with both agents generated IL-1 β .



Figure 28. IL-1 β production by macrophages requires both LPS and C3a. Freshly purified human monocytes were differentiated into macrophages by M-CSF incubation for 5 days. Macrophages were then incubated overnight in the presence of LPS (100 ng/ml) with or without addition of either C3aR agonist (25 µM) or recombinant C5a (50 nM). IL-1 β (top panel), IL-6 (middle panel) and IL-23 (lower panel) levels in the cell supernatants were measured by ELISA. Data represent mean ± SD (n=3). *, p < 0.05; ***, p < 0.001.

These data indicate that there are substantial differences in regards to cytokine production between monocytes and macrophages in the response towards anaphylatoxins. The lower level of cytokine production in macrophages in response to C3a in comparison to monocytes can be in part related to lower C3aR expression on these cells (shown in Figure 26b). This phenomenon could be a reflection of the different physiological roles of monocytes and macrophages in host defense. It could be that monocytes being the first line of defense in the blood stream, are more sensitive to certain stimuli and are able to initiate a more potent immune response, whereas macrophages which mostly reside in tissues need to have tight control in their response so that they don't damage the surrounding tissue – or even further, switch into a tissue repair programme. Difference in processing intracellular pro-IL-1 β due to different expression of ion exchange channels and caspase-1 activation between monocytes and macrophages has been suggested to play a role in variation of IL-1 β release between the two cell groups (Perregaux et al., 1996, Kahlenberg and Dubyak, 2004).

Considering the less robust production of IL-1 β by C3a stimulated macrophages compared to monocytes, I concentrated on monocytes in future experiments.

8.3.3 C3aR agonist and pooled human C3a have comparable effects on IL-1 β production by human monocytes

C3aR agonist was chosen to initiate these experiments rather than purified C3a. The reasoning behind this was that earlier work had shown LPS-independent induction of IL-1 β with purified C3a in monocytes (Haeffner-Cavaillon et al., 1987) but the criticism in these experiments was that it could never be convincingly excluded whether the C3a preparation was LPS-free (Arend et al., 1989). The use of a chemical compound would potentially exclude LPS contamination (although contamination during the purification process is still a possibility). My finding that the C3aR agonist alone does not induce IL-1 β in monocytes strongly suggests that a TLR-mediated second signal is indeed

required for IL-1 β induction. A reliable agonist for the human C5aR is currently not available.

Thus, to investigate if C3a, purified and pooled from human serum, has a similar effect as the C3aR agonist, increasing doses of either purified C3a or the C3aR agonist were added to monocyte cultures together with LPS (Figure 29). Addition of C3aR agonist within a range of 25 to 50 μ M or purified C3a in 50 to 100 nM were found to produce comparable results. Purified C3a in the absence of LPS did not induce IL-1 β . Interestingly, when the C3aR agonist or purified C3a were used in high doses (125 μ M and 500 nM, respectively), both had an inhibitory effect on LPS-induced IL-1 β production. The reason for this is unclear, but may be due to reduced expression of the anaphylatoxin receptors that is observed particularly when G protein-coupled receptors are activated with high doses of their ligands (Li et al., 2012). Stimulation of the G protein-coupled receptors by their ligands has been shown to result in their internalization leading to desensitization to the ligand (Pierce et al., 2002). This could be a self regulatory mechanism which prevents over-activation of the immune system in response to large amounts of inflammatory stimuli.



Figure 29. Serum-purified C3a and C3aR agonist have comparable effects on IL-1 β production by human monocytes. Freshly purified monocytes from two different donors were left untreated (media) or activated with LPS (100 ng/ml) and increasing amounts of either serum-purified pooled C3a or C3a receptor agonist (C3aRA) and IL-1 β production was measured after overnight activation. Bars represent the median values of each condition performed in triplicate.

Because the C3aR agonist is cheaper to use than human purified C3a and its use avoids batch variation, C3aR agonist was chosen (at a dosage of 25 μ M) throughout the remainder of the study.

8.3.4 C3a-exposed monocytes induce strong Th17 responses

Knowing that IL-1 β is a vital requirement for human Th17 induction (Acosta-Rodriguez et al., 2007), I wanted to address the potential functional importance of the observation that C3a is an inducer of IL-1 β production in human monocytes. My hypothesis was that C3aR agonist-treated monocytes (with or without TLR4 stimulation with LPS) may

be prime inducers of Th17 responses. To test this hypothesis, CD4⁺T cells were isolated from freshly obtained blood using CD4 beads and cultured in plates pre-coated with CD3 and CD28 as described in sections 8.2.1 and 8.2.4 respectively. 400 µl of culture media was used for negative control T cells. To induce the differentiation of Th17 cells for use as positive control, recombinant IL-6 (25 ng/ml), IL-23 (25 ng/ml) and IL-1β (10 ng/ml) were added to the culture media as well as anti-IL-4 (10 µg/ml) and anti-INF- γ (10 µg/ml) (to prevent the development of Th1 or Th2 cells). 200 µl of monocyte supernatant after overnight stimulation with 25 µM C3a agonist, 100 ng/ml of LPS and their combination was added to 200 μ l of media in the experiment group of CD4⁺T cell cultures. After 3 days, the cells were stained for intracellular IL-17 and analyzed by FACS. The results shown in Fig 30 demonstrate that supernatant from the monocytes activated with LPS and C3a were the strongest inducer of IL-17 production where the intracellular IL-17 was almost twice as much as the amount detected in Th17-skewed T cells. LPS-only stimulated monocyte supernatant also increased the IL-17 production of T cells 1.3 times compared to Th17 skewed T cells. The increased production of IL-17 in these conditions suggests that the CD4⁺T cells exposed to supernatant of monocytes stimulated with LPS and more so with LPS and C3a have developed a Th17 phenotype. Supernatants from non-stimulated monocytes and C3a-only stimulated monocytes had an effect in increasing IL-17 production compared with non-skewed T cells (about 1.5 times) but not compared with Th17 skewed T cells (Figure 30).



Figure 30. C3a-exposed monocytes induce strong Th17 responses. Human $CD4^+$ T cells respond to supernatants from LPS + C3a-activated monocytes with increased IL-17 secretion. Freshly purified human $CD4^+$ T cells were activated with immobilized antibodies to CD3 and CD28 in the presence of media only (non-skewed T cells, negative control) or media containing rIL-6, rIL-23 and rIL-1 β (Th17-skewed T cells, positive control). To assess the effect of C3a-mediated cytokine production by monocytes in this system, T cells were activated with 1:1 mixtures of supernatants from monocyte cultures (MS) that had not been activated or activated with C3a alone, LPS or LPS and C3a. Th17 induction was measured 3 days post activation by intracellular cytokine staining. Shown is one representative of three similarly performed experiments.

To investigate how much of the Th17 induction in the above experiment is dependent on IL-1 β production by monocytes, the effect of IL-1 β inhibition using IL-1Ra in the CD4⁺ T cell culture prior to addition of monocyte supernatants was assessed. Results depicted in Figure 31 shows that IL-17 production was inhibited to a large extent following the addition of IL-1Ra. However, of note, IL-17 induction was only partially reduced by this treatment. This could suggest that IL-1 β inhibition by IL-1Ra is incomplete or that additional Th17-driving factors (for example IL-6) which are secreted by LPS as well as LPS and C3aR agonist-treated human monocytes can continue to drive Th17 differentiation to some extent.



Figure 31. Functional inhibition of C3a-induced monocyte-derived IL-1 β significantly decreases Th17 induction. Monocyte supernatants (MS) from LPS and LPS/C3a stimulated cells were used in the absence or presence of increasing amounts of an IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) and IL-17 production was measured by intracellular staining and assessment by FACS. Bars represent the mean values of each condition performed in duplicate with cells from three different donors.

These findings suggest that LPS/C3a-activated monocytes can drive strong Th17 induction (15% IL-17⁺ T cells in *in vitro* cultures indicates excellent Th17 induction as no current *in vitro* induction condition leads to more than 20% IL-17⁺ cells) and that one key cytokine involved is indeed IL-1 β (likely beside IL-6, driven by C5a and IL-23 produced upon LPS exposure).

8.3.5 Rejecting human kidney tissue contains areas of high C3a and Th17 presence

After demonstrating that LPS and C3a-treated human monocytes produce high amounts of IL-1β and can induce strong Th17 responses in human T cells, validating the core of my hypothesis, the relevance of this phenomenon in kidney transplant rejection was investigated. Biopsy samples of kidney transplant tissue from patients with acute cellular rejection as well as non-rejecting kidney transplant tissue were stained for CD4, C3a and IL-17 as described in section 8.2.9. Notably, only tissue from rejecting but not non-rejecting kidneys contained large areas of C3a and Th17 accumulation (Figure 32).



Figure 32. Rejecting human kidney tissue contains areas of high C3a and Th17 presence. Confocal microscopy following immunohistochemical staining for CD4, C3a, and IL-17 on kidney transplant biopsy samples with acute cellular rejection (upper panel) and no rejection (lower panel). Infiltration of CD4 cells as well as presence of C3a and IL-17 is seen only in the rejected sample. Results shown are representative of histology data obtained from samples of three patients with acute transplant kidney rejection and two patients without signs of kidney rejection (60x magnification).

A more detailed view of the rejected kidney tissue demonstrated the presence of both CD4⁺ cells and IL-17 producing cells close to the tubular epithelial cells (Figure 33A). Comparing IL-17⁺ CD4⁺ vs IL-17⁻ CD4⁺ cells in a minimum of four fields per sample, 174 about one quarter of the CD4⁺ T cells were found to be IL-17⁺. H&E staining of kidney transplant tissues followed by staining with anti-CD68 antibody demonstrated co-localization of T cells with CD68⁺ cells (monocyte/macrophages) in the rejecting samples (Figure 33B).



Figure 33. Acutely rejecting transplant kidney grafts are infiltrated with macrophages and Th17 cells. (A) Confocal fluorescence microscopy following immunohistochemical staining for CD4 and IL-17 on kidney transplant biopsy samples with acute cellular rejection. This is a representative slide from 3 patient samples analyzed. 20-25% of infiltrating T cells were Th17 cells. This was calculated by comparing IL-17⁺ CD4⁺ vs. IL-17⁻ CD4⁺ cells in a minimum of four fields per sample. Left panel, 60x magnification; right panels, 100x magnification. (B) Staining of 2 rejecting kidney biopsy samples with H&E and anti-CD68 followed by DAB visualization demonstrates the co-localization of T cells with CD68⁺ cells (representative of monocytes/macrophages). 100x magnification; *, denotes macrophages.

The above results suggest that production of C3a as well as DAMPs from the injured tubules in the rejecting kidney stimulate the infiltrated monocytes/macrophages, resulting in their production of the inflammatory cytokines that facilitate the differentiation of CD4⁺ T cells to IL-17 producing cells, potentially leading to more tissue damage. However, I would like to stress that the stainings indeed support this model but do not deliver unequivocal evidence. For this, likely an *in vivo* transplantation study using mice deficient in monocytes should be performed.

8.3.6 ATP regulates the C3a-mediated increase in monocyte IL-1β production

My data so far suggest that complement C3 activation contributes to monocyte-driven Th17 induction and that acutely rejected kidney tissues contain the 'triangle of factors' required for local detrimental Th17 generation in IR: C3a, monocyte-like/derived cells as well as Th17 T cells all in close proximity.

To further understand which intracellular signals following C3aR activation may contribute to IL-1 β secretion, several potential pathways were considered. As ATPrelease from platelets following C3a stimulation had previously been reported (Collard et al., 2000a) and ATP had been shown to be a stimulus for IL-1 β secretion from monocytes (Perregaux et al., 2000), a functional relationship between C3a, ATP and IL-1 β production in monocytes was assessed.

To examine the role of ATP in the C3a-mediated increase in IL-1 β production in monocytes, 300 μ M oxidized ATP (oxATP) was used in monocyte cultures 15 minutes prior to addition of C3a with or without LPS. oxATP, which is widely used as a selective inhibitor of P2X7 receptor signaling, induces irreversible blockade of the extracellular ATP effect on cells (Murgia et al., 1993).



Figure 34. C3a-mediated increase in monocytic IL-1 β production is modulated by ATP. Monocyte treatment with oxidized ATP abrogates LPS/C3a-mediated IL-1 β production. Freshly purified monocytes were either left untreated or treated for 15 minutes with 300 μ M oxidized ATP (oxATP) before overnight activation with LPS (100 ng/ml) and C3aR agonist (25 μ M) and subsequent assessment of IL-1 β secretion. Data represent mean \pm SD (n=3). *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.005; ***, p < 0.001

The significant reduction of IL-1 β production by monocytes stimulated with LPS and C3a after blocking of the ATP effect indicated that ATP is an important mediator of C3a-induced increase in IL-1 β (Figure 34).

8.3.7 Pannexin-1 mediates the release of ATP from monocytes

Considering that Panx1 is one of the cellular channels able to mediate the release of ATP to the extracellular environment (Locovei et al., 2006a), it was plausible that it has a role in ATP release from monocytes as well. To test this hypothesis, the expression of Panx1 on resting and on LPS- or LPS+C3aR-activated monocytes was initially assessed.

Monocytes were activated overnight with C3aR agonist with and without LPS. Anti-Panx1 antibody was conjugated with phycoerythrin dye using a kit from Invitrogen as described in section 8.2.5. After incubation of monocytes with Fc block, they were then incubated with the conjugated anti-Panx1 antibody and assessed by flow cytometry.



Figure 35. C3aR activation increases cell surface expression of pannexin-1 channel. Monocytes were activated as indicated and pannexin-1 channel expression on the cell surface was measured by FACS analysis 4 hours post activation. Shown is one representative of three similarly performed experiments.

As demonstrated in Figure 35, resting monocytes express Panx1 albeit in relatively low amounts. In line with the previous data sets, addition of C3aR agonist alone did not induce changes to Panx1 expression, while LPS stimulation resulted in moderate increase in Panx1 expression on monocytes. Co-stimulation with C3aR agonist and LPS increased this expression to more than double the amount as compared to non-stimulated cells.

To further assess if Panx1 and C3aR-mediated Panx1 up-regulation is responsible for release of ATP to the extracellular space in monocytes, 200 μ M carbenoxolone, an agent frequently used for blocking gap junctions and with a known Panx1 inhibitory activity (Bruzzone et al., 2005), was used in overnight LPS and C3a stimulated
monocyte cultures as a Panx1 blocking agent (carbenoxolone was added 15 minutes prior to stimulating the cells with C3a and LPS).



Figure 36. Inhibition of Panx1 channel by carbenoxolone impairs LPS/C3a-mediated IL-1 β secretion. Freshly purified monocytes were either left untreated or treated with 200 μ M carbenoxolone (CBX) 15 minutes before overnight activation with LPS (100 ng/ml) with or without C3aR agonist (25 μ M). Supernatants were subsequently assessed for IL-1 β with ELISA. Data represent mean \pm SD (n=3). **, p < 0.005; ***, p < 0.001

The marked inhibition of IL-1 β production following blockage of Panx1 channel with carbenoxolone (Figure 36) in addition to the similar effect with inhibition of ATP indicates that Panx1 is responsible for release of ATP in LPS and LPS/C3a-stimulated monocytes which leads to IL-1 β production.

Controlled ATP release by living cells via Pannexin channels is a means for immunomodulation (Schenk et al., 2008, Woehrle et al., 2010). However, ATP can also be released into the environment by uncontrolled mechanisms, such as by dying or injured cells through their compromised membranes (Rock and Kono, 2008). To

exclude that ATP release from monocytes following LPS and C3a stimulation is due to increased death in these cells, monocyte cultures were assessed via FACS after one day in culture with propidium iodide staining, a compound that only stains necrotic cells. As Figure 37 shows, there was no significant difference between the viable cells in each group of monocytes, demonstrating that the anaphylatoxins do not induce necrosis or increased cell death in the conditions assessed here.



Figure 37. LPS and/or anaphylatoxin treatment of monocytes does not affect cell viability. Freshly purified monocytes were activated as depicted (LPS, 100 ng/ml; C3aR agonist, 25 μ M; recombinant human C5a, 50 nM) and cell viability measured by propidium iodide staining after overnight stimulation. Data shown represent the mean \pm SD (n=3).

Thus, the lack of observed changes in viability in monocytes following their stimulation with LPS and anaphylatoxins makes it unlikely that the ATP release from these cells is a consequence of their death.

8.3.8 Release of ATP is increased in cells stimulated with C3a and LPS

To confirm that increased Panx1 expression indeed leads to higher amounts of extracellular ATP following C3a stimulation, the ATP levels were measured in monocyte cell culture supernatants after overnight stimulation with 25 μ M C3a agonist, 100 ng/ml LPS, or both using luciferase assay described in section 8.2.7. As expected, LPS-activated and LPS+C3aR agonist-activated cultures contained increased extracellular levels of ATP. Interestingly, ATP levels were also increased in monocyte cultures that had been activated with the C3aR agonist alone. This indicates that C3aR engagement indeed modulates ATP availability but a second TLR-mediated signal is required for the increase in IL-1 β production (Figure 38).



Figure 38. ATP levels are increased following C3a and LPS stimulation. Freshly isolated monocytes were stimulated overnight with C3a agonist (25 μ M), LPS (100 ng/ml) and their combination. ATP was measured in the cell supernatant. This is the result of one representative experiment from 3 separate experiments on different donors (statistics was not performed due to high donor variation).

The data shown so far demonstrate that C3a but not C5a can increase LPS-mediated IL- 1β production *in vitro* in human blood-derived monocytes. Mechanistically, C3aR-mediated signals increase the expression or conformation of Panx1 on the cell surface. This leads to the efflux of ATP into the extracellular space and increases signaling potentially via the P2X7 receptor, which translate into amplified inflammasome activation and IL-1 β secretion.

8.3.9 C3a-mediated increase in monocytic IL-1 β production is caspase-1 dependent

Although some studies have shown the existence of a caspase-1-indepenent pathway of IL-1 β production (Mayer-Barber et al., 2010, Provoost et al., 2011), as discussed earlier, production of active IL-1 β has been shown to be mostly dependent on caspase-1 activation. I was interested to find out if anaphylatoxin induced IL-1 β production is dependent on inflammasome and caspase-1 activation.

To investigate if increased IL-1 β production induced by C3aR signaling is also mediated by a caspase-1-dependent action, two types of experiments were performed: one to measure the caspase-1 activity in monocytes that were exposed to C3aR activation alone or in conjunction with LPS, and the other, to assess the IL-1 β production capacity following caspase-1 blockade in cells treated with and without C3aR agonist.

The first experiment was performed using monocytes stimulated with C3aR agonist, LPS or both. Caspase-1 activity was measured at 2 hours, 4 hours and after overnight stimulation. As shown in Figure 39, while C3aR engagement alone led to only a marginal increase in caspase-1 activation, there was a significant increase in caspase-1 activity after 4 hours of LPS and LPS+C3aR agonist stimulation (the increase in

caspase-1 activity was most prominent at 4 hours. At 2 hours there was an increase in caspase-1 activity but not as significant as the 4 hour reading and the increase was not detectable in the overnight stimulated samples suggesting that the activity occurs early after LPS+/-C3aR agonist stimulation. Addition of both LPS and C3a further increased the activity of caspase-1 in monocytes. These data were the first indication that C3aR-mediated signals channel indeed into the caspase-1 activation pathway (Figure 39).



Activated caspase-1

Figure 39. C3aR stimulation increases LPS-mediated caspase-1 activation. Monocytes were activated as indicated for 4 hours and active caspase-1 measured by intracellular FACS analysis using the Green FLICA caspase-1 assay kit. Shown is one representative of three similarly performed experiments.

In a complementary set of experiments, the effect of a specific caspase-1 inhibitor on LPS and C3a-induced IL-1 β production was assessed. The caspase-1 inhibitor was added to cultured monocytes 15 minutes prior to their stimulation with C3a and/or LPS. Cells were incubated at 37°C incubator overnight and IL-1 β production was measured in supernatants collected the next day. Although caspase-1 inhibition showed a trend in reducing the LPS-mediated production of IL-1 β from monocytes, the data did not reach significance. The non-significant effect of caspase-1 inhibition in LPS-stimulated monocytes is likely due to the large variability between the donors creating the wide standard deviation (as I have observed good inhibition in some donors). In contrast, caspase-1 inhibition had a consistently significant inhibitory effect on C3a mediated IL-183

 1β production (Figure 40). In summary, the data from the last two figures support the notion that TLR4 and C3aR activation-mediated signals on monocytes synergize and result in an increase in caspase-1 activation leading to amplified production of IL-1 β .



Figure 40. Inhibition of caspase-1 reduces C3a-mediated increase in monocytic IL-1 β production. Inhibition of caspase-1 activity signific antly decreases LPS/C3a-mediated IL-1 β production. Freshly purified monocytes were left untreated or treated with a caspase-1 inhibitor (20 μ M) 15 min prior to addition of LPS (100 ng/ml) and/or C3aR agonist (25 μ M). IL-1 β was measured by ELISA after overnight incubation. Data shown represent mean \pm SD (n=3). *, p < 0.05; ***, p < 0.005; ***, p < 0.001; ns, statistically not significant.

8.4 Discussion

The interplay between innate and adaptive immunity has been the subject of heightened discussion in various disease models. The past few years has seen a significant increase in research focusing on this connection, with the hope of finding ways to modulate the immune response. Studies on complement have been a major element in this path, as the role of complement components have been extended from participating in inflammatory pathways to having a significant influence on the adaptive immune response.

Monocytes and macrophages - well known elements of the innate immune system - are known to affect the development of adaptive immunity. A growing number of experiments have demonstrated that the cells on the front line of the immune system often require more than one signal to escalate the immune response which prevents unnecessary activation and tissue destruction. The aim of this component of my work was to test the hypothesis that anaphylatoxins act as a stimulus for monocytic IL-1 β production in addition to known stimuli such as LPS and ATP. Monocytes had previously been shown to produce IL-1 β with LPS stimulation and without requirement for a second stimulatory signal. Macrophages however were described to need a second stimulus in addition to LPS to produce IL-1 β (Netea et al., 2009). This study not only confirms the fact that monocytes produce IL-1ß with LPS stimulation, but also shows that this effect can be significantly increased with the addition of anaphylatoxin C3a. This is a highly relevant finding, as IL-1 β is known to have involvement in a wide range of immune reactions, and my results show that C3a could regulate its production. Local production of anaphylatoxins has an important role in triggering a diverse inflammatory response depending on the anaphylatoxin produced and the type of immune cell present at the location. Considering their effect on a wide range of immune cells, anaphylatoxins are responsible for a broad range of immune responses such as induction of co-stimulatory molecule expression on APCs thereby affecting T cell response, regulation of Th17 induction in allergic asthma and stimulating $\gamma\delta$ -T cells to produce pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-17 (Lajoie et al., 2010, Strainic et al., 2008, Han et al., 2011, Peng et al., 2009).

185

One of the key roles of IL-1 β which was explored in this project was the effect on adaptive immunity, specifically Th17 induction. In view of the inflammatory role of Th17 cells in various medical conditions such as transplant rejection where complement is also known to play a role, finding a relationship between the two which can potentially tie their effects together, could have important therapeutic implications; for example modulation of complement activation could lead to reduced Th17 cell induction and tissue damage.

A recent study by Cheng and colleagues has shown that infection with *Candida albicans* is able to induce IL-1 β and IL-6 production from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) in a C5a-dependent manner (Cheng et al., 2012) (of note, the authors did not identify the exact cellular source of these cytokines in their studies). Although in my experiment, there was no effect of C5a on the IL-1 β production capacity of monocytes, I did see an increase in IL-6 production by these cells following stimulation by C5a. It is possible that PBMCs other than monocytes respond to C5a by producing IL-1 β . This would be an interesting area for further study where different PBMCs are investigated separately for their cytokine production response to anaphylatoxins.

Studies in various animal models have also shown a relationship between activation of anaphylatoxin receptors and IL-1 β production. In 2 separate studies, Bao and colleagues have shown in a mouse model of lupus nephritis that inhibition of C3a and C5a lead to reduced expression of IL-1 β in the kidney tissue as well as reduced kidney damage (Bao et al., 2005a, Bao et al., 2005b). Relationship between C3a and IL-17 production has also been shown in other disease models such as IgE-mediated asthma where inhibition of C3aR led to reduced production of IL-17 and neutrophil infiltration in the lungs (Mizutani et al., 2012).

Although experiments in the mouse deficient in C3aR or C5aR receptor would have been ideal to investigate the exact role of these receptors in IL-1 β production and induction of Th17 cells in IRI or transplant rejection, the difficulty in isolating mouse monocytes as well as the fact that Th17 cell induction in human and mice are not similar (making the results from mouse experiments not directly translatable to human condition), encouraged me to use human cells and tissue in my study.

Classification of monocytes into different subtypes has added a level of complexity to the investigations of their role in immune response. There are inconsistent reports on the cytokine production ability of different monocyte subtypes in response to inflammation. A recent study has shown that non-classical monocytes which have high CD16 and relatively less CD14 expression (CD14⁺CD16⁺⁺) are the main source of cytokine production (such as IL-1 β and TNF- α) upon stimulation with LPS (Wong et al., 2011). However in another experiment, these monocytes were shown to produce low level of cytokines in response to LPS but produce higher amounts of IL-1 β and TNF- α following activation of TLR7 and TLR8 by viruses and nucleic acids (Cros et al., 2010). In this study, I did not sort the monocytes into their various subtypes. Given the data observed and the fact that I had sorted the monocytes with their CD14 expression, one would expect that the classic monocytes (CD14⁺⁺CD16⁺⁺) are the principal responders to C3aR engagement. This needs to be formally addressed and would make an interesting subject for future studies.

I have identified in this study the role of C3aR engagement in inducing IL-1 β production from monocytes and the consequent induction of Th17 cells by the cytokine milieu resulting from TLR4 and C3aR activation of these cells. This could explain the pathophysiology of certain autoimmune and inflammatory diseases such as asthma and rheumatoid arthritis in which anaphylatoxins, monocytes and Th17 cells have been 187

shown to play a role. Demonstration of the inflammatory component C3a in the kidney tubules as well as IL-17 and CD4⁺ T cells in the peritubular area of rejecting kidney transplants suggests that local production of C3a in the injured organ could act as a stimulus for production of IL-1 β from infiltrating monocytes which then help differentiate the CD4⁺ T cells to IL-17 producing cells. This is in addition to the presence of damage-associated ligands for TLR4, such as high-mobility group box 1 protein, which has been reported to be present in the donor organ (Kruger et al., 2009). Understanding the interaction between the anaphylatoxin, monocyte and Th17 cells in this context can help us identify better targeted therapies for transplant rejection. Increased expression of pannexin-1 channel following C3a and LPS stimulation as well as increase in extracellular ATP in this condition indicates that activation of C3aR in conjunction with LPS leads to opening of the channel and release of ATP, which in turn activates the purine channel P2X7 and activates caspase-1, the key enzyme responsible for cleavage of pro- IL-1 β . I would like to stress that although the *in vivo* significance of my findings clearly need to be better addressed, this is the first description of a connection between anaphylatoxin generation and channel regulation. One could imagine that such novel crosstalk may extend also to other channel systems, such as ion channels for example – a potential interesting area for future investigations.

Understanding the mechanism of this inflammatory pathway is critical for designing treatments which can modulate the pathway at different levels depending on the desired target and outcome. It should be noted that the diverse role of anaphylatoxins and IL-17 makes their use as therapeutic targets quite challenging. Although anaphylatoxins and IL-17 have been recognized as pro-inflammatory factors and many studies have shown beneficial effects of their inhibition in a number of inflammatory diseases, evidence is emerging that in certain circumstances these pro-inflammatory factors might have anti-

inflammatory effects and even contribute to tissue healing and repair. A recent study has shown that C5a can induce production of IL-10 and inhibit production of IL-17 in a mouse model of endotoxic shock resulting in limitation of inflammation (Bosmann et al., 2012). In the nervous system, despite C5a being suggested as a contributor to neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease (Farkas et al., 2003), several studies have indicated its neuroprotective capacity, such as preventing glutamate-mediated apoptosis in the neural tissue (Mukherjee et al., 2008, Osaka et al., 1999). In mixed cultures of neurons and astrocytes, C3a has been shown to protect neurons from NMDA (*N*-methyl-D-aspartate) induced cytotoxicity in a dose dependent manner (van Beek et al., 2001). C3a and C5a have also been shown to be required for liver tissue regeneration following toxic injury (Markiewski et al., 2004) and partial hepatectomy via IL-6 signaling (Strey et al., 2003, Markiewski et al., 2009).

Similarly, despite well known pro-inflammatory capacity of IL-17 in diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory colitis, some recent studies have now indicated a possible anti-inflammatory role for this cytokine. In a rat model of auto-immune uveitis injection of recombinant IL-17, reduced the disease activity (Ke et al., 2009) although the same disease model in mice was shown to be dependent on the presence of IL-17⁺ T cells (Peng et al., 2007). In parasitic infections such as infection with *Trypanosoma cruzi* (*T. Cruzi*), IL-17-/- mice were shown to have longer parasitaemia and worse outcome compared with WT control suggesting that IL-17 is required for elimination of parasites (Miyazaki et al., 2010) while, activation of IL-17 receptor in the same disease model was shown to attract to the site of infection neutrophils that were not only responsible for elimination of the parasite but also produced IL-10, which controls the inflammatory response and prevents tissue damage (Tosello Boari et al., 2012). Furthermore, in patients who develop cardiac inflammation following *T. cruzi* infection,

higher levels of IL-17 was shown to correlate with better cardiac function, implying its protective role from myocardial injury (Magalhaes et al., 2013).

Several clinical trials are now studying the effect of anti-IL-17 treatment in autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis and inflammatory bowel disease with some positive results although longer follow up duration is required to check for long term safety of this treatment (Miossec and Kolls, 2012). Inhibition of IL-1 by using recombinant IL-1Ra known as Anakinra has been investigated in clinical trials for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis and has demonstrated beneficial effect in some group of patients (Furst, 2004). Of relevance to my work, IL-1 β targeted therapy has been recently patented for use in organ transplantation to improve harvested organ viability and allograft tolerance (Wanderer, 2013).

Further investigations into the role of anaphylatoxins and IL-17 in tissue damage and regeneration following IRI are required before therapeutic targets are set.

Figure 41 summarizes the theory behind this part of my thesis.



Figure 41. Proposed mechanism of C3a-dependent IL-1 β production in monocytes. Co-stimulation of C3aR and TLR4 receptor in monocytes leads to activation of the pannexin-1 channel and release of ATP out of the cell which then activates (potentially) P2X7 receptor resulting in activation of inflammasome and caspase-1. Caspase-1 cleaves pro- IL-1 β to its active form. Release of IL-1 β in addition to IL-6 and IL-23 which are secreted in response to TLR4 stimulation, provide a milieu for the CD4⁺ T cells to differentiate to Th17 cells.

8.5 Conclusion

I started the path of my thesis looking for the role of complement in kidney IRI. Seeing many patients with kidney failure who suffer on dialysis or encounter deterioration in their kidney transplant function, my aim was to look for a way that the life of the transplanted organ could be extended. It was encouraging to find that MASP-2 could have a potential role in kidney IRI. Although in my experiment, use of antibody did not show a protective effect, the experiment was small and subject to variations that might be possible to remedy in further work.

My findings of the effect of C3a on monocytes and the potential to influence T cell differentiation through a defined mechanism could influence our approach to investigation and treatment of kidney transplant rejection. As described before, differences in the expression of complement components could be an indicator for a patient's risk of developing organ rejection (Naesens et al., 2009). Identifying these patients and tailoring their anti-inflammatory or immunosuppressive treatment could improve their transplant outcome.

Defining therapeutic targets has often lagged years behind any scientific findings, due to ethical considerations. However, based on the results of this project, use of therapies which are already in use in humans such as IL-1 β inhibitor could be an option in preventing transplant tissue damage.

9 Future work

There are a number of interesting topics that can be followed up from this project:

- To identify the triggering factor for LP activation following IRI
- To identify through which route the LP activates C3 independent of C4
- To asses if MASP-2 inhibitor peptide prevents kidney IRI
- To investigate which monocyte subgroup responds most to anaphylatoxins and if this has an effect on the induction of T cells
- To study the effect of complement in tissue regeneration/repair following IRI
- To assess the effect of IL-1 β inhibition in transplant rejection

10 References

- ABBAS, A. K., MURPHY, K. M. & SHER, A. 1996. Functional diversity of helper T lymphocytes. *Nature*, 383, 787-93.
- ACOSTA-RODRIGUEZ, E. V., NAPOLITANI, G., LANZAVECCHIA, A. & SALLUSTO, F. 2007. Interleukins 1beta and 6 but not transforming growth factor-beta are essential for the differentiation of interleukin 17-producing human T helper cells. *Nat Immunol*, 8, 942-9.
- ADACHI, O., KAWAI, T., TAKEDA, K., MATSUMOTO, M., TSUTSUI, H., SAKAGAMI, M., NAKANISHI, K. & AKIRA, S. 1998. Targeted disruption of the MyD88 gene results in loss of IL-1- and IL-18-mediated function. *Immunity*, 9, 143-50.
- ADALID-PERALTA, L., FRAGOSO, G., FLEURY, A. & SCIUTTO, E. 2011. Mechanisms underlying the induction of regulatory T cells and its relevance in the adaptive immune response in parasitic infections. *Int J Biol Sci*, **7**, 1412-26.
- AGANNA, E., MARTINON, F., HAWKINS, P. N., ROSS, J. B., SWAN, D. C., BOOTH, D. R., LACHMANN, H. J., BYBEE, A., GAUDET, R., WOO, P., FEIGHERY, C., COTTER, F. E., THOME, M., HITMAN, G. A., TSCHOPP, J. & MCDERMOTT, M. F. 2002. Association of mutations in the NALP3/CIAS1/PYPAF1 gene with a broad phenotype including recurrent fever, cold sensitivity, sensorineural deafness, and AA amyloidosis. *Arthritis Rheum*, 46, 2445-52.
- AGGARWAL, S., GHILARDI, N., XIE, M. H., DE SAUVAGE, F. J. & GURNEY, A. L. 2003. Interleukin-23 promotes a distinct CD4 T cell activation state characterized by the production of interleukin-17. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 1910-4.
- AHEARN, J. M. & FEARON, D. T. 1989. Structure and function of the complement receptors, CR1 (CD35) and CR2 (CD21). *Adv Immunol*, 46, 183-219.
- AKIRA, S. & TAKEDA, K. 2004. Toll-like receptor signalling. Nat Rev Immunol, 4, 499-511.
- ALBERTI, S., MARQUES, G., HERNANDEZ-ALLES, S., RUBIRES, X., TOMAS, J. M., VIVANCO, F. & BENEDI, V. J. 1996. Interaction between complement subcomponent C1q and the Klebsiella pneumoniae porin OmpK36. *Infect Immun*, 64, 4719-25.
- ALI, Y. M., LYNCH, N. J., HALEEM, K. S., FUJITA, T., ENDO, Y., HANSEN, S., HOLMSKOV, U., TAKAHASHI, K., STAHL, G. L., DUDLER, T., GIRIJA, U. V., WALLIS, R., KADIOGLU, A., STOVER, C. M., ANDREW, P. W. & SCHWAEBLE, W. J. 2012. The lectin pathway of complement activation is a critical component of the innate immune response to pneumococcal infection. *PLoS Pathog*, 8, e1002793.
- AMARA, U., RITTIRSCH, D., FLIERL, M., BRUCKNER, U., KLOS, A., GEBHARD, F., LAMBRIS, J. D. & HUBER-LANG, M. 2008. Interaction between the coagulation and complement system. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 632, 71-9.
- AMES, R. S., LI, Y., SARAU, H. M., NUTHULAGANTI, P., FOLEY, J. J., ELLIS, C., ZENG, Z., SU, K., JUREWICZ, A. J., HERTZBERG, R. P., BERGSMA, D. J. & KUMAR, C. 1996. Molecular cloning and characterization of the human anaphylatoxin C3a receptor. *J Biol Chem*, 271, 20231-4.
- AMSTERDAM, E. A., STAHL, G. L., PAN, H. L., RENDIG, S. V., FLETCHER, M. P. & LONGHURST, J. C. 1995. Limitation of reperfusion injury by a monoclonal

antibody to C5a during myocardial infarction in pigs. *Am J Physiol*, 268, H448-57.

- ANCUTA, P., RAO, R., MOSES, A., MEHLE, A., SHAW, S. K., LUSCINSKAS, F. W. & GABUZDA, D. 2003. Fractalkine preferentially mediates arrest and migration of CD16+ monocytes. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 197, 1701-7.
- ANDO, D. G., CLAYTON, J., KONO, D., URBAN, J. L. & SERCARZ, E. E. 1989. Encephalitogenic T cells in the B10.PL model of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis (EAE) are of the Th-1 lymphokine subtype. *Cell Immunol*, 124, 132-43.
- AREND, W. P., JOSLIN, F. G. & MASSONI, R. J. 1985. Effects of immune complexes on production by human monocytes of interleukin 1 or an interleukin 1 inhibitor. *J Immunol*, 134, 3868-75.
- AREND, W. P., MALYAK, M., GUTHRIDGE, C. J. & GABAY, C. 1998. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist: role in biology. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 16, 27-55.
- AREND, W. P., MASSONI, R. J., NIEMANN, M. A. & GICLAS, P. C. 1989. Absence of induction of IL-1 production in human monocytes by complement fragments. *Journal of immunology*, 142, 173-8.
- ARLAUD, G. J., GABORIAUD, C., THIELENS, N. M., ROSSI, V., BERSCH, B., HERNANDEZ, J. F. & FONTECILLA-CAMPS, J. C. 2001. Structural biology of C1: dissection of a complex molecular machinery. *Immunol Rev*, 180, 136-45.
- ARNOLD, J. N., WORMALD, M. R., SUTER, D. M., RADCLIFFE, C. M., HARVEY, D. J., DWEK, R. A., RUDD, P. M. & SIM, R. B. 2005. Human serum IgM glycosylation: identification of glycoforms that can bind to mannan-binding lectin. J Biol Chem, 280, 29080-7.
- ARUMUGAM, T. V., SHIELS, I. A., STRACHAN, A. J., ABBENANTE, G., FAIRLIE, D. P. & TAYLOR, S. M. 2003. A small molecule C5a receptor antagonist protects kidneys from ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats. *Kidney Int*, 63, 134-42.
- ARUMUGAM, T. V., SHIELS, I. A., WOODRUFF, T. M., REID, R. C., FAIRLIE, D. P. & TAYLOR, S. M. 2002. Protective effect of a new C5a receptor antagonist against ischemia-reperfusion injury in the rat small intestine. *J Surg Res*, 103, 260-7.
- ASTIER, A., TRESCOL-BIEMONT, M. C., AZOCAR, O., LAMOUILLE, B. & RABOURDIN-COMBE, C. 2000. Cutting edge: CD46, a new costimulatory molecule for T cells, that induces p120CBL and LAT phosphorylation. *J Immunol*, 164, 6091-5.
- ASTIER, A. L., MEIFFREN, G., FREEMAN, S. & HAFLER, D. A. 2006. Alterations in CD46-mediated Tr1 regulatory T cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 116, 3252-3257.
- ATARASHI, K., NISHIMURA, J., SHIMA, T., UMESAKI, Y., YAMAMOTO, M., ONOUE, M., YAGITA, H., ISHII, N., EVANS, R., HONDA, K. & TAKEDA, K. 2008. ATP drives lamina propria T(H)17 cell differentiation. *Nature*, 455, 808-12.
- BAO, L., OSAWE, I., HAAS, M. & QUIGG, R. J. 2005a. Signaling through upregulated C3a receptor is key to the development of experimental lupus nephritis. *J Immunol*, 175, 1947-55.

- BAO, L., OSAWE, I., PURI, T., LAMBRIS, J. D., HAAS, M. & QUIGG, R. J. 2005b. C5a promotes development of experimental lupus nephritis which can be blocked with a specific receptor antagonist. *Eur J Immunol*, 35, 2496-506.
- BARANOVA, A., IVANOV, D., PETRASH, N., PESTOVA, A., SKOBLOV, M., KELMANSON, I., SHAGIN, D., NAZARENKO, S., GERAYMOVYCH, E., LITVIN, O., TIUNOVA, A., BORN, T. L., USMAN, N., STAROVEROV, D., LUKYANOV, S. & PANCHIN, Y. 2004. The mammalian pannexin family is homologous to the invertebrate innexin gap junction proteins. *Genomics*, 83, 706-16.
- BARBE, M. T., MONYER, H. & BRUZZONE, R. 2006. Cell-cell communication beyond connexins: the pannexin channels. *Physiology (Bethesda)*, 21, 103-14.
- BARGIOTAS, P., KRENZ, A., HORMUZDI, S. G., RIDDER, D. A., HERB, A., BARAKAT, W., PENUELA, S., VON ENGELHARDT, J., MONYER, H. & SCHWANINGER, M. 2011. Pannexins in ischemia-induced neurodegeneration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108, 20772-7.
- BARKER, R. N., ERWIG, L. P., HILL, K. S., DEVINE, A., PEARCE, W. P. & REES, A. J. 2002. Antigen presentation by macrophages is enhanced by the uptake of necrotic, but not apoptotic, cells. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 127, 220-5.
- BASU, R., O'QUINN, D. B., SILBERGER, D. J., SCHOEB, T. R., FOUSER, L., OUYANG, W., HATTON, R. D. & WEAVER, C. T. 2012. Th22 cells are an important source of IL-22 for host protection against enteropathogenic bacteria. *Immunity*, 37, 1061-75.
- BELGE, K. U., DAYYANI, F., HORELT, A., SIEDLAR, M., FRANKENBERGER, M., FRANKENBERGER, B., ESPEVIK, T. & ZIEGLER-HEITBROCK, L. 2002. The proinflammatory CD14+CD16+DR++ monocytes are a major source of TNF. *Journal of immunology*, 168, 3536-42.
- BENZAQUEN, L. R., NICHOLSON-WELLER, A. & HALPERIN, J. A. 1994. Terminal complement proteins C5b-9 release basic fibroblast growth factor and platelet-derived growth factor from endothelial cells. *J Exp Med*, 179, 985-92.
- BERA, M. M., LU, B., MARTIN, T. R., CUI, S., RHEIN, L. M., GERARD, C. & GERARD, N. P. 2011. Th17 cytokines are critical for respiratory syncytial virus-associated airway hyperreponsiveness through regulation by complement C3a and tachykinins. *J Immunol*, 187, 4245-55.
- BERGER, S. P., ROOS, A., MALLAT, M. J., FUJITA, T., DE FIJTER, J. W. & DAHA, M. R. 2005. Association between mannose-binding lectin levels and graft survival in kidney transplantation. *Am J Transplant*, 5, 1361-6.
- BERGER, S. P., ROOS, A., MALLAT, M. J., SCHAAPHERDER, A. F., DOXIADIS, II, VAN KOOTEN, C., DEKKER, F. W., DAHA, M. R. & DE FIJTER, J. W. 2007. Low pretransplantation mannose-binding lectin levels predict superior patient and graft survival after simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation. J Am Soc Nephrol, 18, 2416-22.
- BETTELLI, E., CARRIER, Y., GAO, W., KORN, T., STROM, T. B., OUKKA, M., WEINER, H. L. & KUCHROO, V. K. 2006. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature*, 441, 235-8.
- BEUTLER, B. 2000. Tlr4: central component of the sole mammalian LPS sensor. *Curr Opin Immunol*, 12, 20-6.

- BIANCO, C., PATRICK, R. & NUSSENZWEIG, V. 1970. A population of lymphocytes bearing a membrane receptor for antigen-antibody-complement complexes. I. Separation and characterization. J Exp Med, 132, 702-20.
- BILLAUD, M., LOHMAN, A. W., STRAUB, A. C., LOOFT-WILSON, R., JOHNSTONE, S. R., ARAJ, C. A., BEST, A. K., CHEKENI, F. B., RAVICHANDRAN, K. S., PENUELA, S., LAIRD, D. W. & ISAKSON, B. E. 2011. Pannexin1 regulates alpha1-adrenergic receptor- mediated vasoconstriction. *Circ Res*, 109, 80-5.
- BJORNSON, A. B. & BJORNSON, H. S. 1977. Activation of complement by opportunist pathogens and chemotypes of Salmonella minnesota. *Infect Immun*, 16, 748-53.
- BLASIUS, A. L. & BEUTLER, B. 2010. Intracellular toll-like receptors. *Immunity*, 32, 305-15.
- BLOM, A. M., VILLOUTREIX, B. O. & DAHLBACK, B. 2003. Mutations in alphachain of C4BP that selectively affect its factor I cofactor function. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 43437-42.
- BOATRIGHT, K. M., RENATUS, M., SCOTT, F. L., SPERANDIO, S., SHIN, H., PEDERSEN, I. M., RICCI, J. E., EDRIS, W. A., SUTHERLIN, D. P., GREEN, D. R. & SALVESEN, G. S. 2003. A unified model for apical caspase activation. *Mol Cell*, 11, 529-41.
- BOATRIGHT, K. M. & SALVESEN, G. S. 2003. Mechanisms of caspase activation. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, 15, 725-31.
- BOKISCH, V. A. & MULLER-EBERHARD, H. J. 1970. Anaphylatoxin inactivator of human plasma: its isolation and characterization as a carboxypeptidase. *J Clin Invest*, 49, 2427-36.
- BOLTON, E. M., GRACIE, J. A., BRIGGS, J. D., KAMPINGA, J. & BRADLEY, J. A. 1989. Cellular requirements for renal allograft rejection in the athymic nude rat. *J Exp Med*, 169, 1931-46.
- BONECCHI, R., BIANCHI, G., BORDIGNON, P. P., D'AMBROSIO, D., LANG, R., BORSATTI, A., SOZZANI, S., ALLAVENA, P., GRAY, P. A., MANTOVANI, A. & SINIGAGLIA, F. 1998. Differential expression of chemokine receptors and chemotactic responsiveness of type 1 T helper cells (Th1s) and Th2s. J Exp Med, 187, 129-34.
- BONGRAZIO, M., PRIES, A. R. & ZAKRZEWICZ, A. 2003. The endothelium as physiological source of properdin: role of wall shear stress. *Mol Immunol*, 39, 669-75.
- BONIFACE, K., BERNARD, F. X., GARCIA, M., GURNEY, A. L., LECRON, J. C. & MOREL, F. 2005. IL-22 inhibits epidermal differentiation and induces proinflammatory gene expression and migration of human keratinocytes. J Immunol, 174, 3695-702.
- BORNSTEIN, J. C. 2008. Purinergic mechanisms in the control of gastrointestinal motility. *Purinergic Signal*, 4, 197-212.
- BOSMANN, M., SARMA, J. V., ATEFI, G., ZETOUNE, F. S. & WARD, P. A. 2012. Evidence for anti-inflammatory effects of C5a on the innate IL-17A/IL-23 axis. *FASEB J*, 26, 1640-51.
- BOTTO, M., DELL'AGNOLA, C., BYGRAVE, A. E., THOMPSON, E. M., COOK, H. T., PETRY, F., LOOS, M., PANDOLFI, P. P. & WALPORT, M. J. 1998. Homozygous C1q deficiency causes glomerulonephritis associated with multiple apoptotic bodies. *Nat Genet*, 19, 56-9.

- BRAUN, M. C., REINS, R. Y., LI, T. B., HOLLMANN, T. J., DUTTA, R., RICK, W. A., TENG, B. B. & KE, B. 2004. Renal expression of the C3a receptor and functional responses of primary human proximal tubular epithelial cells. J Immunol, 173, 4190-6.
- BREITFELD, D., OHL, L., KREMMER, E., ELLWART, J., SALLUSTO, F., LIPP, M. & FORSTER, R. 2000. Follicular B helper T cells express CXC chemokine receptor 5, localize to B cell follicles, and support immunoglobulin production. J Exp Med, 192, 1545-52.
- BRIGHT, J. J., DU, C., COON, M., SRIRAM, S. & KLAUS, S. J. 1998. Prevention of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis via inhibition of IL-12 signaling and IL-12-mediated Th1 differentiation: an effect of the novel anti-inflammatory drug lisofylline. *J Immunol*, 161, 7015-22.
- BROUGH, D., PELEGRIN, P. & ROTHWELL, N. J. 2009. Pannexin-1-dependent caspase-1 activation and secretion of IL-1beta is regulated by zinc. *Eur J Immunol*, 39, 352-8.
- BRUZZONE, R., BARBE, M. T., JAKOB, N. J. & MONYER, H. 2005. Pharmacological properties of homomeric and heteromeric pannexin hemichannels expressed in Xenopus oocytes. *J Neurochem*, 92, 1033-43.
- BRYAN, C. F., LUGER, A. M., MARTINEZ, J., MURUVE, N., NELSON, P. W., PIERCE, G. E., ROSS, G., SHIELD, C. F., 3RD, WARADY, B. A., AEDER, M. I. & HELLING, T. S. 2001. Cold ischemia time: an independent predictor of increased HLA class I antibody production after rejection of a primary cadaveric renal allograft. *Transplantation*, 71, 875-9.
- BURCKSTUMMER, T., BAUMANN, C., BLUML, S., DIXIT, E., DURNBERGER, G., JAHN, H., PLANYAVSKY, M., BILBAN, M., COLINGE, J., BENNETT, K. L. & SUPERTI-FURGA, G. 2009. An orthogonal proteomic-genomic screen identifies AIM2 as a cytoplasmic DNA sensor for the inflammasome. *Nat Immunol*, 10, 266-72.
- BURNSTOCK, G. & KENNEDY, C. 2011. P2X receptors in health and disease. *Adv Pharmacol*, 61, 333-72.
- BUSCHE, M. N., PAVLOV, V., TAKAHASHI, K. & STAHL, G. L. 2009. Myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury is dependent on both IgM and mannose-binding lectin. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 297, H1853-9.
- CAMPBELL, I. L., KAY, T. W., OXBROW, L. & HARRISON, L. C. 1991. Essential role for interferon-gamma and interleukin-6 in autoimmune insulin-dependent diabetes in NOD/Wehi mice. *J Clin Invest*, 87, 739-42.
- CARDONE, J., LE FRIEC, G., VANTOUROUT, P., ROBERTS, A., FUCHS, A., JACKSON, I., SUDDASON, T., LORD, G., ATKINSON, J. P., COPE, A., HAYDAY, A. & KEMPER, C. 2010. Complement regulator CD46 temporally regulates cytokine production by conventional and unconventional T cells. *Nature Immunology*, 11, 862-871.
- CARIO, E., ROSENBERG, I. M., BRANDWEIN, S. L., BECK, P. L., REINECKER, H. C. & PODOLSKY, D. K. 2000. Lipopolysaccharide activates distinct signaling pathways in intestinal epithelial cell lines expressing Toll-like receptors. *Journal of immunology*, 164, 966-72.
- CARRASCO, Y. R. & BATISTA, F. D. 2007. B cells acquire particulate antigen in a macrophage-rich area at the boundary between the follicle and the subcapsular sinus of the lymph node. *Immunity*, 27, 160-71.

- CARROLL, M. 1999. Role of complement receptors CD21/CD35 in B lymphocyte activation and survival. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, 246, 63-8; discussion 69.
- CARROLL, M. C. 2004. The complement system in B cell regulation. *Mol Immunol*, 41, 141-6.
- CARROLL, M. V. & SIM, R. B. 2011. Complement in health and disease. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, 63, 965-75.
- CARTER, R. H. & FEARON, D. T. 1992. CD19: lowering the threshold for antigen receptor stimulation of B lymphocytes. *Science*, 256, 105-7.
- CELETTI, S. J., COWAN, K. N., PENUELA, S., SHAO, Q., CHURKO, J. & LAIRD, D. W. 2010. Implications of pannexin 1 and pannexin 3 for keratinocyte differentiation. *J Cell Sci*, 123, 1363-72.
- CERRETTI, D. P., KOZLOSKY, C. J., MOSLEY, B., NELSON, N., VAN NESS, K., GREENSTREET, T. A., MARCH, C. J., KRONHEIM, S. R., DRUCK, T., CANNIZZARO, L. A. & ET AL. 1992. Molecular cloning of the interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme. *Science*, 256, 97-100.
- CERVERA, A., PLANAS, A. M., JUSTICIA, C., URRA, X., JENSENIUS, J. C., TORRES, F., LOZANO, F. & CHAMORRO, A. 2010. Genetically-defined deficiency of mannose-binding lectin is associated with protection after experimental stroke in mice and outcome in human stroke. *PLoS ONE*, 5, e8433.
- CHAN, R. K., IBRAHIM, S. I., TAKAHASHI, K., KWON, E., MCCORMACK, M., EZEKOWITZ, A., CARROLL, M. C., MOORE, F. D., JR. & AUSTEN, W. G., JR. 2006a. The differing roles of the classical and mannose-binding lectin complement pathways in the events following skeletal muscle ischemiareperfusion. *J Immunol*, 177, 8080-5.
- CHAN, R. K., VERNA, N., AFNAN, J., ZHANG, M., IBRAHIM, S., CARROLL, M. C. & MOORE, F. D., JR. 2006b. Attenuation of skeletal muscle reperfusion injury with intravenous 12 amino acid peptides that bind to pathogenic IgM. *Surgery*, 139, 236-43.
- CHANG, H. C., SEHRA, S., GOSWAMI, R., YAO, W., YU, Q., STRITESKY, G. L., JABEEN, R., MCKINLEY, C., AHYI, A. N., HAN, L., NGUYEN, E. T., ROBERTSON, M. J., PERUMAL, N. B., TEPPER, R. S., NUTT, S. L. & KAPLAN, M. H. 2010. The transcription factor PU.1 is required for the development of IL-9-producing T cells and allergic inflammation. *Nat Immunol*, 11, 527-34.
- CHAUHAN, A. K. & MOORE, T. L. 2006. Presence of plasma complement regulatory proteins clusterin (Apo J) and vitronectin (S40) on circulating immune complexes (CIC). *Clin Exp Immunol*, 145, 398-406.
- CHEKENI, F. B., ELLIOTT, M. R., SANDILOS, J. K., WALK, S. F., KINCHEN, J. M., LAZAROWSKI, E. R., ARMSTRONG, A. J., PENUELA, S., LAIRD, D. W., SALVESEN, G. S., ISAKSON, B. E., BAYLISS, D. A. & RAVICHANDRAN, K. S. 2010. Pannexin 1 channels mediate 'find-me' signal release and membrane permeability during apoptosis. *Nature*, 467, 863-7.
- CHEN, C. B. 2004. Two Mechanisms for Mannose-binding Protein Modulation of the Activity of Its Associated Serine Proteases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279, 26058-26065.
- CHEN, C. B. & WALLIS, R. 2001. Stoichiometry of complexes between mannosebinding protein and its associated serine proteases. Defining functional units for complement activation. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 25894-902.

- CHEN, G. Y. & NUNEZ, G. 2010. Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 10, 826-37.
- CHEN, N.-J., MIRTSOS, C., SUH, D., LU, Y.-C., LIN, W.-J., MCKERLIE, C., LEE, T., BARIBAULT, H., TIAN, H. & YEH, W.-C. 2007. C5L2 is critical for the biological activities of the anaphylatoxins C5a and C3a. *Nature*, 446, 203-207.
- CHEN, W., JIN, W., HARDEGEN, N., LEI, K. J., LI, L., MARINOS, N., MCGRADY, G. & WAHL, S. M. 2003. Conversion of peripheral CD4+CD25- naive T cells to CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGF-beta induction of transcription factor Foxp3. J Exp Med, 198, 1875-86.
- CHENG, G., ARIMA, M., HONDA, K., HIRATA, H., EDA, F., YOSHIDA, N., FUKUSHIMA, F., ISHII, Y. & FUKUDA, T. 2002. Anti-interleukin-9 antibody treatment inhibits airway inflammation and hyperreactivity in mouse asthma model. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 166, 409-16.
- CHENG, S. C., SPRONG, T., JOOSTEN, L. A., VAN DER MEER, J. W., KULLBERG, B. J., HUBE, B., SCHEJBEL, L., GARRED, P., VAN DEUREN, M. & NETEA, M. G. 2012. Complement plays a central role in Candida albicans-induced cytokine production by human PBMCs. *Eur J Immunol*, 42, 993-1004.
- CHOW, J. C., YOUNG, D. W., GOLENBOCK, D. T., CHRIST, W. J. & GUSOVSKY, F. 1999. Toll-like receptor-4 mediates lipopolysaccharide-induced signal transduction. J Biol Chem, 274, 10689-92.
- CHURCH, L. D., CHURCHMAN, S. M., HAWKINS, P. N. & MCDERMOTT, M. F. 2006. Hereditary auto-inflammatory disorders and biologics. *Springer Semin Immunopathol*, 27, 494-508.
- CHURCH, L. D., COOK, G. P. & MCDERMOTT, M. F. 2008. Primer: inflammasomes and interleukin 1beta in inflammatory disorders. *Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol*, 4, 34-42.
- CODDOU, C., YAN, Z., OBSIL, T., HUIDOBRO-TORO, J. P. & STOJILKOVIC, S. S. 2011. Activation and regulation of purinergic P2X receptor channels. *Pharmacol Rev*, 63, 641-83.
- COLLARD, C. D., VAKEVA, A., MORRISSEY, M. A., AGAH, A., ROLLINS, S. A., REENSTRA, W. R., BURAS, J. A., MERI, S. & STAHL, G. L. 2000a. Complement activation after oxidative stress: role of the lectin complement pathway. *The American journal of pathology*, 156, 1549-56.
- COLLARD, C. D., VAKEVA, A., MORRISSEY, M. A., AGAH, A., ROLLINS, S. A., REENSTRA, W. R., BURAS, J. A., MERI, S. & STAHL, G. L. 2000b. Complement activation after oxidative stress: role of the lectin complement pathway. *Am J Pathol*, 156, 1549-56.
- COLVIN, R. B. 2007. Antibody-mediated renal allograft rejection: diagnosis and pathogenesis. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 18, 1046-56.
- CRAWFORD, E. D. & WELLS, J. A. 2011. Caspase substrates and cellular remodeling. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 80, 1055-87.
- CROS, J., CAGNARD, N., WOOLLARD, K., PATEY, N., ZHANG, S. Y., SENECHAL, B., PUEL, A., BISWAS, S. K., MOSHOUS, D., PICARD, C., JAIS, J. P., D'CRUZ, D., CASANOVA, J. L., TROUILLET, C. & GEISSMANN, F. 2010. Human CD14dim monocytes patrol and sense nucleic acids and viruses via TLR7 and TLR8 receptors. *Immunity*, 33, 375-86.
- CROUCH, E., HARTSHORN, K. & OFEK, I. 2000. Collectins and pulmonary innate immunity. *Immunol Rev*, 173, 52-65.

- CRUZ, C. M., RINNA, A., FORMAN, H. J., VENTURA, A. L., PERSECHINI, P. M. & OJCIUS, D. M. 2007. ATP activates a reactive oxygen species-dependent oxidative stress response and secretion of proinflammatory cytokines in macrophages. *J Biol Chem*, 282, 2871-9.
- CUA, D. J., SHERLOCK, J., CHEN, Y., MURPHY, C. A., JOYCE, B., SEYMOUR, B., LUCIAN, L., TO, W., KWAN, S., CHURAKOVA, T., ZURAWSKI, S., WIEKOWSKI, M., LIRA, S. A., GORMAN, D., KASTELEIN, R. A. & SEDGWICK, J. D. 2003. Interleukin-23 rather than interleukin-12 is the critical cytokine for autoimmune inflammation of the brain. *Nature*, 421, 744-8.
- CUA, D. J. & TATO, C. M. 2010. Innate IL-17-producing cells: the sentinels of the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 10, 479-89.
- D'HONDT, C., PONSAERTS, R., DE SMEDT, H., VINKEN, M., DE VUYST, E., DE BOCK, M., WANG, N., ROGIERS, V., LEYBAERT, L., HIMPENS, B. & BULTYNCK, G. 2011. Pannexin channels in ATP release and beyond: an unexpected rendezvous at the endoplasmic reticulum. *Cell Signal*, 23, 305-16.
- DAHL, M. R., THIEL, S., MATSUSHITA, M., FUJITA, T., WILLIS, A. C., CHRISTENSEN, T., VORUP-JENSEN, T. & JENSENIUS, J. C. 2001. MASP-3 and its association with distinct complexes of the mannan-binding lectin complement activation pathway. *Immunity*, 15, 127-35.
- DALMASSO, A. P., BENSON, B. A., JOHNSON, J. S., LANCTO, C. & ABRAHAMSEN, M. S. 2000. Resistance against the membrane attack complex of complement induced in porcine endothelial cells with a Gal alpha(1-3)Gal binding lectin: up-regulation of CD59 expression. *J Immunol*, 164, 3764-73.
- DANDO, R. & ROPER, S. D. 2009. Cell-to-cell communication in intact taste buds through ATP signalling from pannexin 1 gap junction hemichannels. *J Physiol*, 587, 5899-906.
- DARDALHON, V., AWASTHI, A., KWON, H., GALILEOS, G., GAO, W., SOBEL, R. A., MITSDOERFFER, M., STROM, T. B., ELYAMAN, W., HO, I. C., KHOURY, S., OUKKA, M. & KUCHROO, V. K. 2008. IL-4 inhibits TGFbeta-induced Foxp3+ T cells and, together with TGF-beta, generates IL-9+ IL-10+ Foxp3(-) effector T cells. *Nat Immunol*, 9, 1347-55.
- DAVIES, R. E. 1963. A Molecular Theory of Muscle Contraction: Calcium-Dependent Contractions with Hydrogen Bond Formation Plus Atp-Dependent Extensions of Part of the Myosin-Actin Cross-Bridges. *Nature*, 199, 1068-74.
- DAVIS, A. E., 3RD 2004. Biological effects of C1 inhibitor. *Drug News Perspect*, 17, 439-46.
- DE ALMEIDA, M. C., SILVA, A. C., BARRAL, A. & BARRAL NETTO, M. 2000. A simple method for human peripheral blood monocyte isolation. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz*, 95, 221-3.
- DE VRIES, B., KOHL, J., LECLERCQ, W. K., WOLFS, T. G., VAN BIJNEN, A. A., HEERINGA, P. & BUURMAN, W. A. 2003a. Complement factor C5a mediates renal ischemia-reperfusion injury independent from neutrophils. *J Immunol*, 170, 3883-9.
- DE VRIES, B., MATTHIJSEN, R. A., WOLFS, T. G. A. M., VAN BIJNEN, A. A. J. H. M., HEERINGA, P. & BUURMAN, W. A. 2003b. Inhibition of complement factor C5 protects against renal ischemia-reperfusion injury: inhibition of late apoptosis and inflammation1. *Transplantation*, 75, 375-382.
- DE VRIES, B., WALTER, S. J., PEUTZ-KOOTSTRA, C. J., WOLFS, T. G., VAN HEURN, L. W. & BUURMAN, W. A. 2004. The mannose-binding lectin-

pathway is involved in complement activation in the course of renal ischemiareperfusion injury. *Am J Pathol*, 165, 1677-88.

- DE VRIES, D. K., LINDEMAN, J. H. N., TSIKAS, D., DE HEER, E., ROOS, A., DE FIJTER, J. W., BARANSKI, A. G., VAN PELT, J. & SCHAAPHERDER, A. F. M. 2009. Early Renal Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury in Humans Is Dominated by IL-6 Release from the Allograft. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 9, 1574-1584.
- DEMPSEY, P. W., ALLISON, M. E., AKKARAJU, S., GOODNOW, C. C. & FEARON, D. T. 1996. C3d of complement as a molecular adjuvant: bridging innate and acquired immunity. *Science*, 271, 348-50.
- DIEPENHORST, G. M., VAN GULIK, T. M. & HACK, C. E. 2009. Complementmediated ischemia-reperfusion injury: lessons learned from animal and clinical studies. *Ann Surg*, 249, 889-99.
- DISCIPIO, R. G. & HUGLI, T. E. 1985. The architecture of complement component C9 and poly(C9). *J Biol Chem*, 260, 14802-9.
- DODDS, A. 2002. Which Came First, the Lectin/Classical Pathway or the Alternative Pathway of Complement? *Immunobiology*, 205, 340-354.
- DODE, C., LE DU, N., CUISSET, L., LETOURNEUR, F., BERTHELOT, J. M., VAUDOUR, G., MEYRIER, A., WATTS, R. A., SCOTT, D. G., NICHOLLS, A., GRANEL, B., FRANCES, C., GARCIER, F., EDERY, P., BOULINGUEZ, S., DOMERGUES, J. P., DELPECH, M. & GRATEAU, G. 2002. New mutations of CIAS1 that are responsible for Muckle-Wells syndrome and familial cold urticaria: a novel mutation underlies both syndromes. *Am J Hum Genet*, 70, 1498-506.
- DONEPUDI, M., MAC SWEENEY, A., BRIAND, C. & GRUTTER, M. G. 2003. Insights into the regulatory mechanism for caspase-8 activation. *Mol Cell*, 11, 543-9.
- DOOPER, I. M., HOITSMA, A. J., MAASS, C. N., ASSMANN, K. J., TAX, W. J., KOENE, R. A. & BOGMAN, M. J. 1994. The extent of peritubular CD14 staining in renal allografts as an independent immunohistological marker for acute rejection. *Transplantation*, 58, 820-7.
- DUBYAK, G. R. 2009. Both sides now: multiple interactions of ATP with pannexin-1 hemichannels. Focus on "A permeant regulating its permeation pore: inhibition of pannexin 1 channels by ATP". *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 296, C235-41.
- DUCRUET, A. F., HASSID, B. G., MACK, W. J., SOSUNOV, S. A., OTTEN, M. L., FUSCO, D. J., HICKMAN, Z. L., KIM, G. H., KOMOTAR, R. J., MOCCO, J. & CONNOLLY, E. S. 2008. C3a receptor modulation of granulocyte infiltration after murine focal cerebral ischemia is reperfusion dependent. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 28, 1048-58.
- DUHEN, T., GEIGER, R., JARROSSAY, D., LANZAVECCHIA, A. & SALLUSTO, F. 2009. Production of interleukin 22 but not interleukin 17 by a subset of human skin-homing memory T cells. *Nat Immunol*, 10, 857-63.
- DUNKELBERGER, J. R. & SONG, W.-C. 2009. Complement and its role in innate and adaptive immune responses. *Cell Research*, 20, 34-50.
- EASTGATE, J. A., SYMONS, J. A., WOOD, N. C., GRINLINTON, F. M., DI GIOVINE, F. S. & DUFF, G. W. 1988. Correlation of plasma interleukin 1 levels with disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis. *Lancet*, *2*, 706-9.
- ELLIOTT, M. R., CHEKENI, F. B., TRAMPONT, P. C., LAZAROWSKI, E. R., KADL, A., WALK, S. F., PARK, D., WOODSON, R. I., OSTANKOVICH, M.,

201

SHARMA, P., LYSIAK, J. J., HARDEN, T. K., LEITINGER, N. & RAVICHANDRAN, K. S. 2009. Nucleotides released by apoptotic cells act as a find-me signal to promote phagocytic clearance. *Nature*, 461, 282-6.

- ENDO, M., OHI, H., OHSAWA, I., FUJITA, T. & MATSUSHITA, M. 1998. Glomerular deposition of mannose-binding lectin (MBL) indicates a novel mechanism of complement activation in IgA nephropathy. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 13, 1984-90.
- ENDO, M., OHI, H., OHSAWA, I., FUJITA, T. & MATSUSHITA, M. 2000. Complement activation through the lectin pathway in patients with Henoch-Schonlein purpura nephritis. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 35, 401-7.
- ENDO, Y., NAKAZAWA, N., LIU, Y., IWAKI, D., TAKAHASHI, M., FUJITA, T., NAKATA, M. & MATSUSHITA, M. 2005. Carbohydrate-binding specificities of mouse ficolin A, a splicing variant of ficolin A and ficolin B and their complex formation with MASP-2 and sMAP. *Immunogenetics*, 57, 837-44.
- EYERICH, S., EYERICH, K., PENNINO, D., CARBONE, T., NASORRI, F., PALLOTTA, S., CIANFARANI, F., ODORISIO, T., TRAIDL-HOFFMANN, C., BEHRENDT, H., DURHAM, S. R., SCHMIDT-WEBER, C. B. & CAVANI, A. 2009. Th22 cells represent a distinct human T cell subset involved in epidermal immunity and remodeling. *J Clin Invest*, 119, 3573-85.
- FABREGA, E., LOPEZ-HOYOS, M., SAN SEGUNDO, D., CASAFONT, F. & PONS-ROMERO, F. 2009. Changes in the serum levels of interleukin-17/interleukin-23 during acute rejection in liver transplantation. *Liver Transpl*, 15, 629-33.
- FANG, C., MIWA, T. & SONG, W. C. 2011. Decay-accelerating factor regulates T-cell immunity in the context of inflammation by influencing costimulatory molecule expression on antigen-presenting cells. *Blood*, 118, 1008-14.
- FANG, C., ZHANG, X., MIWA, T. & SONG, W. C. 2009. Complement promotes the development of inflammatory T-helper 17 cells through synergistic interaction with Toll-like receptor signaling and interleukin-6 production. *Blood*, 114, 1005-1015.
- FANG, Y., XU, C., FU, Y. X., HOLERS, V. M. & MOLINA, H. 1998. Expression of complement receptors 1 and 2 on follicular dendritic cells is necessary for the generation of a strong antigen-specific IgG response. *J Immunol*, 160, 5273-9.
- FANTUZZI, G., PUREN, A. J., HARDING, M. W., LIVINGSTON, D. J. & DINARELLO, C. A. 1998. Interleukin-18 regulation of interferon gamma production and cell proliferation as shown in interleukin-1beta-converting enzyme (caspase-1)-deficient mice. *Blood*, 91, 2118-25.
- FARKAS, I., TAKAHASHI, M., FUKUDA, A., YAMAMOTO, N., AKATSU, H., BARANYI, L., TATEYAMA, H., YAMAMOTO, T., OKADA, N. & OKADA, H. 2003. Complement C5a receptor-mediated signaling may be involved in neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. *J Immunol*, 170, 5764-71.
- FARRAR, C. A., ZHOU, W., LIN, T. & SACKS, S. H. 2006. Local extravascular pool of C3 is a determinant of postischemic acute renal failure. *FASEB J*, 20, 217-26.
- FARRIES, T. C. & ATKINSON, J. P. 1989. Biosynthesis of properdin. *J Immunol*, 142, 842-7.
- FAURE, E., EQUILS, O., SIELING, P. A., THOMAS, L., ZHANG, F. X., KIRSCHNING, C. J., POLENTARUTTI, N., MUZIO, M. & ARDITI, M. 2000. Bacterial lipopolysaccharide activates NF-kappaB through toll-like receptor 4 (TLR-4) in cultured human dermal endothelial cells. Differential expression of

TLR-4 and TLR-2 in endothelial cells. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 275, 11058-63.

- FEARON, D. T. 1978. Regulation by membrane sialic acid of beta1H-dependent decaydissociation of amplification C3 convertase of the alternative complement pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 75, 1971-5.
- FEARON, D. T. & AUSTEN, K. F. 1975. Properdin: binding to C3b and stabilization of the C3b-dependent C3 convertase. *J Exp Med*, 142, 856-63.
- FELDMANN, J., PRIEUR, A. M., QUARTIER, P., BERQUIN, P., CERTAIN, S., CORTIS, E., TEILLAC-HAMEL, D., FISCHER, A. & DE SAINT BASILE, G. 2002. Chronic infantile neurological cutaneous and articular syndrome is caused by mutations in CIAS1, a gene highly expressed in polymorphonuclear cells and chondrocytes. *Am J Hum Genet*, 71, 198-203.
- FERNANDES-ALNEMRI, T., YU, J. W., DATTA, P., WU, J. & ALNEMRI, E. S. 2009. AIM2 activates the inflammasome and cell death in response to cytoplasmic DNA. *Nature*, 458, 509-13.
- FERREIRA, V. P., PANGBURN, M. K. & CORTES, C. 2010. Complement control protein factor H: the good, the bad, and the inadequate. *Mol Immunol*, 47, 2187-97.
- FIJEN, C. A., VAN DEN BOGAARD, R., SCHIPPER, M., MANNENS, M., SCHLESINGER, M., NORDIN, F. G., DANKERT, J., DAHA, M. R., SJOHOLM, A. G., TRUEDSSON, L. & KUIJPER, E. J. 1999. Properdin deficiency: molecular basis and disease association. *Mol Immunol*, 36, 863-7.
- FINGERLE, G., PFORTE, A., PASSLICK, B., BLUMENSTEIN, M., STROBEL, M. & ZIEGLER-HEITBROCK, H. W. 1993. The novel subset of CD14+/CD16+ blood monocytes is expanded in sepsis patients. *Blood*, 82, 3170-6.
- FISCHER, M. B., GOERG, S., SHEN, L., PRODEUS, A. P., GOODNOW, C. C., KELSOE, G. & CARROLL, M. C. 1998. Dependence of germinal center B cells on expression of CD21/CD35 for survival. *Science*, 280, 582-5.
- FISCHER, W. H. & HUGLI, T. E. 1997. Regulation of B cell functions by C3a and C3a(desArg): suppression of TNF-alpha, IL-6, and the polyclonal immune response. *J Immunol*, 159, 4279-86.
- FONTENOT, J. D., GAVIN, M. A. & RUDENSKY, A. Y. 2003. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol*, 4, 330-6.
- FORRESTER, T. & LIND, A. R. 1969. Identification of adenosine triphosphate in human plasma and the concentration in the venous effluent of forearm muscles before, during and after sustained contractions. *J Physiol*, 204, 347-64.
- FOSSIEZ, F., DJOSSOU, O., CHOMARAT, P., FLORES-ROMO, L., AIT-YAHIA, S., MAAT, C., PIN, J. J., GARRONE, P., GARCIA, E., SAELAND, S., BLANCHARD, D., GAILLARD, C., DAS MAHAPATRA, B., ROUVIER, E., GOLSTEIN, P., BANCHEREAU, J. & LEBECQUE, S. 1996. T cell interleukin-17 induces stromal cells to produce proinflammatory and hematopoietic cytokines. J Exp Med, 183, 2593-603.
- FRANCHI, L., EIGENBROD, T., MUNOZ-PLANILLO, R. & NUNEZ, G. 2009. The inflammasome: a caspase-1-activation platform that regulates immune responses and disease pathogenesis. *Nat Immunol*, 10, 241-7.
- FRANK, M. M. & FRIES, L. F. 1991. The role of complement in inflammation and phagocytosis. *Immunol Today*, 12, 322-6.

- FREDHOLM, B. B. 1997. Purines and neutrophil leukocytes. *Gen Pharmacol*, 28, 345-50.
- FRITZINGER, D. C., HEW, B. E., THORNE, M., PANGBURN, M. K., JANSSEN, B. J., GROS, P. & VOGEL, C. W. 2009. Functional characterization of human C3/cobra venom factor hybrid proteins for therapeutic complement depletion. *Dev Comp Immunol*, 33, 105-16.
- FU, S., ZHANG, N., YOPP, A. C., CHEN, D., MAO, M., ZHANG, H., DING, Y. & BROMBERG, J. S. 2004. TGF-beta induces Foxp3 + T-regulatory cells from CD4 + CD25 - precursors. *Am J Transplant*, 4, 1614-27.
- FUJIMORI, Y., HARUMIYA, S., FUKUMOTO, Y., MIURA, Y., YAGASAKI, K., TACHIKAWA, H. & FUJIMOTO, D. 1998. Molecular cloning and characterization of mouse ficolin-A. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 244, 796-800.
- FUJITA, T. 2002. Evolution of the lectin-complement pathway and its role in innate immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 2, 346-53.
- FUJITA, T., ENDO, Y. & NONAKA, M. 2004a. Primitive complement system-recognition and activation. *Mol Immunol*, 41, 103-11.
- FUJITA, T., MATSUSHITA, M. & ENDO, Y. 2004b. The lectin-complement pathwayits role in innate immunity and evolution. *Immunol Rev*, 198, 185-202.
- FURST, D. E. 2004. Anakinra: review of recombinant human interleukin-I receptor antagonist in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Ther*, 26, 1960-75.
- FURUICHI, K., WADA, T., IWATA, Y., KOKUBO, S., HARA, A., YAMAHANA, J., SUGAYA, T., IWAKURA, Y., MATSUSHIMA, K., ASANO, M., YOKOYAMA, H. & KANEKO, S. 2006. Interleukin-1-dependent sequential chemokine expression and inflammatory cell infiltration in ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Crit Care Med*, 34, 2447-55.
- FUSAKIO, M. E., MOHAMMED, J. P., LAUMONNIER, Y., HOEBE, K., KOHL, J. & MATTNER, J. 2011. C5a regulates NKT and NK cell functions in sepsis. J Immunol, 187, 5805-12.
- GAJL-PECZALSKA, K. J., FISH, A. J., MEUWISSEN, H. J., FROMMEL, D. & GOOD, R. A. 1969. Localization of immunological complexes fixing beta1C (C3) in germinal centers of lymph nodes. *J Exp Med*, 130, 1367-93.
- GAL, P., BARNA, L., KOCSIS, A. & ZAVODSZKY, P. 2007. Serine proteases of the classical and lectin pathways: similarities and differences. *Immunobiology*, 212, 267-77.
- GAL, P., HARMAT, V., KOCSIS, A., BIAN, T., BARNA, L., AMBRUS, G., VEGH,
 B., BALCZER, J., SIM, R. B., NARAY-SZABO, G. & ZAVODSZKY, P. 2005.
 A true autoactivating enzyme. Structural insight into mannose-binding lectinassociated serine protease-2 activations. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 280, 33435-44.
- GARRED, P., LARSEN, F., MADSEN, H. O. & KOCH, C. 2003. Mannose-binding lectin deficiency-revisited. *Mol Immunol*, 40, 73-84.
- GARRED, P., MADSEN, H. O., HOFMANN, B. & SVEJGAARD, A. 1995. Increased frequency of homozygosity of abnormal mannan-binding-protein alleles in patients with suspected immunodeficiency. *Lancet*, 346, 941-3.
- GARRED, P., MADSEN, H. O., KURTZHALS, J. A., LAMM, L. U., THIEL, S., HEY, A. S. & SVEJGAARD, A. 1992. Diallelic polymorphism may explain variations of the blood concentration of mannan-binding protein in Eskimos, but not in black Africans. *Eur J Immunogenet*, 19, 403-12.

- GARRED, P., RICHTER, C., ANDERSEN, A. B., MADSEN, H. O., MTONI, I., SVEJGAARD, A. & SHAO, J. 1997. Mannan-binding lectin in the sub-Saharan HIV and tuberculosis epidemics. *Scand J Immunol*, 46, 204-8.
- GEISSMANN, F., GORDON, S., HUME, D. A., MOWAT, A. M. & RANDOLPH, G. J. 2010. Unravelling mononuclear phagocyte heterogeneity. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 10, 453-460.
- GEISSMANN, F., JUNG, S. & LITTMAN, D. R. 2003. Blood monocytes consist of two principal subsets with distinct migratory properties. *Immunity*, 19, 71-82.
- GIGLI, I., FUJITA, T. & NUSSENZWEIG, V. 1979. Modulation of the classical pathway C3 convertase by plasma proteins C4 binding protein and C3b inactivator. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 76, 6596-600.
- GIRLANDA, R., KLEINER, D. E., DUAN, Z., FORD, E. A., WRIGHT, E. C., MANNON, R. B. & KIRK, A. D. 2008. Monocyte infiltration and kidney allograft dysfunction during acute rejection. *Am J Transplant*, 8, 600-7.
- GORDON, S. 2002. Pattern recognition receptors: doubling up for the innate immune response. *Cell*, 111, 927-30.
- GORSKI, J. P., HUGLI, T. E. & MULLER-EBERHARD, H. J. 1979. C4a: the third anaphylatoxin of the human complement system. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 76, 5299-302.
- GRAHAMES, C. B., MICHEL, A. D., CHESSELL, I. P. & HUMPHREY, P. P. 1999. Pharmacological characterization of ATP- and LPS-induced IL-1beta release in human monocytes. *Br J Pharmacol*, 127, 1915-21.
- GRAN, B., ZHANG, G. X., YU, S., LI, J., CHEN, X. H., VENTURA, E. S., KAMOUN, M. & ROSTAMI, A. 2002. IL-12p35-deficient mice are susceptible to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: evidence for redundancy in the IL-12 system in the induction of central nervous system autoimmune demyelination. *J Immunol*, 169, 7104-10.
- GU, Y., KUIDA, K., TSUTSUI, H., KU, G., HSIAO, K., FLEMING, M. A., HAYASHI, N., HIGASHINO, K., OKAMURA, H., NAKANISHI, K., KURIMOTO, M., TANIMOTO, T., FLAVELL, R. A., SATO, V., HARDING, M. W., LIVINGSTON, D. J. & SU, M. S. 1997. Activation of interferon-gamma inducing factor mediated by interleukin-1beta converting enzyme. *Science*, 275, 206-9.
- GUELER, F., GWINNER, W., SCHWARZ, A. & HALLER, H. 2004. Long-term effects of acute ischemia and reperfusion injury. *Kidney Int*, 66, 523-7.
- GULBRANSEN, B. D., BASHASHATI, M., HIROTA, S. A., GUI, X., ROBERTS, J. A., MACDONALD, J. A., MURUVE, D. A., MCKAY, D. M., BECK, P. L., MAWE, G. M., THOMPSON, R. J. & SHARKEY, K. A. 2012. Activation of neuronal P2X7 receptor-pannexin-1 mediates death of enteric neurons during colitis. *Nat Med*, 18, 600-4.
- GUO, N., MOGUES, T., WEREMOWICZ, S., MORTON, C. C. & SASTRY, K. N. 1998. The human ortholog of rhesus mannose-binding protein-A gene is an expressed pseudogene that localizes to chromosome 10. *Mamm Genome*, 9, 246-9.
- HADDERS, M. A., BUBECK, D., ROVERSI, P., HAKOBYAN, S., FORNERIS, F., MORGAN, B. P., PANGBURN, M. K., LLORCA, O., LEA, S. M. & GROS, P. 2012. Assembly and regulation of the membrane attack complex based on structures of C5b6 and sC5b9. *Cell Rep*, 1, 200-7.

- HAEFFNER-CAVAILLON, N., CAVAILLON, J. M., LAUDE, M. & KAZATCHKINE, M. D. 1987. C3a(C3adesArg) induces production and release of interleukin 1 by cultured human monocytes. *Journal of immunology*, 139, 794-9.
- HAGERTY, D. T. & ALLEN, P. M. 1992. Processing and presentation of self and foreign antigens by the renal proximal tubule. *J Immunol*, 148, 2324-30.
- HALLORAN, P. F., HOMIK, J., GOES, N., LUI, S. L., URMSON, J., RAMASSAR, V. & COCKFIELD, S. M. 1997. The "injury response": a concept linking nonspecific injury, acute rejection, and long-term transplant outcomes. *Transplant Proc*, 29, 79-81.
- HAN, G., GENG, S., LI, Y., CHEN, G., WANG, R., LI, X., MA, Y. & SHEN, B. 2011. gammadeltaT-cell function in sepsis is modulated by C5a receptor signalling. *Immunology*, 133, 340-9.
- HANLEY, P. J., KRONLAGE, M., KIRSCHNING, C., DEL REY, A., DI VIRGILIO, F., LEIPZIGER, J., CHESSELL, I. P., SARGIN, S., FILIPPOV, M. A., LINDEMANN, O., MOHR, S., KONIGS, V., SCHILLERS, H., BAHLER, M. & SCHWAB, A. 2012. Transient P2X7 receptor activation triggers macrophage death independent of Toll-like receptors 2 and 4, caspase-1, and pannexin-1 proteins. *J Biol Chem*, 287, 10650-63.
- HANSCH, G. M., SEITZ, M., MARTINOTTI, G., BETZ, M., RAUTERBERG, E. W. & GEMSA, D. 1984. Macrophages release arachidonic acid, prostaglandin E2, and thromboxane in response to late complement components. *J Immunol*, 133, 2145-50.
- HANSEN, S., SELMAN, L., PALANIYAR, N., ZIEGLER, K., BRANDT, J., KLIEM, A., JONASSON, M., SKJOEDT, M. O., NIELSEN, O., HARTSHORN, K., JORGENSEN, T. J., SKJODT, K. & HOLMSKOV, U. 2010. Collectin 11 (CL-11, CL-K1) is a MASP-1/3-associated plasma collectin with microbial-binding activity. J Immunol, 185, 6096-104.
- HANSEN, S., THIEL, S., WILLIS, A., HOLMSKOV, U. & JENSENIUS, J. C. 2000. Purification and characterization of two mannan-binding lectins from mouse serum. *J Immunol*, 164, 2610-8.
- HANSEN, T. K., TARNOW, L., THIEL, S., STEFFENSEN, R., STEHOUWER, C. D., SCHALKWIJK, C. G., PARVING, H. H. & FLYVBJERG, A. 2004. Association between mannose-binding lectin and vascular complications in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 53, 1570-6.
- HARRINGTON, L. E., HATTON, R. D., MANGAN, P. R., TURNER, H., MURPHY, T. L., MURPHY, K. M. & WEAVER, C. T. 2005. Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nat Immunol*, 6, 1123-32.
- HARRY, T. R., COLES, G. A., DAVIES, M., BRYANT, D., WILLIAMS, G. T. & GRIFFIN, P. J. 1984. The significance of monocytes in glomeruli of human renal transplants. *Transplantation*, 37, 70-3.
- HART, M. L., CEONZO, K. A., SHAFFER, L. A., TAKAHASHI, K., ROTHER, R. P., REENSTRA, W. R., BURAS, J. A. & STAHL, G. L. 2005. Gastrointestinal ischemia-reperfusion injury is lectin complement pathway dependent without involving C1q. *J Immunol*, 174, 6373-80.
- HARTMANN, K., HENZ, B. M., KRUGER-KRASAGAKES, S., KOHL, J., BURGER, R., GUHL, S., HAASE, I., LIPPERT, U. & ZUBERBIER, T. 1997. C3a and C5a stimulate chemotaxis of human mast cells. *Blood*, 89, 2863-70.

- HARTON, J. A., LINHOFF, M. W., ZHANG, J. & TING, J. P. 2002. Cutting edge: CATERPILLER: a large family of mammalian genes containing CARD, pyrin, nucleotide-binding, and leucine-rich repeat domains. *J Immunol*, 169, 4088-93.
- HASHIMOTO, C., HUDSON, K. L. & ANDERSON, K. V. 1988. The Toll gene of Drosophila, required for dorsal-ventral embryonic polarity, appears to encode a transmembrane protein. *Cell*, 52, 269-79.
- HASHIMOTO, M., HIROTA, K., YOSHITOMI, H., MAEDA, S., TERADAIRA, S., AKIZUKI, S., PRIETO-MARTIN, P., NOMURA, T., SAKAGUCHI, N., KOHL, J., HEYMAN, B., TAKAHASHI, M., FUJITA, T., MIMORI, T. & SAKAGUCHI, S. 2010. Complement drives Th17 cell differentiation and triggers autoimmune arthritis. J Exp Med, 207, 1135-43.
- HAWLISCH, H., BELKAID, Y., BAELDER, R., HILDEMAN, D., GERARD, C. & KOHL, J. 2005. C5a negatively regulates toll-like receptor 4-induced immune responses. *Immunity*, 22, 415-26.
- HEEGER, P. S. 2005. Decay-accelerating factor modulates induction of T cell immunity. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 201, 1523-1530.
- HEIJNEN, B. H., STRAATSBURG, I. H., PADILLA, N. D., VAN MIERLO, G. J., HACK, C. E. & VAN GULIK, T. M. 2006. Inhibition of classical complement activation attenuates liver ischaemia and reperfusion injury in a rat model. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 143, 15-23.
- HELLINGS, P. W., KASRAN, A., LIU, Z., VANDEKERCKHOVE, P., WUYTS, A., OVERBERGH, L., MATHIEU, C. & CEUPPENS, J. L. 2003. Interleukin-17 orchestrates the granulocyte influx into airways after allergen inhalation in a mouse model of allergic asthma. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 28, 42-50.
- HENNESSY, E. J., PARKER, A. E. & O'NEILL, L. A. 2010. Targeting Toll-like receptors: emerging therapeutics? *Nature reviews. Drug discovery*, 9, 293-307.
- HERTZ, C. J., WU, Q., PORTER, E. M., ZHANG, Y. J., WEISMULLER, K. H., GODOWSKI, P. J., GANZ, T., RANDELL, S. H. & MODLIN, R. L. 2003. Activation of Toll-like receptor 2 on human tracheobronchial epithelial cells induces the antimicrobial peptide human beta defensin-2. *Journal of immunology*, 171, 6820-6.
- HIDALGO, L. G., SIS, B., SELLARES, J., CAMPBELL, P. M., MENGEL, M., EINECKE, G., CHANG, J. & HALLORAN, P. F. 2010. NK cell transcripts and NK cells in kidney biopsies from patients with donor-specific antibodies: evidence for NK cell involvement in antibody-mediated rejection. Am J Transplant, 10, 1812-22.
- HILL, J. H. & WARD, P. A. 1971. The phlogistic role of C3 leukotactic fragments in myocardial infarcts of rats. *J Exp Med*, 133, 885-900.
- HISANO, S., MATSUSHITA, M., FUJITA, T. & IWASAKI, H. 2005. Activation of the lectin complement pathway in Henoch-Schonlein purpura nephritis. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 45, 295-302.
- HOFFMAN, H. M., MUELLER, J. L., BROIDE, D. H., WANDERER, A. A. & KOLODNER, R. D. 2001. Mutation of a new gene encoding a putative pyrinlike protein causes familial cold autoinflammatory syndrome and Muckle-Wells syndrome. *Nat Genet*, 29, 301-5.
- HOLMSKOV, U., MALHOTRA, R., SIM, R. B. & JENSENIUS, J. C. 1994. Collectins: collagenous C-type lectins of the innate immune defense system. *Immunol Today*, 15, 67-74.

- HOLMSKOV, U., THIEL, S. & JENSENIUS, J. C. 2003. Collections and ficolins: humoral lectins of the innate immune defense. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 21, 547-78.
- HOLTON, P. 1959. The liberation of adenosine triphosphate on antidromic stimulation of sensory nerves. *J Physiol*, 145, 494-504.
- HONG, K., TAKATA, Y., SAYAMA, K., KOZONO, H., TAKEDA, J., NAKANO, Y., KINOSHITA, T. & INOUE, K. 1984. Inhibition of immune precipitation by complement. *J Immunol*, 133, 1464-70.
- HORI, S., NOMURA, T. & SAKAGUCHI, S. 2003. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. *Science*, 299, 1057-61.
- HORNUNG, V., ABLASSER, A., CHARREL-DENNIS, M., BAUERNFEIND, F., HORVATH, G., CAFFREY, D. R., LATZ, E. & FITZGERALD, K. A. 2009. AIM2 recognizes cytosolic dsDNA and forms a caspase-1-activating inflammasome with ASC. *Nature*, 458, 514-8.
- HORNUNG, V., ROTHENFUSSER, S., BRITSCH, S., KRUG, A., JAHRSDORFER, B., GIESE, T., ENDRES, S. & HARTMANN, G. 2002. Quantitative expression of toll-like receptor 1-10 mRNA in cellular subsets of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells and sensitivity to CpG oligodeoxynucleotides. *Journal of immunology*, 168, 4531-7.
- HOU, B., REIZIS, B. & DEFRANCO, A. L. 2008. Toll-like receptors activate innate and adaptive immunity by using dendritic cell-intrinsic and -extrinsic mechanisms. *Immunity*, 29, 272-82.
- HOURCADE, D., HOLERS, V. M. & ATKINSON, J. P. 1989. The regulators of complement activation (RCA) gene cluster. *Adv Immunol*, 45, 381-416.
- HOURCADE, D. E. 2006. The role of properdin in the assembly of the alternative pathway C3 convertases of complement. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 2128-32.
- HOVIND, P., HANSEN, T. K., TARNOW, L., THIEL, S., STEFFENSEN, R., FLYVBJERG, A. & PARVING, H. H. 2005. Mannose-binding lectin as a predictor of microalbuminuria in type 1 diabetes: an inception cohort study. *Diabetes*, 54, 1523-7.
- HSIEH, C. S., MACATONIA, S. E., TRIPP, C. S., WOLF, S. F., O'GARRA, A. & MURPHY, K. M. 1993. Development of TH1 CD4+ T cells through IL-12 produced by Listeria-induced macrophages. *Science*, 260, 547-9.
- HSIEH, H. G., LOONG, C. C., LUI, W. Y., CHEN, A. & LIN, C. Y. 2001. IL-17 expression as a possible predictive parameter for subclinical renal allograft rejection. *Transpl Int*, 14, 287-98.
- HUGLI, T. E. 1984. Structure and function of the anaphylatoxins. Springer Semin Immunopathol, 7, 193-219.
- HUGOT, J. P., CHAMAILLARD, M., ZOUALI, H., LESAGE, S., CEZARD, J. P., BELAICHE, J., ALMER, S., TYSK, C., O'MORAIN, C. A., GASSULL, M., BINDER, V., FINKEL, Y., CORTOT, A., MODIGLIANI, R., LAURENT-PUIG, P., GOWER-ROUSSEAU, C., MACRY, J., COLOMBEL, J. F., SAHBATOU, M. & THOMAS, G. 2001. Association of NOD2 leucine-rich repeat variants with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. *Nature*, 411, 599-603.
- HYSI, P., KABESCH, M., MOFFATT, M. F., SCHEDEL, M., CARR, D., ZHANG, Y., BOARDMAN, B., VON MUTIUS, E., WEILAND, S. K., LEUPOLD, W., FRITZSCH, C., KLOPP, N., MUSK, A. W., JAMES, A., NUNEZ, G., INOHARA, N. & COOKSON, W. O. 2005. NOD1 variation, immunoglobulin E and asthma. *Hum Mol Genet*, 14, 935-41.

- ICHIJO, H., HELLMAN, U., WERNSTEDT, C., GONEZ, L. J., CLAESSON-WELSH, L., HELDIN, C. H. & MIYAZONO, K. 1993. Molecular cloning and characterization of ficolin, a multimeric protein with fibrinogen- and collagenlike domains. *J Biol Chem*, 268, 14505-13.
- IKEDA, K., SANNOH, T., KAWASAKI, N., KAWASAKI, T. & YAMASHINA, I. 1987. Serum lectin with known structure activates complement through the classical pathway. *J Biol Chem*, 262, 7451-4.
- INOHARA, N. & NUNEZ, G. 2003. NODs: intracellular proteins involved in inflammation and apoptosis. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 3, 371-82.
- ISCHENKO, A., SAYAH, S., PATTE, C., ANDREEV, S., GASQUE, P., SCHOUFT, M. T., VAUDRY, H. & FONTAINE, M. 1998. Expression of a functional anaphylatoxin C3a receptor by astrocytes. *J Neurochem*, 71, 2487-96.
- ISHIKAWA, M., IWAMOTO, T., NAKAMURA, T., DOYLE, A., FUKUMOTO, S. & YAMADA, Y. 2011. Pannexin 3 functions as an ER Ca(2+) channel, hemichannel, and gap junction to promote osteoblast differentiation. *J Cell Biol*, 193, 1257-74.
- ITOH, S., KIMURA, N., AXTELL, R. C., VELOTTA, J. B., GONG, Y., WANG, X., KAJIWARA, N., NAMBU, A., SHIMURA, E., ADACHI, H., IWAKURA, Y., SAITO, H., OKUMURA, K., SUDO, K., STEINMAN, L., ROBBINS, R. C., NAKAE, S. & FISCHBEIN, M. P. 2011. Interleukin-17 accelerates allograft rejection by suppressing regulatory T cell expansion. *Circulation*, 124, S187-96.
- IVANOV, II, MCKENZIE, B. S., ZHOU, L., TADOKORO, C. E., LEPELLEY, A., LAFAILLE, J. J., CUA, D. J. & LITTMAN, D. R. 2006. The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. *Cell*, 126, 1121-33.
- IWAKI, D., KANNO, K., TAKAHASHI, M., ENDO, Y., MATSUSHITA, M. & FUJITA, T. 2011. The role of mannose-binding lectin-associated serine protease-3 in activation of the alternative complement pathway. *J Immunol*, 187, 3751-8.
- IWAMOTO, T., NAKAMURA, T., DOYLE, A., ISHIKAWA, M., DE VEGA, S., FUKUMOTO, S. & YAMADA, Y. 2010. Pannexin 3 regulates intracellular ATP/cAMP levels and promotes chondrocyte differentiation. J Biol Chem, 285, 18948-58.
- IYER, S. S., PULSKENS, W. P., SADLER, J. J., BUTTER, L. M., TESKE, G. J., ULLAND, T. K., EISENBARTH, S. C., FLORQUIN, S., FLAVELL, R. A., LEEMANS, J. C. & SUTTERWALA, F. S. 2009. Necrotic cells trigger a sterile inflammatory response through the Nlrp3 inflammasome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A, 106, 20388-93.
- JAESCHKE, H., FARHOOD, A., BAUTISTA, A. P., SPOLARICS, Z. & SPITZER, J. J. 1993. Complement activates Kupffer cells and neutrophils during reperfusion after hepatic ischemia. *Am J Physiol*, 264, G801-9.
- JANG, H. R. & RABB, H. 2009. The innate immune response in ischemic acute kidney injury. *Clin Immunol*, 130, 41-50.
- JENSEN, P. H. 2005. Characterization of the Oligomer Structure of Recombinant Human Mannan-binding Lectin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280, 11043-11051.
- JI, Y., SUN, S., XU, A., BHARGAVA, P., YANG, L., LAM, K. S., GAO, B., LEE, C. H., KERSTEN, S. & QI, L. 2012. Activation of Natural Killer T Cells Promotes M2 Macrophage Polarization in Adipose Tissue and Improves Systemic Glucose

Tolerance via Interleukin-4 (IL-4)/STAT6 Protein Signaling Axis in Obesity. J Biol Chem, 287, 13561-71.

- JIANG, S., HERRERA, O. & LECHLER, R. I. 2004. New spectrum of allorecognition pathways: implications for graft rejection and transplantation tolerance. *Curr Opin Immunol*, 16, 550-7.
- JOHNSTON, R. J., POHOLEK, A. C., DITORO, D., YUSUF, I., ETO, D., BARNETT, B., DENT, A. L., CRAFT, J. & CROTTY, S. 2009. Bcl6 and Blimp-1 are reciprocal and antagonistic regulators of T follicular helper cell differentiation. *Science*, 325, 1006-10.
- JONES, J. W., BROZ, P. & MONACK, D. M. 2011. Innate immune recognition of francisella tularensis: activation of type-I interferons and the inflammasome. *Front Microbiol*, 2, 16.
- JORDAN, J. E., MONTALTO, M. C. & STAHL, G. L. 2001. Inhibition of mannosebinding lectin reduces postischemic myocardial reperfusion injury. *Circulation*, 104, 1413-8.
- JUNT, T., MOSEMAN, E. A., IANNACONE, M., MASSBERG, S., LANG, P. A., BOES, M., FINK, K., HENRICKSON, S. E., SHAYAKHMETOV, D. M., DI PAOLO, N. C., VAN ROOIJEN, N., MEMPEL, T. R., WHELAN, S. P. & VON ANDRIAN, U. H. 2007. Subcapsular sinus macrophages in lymph nodes clear lymph-borne viruses and present them to antiviral B cells. *Nature*, 450, 110-4.
- KACZOROWSKI, D. J., AFRAZI, A., SCOTT, M. J., KWAK, J. H., GILL, R., EDMONDS, R. D., LIU, Y., FAN, J. & BILLIAR, T. R. 2010. Pivotal advance: The pattern recognition receptor ligands lipopolysaccharide and polyinosinepolycytidylic acid stimulate factor B synthesis by the macrophage through distinct but overlapping mechanisms. *J Leukoc Biol*, 88, 609-18.
- KAHLENBERG, J. M. & DUBYAK, G. R. 2004. Differing caspase-1 activation states in monocyte versus macrophage models of IL-1beta processing and release. *J Leukoc Biol*, 76, 676-84.
- KAHN, S. J., WLEKLINSKI, M., EZEKOWITZ, R. A., CODER, D., ARUFFO, A. & FARR, A. 1996. The major surface glycoprotein of Trypanosoma cruzi amastigotes are ligands of the human serum mannose-binding protein. *Infect Immun*, 64, 2649-56.
- KALINA, S. L. & MOTTRAM, P. L. 1993. A microsurgical technique for renal transplantation in mice. *Aust N Z J Surg*, 63, 213-6.
- KANNEGANTI, T. D. 2010. Central roles of NLRs and inflammasomes in viral infection. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 10, 688-98.
- KANNEGANTI, T. D., BODY-MALAPEL, M., AMER, A., PARK, J. H., WHITFIELD, J., FRANCHI, L., TARAPOREWALA, Z. F., MILLER, D., PATTON, J. T., INOHARA, N. & NUNEZ, G. 2006a. Critical role for Cryopyrin/Nalp3 in activation of caspase-1 in response to viral infection and double-stranded RNA. J Biol Chem, 281, 36560-8.
- KANNEGANTI, T. D., LAMKANFI, M. & NUNEZ, G. 2007. Intracellular NOD-like receptors in host defense and disease. *Immunity*, 27, 549-59.
- KANNEGANTI, T. D., OZOREN, N., BODY-MALAPEL, M., AMER, A., PARK, J. H., FRANCHI, L., WHITFIELD, J., BARCHET, W., COLONNA, M., VANDENABEELE, P., BERTIN, J., COYLE, A., GRANT, E. P., AKIRA, S. & NUNEZ, G. 2006b. Bacterial RNA and small antiviral compounds activate caspase-1 through cryopyrin/Nalp3. *Nature*, 440, 233-6.

- KAUNISTO, M. A., SJOLIND, L., SALLINEN, R., PETTERSSON-FERNHOLM, K., SARAHEIMO, M., FROJDO, S., FORSBLOM, C., FAGERUDD, J., HANSEN, T. K., FLYVBJERG, A., WESSMAN, M. & GROOP, P. H. 2009. Elevated MBL concentrations are not an indication of association between the MBL2 gene and type 1 diabetes or diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetes*, 58, 1710-4.
- KAVANAGH, D., KEMP, E. J., MAYLAND, E., WINNEY, R. J., DUFFIELD, J. S., WARWICK, G., RICHARDS, A., WARD, R., GOODSHIP, J. A. & GOODSHIP, T. H. 2005. Mutations in complement factor I predispose to development of atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. J Am Soc Nephrol, 16, 2150-5.
- KAVITA, U. & MIZEL, S. B. 1995. Differential sensitivity of interleukin-1 alpha and beta precursor proteins to cleavage by calpain, a calcium-dependent protease. J Biol Chem, 270, 27758-65.
- KAWAGUCHI, M., ADACHI, M., ODA, N., KOKUBU, F. & HUANG, S. K. 2004. IL-17 cytokine family. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 114, 1265-73; quiz 1274.
- KAWAI, T. & AKIRA, S. 2006. TLR signaling. Cell Death Differ, 13, 816-25.
- KAWAKAMI, T. & GALLI, S. J. 2002. Regulation of mast-cell and basophil function and survival by IgE. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 2, 773-86.
- KAWANAKA, N., YAMAMURA, M., AITA, T., MORITA, Y., OKAMOTO, A., KAWASHIMA, M., IWAHASHI, M., UENO, A., OHMOTO, Y. & MAKINO, H. 2002. CD14+,CD16+ blood monocytes and joint inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, 46, 2578-86.
- KAWASAKI, N., KAWASAKI, T. & YAMASHINA, I. 1983. Isolation and characterization of a mannan-binding protein from human serum. *J Biochem*, 94, 937-47.
- KE, Y., LIU, K., HUANG, G. Q., CUI, Y., KAPLAN, H. J., SHAO, H. & SUN, D. 2009. Anti-inflammatory role of IL-17 in experimental autoimmune uveitis. J Immunol, 182, 3183-90.
- KELLEY, V. R. & SINGER, G. G. 1993. The antigen presentation function of renal tubular epithelial cells. *Exp Nephrol*, 1, 102-11.
- KEMPER, C., CHAN, A. C., GREEN, J. M., BRETT, K. A., MURPHY, K. M. & ATKINSON, J. P. 2003. Activation of human CD4+ cells with CD3 and CD46 induces a T-regulatory cell 1 phenotype. *Nature*, 421, 388-92.
- KEMPER, C., MITCHELL, L. M., ZHANG, L. & HOURCADE, D. E. 2008. The complement protein properdin binds apoptotic T cells and promotes complement activation and phagocytosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 9023-8.
- KESHI, H., SAKAMOTO, T., KAWAI, T., OHTANI, K., KATOH, T., JANG, S. J., MOTOMURA, W., YOSHIZAKI, T., FUKUDA, M., KOYAMA, S., FUKUZAWA, J., FUKUOH, A., YOSHIDA, I., SUZUKI, Y. & WAKAMIYA, N. 2006. Identification and characterization of a novel human collectin CL-K1. *Microbiol Immunol*, 50, 1001-13.
- KHAN, A. R. & JAMES, M. N. 1998. Molecular mechanisms for the conversion of zymogens to active proteolytic enzymes. *Protein Sci*, 7, 815-36.
- KIENITZ, M. C., BENDER, K., DERMIETZEL, R., POTT, L. & ZOIDL, G. 2011. Pannexin 1 constitutes the large conductance cation channel of cardiac myocytes. *J Biol Chem*, 286, 290-8.
- KIM, A. H., DIMITRIOU, I. D., HOLLAND, M. C., MASTELLOS, D., MUELLER, Y. M., ALTMAN, J. D., LAMBRIS, J. D. & KATSIKIS, P. D. 2004.

Complement C5a receptor is essential for the optimal generation of antiviral CD8+ T cell responses. *J Immunol*, 173, 2524-9.

- KIM, C. H., ROTT, L. S., CLARK-LEWIS, I., CAMPBELL, D. J., WU, L. & BUTCHER, E. C. 2001. Subspecialization of CXCR5+ T cells: B helper activity is focused in a germinal center-localized subset of CXCR5+ T cells. *J Exp Med*, 193, 1373-81.
- KIMURA, A. & KISHIMOTO, T. 2011. Th17 cells in inflammation. Int Immunopharmacol, 11, 319-22.
- KINOSHITA, T. 1991. Biology of complement: the overture. *Immunol Today*, 12, 291-5.
- KINOSHITA, T., MEDOF, M. E. & NUSSENZWEIG, V. 1986. Endogenous association of decay-accelerating factor (DAF) with C4b and C3b on cell membranes. *J Immunol*, 136, 3390-5.
- KINUGASA, T., SAKAGUCHI, T., GU, X. & REINECKER, H. C. 2000. Claudins regulate the intestinal barrier in response to immune mediators. *Gastroenterology*, 118, 1001-11.
- KLOS, A., TENNER, A. J., JOHSWICH, K. O., AGER, R. R., REIS, E. S. & KOHL, J. 2009. The role of the anaphylatoxins in health and disease. *Mol Immunol*, 46, 2753-66.
- KOCSIS, A., KEKESI, K. A., SZASZ, R., VEGH, B. M., BALCZER, J., DOBO, J., ZAVODSZKY, P., GAL, P. & PAL, G. 2010. Selective inhibition of the lectin pathway of complement with phage display selected peptides against mannosebinding lectin-associated serine protease (MASP)-1 and -2: significant contribution of MASP-1 to lectin pathway activation. *J Immunol*, 185, 4169-78.
- KOHL, J. 2001. Anaphylatoxins and infectious and non-infectious inflammatory diseases. *Mol Immunol*, 38, 175-87.
- KOPF, M., ABEL, B., GALLIMORE, A., CARROLL, M. & BACHMANN, M. F. 2002. Complement component C3 promotes T-cell priming and lung migration to control acute influenza virus infection. *Nat Med*, 8, 373-8.
- KOZAKOWSKI, N., BOHMIG, G. A., EXNER, M., SOLEIMAN, A., HUTTARY, N., NAGY-BOJARSZKY, K., ECKER, R. C., KIKIC, Z. & REGELE, H. 2009. Monocytes/macrophages in kidney allograft intimal arteritis: no association with markers of humoral rejection or with inferior outcome. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 24, 1979-86.
- KROEZE, W. K., SHEFFLER, D. J. & ROTH, B. L. 2003. G-protein-coupled receptors at a glance. *J Cell Sci*, 116, 4867-9.
- KRUGER, B., KRICK, S., DHILLON, N., LERNER, S. M., AMES, S., BROMBERG,
 J. S., LIN, M., WALSH, L., VELLA, J., FISCHEREDER, M., KRAMER, B. K.,
 COLVIN, R. B., HEEGER, P. S., MURPHY, B. T. & SCHROPPEL, B. 2009.
 Donor Toll-like receptor 4 contributes to ischemia and reperfusion injury
 following human kidney transplantation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106, 3390-5.
- KUMAR, S. 2007. Caspase function in programmed cell death. *Cell Death Differ*, 14, 32-43.
- KUMMER, J. A., BROEKHUIZEN, R., EVERETT, H., AGOSTINI, L., KUIJK, L., MARTINON, F., VAN BRUGGEN, R. & TSCHOPP, J. 2007. Inflammasome components NALP 1 and 3 show distinct but separate expression profiles in human tissues suggesting a site-specific role in the inflammatory response. J Histochem Cytochem, 55, 443-52.

- KUPP, L. I., KOSCO, M. H., SCHENKEIN, H. A. & TEW, J. G. 1991. Chemotaxis of germinal center B cells in response to C5a. *Eur J Immunol*, 21, 2697-701.
- LACHMANN, P. J. & HALBWACHS, L. 1975. The influence of C3b inactivator (KAF) concentration on the ability of serum to support complement activation. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 21, 109-14.
- LAJOIE, S., LEWKOWICH, I. P., SUZUKI, Y., CLARK, J. R., SPROLES, A. A., DIENGER, K., BUDELSKY, A. L. & WILLS-KARP, M. 2010. Complementmediated regulation of the IL-17A axis is a central genetic determinant of the severity of experimental allergic asthma. *Nat Immunol*, 11, 928-35.
- LALLI, P. N., STRAINIC, M. G., YANG, M., LIN, F., MEDOF, M. E. & HEEGER, P. S. 2008. Locally produced C5a binds to T cell-expressed C5aR to enhance effector T-cell expansion by limiting antigen-induced apoptosis. *Blood*, 112, 1759-66.
- LANGEN, P. & HUCHO, F. 2008. Karl Lohmann and the discovery of ATP. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl, 47, 1824-7.
- LANGRISH, C. L., CHEN, Y., BLUMENSCHEIN, W. M., MATTSON, J., BASHAM, B., SEDGWICK, J. D., MCCLANAHAN, T., KASTELEIN, R. A. & CUA, D. J. 2005. IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. *J Exp Med*, 201, 233-40.
- LAWRENCE, T. & NATOLI, G. 2011. Transcriptional regulation of macrophage polarization: enabling diversity with identity. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 11, 750-61.
- LE BERRE, L., HERVE, C., BUZELIN, F., USAL, C., SOULILLOU, J. P. & DANTAL, J. 2005. Renal macrophage activation and Th2 polarization precedes the development of nephrotic syndrome in Buffalo/Mna rats. *Kidney Int*, 68, 2079-90.
- LEMAITRE, B., NICOLAS, E., MICHAUT, L., REICHHART, J. M. & HOFFMANN, J. A. 1996. The dorsoventral regulatory gene cassette spatzle/Toll/cactus controls the potent antifungal response in Drosophila adults. *Cell*, 86, 973-83.
- LHOTTA, K., WURZNER, R. & KONIG, P. 1999. Glomerular deposition of mannosebinding lectin in human glomerulonephritis. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 14, 881-6.
- LI, K., ANDERSON, K. J., PENG, Q., NOBLE, A., LU, B., KELLY, A. P., WANG, N., SACKS, S. H. & ZHOU, W. 2008. Cyclic AMP plays a critical role in C3areceptor-mediated regulation of dendritic cells in antigen uptake and T-cell stimulation. *Blood*, 112, 5084-94.
- LI, K., FAZEKASOVA, H., WANG, N., PENG, Q., SACKS, S. H., LOMBARDI, G. & ZHOU, W. 2012. Functional modulation of human monocytes derived DCs by anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a. *Immunobiology*, 217, 65-73.
- LI, K., PATEL, H., FARRAR, C. A., HARGREAVES, R. E., SACKS, S. H. & ZHOU, W. 2004. Complement activation regulates the capacity of proximal tubular epithelial cell to stimulate alloreactive T cell response. J Am Soc Nephrol, 15, 2414-22.
- LI, P., ALLEN, H., BANERJEE, S., FRANKLIN, S., HERZOG, L., JOHNSTON, C., MCDOWELL, J., PASKIND, M., RODMAN, L., SALFELD, J. & ET AL. 1995. Mice deficient in IL-1 beta-converting enzyme are defective in production of mature IL-1 beta and resistant to endotoxic shock. *Cell*, 80, 401-11.
- LIBBY, P., NAHRENDORF, M., PITTET, M. J. & SWIRSKI, F. K. 2008. Diversity of Denizens of the Atherosclerotic Plaque: Not All Monocytes Are Created Equal. *Circulation*, 117, 3168-3170.

- LINFERT, D., CHOWDHRY, T. & RABB, H. 2009. Lymphocytes and ischemiareperfusion injury. *Transplant Rev (Orlando)*, 23, 1-10.
- LIPMANN, F. 1941. Metabolic Generation and Utilization of Phosphate Bond Energy. Advanced Enzymology 18, 99-162.
- LIPSCOMBE, R. J., SUMIYA, M., HILL, A. V., LAU, Y. L., LEVINSKY, R. J., SUMMERFIELD, J. A. & TURNER, M. W. 1992. High frequencies in African and non-African populations of independent mutations in the mannose binding protein gene. *Hum Mol Genet*, 1, 709-15.
- LISTON, P., ROY, N., TAMAI, K., LEFEBVRE, C., BAIRD, S., CHERTON-HORVAT, G., FARAHANI, R., MCLEAN, M., IKEDA, J. E., MACKENZIE, A. & KORNELUK, R. G. 1996. Suppression of apoptosis in mammalian cells by NAIP and a related family of IAP genes. *Nature*, 379, 349-53.
- LISZEWSKI, M. K., POST, T. W. & ATKINSON, J. P. 1991. Membrane cofactor protein (MCP or CD46): newest member of the regulators of complement activation gene cluster. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 9, 431-55.
- LIU, B., WEI, L., MEYERLE, C., TUO, J., SEN, H. N., LI, Z., CHAKRABARTY, S., AGRON, E., CHAN, C. C., KLEIN, M. L., CHEW, E., FERRIS, F. & NUSSENBLATT, R. B. 2011. Complement component C5a promotes expression of IL-22 and IL-17 from human T cells and its implication in agerelated macular degeneration. J Transl Med, 9, 1-12.
- LIU, J., LIN, F., STRAINIC, M. G., AN, F., MILLER, R. H., ALTUNTAS, C. Z., HEEGER, P. S., TUOHY, V. K. & MEDOF, M. E. 2008. IFN-gamma and IL-17 production in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis depends on local APC-T cell complement production. *J Immunol*, 180, 5882-9.
- LIU, X. K., LIN, X. & GAFFEN, S. L. 2004. Crucial role for nuclear factor of activated T cells in T cell receptor-mediated regulation of human interleukin-17. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 52762-71.
- LIU, Y., ENDO, Y., IWAKI, D., NAKATA, M., MATSUSHITA, M., WADA, I., INOUE, K., MUNAKATA, M. & FUJITA, T. 2005. Human M-ficolin is a secretory protein that activates the lectin complement pathway. *J Immunol*, 175, 3150-6.
- LIU, Z., FAN, H. & JIANG, S. 2013. CD4(+) T-cell subsets in transplantation. *Immunol Rev*, 252, 183-91.
- LOCOVEI, S., BAO, L. & DAHL, G. 2006a. Pannexin 1 in erythrocytes: function without a gap. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, 7655-9.
- LOCOVEI, S., WANG, J. & DAHL, G. 2006b. Activation of pannexin 1 channels by ATP through P2Y receptors and by cytoplasmic calcium. *FEBS Lett*, 580, 239-44.
- LOETSCHER, P., UGUCCIONI, M., BORDOLI, L., BAGGIOLINI, M., MOSER, B., CHIZZOLINI, C. & DAYER, J. M. 1998. CCR5 is characteristic of Th1 lymphocytes. *Nature*, 391, 344-5.
- LOVERRE, A., TATARANNI, T., CASTELLANO, G., DIVELLA, C., BATTAGLIA, M., DITONNO, P., CORCELLI, M., MANGINO, M., GESUALDO, L., SCHENA, F. P. & GRANDALIANO, G. 2011. IL-17 expression by tubular epithelial cells in renal transplant recipients with acute antibody-mediated rejection. *Am J Transplant*, 11, 1248-59.
- LOVETT, D. H., HAENSCH, G. M., GOPPELT, M., RESCH, K. & GEMSA, D. 1987. Activation of glomerular mesangial cells by the terminal membrane attack complex of complement. *J Immunol*, 138, 2473-80.
- LU, J., TEH, C., KISHORE, U. & REID, K. B. 2002. Collectins and ficolins: sugar pattern recognition molecules of the mammalian innate immune system. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1572, 387-400.
- MACVICAR, B. A. & THOMPSON, R. J. 2010. Non-junction functions of pannexin-1 channels. *Trends Neurosci*, 33, 93-102.
- MADRY, C., HAGLEROD, C. & ATTWELL, D. 2010. The role of pannexin hemichannels in the anoxic depolarization of hippocampal pyramidal cells. *Brain*, 133, 3755-63.
- MADSEN, H. O., SATZ, M. L., HOGH, B., SVEJGAARD, A. & GARRED, P. 1998. Different molecular events result in low protein levels of mannan-binding lectin in populations from southeast Africa and South America. *J Immunol*, 161, 3169-75.
- MAGALHAES, L. M., VILLANI, F. N., NUNES MDO, C., GOLLOB, K. J., ROCHA, M. O. & DUTRA, W. O. 2013. High interleukin 17 expression is correlated with better cardiac function in human Chagas disease. *J Infect Dis*, 207, 661-5.
- MALFAIT, A. M., BUTLER, D. M., PRESKY, D. H., MAINI, R. N., BRENNAN, F. M. & FELDMANN, M. 1998. Blockade of IL-12 during the induction of collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) markedly attenuates the severity of the arthritis. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 111, 377-83.
- MALHOTRA, R., HAURUM, J., THIEL, S. & SIM, R. B. 1992. Interaction of C1q receptor with lung surfactant protein A. *Eur J Immunol*, 22, 1437-45.
- MANDRUP-POULSEN, T., BENDTZEN, K., NERUP, J., DINARELLO, C. A., SVENSON, M. & NIELSEN, J. H. 1986. Affinity-purified human interleukin I is cytotoxic to isolated islets of Langerhans. *Diabetologia*, 29, 63-7.
- MANTOVANI, A., GARLANDA, C. & LOCATI, M. 2009. Macrophage diversity and polarization in atherosclerosis: a question of balance. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 29, 1419-23.
- MANTOVANI, A., SICA, A., SOZZANI, S., ALLAVENA, P., VECCHI, A. & LOCATI, M. 2004. The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. *Trends Immunol*, 25, 677-86.
- MARCH, C. J., MOSLEY, B., LARSEN, A., CERRETTI, D. P., BRAEDT, G., PRICE, V., GILLIS, S., HENNEY, C. S., KRONHEIM, S. R., GRABSTEIN, K. & ET AL. 1985. Cloning, sequence and expression of two distinct human interleukin-1 complementary DNAs. *Nature*, 315, 641-7.
- MARIATHASAN, S. 2007. ASC, Ipaf and Cryopyrin/Nalp3: bona fide intracellular adapters of the caspase-1 inflammasome. *Microbes Infect*, 9, 664-71.
- MARIATHASAN, S., WEISS, D. S., NEWTON, K., MCBRIDE, J., O'ROURKE, K., ROOSE-GIRMA, M., LEE, W. P., WEINRAUCH, Y., MONACK, D. M. & DIXIT, V. M. 2006. Cryopyrin activates the inflammasome in response to toxins and ATP. *Nature*, 440, 228-32.
- MARKIEWSKI, M. M., DEANGELIS, R. A., STREY, C. W., FOUKAS, P. G., GERARD, C., GERARD, N., WETSEL, R. A. & LAMBRIS, J. D. 2009. The regulation of liver cell survival by complement. *J Immunol*, 182, 5412-8.
- MARKIEWSKI, M. M., MASTELLOS, D., TUDORAN, R., DEANGELIS, R. A., STREY, C. W., FRANCHINI, S., WETSEL, R. A., ERDEI, A. & LAMBRIS, J. D. 2004. C3a and C3b activation products of the third component of complement (C3) are critical for normal liver recovery after toxic injury. J Immunol, 173, 747-54.

- MAROKO, P. R., CARPENTER, C. B., CHIARIELLO, M., FISHBEIN, M. C., RADVANY, P., KNOSTMAN, J. D. & HALE, S. L. 1978. Reduction by cobra venom factor of myocardial necrosis after coronary artery occlusion. J Clin Invest, 61, 661-70.
- MARTIN, U., BOCK, D., ARSENIEV, L., TORNETTA, M. A., AMES, R. S., BAUTSCH, W., KOHL, J., GANSER, A. & KLOS, A. 1997. The human C3a receptor is expressed on neutrophils and monocytes, but not on B or T lymphocytes. *J Exp Med*, 186, 199-207.
- MARTINEZ, F. O., SICA, A., MANTOVANI, A. & LOCATI, M. 2008. Macrophage activation and polarization. *Front Biosci*, 13, 453-61.
- MARTINON, F., AGOSTINI, L., MEYLAN, E. & TSCHOPP, J. 2004. Identification of bacterial muramyl dipeptide as activator of the NALP3/cryopyrin inflammasome. *Current biology : CB*, 14, 1929-34.
- MARTINON, F., BURNS, K. & TSCHOPP, J. 2002. The inflammasome: a molecular platform triggering activation of inflammatory caspases and processing of proIL-beta. *Mol Cell*, 10, 417-26.
- MARTINON, F., HOFMANN, K. & TSCHOPP, J. 2001. The pyrin domain: a possible member of the death domain-fold family implicated in apoptosis and inflammation. *Curr Biol*, 11, R118-20.
- MARTINON, F., PETRILLI, V., MAYOR, A., TARDIVEL, A. & TSCHOPP, J. 2006. Gout-associated uric acid crystals activate the NALP3 inflammasome. *Nature*, 440, 237-41.
- MASCART-LEMONE, F., HAUPTMANN, G., GOETZ, J., DUCHATEAU, J., DELESPESSE, G., VRAY, B. & DAB, I. 1983. Genetic deficiency of C4 presenting with recurrent infections and a SLE-like disease. Genetic and immunologic studies. *Am J Med*, 75, 295-304.
- MATHESON, P. J., DITTMER, I. D., BEAUMONT, B. W., MERRILEES, M. J. & PILMORE, H. L. 2005. The macrophage is the predominant inflammatory cell in renal allograft intimal arteritis. *Transplantation*, 79, 1658-62.
- MATSUDA, M., SHIKATA, K., WADA, J., SUGIMOTO, H., SHIKATA, Y., KAWASAKI, T. & MAKINO, H. 1998. Deposition of mannan binding protein and mannan binding protein-mediated complement activation in the glomeruli of patients with IgA nephropathy. *Nephron*, 80, 408-13.
- MATSUSHITA, M., ENDO, Y. & FUJITA, T. 2000. Cutting edge: complementactivating complex of ficolin and mannose-binding lectin-associated serine protease. *J Immunol*, 164, 2281-4.
- MATSUSHITA, M., KURAYA, M., HAMASAKI, N., TSUJIMURA, M., SHIRAKI, H. & FUJITA, T. 2002. Activation of the lectin complement pathway by H-ficolin (Hakata antigen). *J Immunol*, 168, 3502-6.
- MATTHEWS, K. W., MUELLER-ORTIZ, S. L. & WETSEL, R. A. 2004. Carboxypeptidase N: a pleiotropic regulator of inflammation. *Mol Immunol*, 40, 785-93.
- MAYER-BARBER, K. D., BARBER, D. L., SHENDEROV, K., WHITE, S. D., WILSON, M. S., CHEEVER, A., KUGLER, D., HIENY, S., CASPAR, P., NUNEZ, G., SCHLUETER, D., FLAVELL, R. A., SUTTERWALA, F. S. & SHER, A. 2010. Caspase-1 independent IL-1beta production is critical for host resistance to mycobacterium tuberculosis and does not require TLR signaling in vivo. J Immunol, 184, 3326-30.

- MCALINDON, M. E., HAWKEY, C. J. & MAHIDA, Y. R. 1998. Expression of interleukin 1 beta and interleukin 1 beta converting enzyme by intestinal macrophages in health and inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut*, 42, 214-9.
- MCGOVERN, D. P., HYSI, P., AHMAD, T., VAN HEEL, D. A., MOFFATT, M. F., CAREY, A., COOKSON, W. O. & JEWELL, D. P. 2005. Association between a complex insertion/deletion polymorphism in NOD1 (CARD4) and susceptibility to inflammatory bowel disease. *Hum Mol Genet*, 14, 1245-50.
- MCMULLEN, M. E., HART, M. L., WALSH, M. C., BURAS, J., TAKAHASHI, K. & STAHL, G. L. 2006. Mannose-binding lectin binds IgM to activate the lectin complement pathway in vitro and in vivo. *Immunobiology*, 211, 759-66.
- MCQUILLIN, A., BASS, N. J., CHOUDHURY, K., PURI, V., KOSMIN, M., LAWRENCE, J., CURTIS, D. & GURLING, H. M. 2009. Case-control studies show that a non-conservative amino-acid change from a glutamine to arginine in the P2RX7 purinergic receptor protein is associated with both bipolar- and unipolar-affective disorders. *Mol Psychiatry*, 14, 614-20.
- MEANS, T. K., GOLENBOCK, D. T. & FENTON, M. J. 2000. Structure and function of Toll-like receptor proteins. *Life sciences*, 68, 241-58.
- MEDOF, M. E., KINOSHITA, T. & NUSSENZWEIG, V. 1984. Inhibition of complement activation on the surface of cells after incorporation of decay-accelerating factor (DAF) into their membranes. *J Exp Med*, 160, 1558-78.
- MEDZHITOV, R., PRESTON-HURLBURT, P., KOPP, E., STADLEN, A., CHEN, C., GHOSH, S. & JANEWAY, C. A., JR. 1998. MyD88 is an adaptor protein in the hToll/IL-1 receptor family signaling pathways. *Mol Cell*, 2, 253-8.
- MEJIA-VILET, J. M., RAMIREZ, V., CRUZ, C., URIBE, N., GAMBA, G. & BOBADILLA, N. A. 2007. Renal ischemia-reperfusion injury is prevented by the mineralocorticoid receptor blocker spironolactone. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*, 293, F78-86.
- MENGEL, M., SIS, B., HAAS, M., COLVIN, R. B., HALLORAN, P. F., RACUSEN, L. C., SOLEZ, K., CENDALES, L., DEMETRIS, A. J., DRACHENBERG, C. B., FARVER, C. F., RODRIGUEZ, E. R., WALLACE, W. D. & GLOTZ, D. 2012. Banff 2011 Meeting report: new concepts in antibody-mediated rejection. *Am J Transplant*, 12, 563-70.
- MIHLAN, M., BLOM, A. M., KUPREISHVILI, K., LAUER, N., STELZNER, K., BERGSTROM, F., NIESSEN, H. W. & ZIPFEL, P. F. 2011. Monomeric Creactive protein modulates classic complement activation on necrotic cells. *FASEB J*, 25, 4198-210.
- MIOSSEC, P. & KOLLS, J. K. 2012. Targeting IL-17 and TH17 cells in chronic inflammation. *Nature reviews. Drug discovery*, 11, 763-76.
- MIURA, M. O., Y. KUBOTA, K. C. HARADA, H. SHIMODA, N. ONO, T. MORITA, K. WATARAI, Y. HIRANO, T. NONOMURA, K 2007. Donor-specific antibody in chronic rejection is associated with glomerulopathy, thickening of peritubular capillary basement membrane, but not C4d deposition. *Clinical Transplantation* VOL 21, 8-12.
- MIWA, T. & SONG, W. C. 2001. Membrane complement regulatory proteins: insight from animal studies and relevance to human diseases. *Int Immunopharmacol*, 1, 445-59.
- MIYAZAKI, Y., HAMANO, S., WANG, S., SHIMANOE, Y., IWAKURA, Y. & YOSHIDA, H. 2010. IL-17 is necessary for host protection against acute-phase Trypanosoma cruzi infection. *J Immunol*, 185, 1150-7.

- MIZUTANI, N., GOSHIMA, H., NABE, T. & YOSHINO, S. 2012. Complement C3ainduced IL-17 plays a critical role in an IgE-mediated late-phase asthmatic response and airway hyperresponsiveness via neutrophilic inflammation in mice. *J Immunol*, 188, 5694-705.
- MOLLER-KRISTENSEN, M., WANG, W., RUSEVA, M., THIEL, S., NIELSEN, S., TAKAHASHI, K., SHI, L., EZEKOWITZ, A., JENSENIUS, J. C. & GADJEVA, M. 2005. Mannan-binding lectin recognizes structures on ischaemic reperfused mouse kidneys and is implicated in tissue injury. *Scand J Immunol*, 61, 426-34.
- MONSINJON, T., GASQUE, P., CHAN, P., ISCHENKO, A., BRADY, J. J. & FONTAINE, M. C. 2003. Regulation by complement C3a and C5a anaphylatoxins of cytokine production in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *FASEB J*, 17, 1003-14.
- MORGAN, B. P. & GASQUE, P. 1997. Extrahepatic complement biosynthesis: where, when and why? *Clin Exp Immunol*, 107, 1-7.
- MORRISON, D. C. & KLINE, L. F. 1977. Activation of the classical and properdin pathways of complement by bacterial lipopolysaccharides (LPS). *J Immunol*, 118, 362-8.
- MOSLEY, B., URDAL, D. L., PRICKETT, K. S., LARSEN, A., COSMAN, D., CONLON, P. J., GILLIS, S. & DOWER, S. K. 1987. The interleukin-1 receptor binds the human interleukin-1 alpha precursor but not the interleukin-1 beta precursor. J Biol Chem, 262, 2941-4.
- MOSMANN, T. R., CHERWINSKI, H., BOND, M. W., GIEDLIN, M. A. & COFFMAN, R. L. 1986. Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. *J Immunol*, 136, 2348-57.
- MUKHERJEE, P., THOMAS, S. & PASINETTI, G. M. 2008. Complement anaphylatoxin C5a neuroprotects through regulation of glutamate receptor subunit 2 in vitro and in vivo. *J Neuroinflammation*, 5, 5.
- MULLER-EBERHARD, H. J. 1986. The membrane attack complex of complement. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 4, 503-28.
- MULLER-EBERHARD, H. J. & SCHREIBER, R. D. 1980. Molecular biology and chemistry of the alternative pathway of complement. *Adv Immunol*, 29, 1-53.
- MULLER, B., GIMSA, U., MITCHISON, N. A., RADBRUCH, A., SIEPER, J. & YIN, Z. 1998. Modulating the Th1/Th2 balance in inflammatory arthritis. *Springer Semin Immunopathol*, 20, 181-96.
- MURGIA, M., HANAU, S., PIZZO, P., RIPPA, M. & DI VIRGILIO, F. 1993. Oxidized ATP. An irreversible inhibitor of the macrophage purinergic P2Z receptor. *J Biol Chem*, 268, 8199-203.
- MURUVE, D. A., PETRILLI, V., ZAISS, A. K., WHITE, L. R., CLARK, S. A., ROSS, P. J., PARKS, R. J. & TSCHOPP, J. 2008. The inflammasome recognizes cytosolic microbial and host DNA and triggers an innate immune response. *Nature*, 452, 103-7.
- MYLVAGANAM, S., ZHANG, L., WU, C., ZHANG, Z. J., SAMOILOVA, M., EUBANKS, J., CARLEN, P. L. & POULTER, M. O. 2010. Hippocampal seizures alter the expression of the pannexin and connexin transcriptome. J Neurochem, 112, 92-102.

- NADIRI, A., WOLINSKI, M. K. & SALEH, M. 2006. The inflammatory caspases: key players in the host response to pathogenic invasion and sepsis. *J Immunol*, 177, 4239-45.
- NAESENS, M., LI, L., YING, L., SANSANWAL, P., SIGDEL, T. K., HSIEH, S. C., KAMBHAM, N., LERUT, E., SALVATIERRA, O., BUTTE, A. J. & SARWAL, M. M. 2009. Expression of complement components differs between kidney allografts from living and deceased donors. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 20, 1839-51.
- NAKAE, S., NAMBU, A., SUDO, K. & IWAKURA, Y. 2003. Suppression of immune induction of collagen-induced arthritis in IL-17-deficient mice. *J Immunol*, 171, 6173-7.
- NANKIVELL, B. J. & ALEXANDER, S. I. 2010. Rejection of the kidney allograft. *N Engl J Med*, 363, 1451-62.
- NAVRATIL, J. S., WATKINS, S. C., WISNIESKI, J. J. & AHEARN, J. M. 2001. The globular heads of C1q specifically recognize surface blebs of apoptotic vascular endothelial cells. *J Immunol*, 166, 3231-9.
- NELSON, R. A., JR. 1958. An alternative mechanism for the properdin system. J Exp Med, 108, 515-35.
- NETEA, M. G., NOLD-PETRY, C. A., NOLD, M. F., JOOSTEN, L. A., OPITZ, B., VAN DER MEER, J. H., VAN DE VEERDONK, F. L., FERWERDA, G., HEINHUIS, B., DEVESA, I., FUNK, C. J., MASON, R. J., KULLBERG, B. J., RUBARTELLI, A., VAN DER MEER, J. W. & DINARELLO, C. A. 2009. Differential requirement for the activation of the inflammasome for processing and release of IL-1beta in monocytes and macrophages. *Blood*, 113, 2324-35.
- NETEA, M. G., VAN DE VEERDONK, F. L., KULLBERG, B. J., VAN DER MEER, J. W. & JOOSTEN, L. A. 2008. The role of NLRs and TLRs in the activation of the inflammasome. *Expert opinion on biological therapy*, 8, 1867-72.
- NEVENS, J. R., MALLIA, A. K., WENDT, M. W. & SMITH, P. K. 1992. Affinity chromatographic purification of immunoglobulin M antibodies utilizing immobilized mannan binding protein. *J Chromatogr*, 597, 247-56.
- NICOLAIDES, N. C., HOLROYD, K. J., EWART, S. L., ELEFF, S. M., KISER, M. B., DRAGWA, C. R., SULLIVAN, C. D., GRASSO, L., ZHANG, L. Y., MESSLER, C. J., ZHOU, T., KLEEBERGER, S. R., BUETOW, K. H. & LEVITT, R. C. 1997. Interleukin 9: a candidate gene for asthma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 13175-80.
- NICULESCU, F. & RUS, H. 1999. Complement activation and atherosclerosis. *Mol Immunol*, 36, 949-55.
- NOCKHER, W. A. & SCHERBERICH, J. E. 1998. Expanded CD14+ CD16+ monocyte subpopulation in patients with acute and chronic infections undergoing hemodialysis. *Infection and immunity*, 66, 2782-90.
- NURIEVA, R. I., CHUNG, Y., HWANG, D., YANG, X. O., KANG, H. S., MA, L., WANG, Y. H., WATOWICH, S. S., JETTEN, A. M., TIAN, Q. & DONG, C. 2008. Generation of T follicular helper cells is mediated by interleukin-21 but independent of T helper 1, 2, or 17 cell lineages. *Immunity*, 29, 138-49.
- NURIEVA, R. I., CHUNG, Y., MARTINEZ, G. J., YANG, X. O., TANAKA, S., MATSKEVITCH, T. D., WANG, Y. H. & DONG, C. 2009. Bcl6 mediates the development of T follicular helper cells. *Science*, 325, 1001-5.
- O'CONNOR, W., JR., KAMANAKA, M., BOOTH, C. J., TOWN, T., NAKAE, S., IWAKURA, Y., KOLLS, J. K. & FLAVELL, R. A. 2009. A protective function

for interleukin 17A in T cell-mediated intestinal inflammation. *Nat Immunol*, 10, 603-9.

- O'CONNOR, W., JR., ZENEWICZ, L. A. & FLAVELL, R. A. 2010. The dual nature of T(H)17 cells: shifting the focus to function. *Nat Immunol*, 11, 471-6.
- OGURA, Y., INOHARA, N., BENITO, A., CHEN, F. F., YAMAOKA, S. & NUNEZ, G. 2001. Nod2, a Nod1/Apaf-1 family member that is restricted to monocytes and activates NF-kappaB. J Biol Chem, 276, 4812-8.
- OHASHI, T. & ERICKSON, H. P. 1998. Oligomeric structure and tissue distribution of ficolins from mouse, pig and human. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 360, 223-32.
- OHTANI, K., SUZUKI, Y., EDA, S., KAWAI, T., KASE, T., KESHI, H., SAKAI, Y., FUKUOH, A., SAKAMOTO, T., ITABE, H., SUZUTANI, T., OGASAWARA, M., YOSHIDA, I. & WAKAMIYA, N. 2001. The membrane-type collectin CL-P1 is a scavenger receptor on vascular endothelial cells. J Biol Chem, 276, 44222-8.
- OHTANI, K., SUZUKI, Y., EDA, S., KAWAI, T., KASE, T., YAMAZAKI, H., SHIMADA, T., KESHI, H., SAKAI, Y., FUKUOH, A., SAKAMOTO, T. & WAKAMIYA, N. 1999. Molecular cloning of a novel human collectin from liver (CL-L1). J Biol Chem, 274, 13681-9.
- OJO, A. O., WOLFE, R. A., HELD, P. J., PORT, F. K. & SCHMOUDER, R. L. 1997. Delayed graft function: risk factors and implications for renal allograft survival. *Transplantation*, 63, 968-74.
- OKUSAWA, S., DINARELLO, C. A., YANCEY, K. B., ENDRES, S., LAWLEY, T. J., FRANK, M. M., BURKE, J. F. & GELFAND, J. A. 1987. C5a induction of human interleukin 1. Synergistic effect with endotoxin or interferon-gamma. *Journal of immunology*, 139, 2635-40.
- OPPMANN, B., LESLEY, R., BLOM, B., TIMANS, J. C., XU, Y., HUNTE, B., VEGA, F., YU, N., WANG, J., SINGH, K., ZONIN, F., VAISBERG, E., CHURAKOVA, T., LIU, M., GORMAN, D., WAGNER, J., ZURAWSKI, S., LIU, Y., ABRAMS, J. S., MOORE, K. W., RENNICK, D., DE WAAL-MALEFYT, R., HANNUM, C., BAZAN, J. F. & KASTELEIN, R. A. 2000. Novel p19 protein engages IL-12p40 to form a cytokine, IL-23, with biological activities similar as well as distinct from IL-12. *Immunity*, 13, 715-25.
- ORELLANA, J. A., FROGER, N., EZAN, P., JIANG, J. X., BENNETT, M. V., NAUS, C. C., GIAUME, C. & SAEZ, J. C. 2011. ATP and glutamate released via astroglial connexin 43 hemichannels mediate neuronal death through activation of pannexin 1 hemichannels. *J Neurochem*, 118, 826-40.
- OSAKA, H., MUKHERJEE, P., AISEN, P. S. & PASINETTI, G. M. 1999. Complement-derived anaphylatoxin C5a protects against glutamate-mediated neurotoxicity. *J Cell Biochem*, 73, 303-11.
- OSTHOFF, M., KATAN, M., FLURI, F., SCHUETZ, P., BINGISSER, R., KAPPOS, L., STECK, A. J., ENGELTER, S. T., MUELLER, B., CHRIST-CRAIN, M. & TRENDELENBURG, M. 2011. Mannose-binding lectin deficiency is associated with smaller infarction size and favorable outcome in ischemic stroke patients. *PLoS ONE*, 6, e21338.
- OTTONELLO, L., CORCIONE, A., TORTOLINA, G., AIROLDI, I., ALBESIANO, E., FAVRE, A., D'AGOSTINO, R., MALAVASI, F., PISTOIA, V. & DALLEGRI, F. 1999. rC5a directs the in vitro migration of human memory and naive tonsillar B lymphocytes: implications for B cell trafficking in secondary lymphoid tissues. *J Immunol*, 162, 6510-7.

- OUYANG, W., KOLLS, J. K. & ZHENG, Y. 2008. The biological functions of T helper 17 cell effector cytokines in inflammation. *Immunity*, 28, 454-67.
- OZDEMIR, B. H., DEMIRHAN, B. & GUNGEN, Y. 2002. The presence and prognostic importance of glomerular macrophage infiltration in renal allografts. *Nephron*, 90, 442-6.
- PANCHIN, Y., KELMANSON, I., MATZ, M., LUKYANOV, K., USMAN, N. & LUKYANOV, S. 2000. A ubiquitous family of putative gap junction molecules. *Curr Biol*, 10, R473-4.
- PAPADIMITRIOU, J. C., PHELPS, P. C., SHIN, M. L., SMITH, M. W. & TRUMP, B. F. 1994. Effects of Ca2+ deregulation on mitochondrial membrane potential and cell viability in nucleated cells following lytic complement attack. *Cell Calcium*, 15, 217-27.
- PAPADIMITRIOU, J. C., RAMM, L. E., DRACHENBERG, C. B., TRUMP, B. F. & SHIN, M. L. 1991. Quantitative analysis of adenine nucleotides during the prelytic phase of cell death mediated by C5b-9. *J Immunol*, 147, 212-7.
- PARK, H., LI, Z., YANG, X. O., CHANG, S. H., NURIEVA, R., WANG, Y. H., WANG, Y., HOOD, L., ZHU, Z., TIAN, Q. & DONG, C. 2005. A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. *Nat Immunol*, 6, 1133-41.
- PARK, P., HAAS, M., CUNNINGHAM, P. N., ALEXANDER, J. J., BAO, L., GUTHRIDGE, J. M., KRAUS, D. M., HOLERS, V. M. & QUIGG, R. J. 2001. Inhibiting the complement system does not reduce injury in renal ischemia reperfusion. J Am Soc Nephrol, 12, 1383-90.
- PARK, P., HAAS, M., CUNNINGHAM, P. N., BAO, L., ALEXANDER, J. J. & QUIGG, R. J. 2002. Injury in renal ischemia-reperfusion is independent from immunoglobulins and T lymphocytes. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*, 282, F352-7.
- PARRONCHI, P., MACCHIA, D., PICCINNI, M. P., BISWAS, P., SIMONELLI, C., MAGGI, E., RICCI, M., ANSARI, A. A. & ROMAGNANI, S. 1991. Allergenand bacterial antigen-specific T-cell clones established from atopic donors show a different profile of cytokine production. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 88, 4538-42.
- PASSLICK, B., FLIEGER, D. & ZIEGLER-HEITBROCK, H. W. 1989. Identification and characterization of a novel monocyte subpopulation in human peripheral blood. *Blood*, 74, 2527-34.
- PASSWELL, J., SCHREINER, G. F., NONAKA, M., BEUSCHER, H. U. & COLTEN, H. R. 1988. Local extrahepatic expression of complement genes C3, factor B, C2, and C4 is increased in murine lupus nephritis. *J Clin Invest*, 82, 1676-84.
- PATEL, S. N., BERGHOUT, J., LOVEGROVE, F. E., AYI, K., CONROY, A., SERGHIDES, L., MIN-OO, G., GOWDA, D. C., SARMA, J. V., RITTIRSCH, D., WARD, P. A., LILES, W. C., GROS, P. & KAIN, K. C. 2008. C5 deficiency and C5a or C5aR blockade protects against cerebral malaria. *J Exp Med*, 205, 1133-43.
- PEITSCH, M. C. & TSCHOPP, J. 1991. Assembly of macromolecular pores by immune defense systems. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, 3, 710-6.
- PELEGRIN, P. & SURPRENANT, A. 2006. Pannexin-1 mediates large pore formation and interleukin-1beta release by the ATP-gated P2X7 receptor. *EMBO J*, 25, 5071-82.
- PENG, Q., LI, K., ANDERSON, K., FARRAR, C. A., LU, B., SMITH, R. A., SACKS, S. H. & ZHOU, W. 2008. Local production and activation of complement up-

regulates the allostimulatory function of dendritic cells through C3a-C3aR interaction. *Blood*, 111, 2452-61.

- PENG, Q., LI, K., WANG, N., LI, Q., ASGARI, E., LU, B., WOODRUFF, T. M., SACKS, S. H. & ZHOU, W. 2009. Dendritic cell function in allostimulation is modulated by C5aR signaling. *J Immunol*, 183, 6058-68.
- PENG, Y., HAN, G., SHAO, H., WANG, Y., KAPLAN, H. J. & SUN, D. 2007. Characterization of IL-17+ interphotoreceptor retinoid-binding protein-specific T cells in experimental autoimmune uveitis. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 48, 4153-61.
- PEPYS, M. B. 1976. Role of complement in the induction of immunological responses. *Transplant Rev*, 32, 93-120.
- PERLMUTTER, D. H. & COLTEN, H. R. 1986. Molecular immunobiology of complement biosynthesis: a model of single-cell control of effector-inhibitor balance. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 4, 231-51.
- PERREGAUX, D. G., LALIBERTE, R. E. & GABEL, C. A. 1996. Human monocyte interleukin-1beta posttranslational processing. Evidence of a volume-regulated response. *J Biol Chem*, 271, 29830-8.
- PERREGAUX, D. G., MCNIFF, P., LALIBERTE, R., CONKLYN, M. & GABEL, C. A. 2000. ATP acts as an agonist to promote stimulus-induced secretion of IL-1 beta and IL-18 in human blood. *J Immunol*, 165, 4615-23.
- PERSSON, A., RUST, K., CHANG, D., MOXLEY, M., LONGMORE, W. & CROUCH, E. 1988. CP4: a pneumocyte-derived collagenous surfactantassociated protein. Evidence for heterogeneity of collagenous surfactant proteins. *Biochemistry*, 27, 8576-84.
- PETTERSON, T., JENDHOLM, J., MANSSON, A., BJARTELL, A., RIESBECK, K. & CARDELL, L. O. 2011. Effects of NOD-like receptors in human B lymphocytes and crosstalk between NOD1/NOD2 and Toll-like receptors. J Leukoc Biol, 89, 177-87.
- PHAN, T. G., GRIGOROVA, I., OKADA, T. & CYSTER, J. G. 2007. Subcapsular encounter and complement-dependent transport of immune complexes by lymph node B cells. *Nat Immunol*, *8*, 992-1000.
- PHILLIPS, A. E., TOTH, J., DODDS, A. W., GIRIJA, U. V., FURZE, C. M., PALA, E., SIM, R. B., REID, K. B., SCHWAEBLE, W. J., SCHMID, R., KEEBLE, A. H. & WALLIS, R. 2009. Analogous interactions in initiating complexes of the classical and lectin pathways of complement. *J Immunol*, 182, 7708-17.
- PIERCE, K. L., PREMONT, R. T. & LEFKOWITZ, R. J. 2002. Seven-transmembrane receptors. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 3, 639-50.
- PILLEMER, L., BLUM, L., LEPOW, I. H., ROSS, O. A., TODD, E. W. & WARDLAW, A. C. 1954. The properdin system and immunity. I. Demonstration and isolation of a new serum protein, properdin, and its role in immune phenomena. *Science*, 120, 279-85.
- POLTORAK, A., HE, X., SMIRNOVA, I., LIU, M. Y., VAN HUFFEL, C., DU, X., BIRDWELL, D., ALEJOS, E., SILVA, M., GALANOS, C., FREUDENBERG, M., RICCIARDI-CASTAGNOLI, P., LAYTON, B. & BEUTLER, B. 1998. Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene. *Science*, 282, 2085-8.
- POYET, J. L., SRINIVASULA, S. M., TNANI, M., RAZMARA, M., FERNANDES-ALNEMRI, T. & ALNEMRI, E. S. 2001. Identification of Ipaf, a human caspase-1-activating protein related to Apaf-1. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 28309-13.

- PRATT, J. R., BASHEER, S. A. & SACKS, S. H. 2002. Local synthesis of complement component C3 regulates acute renal transplant rejection. *Nat Med*, 8, 582-7.
- PREMKUMAR, V., DEY, M., DORN, R. & RASKIN, I. 2010. MyD88-dependent and independent pathways of Toll-Like Receptors are engaged in biological activity of Triptolide in ligand-stimulated macrophages. *BMC chemical biology*, 10, 3.
- PRESANIS, J. S., KOJIMA, M. & SIM, R. B. 2003. Biochemistry and genetics of mannan-binding lectin (MBL). *Biochem Soc Trans*, 31, 748-52.
- PROVOOST, S., MAES, T., PAUWELS, N. S., VANDEN BERGHE, T., VANDENABEELE, P., LAMBRECHT, B. N., JOOS, G. F. & TOURNOY, K. G. 2011. NLRP3/caspase-1-independent IL-1beta production mediates diesel exhaust particle-induced pulmonary inflammation. *J Immunol*, 187, 3331-7.
- PRYDZ, H., ALLISON, A. C. & SCHORLEMMER, H. U. 1977. Further link between complement activation and blood coagulation. *Nature*, 270, 173-4.
- PULSKENS, W. P., TESKE, G. J., BUTTER, L. M., ROELOFS, J. J., VAN DER POLL, T., FLORQUIN, S. & LEEMANS, J. C. 2008. Toll-like receptor-4 coordinates the innate immune response of the kidney to renal ischemia/reperfusion injury. *PLoS ONE*, 3, e3596.
- QU, Y., MISAGHI, S., NEWTON, K., GILMOUR, L. L., LOUIE, S., CUPP, J. E., DUBYAK, G. R., HACKOS, D. & DIXIT, V. M. 2011. Pannexin-1 is required for ATP release during apoptosis but not for inflammasome activation. J Immunol, 186, 6553-61.
- RACUSEN, L. C., COLVIN, R. B., SOLEZ, K., MIHATSCH, M. J., HALLORAN, P.
 F., CAMPBELL, P. M., CECKA, M. J., COSYNS, J. P., DEMETRIS, A. J.,
 FISHBEIN, M. C., FOGO, A., FURNESS, P., GIBSON, I. W., GLOTZ, D.,
 HAYRY, P., HUNSICKERN, L., KASHGARIAN, M., KERMAN, R., MAGIL,
 A. J., MONTGOMERY, R., MOROZUMI, K., NICKELEIT, V.,
 RANDHAWA, P., REGELE, H., SERON, D., SESHAN, S., SUND, S. &
 TRPKOV, K. 2003. Antibody-mediated rejection criteria an addition to the
 Banff 97 classification of renal allograft rejection. *Am J Transplant*, 3, 708-14.
- RAHPEYMAI, Y., HIETALA, M. A., WILHELMSSON, U., FOTHERINGHAM, A., DAVIES, I., NILSSON, A. K., ZWIRNER, J., WETSEL, R. A., GERARD, C., PEKNY, M. & PEKNA, M. 2006. Complement: a novel factor in basal and ischemia-induced neurogenesis. *EMBO J*, 25, 1364-74.
- RANSFORD, G. A., FREGIEN, N., QIU, F., DAHL, G., CONNER, G. E. & SALATHE, M. 2009. Pannexin 1 contributes to ATP release in airway epithelia. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 41, 525-34.
- RATAJCZAK, J., RECA, R., KUCIA, M., MAJKA, M., ALLENDORF, D. J., BARAN, J. T., JANOWSKA-WIECZOREK, A., WETSEL, R. A., ROSS, G. D. & RATAJCZAK, M. Z. 2004. Mobilization studies in mice deficient in either C3 or C3a receptor (C3aR) reveal a novel role for complement in retention of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells in bone marrow. *Blood*, 103, 2071-8.
- REITH, W. & MACH, B. 2001. The bare lymphocyte syndrome and the regulation of MHC expression. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 19, 331-73.
- RENNER, B., STRASSHEIM, D., AMURA, C. R., KULIK, L., LJUBANOVIC, D., GLOGOWSKA, M. J., TAKAHASHI, K., CARROLL, M. C., HOLERS, V. M. & THURMAN, J. M. 2010. B cell subsets contribute to renal injury and renal protection after ischemia/reperfusion. *J Immunol*, 185, 4393-400.
- REYNOLDS, R., HARTNETT, M. E., ATKINSON, J. P., GICLAS, P. C., ROSNER, B. & SEDDON, J. M. 2009. Plasma complement components and activation

fragments: associations with age-related macular degeneration genotypes and phenotypes. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 50, 5818-27.

- RICKLIN, D., HAJISHENGALLIS, G., YANG, K. & LAMBRIS, J. D. 2010. Complement: a key system for immune surveillance and homeostasis. *Nat Immunol*, 11, 785-97.
- RILEY-VARGAS, R. C., GILL, D. B., KEMPER, C., LISZEWSKI, M. K. & ATKINSON, J. P. 2004. CD46: expanding beyond complement regulation. *Trends in Immunology*, 25, 496-503.
- ROBINSON, D. S., HAMID, Q., YING, S., TSICOPOULOS, A., BARKANS, J., BENTLEY, A. M., CORRIGAN, C., DURHAM, S. R. & KAY, A. B. 1992. Predominant TH2-like bronchoalveolar T-lymphocyte population in atopic asthma. N Engl J Med, 326, 298-304.
- ROBSON, M. G. 2009. Toll-like receptors and renal disease. *Nephron. Experimental nephrology*, 113, e1-7.
- ROCK, K. L. & KONO, H. 2008. The inflammatory response to cell death. *Annu Rev Pathol*, 3, 99-126.
- ROMAGNOLI, P., HUDRISIER, D. & VAN MEERWIJK, J. P. 2002. Preferential recognition of self antigens despite normal thymic deletion of CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells. *J Immunol*, 168, 1644-8.
- ROOS, A., BOUWMAN, L. H., VAN GIJLSWIJK-JANSSEN, D. J., FABER-KROL, M. C., STAHL, G. L. & DAHA, M. R. 2001. Human IgA activates the complement system via the mannan-binding lectin pathway. *J Immunol*, 167, 2861-8.
- ROOS, A., RASTALDI, M. P., CALVARESI, N., OORTWIJN, B. D., SCHLAGWEIN, N., VAN GIJLSWIJK-JANSSEN, D. J., STAHL, G. L., MATSUSHITA, M., FUJITA, T., VAN KOOTEN, C. & DAHA, M. R. 2006. Glomerular activation of the lectin pathway of complement in IgA nephropathy is associated with more severe renal disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 17, 1724-34.
- ROSENSTREICH, D. L., TU, J. H., KINKADE, P. R., MAURER-FOGY, I., KAHN, J., BARTON, R. W. & FARINA, P. R. 1988. A human urine-derived interleukin 1 inhibitor. Homology with deoxyribonuclease I. *J Exp Med*, 168, 1767-79.
- RUNZA, V. L., SCHWAEBLE, W. & MANNEL, D. N. 2008. Ficolins: novel pattern recognition molecules of the innate immune response. *Immunobiology*, 213, 297-306.
- RUSAI, K., HUANG, H., SAYED, N., STROBL, M., ROOS, M., SCHMADERER, C., HEEMANN, U. & LUTZ, J. 2008. Administration of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist ameliorates renal ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Transpl Int*, 21, 572-80.
- RUTHERFORD, M. S., WITSELL, A. & SCHOOK, L. B. 1993. Mechanisms generating functionally heterogeneous macrophages: chaos revisited. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, 53, 602-18.
- SACKS, S. H. & ZHOU, W. 2012. The role of complement in the early immune response to transplantation. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 12, 431-42.
- SALLUSTO, F., LENIG, D., MACKAY, C. R. & LANZAVECCHIA, A. 1998. Flexible programs of chemokine receptor expression on human polarized T helper 1 and 2 lymphocytes. *J Exp Med*, 187, 875-83.
- SALLUSTO, F., MACKAY, C. R. & LANZAVECCHIA, A. 1997. Selective expression of the eotaxin receptor CCR3 by human T helper 2 cells. *Science*, 277, 2005-7.

- SANCHEZ-TORRES, C., GARCIA-ROMO, G. S., CORNEJO-CORTES, M. A., RIVAS-CARVALHO, A. & SANCHEZ-SCHMITZ, G. 2001. CD16+ and CD16- human blood monocyte subsets differentiate in vitro to dendritic cells with different abilities to stimulate CD4+ T cells. *International immunology*, 13, 1571-81.
- SARAHEIMO, M., FORSBLOM, C., HANSEN, T. K., TEPPO, A. M., FAGERUDD, J., PETTERSSON-FERNHOLM, K., THIEL, S., TARNOW, L., EBELING, P., FLYVBJERG, A. & GROOP, P. H. 2005. Increased levels of mannan-binding lectin in type 1 diabetic patients with incipient and overt nephropathy. *Diabetologia*, 48, 198-202.
- SARWAL, M., CHUA, M. S., KAMBHAM, N., HSIEH, S. C., SATTERWHITE, T., MASEK, M. & SALVATIERRA, O., JR. 2003. Molecular heterogeneity in acute renal allograft rejection identified by DNA microarray profiling. N Engl J Med, 349, 125-38.
- SASTRY, K., HERMAN, G. A., DAY, L., DEIGNAN, E., BRUNS, G., MORTON, C.
 C. & EZEKOWITZ, R. A. 1989. The human mannose-binding protein gene. Exon structure reveals its evolutionary relationship to a human pulmonary surfactant gene and localization to chromosome 10. J Exp Med, 170, 1175-89.
- SASTRY, R., WANG, J. S., BROWN, D. C., EZEKOWITZ, R. A., TAUBER, A. I. & SASTRY, K. N. 1995. Characterization of murine mannose-binding protein genes Mbl1 and Mbl2 reveals features common to other collectin genes. *Mammalian Genome*, 6, 103-10.
- SATO, M., SANO, H., IWAKI, D., KUDO, K., KONISHI, M., TAKAHASHI, H., TAKAHASHI, T., IMAIZUMI, H., ASAI, Y. & KUROKI, Y. 2003. Direct binding of Toll-like receptor 2 to zymosan, and zymosan-induced NF-kappa B activation and TNF-alpha secretion are down-regulated by lung collectin surfactant protein A. *J Immunol*, 171, 417-25.
- SATO, T., ENDO, Y., MATSUSHITA, M. & FUJITA, T. 1994. Molecular characterization of a novel serine protease involved in activation of the complement system by mannose-binding protein. *Int Immunol*, 6, 665-9.
- SATPUTE, S. R., PARK, J. M., JANG, H. R., AGREDA, P., LIU, M., GANDOLFO, M. T., RACUSEN, L. & RABB, H. 2009. The role for T cell repertoire/antigenspecific interactions in experimental kidney ischemia reperfusion injury. J Immunol, 183, 984-92.
- SAYEGH, M. H. & TURKA, L. A. 1998. The role of T-cell costimulatory activation pathways in transplant rejection. *N Engl J Med*, 338, 1813-21.
- SCHENK, U., WESTENDORF, A. M., RADAELLI, E., CASATI, A., FERRO, M., FUMAGALLI, M., VERDERIO, C., BUER, J., SCANZIANI, E. & GRASSI, F. 2008. Purinergic control of T cell activation by ATP released through pannexin-1 hemichannels. *Sci Signal*, 1, ra6.
- SCHIFFERLI, J. A. 1987. The classical pathway of complement prevents the formation of insoluble antigen-antibody complexes: biological implications. *Immunol Lett*, 14, 225-8.
- SCHIFFERLI, J. A., BARTOLOTTI, S. R. & PETERS, D. K. 1980. Inhibition of immune precipitation by complement. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 42, 387-94.
- SCHMITT, E., GERMANN, T., GOEDERT, S., HOEHN, P., HUELS, C., KOELSCH, S., KUHN, R., MULLER, W., PALM, N. & RUDE, E. 1994. IL-9 production of naive CD4+ T cells depends on IL-2, is synergistically enhanced by a

combination of TGF-beta and IL-4, and is inhibited by IFN-gamma. *J Immunol*, 153, 3989-96.

- SCHRAUFSTATTER, I. U., DISCIPIO, R. G., ZHAO, M. & KHALDOYANIDI, S. K. 2009. C3a and C5a are chemotactic factors for human mesenchymal stem cells, which cause prolonged ERK1/2 phosphorylation. *J Immunol*, 182, 3827-36.
- SCHRODER, K. & TSCHOPP, J. 2010. The inflammasomes. Cell, 140, 821-32.
- SCHUMANN, R. R., BELKA, C., REUTER, D., LAMPING, N., KIRSCHNING, C. J., WEBER, J. R. & PFEIL, D. 1998. Lipopolysaccharide activates caspase-1 (interleukin-1-converting enzyme) in cultured monocytic and endothelial cells. *Blood*, 91, 577-84.
- SCHWAEBLE, W., DAHL, M. R., THIEL, S., STOVER, C. & JENSENIUS, J. C. 2002. The mannan-binding lectin-associated serine proteases (MASPs) and MAp19: four components of the lectin pathway activation complex encoded by two genes. *Immunobiology*, 205, 455-66.
- SCHWAEBLE, W., DIPPOLD, W. G., SCHAFER, M. K., POHLA, H., JONAS, D., LUTTIG, B., WEIHE, E., HUEMER, H. P., DIERICH, M. P. & REID, K. B. 1993. Properdin, a positive regulator of complement activation, is expressed in human T cell lines and peripheral blood T cells. *J Immunol*, 151, 2521-8.
- SCHWAEBLE, W., HUEMER, H. P., MOST, J., DIERICH, M. P., STROBEL, M., CLAUS, C., REID, K. B. & ZIEGLER-HEITBROCK, H. W. 1994. Expression of properdin in human monocytes. *Eur J Biochem*, 219, 759-64.
- SCHWAEBLE, W. J., LYNCH, N. J., CLARK, J. E., MARBER, M., SAMANI, N. J., ALI, Y. M., DUDLER, T., PARENT, B., LHOTTA, K., WALLIS, R., FARRAR, C. A., SACKS, S., LEE, H., ZHANG, M., IWAKI, D., TAKAHASHI, M., FUJITA, T., TEDFORD, C. E. & STOVER, C. M. 2011. Targeting of mannan-binding lectin-associated serine protease-2 confers protection from myocardial and gastrointestinal ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108, 7523-8.
- SELMAJ, K., RAINE, C. S., CANNELLA, B. & BROSNAN, C. F. 1991. Identification of lymphotoxin and tumor necrosis factor in multiple sclerosis lesions. J Clin Invest, 87, 949-54.
- SHIRATSUCHI, A., WATANABE, I., JU, J. S., LEE, B. L. & NAKANISHI, Y. 2008. Bridging effect of recombinant human mannose-binding lectin in macrophage phagocytosis of Escherichia coli. *Immunology*, 124, 575-83.
- SHOSKES, D. A. & CECKA, J. M. 1998. Deleterious effects of delayed graft function in cadaveric renal transplant recipients independent of acute rejection. *Transplantation*, 66, 1697-701.
- SIM, R. B. & TSIFTSOGLOU, S. A. 2004. Proteases of the complement system. *Biochem Soc Trans*, 32, 21-7.
- SIS, B., CAMPBELL, P. M., MUELLER, T., HUNTER, C., COCKFIELD, S. M., CRUZ, J., MENG, C., WISHART, D., SOLEZ, K. & HALLORAN, P. F. 2007. Transplant glomerulopathy, late antibody-mediated rejection and the ABCD tetrad in kidney allograft biopsies for cause. *Am J Transplant*, 7, 1743-52.
- SIS, B., JHANGRI, G. S., BUNNAG, S., ALLANACH, K., KAPLAN, B. & HALLORAN, P. F. 2009. Endothelial gene expression in kidney transplants with alloantibody indicates antibody-mediated damage despite lack of C4d staining. *Am J Transplant*, 9, 2312-23.
- SIS, B., MENGEL, M., HAAS, M., COLVIN, R. B., HALLORAN, P. F., RACUSEN, L. C., SOLEZ, K., BALDWIN, W. M., 3RD, BRACAMONTE, E. R.,

226

BROECKER, V., COSIO, F., DEMETRIS, A. J., DRACHENBERG, C., EINECKE, G., GLOOR, J., GLOTZ, D., KRAUS, E., LEGENDRE, C., LIAPIS, H., MANNON, R. B., NANKIVELL, B. J., NICKELEIT, V., PAPADIMITRIOU, J. C., RANDHAWA, P., REGELE, H., RENAUDIN, K., RODRIGUEZ, E. R., SERON, D., SESHAN, S., SUTHANTHIRAN, M., WASOWSKA, B. A., ZACHARY, A. & ZEEVI, A. 2010. Banff '09 meeting report: antibody mediated graft deterioration and implementation of Banff working groups. *Am J Transplant*, 10, 464-71.

- SMITH, C. A., PANGBURN, M. K., VOGEL, C. W. & MULLER-EBERHARD, H. J. 1984. Molecular architecture of human properdin, a positive regulator of the alternative pathway of complement. *J Biol Chem*, 259, 4582-8.
- SOJKA, D. K., HUGHSON, A. & FOWELL, D. J. 2009. CTLA-4 is required by CD4+CD25+ Treg to control CD4+ T-cell lymphopenia-induced proliferation. *Eur J Immunol*, 39, 1544-51.
- SOLEZ, K., AXELSEN, R. A., BENEDIKTSSON, H., BURDICK, J. F., COHEN, A. H., COLVIN, R. B., CROKER, B. P., DROZ, D., DUNNILL, M. S., HALLORAN, P. F. & ET AL. 1993. International standardization of criteria for the histologic diagnosis of renal allograft rejection: the Banff working classification of kidney transplant pathology. *Kidney Int*, 44, 411-22.
- STAHL, G. L., XU, Y., HAO, L., MILLER, M., BURAS, J. A., FUNG, M. & ZHAO, H. 2003. Role for the alternative complement pathway in ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Am J Pathol*, 162, 449-55.
- STAUDT, V., BOTHUR, E., KLEIN, M., LINGNAU, K., REUTER, S., GREBE, N., GERLITZKI, B., HOFFMANN, M., ULGES, A., TAUBE, C., DEHZAD, N., BECKER, M., STASSEN, M., STEINBORN, A., LOHOFF, M., SCHILD, H., SCHMITT, E. & BOPP, T. 2010. Interferon-regulatory factor 4 is essential for the developmental program of T helper 9 cells. *Immunity*, 33, 192-202.
- STEINMAN, L. 2007. A brief history of T(H)17, the first major revision in the T(H)1/T(H)2 hypothesis of T cell-mediated tissue damage. *Nat Med*, 13, 139-45.
- STOVER, C. M., THIEL, S., LYNCH, N. J. & SCHWAEBLE, W. J. 1999a. The rat and mouse homologues of MASP-2 and MAp19, components of the lectin activation pathway of complement. *J Immunol*, 163, 6848-59.
- STOVER, C. M., THIEL, S., THELEN, M., LYNCH, N. J., VORUP-JENSEN, T., JENSENIUS, J. C. & SCHWAEBLE, W. J. 1999b. Two constituents of the initiation complex of the mannan-binding lectin activation pathway of complement are encoded by a single structural gene. *J Immunol*, 162, 3481-90.
- STRAINIC, M. G., LIU, J., HUANG, D., AN, F., LALLI, P. N., MUQIM, N., SHAPIRO, V. S., DUBYAK, G. R., HEEGER, P. S. & MEDOF, M. E. 2008. Locally produced complement fragments C5a and C3a provide both costimulatory and survival signals to naive CD4+ T cells. *Immunity*, 28, 425-35.
- STRAUSS-AYALI, D., CONRAD, S. M. & MOSSER, D. M. 2007. Monocyte subpopulations and their differentiation patterns during infection. *J Leukoc Biol*, 82, 244-52.
- STREHLAU, J., PAVLAKIS, M., LIPMAN, M., SHAPIRO, M., VASCONCELLOS, L., HARMON, W. & STROM, T. B. 1997. Quantitative detection of immune activation transcripts as a diagnostic tool in kidney transplantation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 695-700.
- STREY, C. W., MARKIEWSKI, M., MASTELLOS, D., TUDORAN, R., SPRUCE, L. A., GREENBAUM, L. E. & LAMBRIS, J. D. 2003. The proinflammatory

mediators C3a and C5a are essential for liver regeneration. *J Exp Med*, 198, 913-23.

- STRITESKY, G. L., YEH, N. & KAPLAN, M. H. 2008. IL-23 promotes maintenance but not commitment to the Th17 lineage. *J Immunol*, 181, 5948-55.
- SUMIYA, M., SUPER, M., TABONA, P., LEVINSKY, R. J., ARAI, T., TURNER, M. W. & SUMMERFIELD, J. A. 1991. Molecular basis of opsonic defect in immunodeficient children. *Lancet*, 337, 1569-70.
- SUMMERFIELD, J. A., RYDER, S., SUMIYA, M., THURSZ, M., GORCHEIN, A., MONTEIL, M. A. & TURNER, M. W. 1995. Mannose binding protein gene mutations associated with unusual and severe infections in adults. *Lancet*, 345, 886-9.
- SUNDQVIST, M. & HOLMGREN, S. 2008. Changes in the control of gastric motor activity during metamorphosis in the amphibian Xenopus laevis, with special emphasis on purinergic mechanisms. *J Exp Biol*, 211, 1270-80.
- SUPER, M., THIEL, S., LU, J., LEVINSKY, R. J. & TURNER, M. W. 1989. Association of low levels of mannan-binding protein with a common defect of opsonisation. *Lancet*, 2, 1236-9.
- SURPRENANT, A. & NORTH, R. A. 2009. Signaling at purinergic P2X receptors. Annu Rev Physiol, 71, 333-59.
- SUTTERWALA, F. S., OGURA, Y., SZCZEPANIK, M., LARA-TEJERO, M., LICHTENBERGER, G. S., GRANT, E. P., BERTIN, J., COYLE, A. J., GALAN, J. E., ASKENASE, P. W. & FLAVELL, R. A. 2006. Critical role for NALP3/CIAS1/Cryopyrin in innate and adaptive immunity through its regulation of caspase-1. *Immunity*, 24, 317-27.
- SWAIN, S. L., WEINBERG, A. D., ENGLISH, M. & HUSTON, G. 1990. IL-4 directs the development of Th2-like helper effectors. *J Immunol*, 145, 3796-806.
- SZABO, S. J., KIM, S. T., COSTA, G. L., ZHANG, X., FATHMAN, C. G. & GLIMCHER, L. H. 2000. A novel transcription factor, T-bet, directs Th1 lineage commitment. *Cell*, 100, 655-69.
- TAKAHASHI, N., VANLAERE, I., DE RYCKE, R., CAUWELS, A., JOOSTEN, L. A., LUBBERTS, E., VAN DEN BERG, W. B. & LIBERT, C. 2008. IL-17 produced by Paneth cells drives TNF-induced shock. J Exp Med, 205, 1755-61.
- TAKEDA, S., KADOWAKI, S., HAGA, T., TAKAESU, H. & MITAKU, S. 2002. Identification of G protein-coupled receptor genes from the human genome sequence. *FEBS Lett*, 520, 97-101.
- TAN, C. & GERY, I. 2012. The unique features of Th9 cells and their products. *Crit Rev Immunol*, 32, 1-10.
- TAYLOR, M. E., BRICKELL, P. M., CRAIG, R. K. & SUMMERFIELD, J. A. 1989. Structure and evolutionary origin of the gene encoding a human serum mannosebinding protein. *Biochem J*, 262, 763-71.
- TEILLET, F., DUBLET, B., ANDRIEU, J. P., GABORIAUD, C., ARLAUD, G. J. & THIELENS, N. M. 2005. The two major oligomeric forms of human mannanbinding lectin: chemical characterization, carbohydrate-binding properties, and interaction with MBL-associated serine proteases. *J Immunol*, 174, 2870-7.
- THIEBLEMONT, N., WEISS, L., SADEGHI, H. M., ESTCOURT, C. & HAEFFNER-CAVAILLON, N. 1995. CD14lowCD16high: a cytokine-producing monocyte subset which expands during human immunodeficiency virus infection. *European journal of immunology*, 25, 3418-24.

- THORNBERRY, N. A., BULL, H. G., CALAYCAY, J. R., CHAPMAN, K. T., HOWARD, A. D., KOSTURA, M. J., MILLER, D. K., MOLINEAUX, S. M., WEIDNER, J. R., AUNINS, J. & ET AL. 1992. A novel heterodimeric cysteine protease is required for interleukin-1 beta processing in monocytes. *Nature*, 356, 768-74.
- THURMAN, J. M. & HOLERS, V. M. 2006. The central role of the alternative complement pathway in human disease. *J Immunol*, 176, 1305-10.
- THURMAN, J. M., LENDERINK, A. M., ROYER, P. A., COLEMAN, K. E., ZHOU, J., LAMBRIS, J. D., NEMENOFF, R. A., QUIGG, R. J. & HOLERS, V. M. 2007. C3a is required for the production of CXC chemokines by tubular epithelial cells after renal ishemia/reperfusion. *J Immunol*, 178, 1819-28.
- THURMAN, J. M., LJUBANOVIC, D., EDELSTEIN, C. L., GILKESON, G. S. & HOLERS, V. M. 2003. Lack of a functional alternative complement pathway ameliorates ischemic acute renal failure in mice. *J Immunol*, 170, 1517-23.
- THURMAN, J. M., LUCIA, M. S., LJUBANOVIC, D. & HOLERS, V. M. 2005. Acute tubular necrosis is characterized by activation of the alternative pathway of complement. *Kidney Int*, 67, 524-30.
- THURMAN, J. M., ROYER, P. A., LJUBANOVIC, D., DURSUN, B., LENDERINK, A. M., EDELSTEIN, C. L. & HOLERS, V. M. 2006. Treatment with an inhibitory monoclonal antibody to mouse factor B protects mice from induction of apoptosis and renal ischemia/reperfusion injury. J Am Soc Nephrol, 17, 707-15.
- TINCKAM, K. J., DJURDJEV, O. & MAGIL, A. B. 2005. Glomerular monocytes predict worse outcomes after acute renal allograft rejection independent of C4d status. *Kidney Int*, 68, 1866-74.
- TOSELLO BOARI, J., AMEZCUA VESELY, M. C., BERMEJO, D. A., RAMELLO, M. C., MONTES, C. L., CEJAS, H., GRUPPI, A. & ACOSTA RODRIGUEZ, E. V. 2012. IL-17RA signaling reduces inflammation and mortality during Trypanosoma cruzi infection by recruiting suppressive IL-10-producing neutrophils. *PLoS Pathog*, 8, e1002658.
- TSCHOPP, J. 1984. Ultrastructure of the membrane attack complex of complement. Heterogeneity of the complex caused by different degree of C9 polymerization. *J Biol Chem*, 259, 7857-63.
- TSCHOPP, J., MARTINON, F. & BURNS, K. 2003. NALPs: a novel protein family involved in inflammation. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 4, 95-104.
- TURER, A. T. & HILL, J. A. 2010. Pathogenesis of myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury and rationale for therapy. *Am J Cardiol*, 106, 360-8.
- UNDERHILL, D. M., BASSETTI, M., RUDENSKY, A. & ADEREM, A. 1999. Dynamic interactions of macrophages with T cells during antigen presentation. *J Exp Med*, 190, 1909-14.
- VAKEVA, A. P., AGAH, A., ROLLINS, S. A., MATIS, L. A., LI, L. & STAHL, G. L. 1998. Myocardial infarction and apoptosis after myocardial ischemia and reperfusion: role of the terminal complement components and inhibition by anti-C5 therapy. *Circulation*, 97, 2259-67.
- VALERA, S., HUSSY, N., EVANS, R. J., ADAMI, N., NORTH, R. A., SURPRENANT, A. & BUELL, G. 1994. A new class of ligand-gated ion channel defined by P2x receptor for extracellular ATP. *Nature*, 371, 516-9.
- VAN ASBECK, E. C., HOEPELMAN, A. I., SCHARRINGA, J., HERPERS, B. L. & VERHOEF, J. 2008. Mannose binding lectin plays a crucial role in innate

immunity against yeast by enhanced complement activation and enhanced uptake of polymorphonuclear cells. *BMC Microbiol*, 8, 229.

- VAN BEEK, J., NICOLE, O., ALI, C., ISCHENKO, A., MACKENZIE, E. T., BUISSON, A. & FONTAINE, M. 2001. Complement anaphylatoxin C3a is selectively protective against NMDA-induced neuronal cell death. *Neuroreport*, 12, 289-93.
- VAN DER POL, P., SCHLAGWEIN, N., VAN GIJLSWIJK, D. J., BERGER, S. P., ROOS, A., BAJEMA, I. M., DE BOER, H. C., DE FIJTER, J. W., STAHL, G. L., DAHA, M. R. & VAN KOOTEN, C. 2012. Mannan-binding lectin mediates renal ischemia/reperfusion injury independent of complement activation. *American journal of transplantation : official journal of the American Society of Transplantation and the American Society of Transplant Surgeons*, 12, 877-87.
- VAN EPPS, D. E. & CHENOWETH, D. E. 1984. Analysis of the binding of fluorescent C5a and C3a to human peripheral blood leukocytes. *J Immunol*, 132, 2862-7.
- VAN KOOTEN, C., BOONSTRA, J. G., PAAPE, M. E., FOSSIEZ, F., BANCHEREAU, J., LEBECQUE, S., BRUIJN, J. A., DE FIJTER, J. W., VAN ES, L. A. & DAHA, M. R. 1998. Interleukin-17 activates human renal epithelial cells in vitro and is expressed during renal allograft rejection. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 9, 1526-34.
- VANAUDENAERDE, B. M., DUPONT, L. J., WUYTS, W. A., VERBEKEN, E. K., MEYTS, I., BULLENS, D. M., DILISSEN, E., LUYTS, L., VAN RAEMDONCK, D. E. & VERLEDEN, G. M. 2006. The role of interleukin-17 during acute rejection after lung transplantation. *Eur Respir J*, 27, 779-87.
- VELDHOEN, M., HOCKING, R. J., ATKINS, C. J., LOCKSLEY, R. M. & STOCKINGER, B. 2006. TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. *Immunity*, 24, 179-89.
- VELDHOEN, M., UYTTENHOVE, C., VAN SNICK, J., HELMBY, H., WESTENDORF, A., BUER, J., MARTIN, B., WILHELM, C. & STOCKINGER, B. 2008. Transforming growth factor-beta 'reprograms' the differentiation of T helper 2 cells and promotes an interleukin 9-producing subset. *Nat Immunol*, 9, 1341-6.
- VERMA, A., MATTA, A., SHUKLA, N. K., DEO, S. V., GUPTA, S. D. & RALHAN, R. 2006. Clinical significance of mannose-binding lectin-associated serine protease-2 expression in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Int J Cancer*, 118, 2930-5.
- VIALA, J., CHAPUT, C., BONECA, I. G., CARDONA, A., GIRARDIN, S. E., MORAN, A. P., ATHMAN, R., MEMET, S., HUERRE, M. R., COYLE, A. J., DISTEFANO, P. S., SANSONETTI, P. J., LABIGNE, A., BERTIN, J., PHILPOTT, D. J. & FERRERO, R. L. 2004. Nod1 responds to peptidoglycan delivered by the Helicobacter pylori cag pathogenicity island. *Nat Immunol*, 5, 1166-74.
- VOLMAN, T. J., HENDRIKS, T. & GORIS, R. J. 2005. Zymosan-induced generalized inflammation: experimental studies into mechanisms leading to multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. *Shock*, 23, 291-7.
- WADA, K., MONTALTO, M. C. & STAHL, G. L. 2001. Inhibition of complement C5 reduces local and remote organ injury after intestinal ischemia/reperfusion in the rat. *Gastroenterology*, 120, 126-33.

- WALLIS, R. 2007. Interactions between mannose-binding lectin and MASPs during complement activation by the lectin pathway. *Immunobiology*, 212, 289-299.
- WALLIS, R. & DRICKAMER, K. 1999. Molecular determinants of oligomer formation and complement fixation in mannose-binding proteins. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 3580-9.
- WALPORT, M. J. 2001. Complement. First of two parts. N Engl J Med, 344, 1058-66.
- WALPORT, M. J. & DAVIES, K. A. 1996. Complement and immune complexes. *Res Immunol*, 147, 103-9.
- WALPORT, M. J., DAVIES, K. A. & BOTTO, M. 1998. C1q and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Immunobiology*, 199, 265-85.
- WALSH, M. C., BOURCIER, T., TAKAHASHI, K., SHI, L., BUSCHE, M. N., ROTHER, R. P., SOLOMON, S. D., EZEKOWITZ, R. A. & STAHL, G. L. 2005. Mannose-binding lectin is a regulator of inflammation that accompanies myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury. *J Immunol*, 175, 541-6.
- WANDERER, A. A. B., MT, US)
 2013. Rationale for
 IL-1 β targeted therapy to improve harvested organ viability, allograft
 tolerance, replant success and for conditions characterized by reduced or absent
 arterial perfusion. United States
- WANG, M., KRAUSS, J. L., DOMON, H., HOSUR, K. B., LIANG, S., MAGOTTI, P., TRIANTAFILOU, M., TRIANTAFILOU, K., LAMBRIS, J. D. & HAJISHENGALLIS, G. 2010. Microbial hijacking of complement-toll-like receptor crosstalk. *Sci Signal*, 3, ra11.
- WANG, X. H., STREETER, M., LIU, Y. P. & ZHAO, H. B. 2009. Identification and characterization of pannexin expression in the mammalian cochlea. *J Comp Neurol*, 512, 336-46.
- WEAVER, D. J., JR., REIS, E. S., PANDEY, M. K., KOHL, G., HARRIS, N., GERARD, C. & KOHL, J. 2010. C5a receptor-deficient dendritic cells promote induction of Treg and Th17 cells. *Eur J Immunol*, 40, 710-21.
- WEBB, T. E., SIMON, J., KRISHEK, B. J., BATESON, A. N., SMART, T. G., KING, B. F., BURNSTOCK, G. & BARNARD, E. A. 1993. Cloning and functional expression of a brain G-protein-coupled ATP receptor. *FEBS Lett*, 324, 219-25.
- WEBSTER, S., LUE, L. F., BRACHOVA, L., TENNER, A. J., MCGEER, P. L., TERAI, K., WALKER, D. G., BRADT, B., COOPER, N. R. & ROGERS, J. 1997. Molecular and cellular characterization of the membrane attack complex, C5b-9, in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*, 18, 415-21.
- WEISER, M. R., WILLIAMS, J. P., MOORE, F. D., JR., KOBZIK, L., MA, M., HECHTMAN, H. B. & CARROLL, M. C. 1996. Reperfusion injury of ischemic skeletal muscle is mediated by natural antibody and complement. J Exp Med, 183, 2343-8.
- WELCH, T. R., BEISCHEL, L. S., FRENZKE, M. & WITTE, D. 1996. Regulated expression of complement factor B in the human kidney. *Kidney Int*, 50, 521-5.
- WELCH, T. R., BEISCHEL, L. S. & WITTE, D. P. 1993. Differential expression of complement C3 and C4 in the human kidney. *J Clin Invest*, 92, 1451-8.
- WERFEL, T., KIRCHHOFF, K., WITTMANN, M., BEGEMANN, G., KAPP, A., HEIDENREICH, F., GOTZE, O. & ZWIRNER, J. 2000. Activated human T lymphocytes express a functional C3a receptor. *J Immunol*, 165, 6599-605.
- WETSEL, R. A. 1995. Structure, function and cellular expression of complement anaphylatoxin receptors. *Curr Opin Immunol*, 7, 48-53.

- WHITE, R. T., DAMM, D., MILLER, J., SPRATT, K., SCHILLING, J., HAWGOOD, S., BENSON, B. & CORDELL, B. 1985. Isolation and characterization of the human pulmonary surfactant apoprotein gene. *Nature*, 317, 361-3.
- WIERENGA, E. A., SNOEK, M., DE GROOT, C., CHRETIEN, I., BOS, J. D., JANSEN, H. M. & KAPSENBERG, M. L. 1990. Evidence for compartmentalization of functional subsets of CD2+ T lymphocytes in atopic patients. *J Immunol*, 144, 4651-6.
- WILLIAMS, J. P. 1998. Intestinal reperfusion injury is mediated by IgM and complement. *Journal of applied physiology*, 86, 938-942.
- WILLS-KARP, M., LUYIMBAZI, J., XU, X., SCHOFIELD, B., NEBEN, T. Y., KARP, C. L. & DONALDSON, D. D. 1998. Interleukin-13: central mediator of allergic asthma. *Science*, 282, 2258-61.
- WILSON, N. J., BONIFACE, K., CHAN, J. R., MCKENZIE, B. S., BLUMENSCHEIN, W. M., MATTSON, J. D., BASHAM, B., SMITH, K., CHEN, T., MOREL, F., LECRON, J. C., KASTELEIN, R. A., CUA, D. J., MCCLANAHAN, T. K., BOWMAN, E. P. & DE WAAL MALEFYT, R. 2007. Development, cytokine profile and function of human interleukin 17-producing helper T cells. *Nat Immunol*, 8, 950-7.
- WINGROVE, J. A., DISCIPIO, R. G., CHEN, Z., POTEMPA, J., TRAVIS, J. & HUGLI, T. E. 1992. Activation of complement components C3 and C5 by a cysteine proteinase (gingipain-1) from Porphyromonas (Bacteroides) gingivalis. *J Biol Chem*, 267, 18902-7.
- WIRTHMUELLER, U., DEWALD, B., THELEN, M., SCHAFER, M. K., STOVER, C., WHALEY, K., NORTH, J., EGGLETON, P., REID, K. B. & SCHWAEBLE, W. J. 1997. Properdin, a positive regulator of complement activation, is released from secondary granules of stimulated peripheral blood neutrophils. *J Immunol*, 158, 4444-51.
- WOEHRLE, T., YIP, L., ELKHAL, A., SUMI, Y., CHEN, Y., YAO, Y., INSEL, P. A. & JUNGER, W. G. 2010. Pannexin-1 hemichannel-mediated ATP release together with P2X1 and P2X4 receptors regulate T-cell activation at the immune synapse. *Blood*, 116, 3475-84.
- WOLFS, T. G., BUURMAN, W. A., VAN SCHADEWIJK, A., DE VRIES, B., DAEMEN, M. A., HIEMSTRA, P. S. & VAN 'T VEER, C. 2002. In vivo expression of Toll-like receptor 2 and 4 by renal epithelial cells: IFN-gamma and TNF-alpha mediated up-regulation during inflammation. *Journal of immunology*, 168, 1286-93.
- WONG, K. L., TAI, J. J., WONG, W. C., HAN, H., SEM, X., YEAP, W. H., KOURILSKY, P. & WONG, S. C. 2011. Gene expression profiling reveals the defining features of the classical, intermediate, and nonclassical human monocyte subsets. *Blood*, 118, e16-31.
- WOODRUFF, T. M., ARUMUGAM, T. V., SHIELS, I. A., REID, R. C., FAIRLIE, D. P. & TAYLOR, S. M. 2004. Protective effects of a potent C5a receptor antagonist on experimental acute limb ischemia-reperfusion in rats. J Surg Res, 116, 81-90.
- WYBURN, K. R., JOSE, M. D., WU, H., ATKINS, R. C. & CHADBAN, S. J. 2005. The role of macrophages in allograft rejection. *Transplantation*, 80, 1641-7.
- XU, R., WANG, R., HAN, G., WANG, J., CHEN, G., WANG, L., LI, X., GUO, R., SHEN, B. & LI, Y. 2010. Complement C5a regulates IL-17 by affecting the

crosstalk between DC and gammadelta T cells in CLP-induced sepsis. *Eur J Immunol*, 40, 1079-88.

- YAPICI, U., KERS, J., BEMELMAN, F. J., ROELOFS, J. J., GROOTHOFF, J. W., VAN DER LOOS, C. M., VAN DONSELAAR-VAN DER PANT, K. A., IDU, M. M., CLAESSEN, N., TEN BERGE, I. J. & FLORQUIN, S. 2011. Interleukin-17 positive cells accumulate in renal allografts during acute rejection and are independent predictors of worse graft outcome. *Transpl Int*, 24, 1008-17.
- YELLON, D. M. & HAUSENLOY, D. J. 2007. Myocardial reperfusion injury. N Engl J Med, 357, 1121-35.
- YI, T., ZHAO, D., LIN, C. L., ZHANG, C., CHEN, Y., TODOROV, I., LEBON, T., KANDEEL, F., FORMAN, S. & ZENG, D. 2008. Absence of donor Th17 leads to augmented Th1 differentiation and exacerbated acute graft-versus-host disease. *Blood*, 112, 2101-10.
- YU, H. & FERRIER, J. 1993. ATP induces an intracellular calcium pulse in osteoclasts. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 191, 357-63.
- YU, J. R. & LESLIE, K. S. 2011. Cryopyrin-associated periodic syndrome: an update on diagnosis and treatment response. *Current allergy and asthma reports*, 11, 12-20.
- ZAHEDI, R., BRAUN, M., WETSEL, R. A., AULT, B. H., KHAN, A., WELCH, T. R., FRENZKE, M. & DAVIS, A. E. 2000. The C5a receptor is expressed by human renal proximal tubular epithelial cells. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 121, 226-33.
- ZAREMBER, K. A. & GODOWSKI, P. J. 2002. Tissue expression of human Toll-like receptors and differential regulation of Toll-like receptor mRNAs in leukocytes in response to microbes, their products, and cytokines. *Journal of immunology*, 168, 554-61.
- ZHANG, F. X., KIRSCHNING, C. J., MANCINELLI, R., XU, X. P., JIN, Y., FAURE, E., MANTOVANI, A., ROTHE, M., MUZIO, M. & ARDITI, M. 1999. Bacterial lipopolysaccharide activates nuclear factor-kappaB through interleukin-1 signaling mediators in cultured human dermal endothelial cells and mononuclear phagocytes. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 274, 7611-4.
- ZHANG, M., AUSTEN, W. G., JR., CHIU, I., ALICOT, E. M., HUNG, R., MA, M., VERNA, N., XU, M., HECHTMAN, H. B., MOORE, F. D., JR. & CARROLL, M. C. 2004. Identification of a specific self-reactive IgM antibody that initiates intestinal ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101, 3886-91.
- ZHANG, M., MICHAEL, L. H., GROSJEAN, S. A., KELLY, R. A., CARROLL, M. C. & ENTMAN, M. L. 2006a. The role of natural IgM in myocardial ischemiareperfusion injury. J Mol Cell Cardiol, 41, 62-7.
- ZHANG, M., TAKAHASHI, K., ALICOT, E. M., VORUP-JENSEN, T., KESSLER, B., THIEL, S., JENSENIUS, J. C., EZEKOWITZ, R. A., MOORE, F. D. & CARROLL, M. C. 2006b. Activation of the lectin pathway by natural IgM in a model of ischemia/reperfusion injury. *J Immunol*, 177, 4727-34.
- ZHANG, P. L., MALEK, S. K., PRICHARD, J. W., LIN, F., YAHYA, T. M., SCHWARTZMAN, M. S., LATSHA, R. P., NORFOLK, E. R., BLASICK, T. M., LUN, M., BROWN, R. E., HARTLE, J. E. & POTDAR, S. 2005. Acute cellular rejection predominated by monocytes is a severe form of rejection in human renal recipients with or without Campath-1H (alemtuzumab) induction therapy. *Am J Transplant*, 5, 604-7.

- ZHANG, W., XU, W. & XIONG, S. 2010. Blockade of Notch1 signaling alleviates murine lupus via blunting macrophage activation and M2b polarization. J Immunol, 184, 6465-78.
- ZHANG, X., KIMURA, Y., FANG, C., ZHOU, L., SFYROERA, G., LAMBRIS, J. D., WETSEL, R. A., MIWA, T. & SONG, W. C. 2007. Regulation of Toll-like receptor-mediated inflammatory response by complement in vivo. *Blood*, 110, 228-36.
- ZHANG, Z., SCHLACHTA, C., DUFF, J., STILLER, C., GRANT, D. & ZHONG, R. 1995. Improved techniques for kidney transplantation in mice. *Microsurgery*, 16, 103-9.
- ZHENG, W. & FLAVELL, R. A. 1997. The transcription factor GATA-3 is necessary and sufficient for Th2 cytokine gene expression in CD4 T cells. *Cell*, 89, 587-96.
- ZHOU, W. 2012. The new face of anaphylatoxins in immune regulation. *Immunobiology*, 217, 225-34.
- ZHOU, W., FARRAR, C. A., ABE, K., PRATT, J. R., MARSH, J. E., WANG, Y., STAHL, G. L. & SACKS, S. H. 2000. Predominant role for C5b-9 in renal ischemia/reperfusion injury. J Clin Invest, 105, 1363-71.
- ZHOU, W., PATEL, H., LI, K., PENG, Q., VILLIERS, M. B. & SACKS, S. H. 2006. Macrophages from C3-deficient mice have impaired potency to stimulate alloreactive T cells. *Blood*, 107, 2461-9.
- ZIEGLER-HEITBROCK, L., ANCUTA, P., CROWE, S., DALOD, M., GRAU, V., HART, D. N., LEENEN, P. J., LIU, Y. J., MACPHERSON, G., RANDOLPH, G. J., SCHERBERICH, J., SCHMITZ, J., SHORTMAN, K., SOZZANI, S., STROBL, H., ZEMBALA, M., AUSTYN, J. M. & LUTZ, M. B. 2010. Nomenclature of monocytes and dendritic cells in blood. *Blood*, 116, e74-80.
- ZWIRNER, J., FAYYAZI, A. & GOTZE, O. 1999. Expression of the anaphylatoxin C5a receptor in non-myeloid cells. *Mol Immunol*, 36, 877-84.